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NOT RATED

In the opinion of Quarles & Brady LLP, Bond Counsel, under present law and assuming continuous compliance with
certain covenants, interest on the Series 2014 Bonds is excludable from the gross income of the bondowners for federal
income tax purposes and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on
corporations and individuals. Interest on the Series 2014 Bonds is, however, included in adjusted current earnings for the
purposes of computing the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on corporations. Interest on the Bonds is exempt from
present Wisconsin income tax on individuals, fiduciaries, corporations and insurance companies; except that interest on
and income from the Bonds is includable in the measure of tax for Wisconsin corporate franchise tax purposes. For a more
detailed description of the tax status of interest on the Series 2014 Bonds and certain other income tax consequences of Bond
ownership, see “TAX EXEMPTION” in this Official Statement.
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DATED

Date of delivery.

INTEREST PAYMENTS

June 1, 2015, and semiannually thereafter on each June 1 and December 1.

MATURITY, INTEREST,
PRICES, CUSIP

For the Maturity Schedule, Interest Rates, Prices, Yields and CUSIP Numbers for the Series 2014 Bonds,
see the inside cover.

ISSUANCE

The Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority (the “Authority” or the “Issuer”) will issue the
Series 2014 Bonds through a book-entry system and under a Trust Indenture dated as of November 1, 2014
(the “Indenture”), between the Authority and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee.

DENOMINATIONS

The Series 2014 Bonds will be issued in authorized denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple
thereof.

REDEMPTION

The Series 2014 Bonds are subject to optional and mandatory redemption or purchase prior to maturity
under certain circumstances. See “THE SERIES 2014 BONDS—Redemption Prior to Maturity” in this
Official Statement.

PURPOSE

The Authority will loan the proceeds from the sale of the Series 2014 Bonds to Hudson Senior Housing,
LLC, a Minnesota nonprofit limited liability company (the “Borrower”), which together with other funds
of the Borrower will be used to finance the construction and equipping of a new 160-unit senior housing
project to include 95 independent living apartments, 46 assisted living units, 19 memory care units, an
approximately 6,130 square foot dialysis clinic and a “town center” (the “Project”), to be located on an
approximately 12.4 acre site in Hudson, Wisconsin, adjacent to Hudson Hospital and Clinic (which is
affiliated with HealthPartners). See “THE PROJECT.” See also “SUMMARY OF ESTIMATED SOURCES
AND APPLICATION OF FUNDS.” See also APPENDIX A: “THE PROJECT.” For more information with
respect to the Borrower, see Appendix A: “THE BORROWER.”

LIMITED
OBLIGATIONS

THE SERIES 2014 BONDS ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY AND ARE NOT A DEBT
OR LIABILITY OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN OR OF ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OR AGENCY
THEREOF OTHER THAN THE AUTHORITY. THE ISSUANCE OF THE SERIES 2014 BONDS SHALL
NOT, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY OR CONTINGENTLY, OBLIGATE THE STATE OF WISCONSIN OR
ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF TO LEVY ANY FORM OF TAXATION OR TO MAKE ANY
APPROPRIATION FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF OR INTEREST ON THE SERIES 2014
BONDS. THE SOURCES OF PAYMENT AND SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2014 BONDS ARE MORE
FULLY DESCRIBED IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT. THE AUTHORITY HAS NO TAXING POWER.

UNDERWRITING

The Series 2014 Bonds are offered when, as and if issued and received by Piper Jaffray & Co. (the
“Underwriter”), subject to prior sale, to withdrawal or modifications of the offer without any notice, and
to the approval of legality of the Series 2014 Bonds by Quarles & Brady LLP, Bond Counsel. Certain legal
matters will be passed upon for the Authority by Quarles & Brady LLP, as its general counsel, and for the
Borrower and Guarantor by Janna Severance, Esq., General Counsel to Presbyterian Homes and Services,
Roseville, Minnesota. In connection with the issuance of the Series 2014 Bonds, the Underwriter is being
represented by Gray, Plant, Mooty, Mooty & Bennett, P.A. Subject to prevailing market conditions, the
Underwriter intends, but is not obligated, to make a market in the Series 2014 Bonds. No assurance can
be given that a secondary market will develop for the Series 2014 Bonds. For details of the Underwriter’s
compensation see “UNDERWRITING” in this Official Statement. It is expected that the Series 2014 Bonds
in definitive form will be available for delivery to the Underwriter via The Depository Trust Company in
New York, New York on or about November 13, 2014.

The date of this Official Statement is November 4, 2014

MATURITY SCHEDULE

$4,865,000 Serial Bonds
Maturity
Date
December 1, 2017
June 1, 2018
December 1, 2018
June 1, 2019
December 1, 2019
June 1, 2020
December 1, 2020
June 1, 2021
December 1, 2021
June 1, 2022
December 1, 2022
June 1, 2023
December 1, 2023
June 1, 2024
December 1, 2024

Principal
Amount

Interest
Rate

Price

$290,000
295,000
295,000
300,000
305,000
310,000
315,000
320,000
325,000
335,000
340,000
350,000
355,000
360,000
370,000

2.000%
2.500
2.500
3.000
3.000
3.500
3.500
3.750
3.750
4.000
4.000
4.125
4.125
4.250
4.250

100%
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

CUSIP
97712D FJ0
97712D FK7
97712D FL5
97712D FM3
97712D FN1
97712D FP6
97712D FQ4
97712D FR2
97712D FS0
97712D FT8
97712D FU5
97712D FV3
97712D FW1
97712D FX9
97712D FY7

$4,220,000 5.000% Term Bonds due December 1, 2029, Price 101.976%, CUSIP 97712D FZ4
$5,415,000 5.000% Term Bonds due December 1, 2034, Price 100.000%, CUSIP 97712D GA8
$15,790,000 5.000% Term Bonds due December 1, 2044, Price 96.238%, CUSIP 97712D GB6
$14,195,000 5.250% Term Bonds due December 1, 2049, Price 98.033%, CUSIP 97712D GC4
________________________________________________________________________________________________________

CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS REGARDING
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS IN
THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT
Certain statements included or incorporated by reference in this Official Statement constitute forwardlooking statements within the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995,
Section 21E of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and
Section 27A of the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). Such statements are
generally identifiable by the terminology used such as “plan,” “expect,” “estimate,” “budget” or other similar words.
Such forward-looking statements include, among others, statements and other information in the Feasibility Study
attached to this Official Statement as Appendix C, and references thereto in this Official Statement, and also include
information in Appendix A to this Official Statement, including without limitation information under the captions
“THE PROJECT—Future Phases” and “THE PROJECT—Unit Mix in Project Facilities.”
The achievement of certain results or other expectations contained in such forward-looking statements
involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause actual results, performance or
achievements described to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements. The Borrower does not plan to issue any updates or revisions to those
forward-looking statements if or when expectations, events, conditions or circumstances change.
_____________________________________________________________________________________________

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

No dealer, broker, sales representative or other person has been authorized by the Authority, the
Borrower or the Underwriter to give information or to make any representations with respect to the Bonds
except as expressly set forth in this Official Statement, and, if given or made, any such other information or
representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any of the foregoing. This Official
Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, and there shall not be any
sale of the Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer,
solicitation or sale. Certain information contained herein has been obtained from the Borrower and other
sources which are believed to be reliable, but is not guaranteed as to adequacy, accuracy or completeness by,
and is not to be construed to be the representations of, the Authority or the Underwriter. Consistent with its
responsibilities under the federal securities laws, the Underwriter has reviewed the information in this
Official Statement and believes it has a reasonable basis for its belief in the accuracy and completeness of the
key representations in this Official Statement. The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject
to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder
shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change since the date hereof in
the business affairs or financial condition of the parties referred to herein.
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THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED WITH THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION BY REASON OF THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 3(a)(2) OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED. THE REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION OF THESE
SECURITIES IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF SECURITIES LAWS OF THE
STATES IN WHICH THESE SECURITIES HAVE BEEN REGISTERED OR QUALIFIED AND THE
EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION IN OTHER STATES SHALL NOT BE
REGARDED AS A RECOMMENDATION THEREOF. NEITHER THESE STATES NOR ANY OF
THEIR AGENCIES HAVE PASSED UPON THE MERITS OF THE SECURITIES OR THE ACCURACY
OR COMPLETENESS OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE
CONTRARY MAY BE A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

OFFICIAL STATEMENT
$44,485,000
WISCONSIN HEALTH AND EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES AUTHORITY
REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2014
(WOODLAND HILL SENIOR HOUSING PROJECT)
INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT
General
This Official Statement provides information with respect to the issuance by the Wisconsin Health and
Educational Facilities Authority (the “Authority” or the “Issuer”), of its Revenue Bonds, Series 2014 (Woodland
Hill Senior Housing Project) in the above-stated aggregate principal amount (the “Series 2014 Bonds” or the
“Bonds”), to be dated the date of delivery thereof, and to mature on the dates and bear interest at the rates set forth
on the inside cover of this Official Statement. The Series 2014 Bonds are subject to optional and mandatory
redemption or purchase prior to maturity as set forth under “THE SERIES 2014 BONDS—Redemption Prior to
Maturity.” The Series 2014 Bonds are to be issued in Book Entry Form. See “BOOK ENTRY SYSTEM.” The
Series 2014 Bonds are being issued pursuant to the Trust Indenture dated as of November 1, 2014 (the “Indenture”),
between the Issuer and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”).
Defined Terms
Certain terms whose initial letter is capitalized but not required to be capitalized by proper rules of
grammar are used throughout this Official Statement. Such capitalized terms have the meanings assigned to them in
this Official Statement or in the Loan Agreement and Indenture referred to in this Official Statement. See
Appendix D: “DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS.”
The Borrower and the Project
The Series 2014 Bonds are being issued at the request of Hudson Senior Housing, LLC, a Minnesota
nonprofit limited liability company (the “Borrower”), and the proceeds of the Series 2014 Bonds, together with
other available funds of the Borrower, will provide financing for the acquisition and construction of a new 160-unit
senior housing project to include 95 independent living apartments, 46 assisted living units, 19 memory care units,
an approximately 6,130 square foot dialysis clinic and a “town center” (the “Project”), to be located on an
approximately 12.4 acre site in Hudson, Wisconsin, adjacent to Hudson Hospital and Clinic (which is affiliated with
HealthPartners). For information with respect to the Borrower and the Project, see Appendix A.
Continuing Disclosure
In connection with the issuance of the Series 2014 Bonds, the Borrower is undertaking to provide certain
continuing disclosures, all as further set forth in a Continuing Disclosure Agreement to be entered into between the
Borrower and the Trustee. The obligations of the Borrower under such Continuing Disclosure Agreement are
summarized under the caption “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE.”
The Loan Agreement and the Note
In connection with the issuance of the Series 2014 Bonds, the Authority and the Borrower are entering into
a Loan Agreement dated as of November 1, 2014 (referred to as the “Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Authority will loan to the Borrower the proceeds of the Series 2014 Bonds and the Borrower agrees to make loan
repayments at times and in amounts sufficient to provide for payment in full of all principal of, premium, if any and
interest on the Series 2014 Bonds when due. Such repayment obligation is reflected in a promissory note from the
Borrower (the “Note”) in favor of the Authority, which Note the Authority assigns in favor of the Trustee. See
Appendix D: “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT.”

The Mortgage
The Series 2014 Bonds and the obligations of the Borrower under the Loan Agreement will be secured by a
Mortgage, Security Agreement and Assignment of Leases and Rents dated as of November 1, 2014 (the
“Mortgage”), from the Borrower to the Trustee. The Mortgage provides a first mortgage lien on and security
interest in the real and personal property included in the Project, subject to Permitted Encumbrances, and subject to
certain release provisions described herein, and a security interest in certain personal property of the Borrower
acquired with proceeds of the Series 2014 Bonds. For a description of the terms and provisions of the Mortgage, see
Appendix D: “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MORTGAGE.”
Limited Guaranty
The obligations of the Borrower under the Loan Agreement, including the obligation to make timely
payments of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2014 Bonds, will be partially guaranteed by
Presbyterian Homes and Services, a Minnesota nonprofit corporation (the “Guarantor”) pursuant to a Limited
Guaranty Agreement from the Guarantor to the Trustee (the “Limited Guaranty”). The amount guaranteed by the
Guarantor under the Limited Guaranty is limited to $4,000,000, and the Limited Guaranty is subject to certain
specific release provisions related to the financial performance and occupancy of the Project. For additional
information with respect to such release provisions and other terms of the Limited Guaranty, see Appendix D:
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LIMITED GUARANTY.” For additional information with
respect to the Guarantor, see Appendix A: “THE GUARANTOR” and Appendix B: “CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE GUARANTOR AND AFFILIATES.”
Bondholders’ Risks
Certain risks associated with an investment in the Bonds are discussed under “CERTAIN
BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS.”
Financial Feasibility Study
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP, Certified Public Accountants, Minneapolis, Minnesota, has undertaken a financial
feasibility study with respect to the Project (the “Feasibility Study”), which includes an examination of the financial
forecast of the Borrower for the four fiscal years of the Borrower ending September 30, 2015 through September 30,
2018 and has issued their report thereon (the “Forecast”). The Feasibility Study has been attached as Appendix C to
this Official Statement. The Forecast is based on assumptions made by management of the Borrower. It should be
noted that the Forecast represents only an estimate of future events, and no assurances can be given that the Project
will in fact be occupied at monthly rentals, maintain occupancy levels and attain operating efficiencies as stated in
the Forecast. Accordingly, actual future revenues, expenses and operations of the Borrower will vary from such
Forecast, and such variance may be material and adverse. The Underwriter has not made independent inquiry as to
the assumptions on which the forecasted financial statements are based.
In addition, the Forecast is only for the four-year period ending September 30, 2018 and, consequently,
does not cover the whole period during which the Series 2014 Bonds may be outstanding. The Forecast assumes
that the Series 2014 Bonds have an average weighted interest rate of approximately 5.49% per annum. The actual
average weighted interest rate with respect to the Series 2014 Bonds is approximately 5.07% per annum.
Statutory Authority, Bonds Issued as Limited Obligations
The Series 2014 Bonds are to be issued pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes, Chapter 231, as amended (the
“Act”), and proceedings of the Authority. The Series 2014 Bonds will be special, limited obligations of the
Authority payable solely from certain revenues held under the Indenture and received pursuant to the Loan
Agreement, the Note, the Mortgage and the Limited Guaranty. The Series 2014 Bonds will never constitute an
indebtedness or a charge against the general credit of the Authority or the State of Wisconsin or the taxing power of
the State of Wisconsin or against any property of the State or the Authority (other than the interests of the Authority
under the Loan Agreement assigned to the Trustee by the Indenture), and no Bondholder shall have the right to
compel the exercise of the taxing power or appropriation of any other funds, revenues or property of the State to the
payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Series 2014 Bonds. The Authority has no taxing
power.
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Information Generally
There follow in this Official Statement summaries of the terms of the Series 2014 Bonds and the security
for the Series 2014 Bonds, a description of certain Bondholders’ risks, the estimated sources and uses of funds, and
other matters. Appendix D contains summaries of the Loan Agreement, the Mortgage, the Limited Guaranty, the
Indenture and the Disbursing Agreement. These summaries and descriptions do not purport to be exhaustive, and
the document summaries are subject to the further and exact provisions of the complete documents, which may be
obtained from the Trustee or, during the offering period for the Series 2014 Bonds, from the Underwriter. Certain
information contained in this Official Statement has been furnished by the Borrower and includes all information
concerning the Borrower, the Guarantor, their affiliates, the Project and the estimated sources and uses of funds,
including all information set forth in Appendices A, B and C to this Official Statement. The Authority has not
participated in the preparation of this information or reviewed the accuracy of said information. The Authority has
consented or will consent to the use of this Official Statement but has not made any investigation of the facts
contained herein.
Delivery of Documents and Opinions
The Loan Agreement, the Note, the Mortgage, the Indenture, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the
Limited Guaranty and other documents to be entered into in connection with the issuance of the Series 2014 Bonds
will be entered into, and the legal opinions referred to in this Official Statement will be delivered, on the issuance
and delivery date of the Series 2014 Bonds.
CERTAIN BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS
No person should purchase any Series 2014 Bonds without carefully reviewing the following information,
which summarizes some, but not all, factors that should be carefully considered before such purchase.
Limited Obligations
The Series 2014 Bonds and the interest thereon are special, limited obligations of the Authority and will not
constitute general obligations of the Authority or the State of Wisconsin. The Authority is obligated to make
payments on the Series 2014 Bonds only to the extent of payments made by the Borrower under the Loan
Agreement or from any amounts received by the Trustee from enforcement of the Mortgage. The Borrower’s ability
to repay the Series 2014 Bonds will depend on the overall financial condition of the Borrower. No representation or
assurance can be made that the financial resources of the Borrower, including the revenues derived from the
Borrower’s operations, will be sufficient to provide for payment of all related expenses and obligations or to make
the required payments under the Loan Agreement.
Prospective Operations Generally
The revenues and expenses associated with the Borrower’s prospective operations will be affected by
future events and conditions relating generally to, among other things, demand in the Borrower’s service area for
assisted living and memory care services and facilities, the ability of the Borrower to continue to provide the kinds
of facilities and services desired or required by residents and potential residents, economic developments in the
affected service area, competition from existing or future facilities and providers, and the ability of the Borrower
under existing and future market conditions to maintain high occupancy rates in the Borrower’s facilities and to
charge rates sufficient to provide for payment of all related costs. The Borrower’s facilities are subject to
competition from other facilities in its service area providing similar or comparable services. There can be no
assurance that additional competing facilities will not be acquired or constructed in the future.
Reliance on Financial Feasibility Study
The ultimate success of the Project and the ability of the Borrower to meet its obligations with respect to
the Project, including the timely payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds, is dependent on the existence of
adequate demand for units in the Project. A Financial Feasibility Study dated October 13, 2014 (the “Feasibility
Study”), has been prepared by CliftonLarsonAllen LLP, Certified Public Accountants (“CLA”). Although the
Feasibility Study includes information with respect to demand for units in the Project, there is no guarantee that
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actual demand exists or will continue to exist to support the assumptions in the Feasibility Study or in the Forecast
included in the Feasibility Study. The Feasibility Study has been attached to this Official Statement as Appendix C.
Actual lease-up and occupancy of the Project in the future will likely vary from the Feasibility Study,
which variance may be material and adverse. If, among other things, initial lease-up of the Project is materially
slower or rental rates for the Project are materially less than those set forth in the Feasibility Study, actual revenues
will be less than those forecasted in the Forecast, and perhaps materially less.
Nature of Financial Forecast
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP, Certified Public Accountants (“CLA”), has examined the financial forecast of the
Borrower for the four fiscal years of the Borrower ending September 30, 2015 through September 30, 2018, and has
issued their report thereon (the “Forecast”). The Forecast is included in the Feasibility Study attached as
Appendix C to this Official Statement. The Forecast is based on assumptions made by management of the
Borrower. It should be noted that the Forecast represents only an estimate of future events, and no assurances can
be given that the Project will in fact be occupied at monthly rentals, maintain occupancy levels and attain operating
efficiencies as stated in the Forecast. Accordingly, actual future revenues, expenses and operations of the Borrower
will vary from such Forecast, and such variance may be material and adverse. The Underwriter has not made
independent inquiry as to the assumptions on which the forecasted financial statements are based.
In addition, the Forecast is only for the four-year period ending September 30, 2018 and, consequently,
does not cover the whole period during which the Series 2014 Bonds may be outstanding. The Forecast assumes
that the Series 2014 Bonds have an average weighted interest rate of approximately 5.49% per annum. The actual
average weighted interest rate with respect to the Series 2014 Bonds is approximately 5.07% per annum.
Corporate Affiliations
The Borrower is an organization with no assets or revenues other than its interest in the Project. Although
the Borrower is affiliated with the Guarantor, and, through its affiliation with the Guarantor, has a number of other
corporate affiliates, none of its affiliates has any responsibility for payment of the Series 2014 Bonds, except to the
extent of the obligations of the Guarantor pursuant to the Limited Guaranty.
NO AFFILIATES OF THE BORROWER ARE OBLIGORS ON THE SERIES 2014 BONDS EXCEPT
FOR THE GUARANTOR PURSUANT TO THE LIMITED GUARANTY. THE PROPERTIES OF EACH OF
THE AFFILIATES OF THE BORROWER ARE SUBJECT TO SEPARATE AND UNRELATED FINANCING
ARRANGEMENTS. PROPERTY OR FUNDS TRANSFERRED TO AFFILIATES WILL NOT BE AVAILABLE
FOR PAYMENT OF AMOUNTS OWING WITH RESPECT TO THE BONDS. For information with respect to
affiliates of the Borrower, see Appendix A: “THE GUARANTOR.”
Resources Available to Guarantor Limited
The Guarantor is the parent entity for various subordinate affiliates, each of which has a separate governing
body, facilities, revenues, expenses and financing arrangements. In general, a majority of the members of each of
the governing bodies is appointed by the governing body of the Guarantor. The Guarantor, as a corporate entity,
does not itself own properties and its activities account for a relatively minor portion of the total revenues reported
in the consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor and its affiliates. Pursuant to the Limited Guaranty, only
the Guarantor, and not its affiliates, is obligated to make payments in accordance with the terms of the Limited
Guaranty. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor and its affiliates may not provide a
clear basis on which to evaluate the ability of the Guarantor to perform under the Limited Guaranty. Consolidated
financial statements for the Guarantor and affiliates are included in Appendix B. Appendix B should be reviewed
for informational purposes only, as an overview of the scope of the activities of the Guarantor and affiliated
organizations, not as a direct measure of the Guarantor’s ability to perform under the Limited Guaranty.
Construction Risks
Construction of any facility is subject to the risks of cost overruns and delays due to a variety of factors
including, among other things, requirements to obtain building permits and other approvals, site difficulties, labor
strife, delays in receipt of materials, shortages of materials, weather conditions, fire and casualty. Any delay in
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completion of the Project could materially adversely affect the timely receipt of revenues from the Project.
Noncompletion of the Project would materially adversely affect the value of the security under the Mortgage. The
Borrower expects to commence construction of the Project in October, 2014, and to achieve substantial completion
of construction by February of 2016. However, the actual completion of construction is subject to extension due to
delays caused by the Borrower, the architect, change orders, labor disputes, fire, unusual delivery delays,
unavoidable casualties or other causes. The construction contract for the Project does not impose any liquidated
damages for the failure of the general contractor to complete the work as required by the terms of the contract.
To reduce construction cost risks, the Borrower will enter into guaranteed maximum price construction
contracts. See Appendix A: “THE PROJECT— Project Design and Construction— Construction.” Further, the
general contractor will be required to provide payment and performance bonds. However, it should be noted that
enforcement of claims under payment or performance bonds usually causes delay in the completion of a project, and
is often subject to dispute by the bonding company.
Competition
The Project will face competition from other existing senior housing and residential care or rental facilities
and may face additional competition in the future if and when there occurs the construction of new, or the
renovation of existing, facilities. There is no assurance that there will be no addition of competing facilities in the
Borrower’s service areas in the future. For a description of facilities in the same service area as the Project which
may provide competition to the Project, see Appendix C: “FINANCIAL FEASIBILITY STUDY— Independent
Living Units Market Assessment—Comparable Retirement Communities” and Appendix C: “FINANCIAL
FEASIBILITY STUDY— Existing Comparable Assisted Living and Memory Care Facilities.”
Regulatory Matters
Various health and safety statutes and regulations will apply to the Project. Such requirements are
administered and enforced by various state and federal agencies. Violations of certain health and safety standards
applicable to the Project could result in imposition of fines or enforcement measures designed to require compliance
with such standards. Moreover, such standards are subject to change and there can be no guarantee that in the future
the Project will meet any such changed standards or that the Borrower will not be required to expend significant
sums in order to comply with such changed standards.
Environmental Matters
The operation of any real property, including the Project, may be adversely affected by legislative,
regulatory, administrative and enforcement action involving environmental controls. For example, if any land or
other property of the Borrower were determined to be contaminated by oil or hazardous materials, the Borrower
could be liable for clean-up costs, which could be significant, even if it were not responsible for the contamination.
The Borrower has represented that it is aware of no material contamination with respect to its existing
properties or the site of the Project. The Borrower has obtained a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment dated
May 29, 2014 (the “Phase I Assessment”) from American Engineering Testing, Inc. with respect to the site of the
Project. With the exception of the observation of a 50 foot by 30 foot solid waste disposal area within a wooded
area on the northeast corner of the site, the Phase I Assessment concluded that there is no evidence of recognized
environmental conditions in connection with the site. The Borrower plans to clean up the small waste disposal area
as a routine part of the construction process for the Project.
There can be no assurances that the Project will not encounter environmental risks in the future, or that
such risks would not result in material adverse consequences to the operations or financial condition of the
Borrower.
Mortgage Limitations
The security for the Bonds includes a mortgage lien on the land and fixed assets of the Project. Further
security is provided through an assignment of all rents and revenues of the Project. Upon an event of default,
attempts to foreclose under the Mortgage may be met with protracted litigation and/or bankruptcy proceedings,
which proceedings cause delays. See “ENFORCEABILITY OF OBLIGATIONS.” Thus, there can be no assurance
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that upon the occurrence of an event of default, the Trustee will be able to obtain possession of the Project and
generate revenue therefrom in a timely fashion. Furthermore, the Project is designed and operated as a special
purpose structure, which will reduce its value in foreclosure or sale. For these and other reasons, there can be no
assurance that proceeds derived from the sale of the Project upon default and foreclosure of the Mortgage would be
sufficient to pay the Bonds and accrued interest thereon.
Tax-Exempt Status of Borrower
Under present federal law, the Borrower is exempt from federal income taxes, except for any unrelated
business income, by virtue of the fact that the Borrower is a disregarded entity whose sole member, Presbyterian
Homes Housing and Assisted Living, Inc., a Minnesota nonprofit corporation (“PHHAL”), is a tax-exempt
organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, and PHHAL’s status an exempt
organization has been recognized by the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) pursuant to a determination letter
dated December 29, 1983. Failure of the Borrower or PHHAL to maintain its tax-exempt status or changes in such
current laws, or the regulations, rulings or interpretations thereof, could adversely affect the Borrower and such
effects could be material.
Tax-Exempt Status of Bonds
The ongoing tax-exempt status of interest on the Series 2014 Bonds is conditioned, under relevant
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, on compliance by the Borrower and other parties with various
requirements set forth in Section 145 and other sections of the Code, requiring, among other things, that the Project
be owned and used throughout the term of the Series 2014 Bonds by a governmental unit or an organization
described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, and that not more than five percent of the proceeds of the Series 2014
Bonds (inclusive of proceeds applied to defray issuance costs) be applied to any “private business use,” any
“unrelated trade or business,” or any other use inconsistent with the charitable purposes of the Borrower, as a
disregarded entity whose sole member is an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue
Code, all as further provided in applicable regulations, rulings and decisions. Additional Sections (including
Section 147) of the Internal Revenue Code also require, among other things, that the weighted average maturity of
the Series 2014 Bonds not exceed 120% of the useful economic life of the facilities financed thereby. Under
Section 148 of the Code, detailed requirements are set forth governing the expenditure and investment of proceeds
of tax-exempt bonds and other moneys and requiring periodic computations in connection therewith. Moreover,
certain “arbitrage” profits, as defined by relevant sections of the Internal Revenue Code, generated from the
investment of proceeds of the Series 2014 Bonds, or other moneys, must be periodically rebated to the United States
Treasury. Failure to comply with any of such tax requirements could result in the loss of the tax-exempt status of
interest on the Series 2014 Bonds to the owners thereof, and such interest could become taxable to such owners
retroactive to the date of issuance of the Series 2014 Bonds. In the event of a Determination of Taxability, the
Series 2014 Bonds will become subject to mandatory redemption, at a redemption price equal to the then
outstanding principal amount of the Series 2014 Bonds, plus a premium equal to 5% of the principal amount of the
Bonds subject to redemption, plus accrued interest. See “TAX EXEMPTION” below. See also “THE SERIES
2014 BONDS—Redemption Prior to Maturity—Mandatory Redemption of Bonds Upon Determination of
Taxability.”
Exemption from Real Estate Taxes
Under existing laws and regulations, the Borrower expects that the Project will be exempt from real estate
taxes in Wisconsin, pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes, Section 70.11(4). No assurances can be provided, however,
that such exemption will not be modified, repealed or amended in the future. Proposals have been made from time
in the Wisconsin legislature to subject nonprofit senior housing facilities to payment of ad valorem property taxes.
Subjection of the Project in the future to payment of such taxes would cause an increase in the costs of operation of
the Project and would thereby adversely affect the ability of the Borrower to provide for payment in full of all
principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2014 Bonds when due. No assurances can be provided that
such effects would not be material. In addition, municipal governments in Wisconsin have from time to time
required nonprofit organizations such as the Borrower to enter into agreements providing for payments to the
municipality of amounts in consideration for municipal services rendered to or for the benefit of the Borrower, in
lieu of tax payments (sometimes referred to as “PILOT agreements”). The Borrower does not anticipate entering
into a PILOT Agreement with respect to the Project, but no assurances can be provided that the Borrower will not be
required to enter into such an agreement following the date hereof.
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Normal Risks of Any Investment in Real Estate
There are many diverse risks attending any investment in real estate not within the Borrower’s control,
which may have a substantial bearing on the profitability and financial feasibility of the Project. Such risks include,
but are not limited to, possible adverse use of adjoining land, fire or other casualty, condemnation, imposition of
increased taxes, changes in demand for the Project, decline in the neighborhood, local or general economic
conditions, and changing governmental regulations.
Insurance
Although the Borrower will be required to obtain certain insurance as set forth in the Loan Agreement,
there can be no assurance that the Borrower will not suffer losses for which insurance cannot be or has not been
obtained or that the amount of any such loss, or the period during which the Borrower cannot generate revenues, will
not exceed the coverage of such insurance policies. In recent years, the number of lawsuits and the dollar amount of
patient abuse and neglect recoveries have been increasing dramatically nationwide, resulting in increased insurance
premiums.
Effect of Federal Bankruptcy Laws on Security for the Bonds
Bankruptcy proceedings and equity principles may delay or otherwise adversely affect the enforcement of
Bondholders’ rights in the property granted as security for the Bonds. Furthermore, if the security for the Bonds is
inadequate for payment in full of the Bonds, bankruptcy proceedings and equitable principles may also limit any
attempt by the Trustee to seek payment from other property of the Borrower, if any. See “ENFORCEABILITY OF
OBLIGATIONS.” Also federal bankruptcy law permits adoption of a reorganization plan even though it has not
been accepted by the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds if the Bondholders are
provided with the benefit of their original lien or the “indubitable equivalent.” In addition, if the bankruptcy court
concludes that the Bondholders have “adequate protection,” it may (i) substitute other security subject to the lien of
the Bondholders and (ii) subordinate the lien of the Bondholders (a) to claims by persons supplying goods and
services to the Borrower after bankruptcy and (b) to the administrative expenses of the bankruptcy proceeding. The
bankruptcy court may also have the power to invalidate certain provisions of the Loan Agreement and Mortgage that
make bankruptcy and related proceedings by the Borrower an event of default thereunder.
Risk of Early Call or Purchase
There are a number of circumstances under which all or a portion of the Series 2014 Bonds may be
redeemed or called for purchase prior to their stated maturity. See “THE SERIES 2014 BONDS—Redemption Prior
to Maturity.” In addition to exercising its right of optional redemption, the Borrower may instead require that
Bondholders tender their Bonds for purchase by the Borrower or by a person to whom the Borrower has assigned its
purchase right. This right of to purchase can be exercised only as to Bonds that could then be optionally redeemed
by the Borrower; and the purchase price, notice provisions, Bond selection provisions (if less than all Bonds are to
be purchased) and payment provisions are the same as in an optional redemption. However, unlike an optional
redemption, Bonds that are purchased will remain outstanding and could be remarketed by the buyer. Exercise of
the purchase right is conditioned upon the issuance of an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that purchase and
resale will not adversely affect the validity of the Bonds or result in an Event of Taxability.
Absence of Rating
No rating as to the creditworthiness of the Series 2014 Bonds has been requested from any organization
engaged in the business of publishing such ratings. Typically, unrated bonds lack liquidity in the secondary market
in comparison with rated bonds. As a result of the foregoing, the Series 2014 Bonds are believed to bear interest at
higher rates than would prevail for bonds with comparable maturities and redemption provisions that have
investment grade credit ratings. Series 2014 Bonds should not be purchased by any investor who, because of
financial condition, investment policies or otherwise, does not desire to assume, or have the ability to bear, the risks
inherent in an investment in the Series 2014 Bonds.
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Secondary Market
The Underwriter expects to effect secondary market trading in the Series 2014 Bonds. However, the
Underwriter is not obligated to repurchase any Series 2014 Bonds at the request of the holders thereof and cannot
assure that there will be a continuing secondary market in the Series 2014 Bonds. In addition, adverse
developments, including insufficient cash flow from the Project, may have an unfavorable effect upon the bid and
asked prices for the Series 2014 Bonds in the secondary market.
THE AUTHORITY
Powers
The Authority has, among other powers, the statutory power to make loans to certain health care,
educational and other nonprofit institutions in Wisconsin, to finance the cost of projects and refinance or refund
outstanding indebtedness and to assign loan agreements, notes, mortgages and other securities of health care,
education and other nonprofit institutions to which the Authority has made loans, and the revenues therefrom, for the
benefit of the holders of bonds issued to finance or refinance such projects.
Members of the Authority
The Authority consists of seven members, all of whom must be Wisconsin residents, appointed by the
Governor of the State of Wisconsin by and with the consent of the Wisconsin State Senate. Members of the
Authority serve staggered seven-year terms and continue to serve until their successors are appointed. The members
of the Authority receive no compensation for the performance of their duties but are paid their necessary expenses
while engaged in the performance of such duties. No member, officer, agent or employee of the Authority may,
directly or indirectly, have any financial interest in any bond issue or in any loan or any property to be included in,
or any contract for property or materials to be furnished or used in connection with, any project of the Authority,
under penalty of law. Members of the Authority, however, may serve as directors or officers of institutions for
which the Authority is providing financing, but they may not vote or take part in the Authority’s deliberations
concerning such financings.
The present members of the Authority are:
Term Expires
(June 30)
Richard Canter, Chairperson
Senior Vice President-Strategy and Corporate Affairs
Wheaton Franciscan Healthcare, Inc.
Glendale, Wisconsin

2015

Tim Size, Vice-Chairperson
Executive Director
Rural Wisconsin Health Cooperative
Sauk City, Wisconsin

2018

Jim Dietsche
Chief Financial Officer
Bellin Health
Green Bay, Wisconsin

2019

Kevin Flaherty
VP/Relationship Manager
Associated Commercial Finance, Inc.
Milwaukee, Wisconsin

2017

Richard Keintz
Former Vice President for Business and Finance
Edgewood College
Madison, Wisconsin

2016
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Term Expires
(June 30)
Robert Van Meeteren
President/CEO
Reedsburg Area Medical Center
Reedsburg, Wisconsin

2020

Paul Mathews*
President/CEO
Marcus Center for the Performing Arts
Milwaukee, Wisconsin

2021

* Mr. Mathews was appointed by the Governor of the State of Wisconsin and serves
pending Wisconsin State Senate Confirmation
General Counsel
Quarles & Brady LLP serves as general counsel to the Authority.
Financing Program of the Authority
The following summary outlines the principal amount of revenue bonds and notes issued during each of the
Authority’s fiscal years. These previous issues are secured by instruments separate and apart from the Indenture and
the security for the Bonds.
Public Issues
Fiscal Year
Ended
June 30

Number
of Issues

1980
1981
1982
1983
1984
1985
1986
1987
1988
1989
1990
1991
1992
1993
1994
1995
1996
1997
1998
1999
2000
2001

0
3
3
1
4
6
9
12
14
20
14
11
15
25
16
7
14
28
25
28
16
19

Private Placements
Amount
$

0
24,480,000
34,100,000
4,000,000
16,375,000
196,505,000
213,260,000
191,610,000
170,890,000
254,979,000
277,605,000
233,590,000
346,160,000
579,235,000
434,495,000
101,770,000
382,905,000
706,960,300
722,050,000
710,960,000
415,710,000
437,580,000

Number
of Issues
1
4
4
1
3
2
5
9
14
6
9
3
5
6
6
6
2
1
1
4
6
8
9

Amount
$

1,300,000
20,365,000
12,575,000
600,000
13,225,000
2,200,000
17,478,000
48,410,000
81,589,000
14,394,000
45,737,000
37,500,000
43,500,000
18,775,000
46,615,000
18,847,000
8,800,000
764,000
2,700,000
36,000,000
17,736,450
26,589,000

Total
Number
of Issues
1
7
7
2
7
8
14
21
28
26
23
14
20
31
22
13
16
29
26
32
22
27

Amount
$

1,300,000
44,845,000
46,675,000
4,600,000
29,600,000
198,705,000
230,738,000
240,020,000
252,479,000
269,373,000
323,342,000
271,090,000
389,660,000
598,010,000
481,110,000
120,617,000
391,705,000
707,724,300
724,750,000
746,960,000
433,446,450
464,169,000

Public Issues
Fiscal Year
Ended
June 30

Number
of Issues

Private Placements
Amount

Number
of Issues

Amount

Total
Number
of Issues

2002
18
$ 815,100,000
2
$ 8,000,000
20
2003
14
296,895,000
3
15,935,000
17
2004
26
912,245,000
4
25,980,000
30
2005
32
923,038,430
2
23,067,000
34
2006
25
706,235,000
2
6,570,000
27
2007
25
1,238,330,000
2
29,090,000
27
2008
24
1,006,255,000
4
36,500,000
28
2009
21
1,470,875,000
3
37,859,824
24
2010
17
1,338,695,000
13
114,746,851
30
2011
11
512,745,000
12
75,330,531
23
2012
10
1,149,250,000
16
469,944,854
26
2013
18
1,335,035,000
29
374,569,801
47
2014
5
326,220,000
19
468,391,000
24
(1)
(2)
536
$18,486,137,730
217
$2,201,684,311
753
TOTAL
______________________
(1)
Includes $6,679,210,471 which was refinanced by subsequent Authority bond issues.
(2)
Includes $1,061,701,581 which was refinanced by subsequent Authority bond issues.

Amount
$ 823,100,000
312,830,000
938,225,000
946,105,430
712,805,000
1,267,420,000
1,042,755,000
1,508,734,824
1,453,441,851
588,075,531
1,619,194,854
1,709,604,801
794,611,000
$20,687,822,041

In its fiscal year beginning July 1, 2014, the Authority has issued and authorized the issuance of additional
issues of bonds. The Authority plans to offer other obligations from time to time to finance other health and
educational facilities. Such other obligations will be issued pursuant to and secured by instruments separate and
apart from the Indenture and the security for the Bonds.
Bonds of the Authority
The Authority may from time to time issue bonds for any corporate purpose and, pursuant to the Act, these
bonds are negotiable for all purposes notwithstanding their payment from a limited source. The bonds are payable
solely out of revenues of the Authority specified in the resolution under which they are issued or in a related trust
indenture or mortgage. The Authority must pledge the revenues to be received on account of each financing as
security for the bonds issued in that financing.
State of Wisconsin Not Liable on the Bonds
The Bonds and the interest payable thereon do not constitute a debt or liability of the State of Wisconsin or
of any political subdivision thereof other than the Authority. The Bonds are limited obligations of the Authority and
are payable solely from the funds pledged therefor in accordance with the Indenture. The issuance of the Bonds
does not, directly, indirectly or contingently, obligate the State of Wisconsin or any political subdivision thereof to
levy any form of taxation for the payment therefor or to make any appropriation for their payment. The State of
Wisconsin shall not in any event be liable for the payment of the principal of or interest on the Bonds or for the
performance of any pledge, obligation or agreement of any kind whatsoever which may be undertaken by the
Authority. No breach by the Authority of any such pledge, obligation or agreement may impose any pecuniary
liability upon the State of Wisconsin or any charge upon its general credit or against its taxing power. The Authority
has no taxing power.
The Act provides that the State of Wisconsin pledges to, and agrees with, holders of any obligations issued
under the Act that it will not limit or alter the rights vested in the Authority by the Act until such obligations,
together with the interest thereon, are fully met and discharged, provided nothing in the Act precludes such
limitation or alteration if and when adequate provision shall be made by law for the protection of the holders of such
obligations.
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THE SERIES 2014 BONDS
General
The Series 2014 Bonds are authorized to be issued in the aggregate principal amount specified on the cover
hereof. The Series 2014 Bonds are to be dated the date of delivery thereof, and are to bear interest payable
semiannually on June 1 and December 1 of each year, commencing June 1, 2015, at the rates per annum, according
to years of maturity, set forth on the inside cover of this Official Statement. The Series 2014 Bonds are to mature on
December 1 of the years and in the principal amounts set forth on the inside cover and will be subject to redemption
prior to maturity, including optional redemption and mandatory sinking fund redemption, as set forth below under
“Redemption Prior to Maturity.”
Subject to the Book Entry System described below, interest payable on each semiannual interest payment
date for the Series 2014 Bonds is to be paid to the registered owners (sometimes referred to herein as the “Holders”)
of record in the registration records maintained by the Trustee as of the close of business on the 15th day of the
immediately preceding month (which may or may not be a business day), respectively.
Subject to the Book Entry System described below, the Series 2014 Bonds are to be issued in the form of
fully registered Bonds, in the denomination of $5,000 each and integral multiples thereof not exceeding the principal
amount maturing in any year. In the event any Bond is mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the Issuer may execute,
and the Trustee may authenticate, a new Bond in accordance with the provisions therefor in the Indenture, and the
Issuer and the Trustee may charge the registered owner of such Bond with their reasonable fees and expenses in
connection therewith and require indemnity satisfactory to them.
Redemption Prior to Maturity
Optional Redemption. The Series 2014 Bonds maturing after December 1, 2022 are callable for
redemption by the Issuer at the direction of the Borrower in whole or in part at any time on or after December 1,
2022, upon the exercise by the Borrower of its option to prepay the Note as provided in the Loan Agreement, at a
redemption price equal to the sum of the principal amount of the Series 2014 Bonds being redeemed, plus the full
amount of the unpaid interest accrued thereon to the redemption date, plus a premium (expressed as a percentage of
the principal amount of the Series 2014 Bonds to be redeemed), as follows:
Premium

Date
December 1, 2022 through
November 30, 2023
December 1, 2023 through
November 30, 2024
December 1, 2024 and
thereafter

2%
1%
0

Mandatory Tender for Purchase. Any Bond which is subject to optional redemption, on the date on which
the Bond would otherwise be redeemed, the Borrower may exercise its right to purchase such Bond, at a purchase
price equal to the optional redemption price. Notice of the mandatory tender for purchase shall be given in the same
manner as notice of redemption and bondholders do not have the right to retain their Bonds. The purchase of the
Bonds pursuant to this right will not result in an extinguishment of the debt evidenced by the Bonds. However,
unlike an optional redemption, Bonds that are purchased will remain outstanding and could be remarketed by the
buyer. Exercise of the purchase right is conditioned upon the issuance of an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect
that purchase and resale will not adversely affect the validity of the Bonds or cause an Event of Taxability to occur.
Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption. The Series 2014 Bonds maturing on December 1 in the years 2029,
2034, 2044 and 2049 are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption on June 1 and December 1 of the years and
in the principal amounts as set forth below (the “Mandatory Redemption Schedule”), at a redemption price equal to
the principal amount thereof to be redeemed, plus accrued interest to the redemption date.
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Series 2014 Bonds Maturing December 1, 2029
Sinking Fund
Redemption Date
June 1, 2025
December 1, 2025
June 1, 2026
December 1, 2026
June 1, 2027

Principal
Amount

Sinking Fund
Redemption Date

$380,000
385,000
395,000
405,000
415,000

December 1, 2027
June 1, 2028
December 1, 2028
June 1, 2029
December 1, 2029 (maturity)

Principal
Amount
$425,000
440,000
445,000
460,000
470,000

Series 2014 Bonds Maturing December 1, 2034
Sinking Fund
Redemption Date
June 1, 2030
December 1, 2030
June 1, 2031
December 1, 2031
June 1, 2032

Principal
Amount

Sinking Fund
Redemption Date

$485,000
495,000
510,000
520,000
535,000

December 1, 2032
June 1, 2033
December 1, 2033
June 1, 2034
December 1, 2034 (maturity)

Principal
Amount
$545,000
560,000
575,000
590,000
600,000

Series 2014 Bonds Maturing December 1, 2044
Sinking Fund
Redemption Date
June 1, 2035
December 1, 2035
June 1, 2036
December 1, 2036
June 1, 2037
December 1, 2037
June 1, 2038
December 1, 2038
June 1, 2039
December 1, 2039

Principal
Amount

Sinking Fund
Redemption Date

$620,000
630,000
650,000
665,000
685,000
700,000
715,000
735,000
755,000
770,000

June 1, 2040
December 1, 2040
June 1, 2041
December 1, 2041
June 1, 2042
December 1, 2042
June 1, 2043
December 1, 2043
June 1, 2044
December 1, 2044 (maturity)

Principal
Amount
$790,000
810,000
830,000
850,000
875,000
895,000
920,000
940,000
965,000
990,000

Series 2014 Bonds Maturing December 1, 2049
Sinking Fund
Redemption Date
June 1, 2045
December 1, 2045
June 1, 2046
December 1, 2046
June 1, 2047

Principal
Amount

Sinking Fund
Redemption Date

$1,015,000
1,040,000
1,065,000
1,095,000
1,125,000

December 1, 2047
June 1, 2048
December 1, 2048
June 1, 2049
December 1, 2049 (maturity)
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Principal
Amount
$1,155,000
1,185,000
1,215,000
1,245,000
4,055,000

The Trustee may, if requested to do so by the Borrower not less than 60 days in advance of a mandatory
sinking fund redemption date referred to above, reduce the principal amount of redemption referred to above by the
principal amount of Outstanding Bonds of the same maturity acquired by the Borrower and delivered to the Trustee
for cancellation, or acquired by the Trustee and cancelled, which have not previously been used for such a reduction.
Mandatory Redemption of Bonds Upon Determination of Taxability. The Series 2014 Bonds shall be
subject to mandatory redemption in whole on the earliest practicable Business Day (selected by the Trustee) for
which the Trustee can give timely notice pursuant to the Indenture, but in any event within 60 days, following a
Determination of Taxability. The redemption price shall be 105% of the principal amount of Series 2014 Bonds so
redeemed, plus accrued interest to the redemption date.
A Determination of Taxability means the issuance of a statutory notice of deficiency by the Internal
Revenue Service, or a ruling of the National Office or any District Office, or a final decision by any court of
competent jurisdiction that interest on Bonds is not excludable from the gross income of the recipient under Section
103 and related Sections of the Code and regulations thereunder because of any act or omission of the Borrower, any
Affiliate (or any successor or transferee) or of the Trustee, provided that the period for a contest or appeal, if any, of
such action, ruling or decision has expired without any such appeal or contest having been instituted, or, if instituted,
such contest or appeal has been unsuccessfully concluded. Inclusion of interest on Bonds in the computation of any
alternative minimum tax shall not be a Determination of Taxability.
Extraordinary Optional Redemption. The Series 2014 Bonds are callable for redemption, in whole or in
part, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Series 2014 Bonds being redeemed plus the full amount
of the unpaid interest which has accrued on the Series 2014 Bonds and will accrue to the date the Series 2014 Bonds
are redeemed upon the timely exercise by the Borrower of its option to prepay its obligations under the Loan
Agreement within 180 days of the occurrence of any of the following extraordinary events:
(i)
the Project is damaged or destroyed to such an extent that, in the opinion of the Borrower
expressed in an Officer’s Certificate of the Borrower filed with the Authority and the Trustee following the
damage or destruction, (A) it is not practicable or desirable to rebuild, repair or restore the Project within
the six months following the damage or destruction or (B) the Borrower is or will be prevented from
carrying out its normal operations at the Project for a period of six months;
(ii)
title to, or the temporary use of, all or substantially all of the Project has been taken under
the exercise of the power of eminent domain by any governmental authority which results or is likely to
result, in the opinion of the Borrower expressed in an Officer’s Certificate of the Borrower filed with the
Authority and the Trustee, in the Borrower being prevented from carrying on its normal operations at the
Project for a period of six months; or
(iii)
any court or administrative body has entered a judgment, order or decree requiring the
Borrower to cease all or any substantial part of its operations at the Project such that, in the opinion of the
Borrower expressed in an Officer’s Certificate of the Borrower filed with the Authority and the Trustee, the
Borrower is or will be prevented from carrying on its normal operations at the Project for a period of six
months.
Notice of Redemption. Under the Indenture, when Series 2014 Bonds are to be redeemed in advance of
their stated maturities, notice thereof subject to the Book Entry System, as described below, is to be mailed by the
Trustee at least 30 days but not more than 60 days prior to the redemption date by first class mail to the registered
owners of the Series 2014 Bonds which are to be redeemed at their addresses appearing on the registration records
maintained by the Trustee.
Selection of Series 2014 Bonds for Redemption. In the case of any optional partial redemption, the
Series 2014 Bonds must be redeemed in principal amounts equal to $5,000 or an integral multiple thereof, in the
amounts (subject to the preceding limitation) and of the maturities designated by the Borrower or, if the Borrower
has not provided adequate direction within 45 days of the redemption date, in the inverse of the order of their
maturity (less than all of the Series 2014 Bonds of a single maturity to be selected by random and in authorized
denominations). Upon the surrender of any Series 2014 Bond for redemption in part, the Issuer will execute and the
Trustee will authenticate and deliver to the registered owner a new Series 2014 Bond of the same series in a
principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the Series 2014 Bond surrendered.
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Registration and Transfer
The Trustee will maintain registration records for the Series 2014 Bonds at the designated corporate trust
office of the Trustee. The person in whose name the Series 2014 Bonds shall be registered shall be deemed and
regarded as the absolute owner thereof for all purposes, including the payment by the Trustee of principal and
interest on such Bond.
Additional Bonds
Upon the request of the Borrower, Additional Bonds may be authenticated and delivered from time to time
to the extent permitted by law upon satisfaction of the conditions provided in the Indenture. All Additional Bonds
rank equally and ratably with the Series 2014 Bonds but will bear the date or dates, bear the interest rate or rates,
mature in the amount or amounts, will have the optional or mandatory redemption features, and be sold at the prices,
as are provided in the supplement to the Indenture providing for the Additional Bonds and as is approved in writing
by the Authority and the Borrower.
For information with respect to the conditions under which Additional Bonds may be issued, see Appendix
D: “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE—Issuance of Additional Bonds.”
Generally, Additional Bonds may be issued for the purpose of (i) refunding outstanding Series 2014 Bonds
or Additional Bonds or (ii) financing Improvements (as defined in Appendix D hereto) or Related Facilities (as
defined in Appendix D hereto).
BOOK ENTRY SYSTEM
The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, NY, will act as securities depository for the Series
2014 Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s
partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fullyregistered Bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Series 2014 Bonds, each in the aggregate principal
amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC.
DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New
York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the
Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code,
and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues,
corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s
participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct
Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities through electronic computerized bookentry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement
of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks,
trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The
Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities
Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC
is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both
U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations that clear through
or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”).
DTC has Standard & Poor’s highest rating: AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com and
www.dtc.org.
Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will
receive a credit for the Series 2014 Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of
each Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial
Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however,
expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their
holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.
Transfers of ownership interests in the Series 2014 Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of
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Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive
certificates representing their ownership interest in the Series 2014 Bonds, except in the event that use of the bookentry system for the Series 2014 Bonds is discontinued.
To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the
name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such
other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual
Beneficial Owners of the Series 2014 Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to
whose accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect
Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.
Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to
Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by
arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.
Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of
significant events with respect to the Series 2014 Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults and proposed
amendments to the Bond documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to ascertain that the
nominee holding the Series 2014 Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial
Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and
request that copies of notices be provided directly to them.
Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the bonds within an issue are being redeemed,
DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be
redeemed.
Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the Series
2014 Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures. Under its usual
procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Issuer as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus
Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Series
2014 Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).
Principal, redemption price and interest payments on the Series 2014 Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or
such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct
Participants’ accounts, upon DTC’s receipt of funds or corresponding detail information from the Issuer or the
Trustee, on each payment date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by
Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case
with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the
responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, the Trustee, or the Issuer, subject to any statutory or regulatory
requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of principal, redemption price (if applicable) and
interest to Cede & Co., (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the
responsibility of the Borrower, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants shall be the responsibility of
DTC, and disbursement of such payments to Beneficial Owners is the responsibility of Direct and Indirect
Participants.
DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respect to the Series 2014 Bonds
at any time by giving reasonable notice to the Issuer or the Trustee. Under such circumstances, in the event that a
successor depository is not obtained, Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered to DTC.
The Issuer may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a
successor securities depository). In that event, the Bond certificates will be printed and delivered.
THE INFORMATION IN THIS SECTION HAS BEEN FURNISHED BY DTC. NO
REPRESENTATION IS MADE BY THE ISSUER, THE TRUSTEE, THE BORROWER, THE GUARANTOR OR
THE UNDERWRITER AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY OF SUCH INFORMATION OR AS TO
THE ABSENCE OF MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGES IN SUCH INFORMATION SUBSEQUENT TO THE
DATE HEREOF. NO ATTEMPT HAS BEEN MADE BY THE ISSUER, THE BORROWER, THE
GUARANTOR, THE TRUSTEE OR THE UNDERWRITER TO DETERMINE WHETHER DTC IS OR WILL BE
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FINANCIALLY OR OTHERWISE CAPABLE OF FULFILLING ITS OBLIGATIONS. NEITHER THE ISSUER
NOR THE TRUSTEE WILL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR OBLIGATION TO DTC PARTICIPANTS,
INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS OR BENEFICIAL OWNERS, OR OTHER PERSONS FOR WHICH THEY ACT
AS NOMINEES WITH RESPECT TO THE SERIES 2014 BONDS, OR FOR ANY PRINCIPAL, OR INTEREST
PAYMENT THEREON.
SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2014 BONDS
Limited Obligations
The Series 2014 Bonds and the interest payable thereon do not constitute a debt or liability of the State of
Wisconsin or of any political subdivision thereof other than the Issuer, but shall be payable solely from the funds
pledged or available therefor in accordance with the Indenture. The issuance of the Series 2014 Bonds does not,
directly, indirectly or contingently, obligate the State of Wisconsin or any political subdivision thereof to levy any
form of taxation for the payment thereof or to make any appropriation for their payment. The Series 2014 Bonds
and interest payable thereon do not now and shall never constitute a debt of the State of Wisconsin within the
meaning of the Constitution or statutes of the State of Wisconsin and do not now and shall never constitute a charge
against the credit or taxing power of the State of Wisconsin or any political subdivision thereof. The State of
Wisconsin shall not in any event be liable for the payment of the principal of or interest on the Series 2014 Bonds or
for the performance of any pledge, obligation or agreement of any kind whatsoever which may be undertaken by the
Issuer. No breach by the Issuer of any such pledge, obligation or agreement may impose any pecuniary liability
upon the State of Wisconsin or any charge upon its general credit or against its taxing power. The Issuer has no
taxing power.
The Series 2014 Bonds are limited obligations of the Issuer and are payable solely from (i) payments or
prepayments to be made by the Borrower pursuant to the Loan Agreement (other than the Issuer’s fees and expenses
and the Issuer’s right to indemnification in certain circumstances), (ii) certain money and investments held by the
Trustee under the Indenture (collectively, the “Revenues”) and (iii) amounts received by the Trustee under the
Mortgage or the Limited Guaranty.
Assignment of Loan Agreement
Pursuant to the Indenture the Authority pledges and assigns its interests in the Loan Agreement (except its
Unassigned Rights) to the Trustee to secure the Bonds, including all loan repayments required to be made
thereunder by the Borrower.
Mortgage; Permitted Encumbrances; Release
The Series 2014 Bonds, together with any future series of Additional Bonds to be issued pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the Indenture, are all secured and to be secured equally and ratably and on a parity by the
mortgage lien on and security interest created pursuant to the Mortgage, consisting generally of the Borrower’s
Project and the rents and revenues therefrom. See Appendix D: “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF
THE MORTGAGE.”
The lien created pursuant to the Mortgage is subject to Permitted Encumbrances, which include liens for
taxes and special assessments not yet delinquent and noninterfering utility and access easements. In the event that
such taxes or special assessments are not paid, liens for said unpaid amounts would be prior to the lien of the
Mortgage.
See “BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS—Mortgage Limitations.”
Limited Guaranty
For the further security of the Series 2014 Bonds, the Guarantor is entering into a Limited Guaranty
Agreement. The amount guaranteed by the Guarantor under the Limited Guaranty is limited to $4,000,000.
Moreover, the Limited Guaranty is subject to certain specific release provisions related to the financial performance
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and occupancy of the Project. The Limited Guaranty shall terminate and the Guarantor’s obligations thereunder
shall be extinguished upon the delivery to the Trustee of the following:
(1)
a Certificate of the Authorized Borrower Representative to the effect that occupancy of
the Project has attained an average rate of not less than 90% calculated over the most recently ended fiscal
year of the Borrower (the “Measurement Period”), with such occupancy having been determined solely by
reference to occupants who have entered into lease or occupancy agreements with the Borrower in good
faith; and
(2)
a Certificate of Qualified Accountants (as defined in the Loan Agreement) to the effect
that, based upon the most recent audited financial statements of the Borrower, (a) the Borrower’s Net
Income Available for Debt Service was equal to at least 130% of the Annual Debt Service Requirement for
the fiscal year of the Borrower most recently completed; and (b) the Borrower had at least 60 Days Cash on
Hand for the fiscal year of the Borrower most recently completed.
For purposes of meeting these requirements, compliance may be measured by reference to consolidated financial
statements of the Guarantor and its affiliates, including consolidating schedules of the Borrower and other affiliates
of the Guarantor, prepared in reasonable detail and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
For all purposes of the above termination provisions, the following defined terms shall have the corresponding
meanings below:
(a) “Annual Debt Service Requirement” shall have the meaning set forth in the
Loan Agreement.
(b) “Net Income Available for Debt Service” shall have the meaning set forth in
the Loan Agreement, except that in no event shall Net Income Available for Debt Service
include contributions, donations or transfers from any Affiliate (as defined in the Loan
Agreement).
(c) “Days Cash on Hand” shall have the meaning set forth in the Loan Agreement,
except that in no event shall Days Cash on Hand include contributions, donations or transfers
from any Affiliate (as defined in the Loan Agreement).
Notwithstanding anything else set forth in this section, in no event shall the obligations of the Guarantor under the
Limited Guaranty terminate prior to September 30, 2018.
For additional information with respect to such release provisions and other terms of the Limited Guaranty,
see Appendix D: “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LIMITED GUARANTY.”
Debt Service Reserve Fund
Under the Indenture, a Debt Service Reserve Fund (the “Debt Service Reserve Fund”) is to be maintained
by the Trustee for the further security of the Series 2014 Bonds. The Debt Service Reserve Fund will initially be
funded with proceeds of the Series 2014 Bonds in an amount equal to the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement
(as defined in Appendix D hereto). In the event that moneys in the Debt Service Reserve Fund are withdrawn at any
time to restore a deficiency in the Bond Fund, the Borrower is obligated under the Loan Agreement to restore the
amount withdrawn from the Debt Service Reserve Fund in twelve consecutive substantially equal monthly
installments, commencing on the first day of the sixth month after such withdrawal. See Appendix D:
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT—Debt Service Reserve Fund.”
Amounts in the Debt Service Reserve Fund are pledged to the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and
interest on the Series 2014 Bonds. Amounts in the Debt Service Reserve Fund may be invested in Qualified
Investments as described in Appendix D “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE—
Investments Generally.”
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Replacement Reserve Fund
Under the Loan Agreement and the Indenture, a Replacement Reserve Fund is required to be established by
the Borrower through the making of monthly deposits therein, commencing October 1, 2018. The amount of the
monthly deposits shall be $3,333 per month, until such time as the balance in the Replacement Reserve Fund is
equal to $100,000. Amounts in the Replacement Reserve Fund may be used solely for the costs of maintenance of
the Project or capital expenditures related to the Project. For a summary of the provisions of the Loan Agreement
and the Indenture governing the establishment and application of amounts in the Replacement Reserve Fund, see
Appendix D: “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE—Replacement Reserve Fund.”
Additional Bonds and Indebtedness of the Borrower
Under the Indenture and the Loan Agreement, the Issuer is permitted to issue Additional Bonds on the
terms and conditions set forth therein. See “THE SERIES 2014 BONDS—Additional Bonds.” In addition, under
the Loan Agreement, the Borrower is permitted to incur additional Long-Term Indebtedness on the terms and
conditions set forth therein. See Appendix D: “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN
AGREEMENT—Indebtedness Generally.”
Special Covenants
Maintenance of Rates. The Borrower agrees that it will, subject to applicable requirements or restrictions
imposed by law, maintain its rates, charges and other revenues at a level such that in each Fiscal Year beginning
with the Borrower’s Fiscal Year ending September 30, 2018, its Net Income Available for Debt Service will not be
less than 120% of its Annual Debt Service Requirement for that year. For purposes of this section, Net Income
Available for Debt Service shall include donations of cash and cash equivalents to the Borrower from an Affiliate of
the Borrower.
If in any Fiscal Year beginning with the Borrower’s Fiscal Year ending September 30, 2018 the Borrower’s
Net Income Available for Debt Service is less than 120% of its Annual Debt Service Requirement for such Fiscal
Year, the Borrower will immediately request an Independent Consultant to make recommendations with respect to
its operations, including its rates. The Borrower agrees to consider any recommendations by the Independent
Consultant and, to the fullest extent practicable, to adopt and carry out such recommendations. The Borrower agrees
that it will within 30 days after receipt file copies of the Independent Consultant’s opinion and recommendations
with the Authority, the Trustee and the Purchaser. This section shall not be construed to prohibit the Borrower from
serving indigent patients to the extent required for it to continue its qualification as a tax-exempt organization or to
maintain eligibility to participate in the Medicare and Medicaid programs, to comply with any other requirements of
law, or from serving any other class of patients without charge or at reduced rates so long as such service does not
prevent the Borrower from satisfying the other requirements of this section.
So long as the Borrower is otherwise in full compliance with its obligations under the Loan Agreement,
including following, to the fullest extent practicable, the recommendations of the Independent Consultant, it shall
not constitute an Event of Default that the Net Income Available for Debt Service of the Borrower for any Fiscal
Year is less than 120% of the Annual Debt Service Requirement for such Fiscal Year; provided, however, it shall
constitute an Event of Default if the Net Income Available for Debt Service for any Fiscal Year is less than 100% of
the Annual Debt Service Requirement for such Fiscal Year; but provided further, that, for purposes of this covenant,
Net Income Available for Debt Service for such prior Fiscal Year shall include any donation of cash or cash
equivalents made to the Borrower by an Affiliate within 60 days after the end of such Fiscal Year. See
Appendix D: “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT—Maintenance of
Rates.”
Days Cash on Hand. The Borrower agrees that beginning with the Fiscal Year ending September 30, 2018,
the Borrower shall maintain at least 60 Days Cash on Hand, tested annually as of the end of each Fiscal Year based
on the audited financial statements for such Fiscal Year. For purposes of this section, Days Cash on Hand shall
include donations of cash or cash equivalents made to the Borrower from an Affiliate of the Borrower within not
more than 30 days from the end of a Fiscal Year. See Appendix D: “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF
THE LOAN AGREEMENT—Days Cash on Hand.”
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Transactions with Affiliates. The Borrower agrees that it will not make payments for property or services
except at an amount equal to the fair market value thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower may make
payments or transfers of property or cash to an Affiliate so long as (i) the Borrower’s Net Income Available for Debt
Service was not less than 120% of its Annual Debt Service Requirement in the prior Fiscal Year, (ii) as of the last
day of such Fiscal Year the Borrower had in excess of 60 Days Cash on Hand; (iii) no Event of Default has occurred
under the Loan Agreement or will occur under the Loan Agreement as a result of such transfer, and (iv) the Debt
Service Reserve Fund contains an amount not less than the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement; provided,
however, that, notwithstanding anything else set forth in this section, no such payment or transfer to an Affiliate may
be made unless, following such transfer, the Borrower retains not less than 60 Days Cash on Hand. See
Appendix D: “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT—Transactions with
Affiliates.”
DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE SERIES 2014 BONDS
Year
Principal
Interest
Annual
Amount Due
Owing
Debt Service
(December 1)
2015(1)
$2,297,774.07
$2,297,774.07
2016
2,188,356.26
2,188,356.26
2017
$290,000
2,188,356.26
2,478,356.26
2018
590,000
2,178,868.76
2,768,868.76
2019
605,000
2,163,306.26
2,768,306.26
2020
625,000
2,144,231.26
2,769,231.26
2021
645,000
2,121,781.26
2,766,781.26
2022
675,000
2,096,893.76
2,771,893.76
2023
705,000
2,069,375.01
2,774,375.01
2024
730,000
2,039,862.50
2,769,862.50
2025
765,000
2,006,987.50
2,771,987.50
2026
800,000
1,968,362.50
2,768,362.50
2027
840,000
1,927,862.50
2,767,862.50
2028
885,000
1,885,237.50
2,770,237.50
2029
930,000
1,840,487.50
2,770,487.50
2030
980,000
1,793,362.50
2,773,362.50
2031
1,030,000
1,743,737.50
2,773,737.50
2032
1,080,000
1,691,612.50
2,771,612.50
2033
1,135,000
1,636,987.50
2,771,987.50
2034
1,190,000
1,579,487.50
2,769,487.50
2035
1,250,000
1,519,237.50
2,769,237.50
2036
1,315,000
1,455,987.50
2,770,987.50
2037
1,385,000
1,389,362.50
2,774,362.50
2038
1,450,000
1,319,362.50
2,769,362.50
2039
1,525,000
1,245,862.50
2,770,862.50
2040
1,600,000
1,168,737.50
2,768,737.50
2041
1,680,000
1,087,737.50
2,767,737.50
2042
1,770,000
1,002,612.50
2,772,612.50
2043
1,860,000
912,987.50
2,772,987.50
2044
1,955,000
818,862.50
2,773,862.50
2045
2,055,000
718,593.75
2,773,593.75
2046
2,160,000
609,393.75
2,769,393.75
2047
2,280,000
494,418.75
2,774,418.75
2048
2,400,000
373,143.75
2,773,143.75
2049
5,300,000
245,568.75
5,545,568.75
______________________________
(1)
Period commencing on the date of issuance of the Series 2014 Bonds and ending on December 1, 2015.
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THE BORROWER
Hudson Senior Housing, LLC (the “Borrower”) is a Minnesota nonprofit limited liability company. The
sole member of the Borrower is Presbyterian Homes Housing and Assisted Living, Inc., a Minnesota nonprofit
corporation and an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, exempt from the
payment of income taxes under Section 501(a) of the Code.
The Series 2014 Bonds and the obligations of the Borrower under the Loan Agreement will be partially
guaranteed by Presbyterian Homes and Services (“PHS” or the “Guarantor”) pursuant to a Limited Guaranty
Agreement (the “Limited Guaranty”) to be entered into by PHS and the Trustee. Upon the satisfaction of certain
conditions, including the fulfillment of certain financial tests, PHS will be released from any further obligation
under the Limited Guaranty. For a summary of such release provisions, see “SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2014
BONDS—The Limited Guaranty.” See also Appendix D: “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE
LIMITED GUARANTY—Termination of Limited Guaranty.”
The current mailing address and telephone number of the Borrower and the Guarantor is: 2845 Hamline
Avenue North, Roseville, Minnesota 55113; Telephone: (651) 631-6100. Questions may be directed to Mr. Mark
Meyer, Chief Financial Officer.
For more information with respect to the Borrower, see Appendix A: “THE BORROWER.”
THE PROJECT
With the proceeds of the Series 2014 Bonds, together with certain other moneys, the Borrower intends to
acquire, construct and equip a new 160-unit senior housing facility, to be located on an approximately 12.4 acre site
in Hudson, Wisconsin, adjacent to Hudson Hospital and Clinic (which is affiliated with HealthPartners). The new
facility will include 95 independent living apartments, 46 assisted living units, 19 units of memory care assisted
living, an approximately 6,130 square foot dialysis clinic, and a town center.
A Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) labor contract and a GMP material contract, which combined total
$29,500,000, have been entered into for the construction of the Project. Under the contracts terms, any savings
achieved on the GMP’s will be split equally between the Contractor and the Borrower. Further, there is a provision
for liquidated damages for late delivery of the construction. A $1,000 per day liquidated damage fee will be
assessed for delay in receipt of the certificate of occupancy for the building, or any portion thereof, which is
delivered later than stipulated in the contract. Retainage on the labor portion of the contract will be equal to 5% for
both the general contractor and the sub-contractors. Any work not substantially complete at the time of turnover of
the building will be subject to a hold back of 150% of the value of the incomplete work. The general contractor is
required to furnish payment and performance bonds covering the contractor’s work. See Appendix A: “THE
PROJECT—Project Design and Construction—Construction.”
Payment of construction and other development-related costs for the Project will be made by the Trustee
pursuant to the requirements of the Indenture and a Construction Disbursing Agreement (the “Disbursing
Agreement”), to be entered into by the Borrower, the Trustee and the Title Insurance Company, acting as disbursing
agent (referred to in such capacity as the “Disbursing Agent”). Payment of disbursement requests will be
conditioned on provision of lien waivers from costs paid through the prior draw, and various other conditions.
Under the Loan Agreement and the Disbursing Agreement, the Borrower will be required to provide for payment of
all costs of the Project beyond the amount of Bond proceeds available therefor and to maintain sufficient funds in
the Project Fund maintained by the Trustee under the Indenture to provide for payment of all costs of the Project.
For a more detailed description of the provisions of the Disbursing Agreement, see Appendix D—”SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE DISBURSING AGREEMENT.”
For more information with respect to the Project, see Appendix A: “THE PROJECT.”
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ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS
The estimated sources and uses of funds (rounded to the nearest $1,000) in connection with the Project are
anticipated to be as follows:
Sources of Funds
Par amount of Series 2014 Bonds
Less net original issue discount
Equity contribution – PHS
Investment Earnings on Trustee Held Funds
Total

$44,485,000
(790,000)
4,000,000
130,000
$47,825,000

Uses of Funds
Land
Architect and Engineering Fees
Site Costs
Building Construction
Development Contingency
City Expenses
FF&E
Other Project Costs
Marketing Cost
Working Capital
Pre-Opening Salaries
Development Expense
Costs of Issuance
Capitalized Interest (15 months)
Debt Service Reserve Fund
Total

$3,600,000
1,040,000
97,000
29,500,000
963,000
398,000
2,000,000
80,000
640,000
1,777,000
20,000
1,405,000
866,000
2,665,000
2,774,000
$47,825,000

ENFORCEABILITY OF OBLIGATIONS
The Series 2014 Bonds are payable from payments to be made by the Borrower pursuant to the Loan
Agreement and are secured by the Indenture, the Mortgage and the Limited Guaranty, but the practical realization of
such security upon any default will depend upon the exercise of various remedies specified by the Indenture, the
Loan Agreement, the Mortgage and the Limited Guaranty. These and other remedies are in many respects
dependent upon judicial actions which are often subject to discretion and delay. Under existing constitutional,
statutory and judicial law, the remedies specified by the Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Mortgage and the
Limited Guaranty, may not be readily available or may be limited. A court may decide not to order the specific
performance of covenants contained in such documents. The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently
with the delivery of the Series 2014 Bonds will be qualified as to the enforceability of the various legal instruments
by limitations imposed by state and federal laws affecting remedies and by bankruptcy, reorganization or other laws
affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights. No assurances can be provided that the principal amount of the
Series 2014 Bonds outstanding from time to time constitutes a realizable amount upon any foreclosure or other
forced sale of the Project.
TAX EXEMPTION
In General
The opinion of Bond Counsel and the descriptions of the tax laws contained in this Official Statement are
based on laws and official interpretations of them that are in existence on the date the Series 2014 Bonds are issued.
There can be no assurance that those laws or the interpretations of them will not change or that new laws will not be
enacted or regulations issued while the Series 2014 Bonds are outstanding in a manner that would adversely affect
the value of any investment in the Series 2014 Bonds or the tax treatment of the interest paid on the Series 2014
Bonds.
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Federal Income Tax Opinion of Bond Counsel
Quarles & Brady LLP, Bond Counsel, will deliver a legal opinion with respect to the federal income tax
exemption applicable to the interest on the Series 2014 Bonds under existing law in substantially the form attached
as Appendix F hereto.
Original Issue Discount
To the extent that the initial public offering price of certain of the Series 2014 Bonds is less than the
principal amount payable at maturity, such Series 2014 Bonds (“Discounted Bonds”) will be considered to be
issued with original issue discount. The original issue discount is the excess of the stated redemption price at
maturity of a Discounted Bond over the initial offering price to the public, excluding underwriters or other
intermediaries, at which price a substantial amount of such Discounted Bonds were sold (“issue price”). With
respect to a taxpayer who purchases a Discounted Bond in the initial public offering at the issue price and who
holds such Discounted Bond to maturity, the full amount of original issue discount will constitute interest that is
not includible in the gross income of the owner of such Discounted Bond for federal income tax purposes and
such owner will not, subject to the caveats and provisions herein described, realize taxable capital gain upon
payment of such Discounted Bond upon maturity.
Original issue discount is treated as compounding semiannually, at a rate determined by reference to the
yield to maturity of each individual Discounted Bond, on days that are determined by reference to the maturity
date of such Discounted Bond. The amount treated as original issue discount on a Discounted Bond for a particular
semiannual accrual period is generally equal to (a) the product of (i) the yield to maturity for such Discounted
Bond (determined by compounding at the close of each accrual period) and (ii) the amount that would have
been the tax basis of such Discounted Bond at the beginning of the particular accrual period if held by the original
purchaser; and less (b) the amount of any interest payable for such Discounted Bond during the accrual period.
The tax basis is determined by adding to the initial public offering price on such Discounted Bond the sum of
the amounts that have been treated as original issue discount for such purposes during all prior periods. If a
Discounted Bond is sold or exchanged between semiannual compounding dates, original issue discount that
would have been accrued for that semiannual compounding period for federal income tax purposes is to be
apportioned in equal amounts among the days in such compounding period.
For federal income tax purposes, the amount of original issue discount that is treated as having
accrued with respect to such Discounted Bond is added to the cost basis of the owner in determining gain or loss
upon disposition of a Discounted Bond (including its sale, exchange, redemption, or payment at maturity).
Amounts received upon disposition of a Discounted Bond that are attributable to accrued original issue discount
will be treated as tax-exempt interest, rather than as taxable gain.
The accrual or receipt of original issue discount on the Discounted Bonds may result in certain collateral
federal income tax consequences for the owners of such Discounted Bonds. The extent of these collateral tax
consequences will depend upon the owner’s particular tax status and other items of income or deduction. In the
case of corporate owners of Discounted Bonds, a portion of the original issue discount that is accrued in each year
will be included in the calculation of the corporation’s alternative minimum tax liability. Corporate owners of
any Discounted Bonds should be aware that such accrual of original issue discount may result in an alternative
minimum tax liability although the owners of such Discounted Bonds will not receive a corresponding cash
payment until a later year.
The Code contains additional provisions relating to the accrual of original issue discount. Owners who
purchase Discounted Bonds at a price other than the issue price or who purchase such Discounted Bonds in the
secondary market should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences of owning the
Discounted Bonds. Under the applicable provisions governing the determination of state and local taxes, accrued
interest on the Discounted Bonds may be deemed to be received in the year of accrual even though there will not
be a corresponding cash payment until a later year. Owners of Discounted Bonds should consult their own tax
advisors with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning the Discounted Bonds.
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Bond Premium
To the extent that the initial offering prices of certain of the Series 2014 Bonds are more than the
principal amount payable at maturity, such Bonds (“Premium Bonds”) will be considered to have bond premium.
Any Premium Bond purchased in the initial offering at the issue price will have “amortizable bond
premium” within the meaning of Section 171 of the Code. The amortizable bond premium of each Premium Bond
is calculated on a daily basis from the issue date of such Premium Bond until its stated maturity date (or call date,
if any) on the basis of a constant instant rate compounded at each accrual period (with straight line interpolation
between the compounding dates). An owner of a Premium Bond that has amortizable bond premium is not allowed
any deduction for the amortizable bond premium; rather the amortizable bond premium attributable to a taxable
year is applied against (and operates to reduce) the amount of tax-exempt interest payments on the Premium Bonds.
During each taxable year, such an owner must reduce his or her tax basis in such Premium Bond by the amount of
the amortizable bond premium that is allocable to the portion of such taxable year during which the holder held
such Premium Bond. The adjusted tax basis in a Premium Bond will be used to determine taxable gain or loss
upon a disposition (including the sale, exchange, redemption, or payment at maturity) of such Premium Bond.
Owners of Premium Bonds who did not purchase such Premium Bonds in the initial offering at the
issue price should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences of owning such Premium
Bonds. Owners of Premium Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the state and local tax
consequences of owning the Premium Bonds.
Other Federal Income Tax Considerations
Interest on the Bonds is included in the adjusted current earnings of corporations for purposes of the
alternative minimum tax imposed by Section 55 of the Code. The Code also contains numerous other provisions
which could adversely affect the value of an investment in the Bonds for particular Bondholders. For example,
(i) Section 265 of the Code denies a deduction for interest on indebtedness incurred or continued to purchase or
carry the Bonds or, in the case of a financial institution, that portion of a holder’s interest expense allocated to
interest on the Bonds, (ii) Section 265 of the Code denies a deduction for expenses that are allocable to the interest
on the Bonds, (iii) Section 265 of the Code denies a deduction for otherwise allocable deductions of a regulated
investment company that are allowable to distributions of the interest on the Bonds paid during the taxable year (or
after the close of the taxable year pursuant to Section 855 of the Code), (iv) interest on the Bonds may affect the
federal income tax liabilities of life insurance companies and, with respect to insurance companies subject to the tax
imposed by Section 831 of the Code, Section 832(b)(5)(B)(i) reduces the deduction for loss reserves by 15 percent
of the sum of certain items, including interest on the Bonds, (v) interest on the Bonds earned by certain foreign
corporations doing business in the United States could be subject to a branch profits tax imposed by Section 884 of
the Code, (vi) passive investment income, including interest on the Bonds, may be subject to federal income taxation
under Section 1375 of the Code for Subchapter S corporations that have Subchapter C earnings and profits at the
close of the taxable year if greater than 25% of the gross receipts of the Subchapter S corporation is passive
investment income, and (vii) Section 86 of the Code requires recipients of certain Social Security and certain
Railroad Retirement benefits to take into account receipts or accruals of interest on the Bonds in determining gross
income. There may be other provisions of the Code which could adversely affect the value of an investment in the
Bonds for particular Bondholders. Investors should consult their tax advisors to determine how the provisions
described under this heading and under the subheading “Original Issue Discount” and “Bond Premium” and other
provisions of the Code relating to the ownership of tax-exempt obligations apply to them.
From time to time legislation is proposed, and there are or may be legislative proposals pending in the
Congress of the United States that, if enacted, could alter or amend the federal tax matters referred to above or
adversely affect the market value of the Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult their own tax
advisors regarding any pending or proposed federal tax legislation. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding
any pending or proposed federal tax legislation.
Wisconsin Income Tax
In the opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Bonds is exempt from present Wisconsin income tax on
individuals, fiduciaries, corporations and insurance companies pursuant to Sections 71.05(1)(c)11., 71.26(1m)(L)
and 71.45(1t)(L) of the Wisconsin Statutes; except that interest on and income from the Bonds is includable in the
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measure of tax for Wisconsin corporate franchise tax purposes. See Appendix F hereto. Investors should consult
their tax advisors with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning the Bonds.
LEGAL MATTERS
The validity of the Series 2014 Bonds, the tax-exempt status thereof and certain other legal matters incident
to the authorization of the Series 2014 Bonds will be passed upon by Quarles & Brady LLP, Bond Counsel, whose
opinion will be delivered at the time of delivery of the Series 2014 Bonds. In connection with the issuance of the
Series 2014 Bonds, certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Borrower and Guarantor by their counsel, Janna
Severance, Esq., General Counsel to Presbyterian Homes and Services, Roseville, Minnesota, and for the sole and
exclusive benefit of the Underwriter, by its counsel, Gray, Plant, Mooty, Mooty & Bennett, P.A., Minneapolis,
Minnesota. The Issuer is being represented by its general counsel, Quarles & Brady LLP.
UNDERWRITING
Consistent with its responsibilities under the federal securities laws, the Underwriter has reviewed the
information in this Official Statement and has a reasonable basis for its belief in the accuracy and completeness of
the key representations herein.
Pursuant to the terms of a Bond Purchase Agreement to be entered into by the Authority with the Borrower
and the Underwriter, the Underwriter will agree to purchase the Series 2014 Bonds from the Issuer upon the terms
and conditions therein set forth.
The Series 2014 Bonds are offered, subject to prior sale, when, as and if issued by the Authority and
accepted by the Underwriter, subject to the approval as to validity and certain other matters by Counsel to the
Underwriter, the approval of certain matters by counsel to the Borrower, and certain other conditions.
The purchase price payable by the Underwriter for the Series 2014 Bonds is $43,139,089.25, which is the
principal amount of the Series 2014 Bonds, less net original issue discount of $789,848.25, and less the
Underwriter’s discount of $556,062.50 (1.25% of the principal amount of the Series 2014 Bonds).
The Series 2014 Bonds are being offered for sale to the public at the initial prices stated on the inside cover
of this Official Statement. Concessions from the initial prices may be allowed to selected dealers and special
purchasers. The initial prices are subject to change after the date hereof.
Subject to prevailing market conditions, the Underwriter intends, but is not obligated, to maintain a
secondary market for the Series 2014 Bonds. The Underwriter is not, however, obligated to repurchase any Series
2014 Bonds at the request of the owner thereof.
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
Continuing Disclosure Undertaking with respect to Series 2014 Bonds
Rule 15c2-12, promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, imposes continuing disclosure obligations on the issuers of certain state and municipal securities (or certain
“obligated persons,” as defined tin this Official Statement) to permit participating underwriters to offer and sell
those securities. Pursuant to Rule 15c2-12(b)(5)(i), the Borrower will enter into a Continuing Disclosure Agreement
with the Trustee, for the benefit of the Bondholders, whereby the Borrower will agree to provide certain annual and
quarterly reports to the Electronic Municipal Market Access System (“EMMA”) operated by the MSRB.
The form of Continuing Disclosure Agreement to be entered into by the Borrower and the Trustee, as
Dissemination Agent, is attached to this Official Statement as Appendix E. For a more complete statement of the
terms of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, see Appendix E: “FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
AGREEMENT” in this Official Statement.
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Prior Continuing Disclosure Obligations and Compliance
The Borrower currently has, and, within the past five years has had, no outstanding continuing disclosure
obligations. The Guarantor, as an “obligated person “ with respect to certain municipal securities that are subject to
Rule 15c2-12, is in compliance with all of the continuing disclosure obligations undertaken by it pursuant to written
continuing disclosure agreements executed pursuant to the Rule, except that certain operating data required to be
posted on EMMA in 2012, 2013 and 2014 were not timely filed in connection with the City of Wayzata, Minnesota
Senior Housing Revenue Bonds Series, 2012A (Folkestone Senior Living Community), the City of Wayzata,
Minnesota Senior Housing Entrance Deposit Revenue Bonds, Series, 2012B (Folkestone Senior Living
Community), and the City of Wayzata, Minnesota Taxable Senior Housing Revenue Bonds Series, 2012A-T
(Folkestone Senior Living Community). All such delinquencies and any deficiencies in such filings have been cured
as of the date of this Official Statement.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Included in Appendix B to this Official Statement are the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Guarantor and affiliates for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, which have been audited by
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP, Certified Public Accountants, Minneapolis, Minnesota.
FINANCIAL FEASIBILITY STUDY
Attached as Appendix C to this Official Statement is a Financial Feasibility Study for the Project prepared
by CliftonLarsonAllen LLP, Certified Public Accountants (“CLA”). Included in the Financial Feasibility Study is a
financial forecast for the Borrower examined by CLA (the “Forecast”). The Forecast is based upon assumptions
made by management of the Borrower. As stated in the Forecast, events and circumstances frequently do not occur
as expected, and there will usually be differences between the results forecasted therein and the Borrower’s actual
results, and those differences may be material. In addition, the Forecast covers only the four years ending
September 30, 2018, and consequently does not cover the entire period during which the Series 2014 Bonds may be
outstanding. See the complete Feasibility Study attached to this Official Statement as Appendix C, which should be
read in its entirety.
BECAUSE THERE IS NO ASSURANCE THAT ACTUAL EVENTS WILL CORRESPOND WITH THE
ASSUMPTIONS MADE IN THE FEASIBILITY STUDY OR THE FORECAST, NO ASSURANCES CAN BE
GIVEN THAT THE RESULTS SET FORTH THEREIN WILL CORRESPOND WITH THE RESULTS
ACTUALLY ACHIEVED BY THE BORROWER IN THE FUTURE. ACTUAL OPERATING RESULTS MAY
BE AFFECTED BY MANY UNCONTROLLABLE FACTORS, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO,
INCREASED COSTS, FAILURE BY MANAGEMENT OF THE BORROWER TO EXECUTE ITS PLANS,
LOWER THAN ANTICIPATED REVENUES, EMPLOYEE RELATIONS, TAXES, GOVERNMENTAL
CONTROLS, CHANGES IN APPLICABLE GOVERNMENTAL REGULATION, CHANGES IN
DEMOGRAPHIC TRENDS, CHANGES IN THE RETIREMENT LIVING AND HEALTH CARE INDUSTRIES
AND GENERAL ECONOMIC CONDITIONS.
MISCELLANEOUS
The Borrower has furnished all information in this Official Statement relating to the Borrower, the
Guarantor, their affiliates, the Project, the Estimated Sources and Uses of Funds, and all related information,
including all information set forth in Appendices A, B and C to this Official Statement.
All statements in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion or belief, whether or not expressly so
stated, are intended as such and not as representations of fact.
The Authority has consented to the use of this Official Statement, but has made no independent
investigation with respect to the information contained in this Official Statement except for the information set forth
under the caption “THE AUTHORITY,” and, accordingly, the Authority assumes no responsibility for the
sufficiency, accuracy or completeness of such information except as set forth under the caption “THE
AUTHORITY.” The Borrower has authorized or will authorize the distribution of this Official Statement.
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The CUSIP numbers are included on the inside front cover of this Official Statement for the convenience of
the holders and potential holders of the Bonds. No assurance can be given that the CUSIP numbers for the Bonds
will remain the same after the date of issuance and delivery of the Bonds.
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APPENDIX A
THE BORROWER, THE GUARANTOR AND THE PROJECT

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

THE BORROWER
General
The Borrower, Hudson Senior Housing, LLC, is a Minnesota non-profit limited liability company formed on
September 15, 2014. Its sole member is Presbyterian Homes Housing and Assisted Living, Inc. (“PHHAL” or the
“Sole Member”), a Minnesota non-profit corporation formed on June 3, 1983. The Borrower’s sole purpose is to
develop, construct, finance and operate a comprehensive senior campus in Hudson, Wisconsin that provides
residential rental housing and related services to seniors. The Borrower does business under the name Woodland
Hill.
The Sole Member has also formed a Minnesota non-profit corporation, effective September 15, 2014, named
“Hudson Senior Housing, Inc.” and has applied for tax exempt status for such corporation under Section 501(c)(3)
of the Internal Revenue Code. It is the intent of the Sole Member to transfer its member interest in the Borrower to
such new non-profit corporation, if and when such new corporation is granted 501(c)(3) tax exempt status. It is
anticipated that the Board of Directors of Hudson Senior Housing, Inc. will be the same persons who serve as the
Board of Governors of the Borrower.
Affiliates
Sole Member. The Sole Member of the Borrower is PHHAL. PHHAL is exempt from federal income tax under
Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). PHHAL is a controlled affiliate
of Presbyterian Homes and Services (“PHS”). PHS is also the Guarantor under the Limited Guaranty for the Bonds.
PHS’ governance and organizational structure is described more fully in the Guarantor section of this Appendix A.
Governance of the Borrower
The following are the officers of the Borrower:
Daniel Lindh is the chief manager and has been associated with Presbyterian Homes since 1976. He
graduated from Bethel College with a B.A. degree in Psychology in 1975 and the University of St. Thomas
with an M.B.A. degree in 1980. He holds a long-term care administrator’s license issued by the State of
Minnesota.
Mark Meyer is the chief financial manager and secretary and has been associated with Presbyterian
Homes since 1987. He graduated from the University of St. Thomas with a B.A. degree in 1984 and is a
Certified Public Accountant.
The management of the Borrower is vested in a Board of Governors consisting of officers Daniel Lindh and Mark
Meyer described above, as well as John Mehrkens described below:
John Mehrkens is the vice president of development and has been associated with Presbyterian Homes
since 1990. He graduated from the University of Minnesota with a B.S. degree in Economics.
Tax Exempt Status
As a single member limited liability company, the Borrower is a “disregarded entity” for federal income tax
purposes and is deemed to have the same 501(c)(3) status as its Sole Member, PHHAL. As stated above, PHHAL
has received a determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service recognizing it as an organization (a “501(c)(3)
organization”) described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, and, accordingly, is exempt from payment of federal
income taxes under Section 501(a) of the Code.
Employees
The Borrower expects to employ approximately 47 full-time equivalents for the operation of the Project. These
include positions in management, nursing, activities, engineering, maintenance, housekeeping, and culinary. The
Borrower expects to solicit volunteers to supplement services to residents in addition to paid employees.
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THE GUARANTOR
General
Our Mission: The mission of Presbyterian Homes and Services (“PHS”, “Presbyterian Homes”, or the “Guarantor”)
is to honor God by enriching the lives and touching the hearts of older adults.
Our Vision: To provide more choices and opportunities for more older adults to live well.
Our Values:
Christian Ministry: Serving with compassion, modeling Christ, and spending time in prayer and reflection.
Ready and Engaged People: Treating others as we would like to be treated, leveraging strengths, attracting the right
talent, and providing a nurturing environment.
Operational Integrity: Leveraging operational standards, enhancing programming, providing or creating new
continuum services, and being a pioneer in innovation.
Service Excellence: Establishing and consistently delivering service standards, being responsive, and creating
memorable experiences.
Stewardship: Optimizing, with careful responsibility, the people, financial, charitable, and physical resources
entrusted to us and to intentionally grow our ministry.
History
PHS is a Minnesota non-profit corporation formed on October 27, 1950. PHS is exempt from Federal income tax
under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code. PHS, in its capacity as Guarantor, will provide a limited guaranty of repayment
of the Series 2014 Bonds pursuant to a Limited Guaranty Agreement (the “Limited Guaranty”).
The Guarantor is in a covenant relationship with the Synod of Lakes and Prairies of the Presbyterian Church (USA).
The Synod has no rights to appoint directors or officers of the Guarantor or to direct its affairs, except that Synod
approval is required for certain fundamental changes to the articles and bylaws of the Guarantor which may alter its
charitable mission. Additionally, the chief executive of the Synod is a non-voting ex officio member of the
Guarantor’s board of directors.
Presbyterian Homes and its affiliates provide a broad range of high quality housing choices, care and services for
older adults throughout Minnesota, Wisconsin and Iowa. In 2013, PHS and its affiliates served approximately
23,995 older adults (12,149 in its facilities and 11,846 in the community) in its 39 campuses and other community
services programs, and owned or managed approximately 6,056 units of senior housing and assisted living and 1,553
nursing home beds. PHS and its affiliates employ over 5,807 employees in their mission to serve older adults.
The Guarantor is structured similar to a holding company for care centers, assisted living and independent living
facilities, home care, primary medical care, hospice care, and projects under development. In general, the facilities
operated or affiliated with the Guarantor are separately incorporated as nonprofit organizations and each has its own
board of directors that is elected directly or indirectly by the board of directors of the Guarantor.
The Guarantor is the parent of multiple subordinate affiliates, each of which has a separate governing body,
facilities, revenues, expenses and financing arrangements. In general, the majority of the members of each governing
body are appointed by the governing body of the Guarantor. The Guarantor does not itself own properties and its
activities account for a relatively minor portion of the revenues reported in the consolidated financial statements of
the Guarantor and its affiliates. Pursuant to the Limited Guaranty, only the Guarantor, and not its affiliates, is
obligated to make payments in accordance with the terms of the Limited Guaranty. Therefore, the consolidated
financial statements of the Guarantor and its affiliates may not provide a clear basis on which to evaluate the ability
of the Guarantor to perform under the Limited Guaranty. The consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor and
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affiliates are included in Appendix B. Appendix B should be reviewed for informational purposes only, as an
overview of the scope of the activities of the Guarantor and affiliated organizations, not as a direct measure of the
Guarantor’s ability to perform under the Limited Guaranty.
The Guarantor’s most recent audit for the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 is included as Appendix B.
For the ten months ended July 31, 2014, PHS has generated a change in net assets of $9,637,000 on total revenues of
$261,750,000 or 3.7%. For the same ten month period, PHS had budgeted a change in net assets of $8,527,000.
Total assets for PHS as of July 31, 2014 were $1,104,385,000, which is relatively stable as compared to total assets
at September 30, 2013 of $1,101,473,000. The current ratio improved to 1.50 at July 31, 2014 from 1.47 at
September 30, 2013.
Occupancy percentages for the ten months ended July 31, 2014 by housing type is as follows:
Long Term Care
Transitional Care
Assisted and Independent Living
Total PHS

92.6%
80.9%
95.4%
94.4%

In addition, during fiscal year 2014, PHS began construction projects in Plymouth and Wayzata, MN, which when
completed will increase long term debt by $76,700,000. Further, PHS is actively working to develop a project in
Menomonee Falls, WI, which, with Woodland Hill will increase long term debt by an additional $88,000,000.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
The chart following is a summary combined statement of financial position and operations and changes in
net assets of PHS and its affiliates for the nine month period ending June 30, 2014 and the fiscal years ending
September 30, 2013, 2012, and 2011, which have been derived from PHS’s audited financial statements (except for
the information for the period ending June 30, 2014 which has been derived from internally prepared information).
The summaries for the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 should be read in conjunction with the financial
statements and notes thereto included in the audited consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor included in
Appendix B in this Official Statement. The summary for the year ended September 30, 2011 was derived from
PHS’s audited financial statements for that year (which are not included in this Official Statement). PHS
management believes the unaudited financial information for the nine month period ending June 30, 2014 includes
all material necessary for a fair presentation of the results of operations for the period presented.
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PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Dollar Amounts in Thousands)
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents:
Unrestricted
Restricted for residents
Cash Held or Restricted, Current Portion
Accounts Receivable, Net
Pledges Receivable, Current Portion
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land
Building and Land Improvements
Equipment and Furnishings
Automotive Equipment
Construction in Progess
Subtotal
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
NET PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
$

09/30/12

09/30/11

50,812
6,280
10,343
19,672
100
1,737
88,944

50,814
5,741
35,346
24,479
2,100
1,687
120,167

45,318
5,487
25,565
18,341
110
1,870
96,691

41,432
4,926
15,505
17,146
110
1,637
80,756

34,653
18,776
20,899
57,444
520
16,391
19,280
8,471
176,434

53,762
21,472
17,606
52,459
516
14,786
16,192
12,210
189,003

117,508
11,881
13,537
47,422
2,182
15,854
15,821
9,675
233,880

55,479
15,074
22,399
40,562
3,328
15,697
19,429
25,171
197,139

141,501
734,272
117,406
1,914
130,581
1,125,674
283,667
842,007

138,760
702,749
109,160
1,722
100,121
1,052,512
260,209
792,303

138,562
666,993
99,688
1,545
46,714
953,502
228,918
724,584

94,433
643,599
88,335
1,414
16,443
844,224
202,064
642,160

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS
Investments and Cash Held or Restricted:
By Agreements with Trustees and Others
Restricted by Donors and Others
Replacement Reserves
Endowment Funds, Including Perpetual Trust
Pledges Receivable
Deferred Financing Costs, Less Accumulated Amortization
Investments in Other Entities
Other Assets
TOTAL INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

09/30/13

06/30/14

1,107,385

$

1,101,473

$

1,055,155

$

920,055

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt
Accounts payable
Construction Payable
Security Deposits and Other Resident Fund Payables
Accrued Payroll and Benefits
Accrued Interest and Other
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

16,108
4,912
4,001
5,485
16,487
16,511
63,504

18,254
10,938
15,174
4,997
11,566
20,868
81,797

12,570
6,604
7,673
4,766
11,427
20,156
63,196

11,412
6,611
2,043
4,287
9,943
15,870
50,166

LONG TERM DEBT AND OTHER OBLIGATIONS
Long-Term Debt, Less Current Maturities
Resident Notes Payable and Entrance Loan Deposits
Other
TOTAL LONG TERM DEBT AND OTHER OBLIGATIONS

728,775
101,462
19,616
849,853

732,721
84,501
19,442
836,664

724,915
81,278
21,512
827,705

617,816
73,698
24,991
716,505

NET ASSETS
Unrestricted, Undesginated
Unrestricted, Designated by Board for Endowment Fund
Non-Controlling Interest
Total Unrestricted
Temporarily Restricted
Permanently Restricted
TOTAL NET ASSETS

138,093
11,078
(354)
148,817
1,913
43,298
194,028

132,493
8,945
(354)
141,084
3,713
38,215
183,012

114,186
9,748
(354)
123,580
3,836
36,838
164,254

103,614
8,802
(354)
112,062
9,171
32,151
153,384

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

$

1,107,385
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$

1,101,473

$

1,055,155

$

920,055

PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
(Dollar Amounts in Thousands)
Nine months
ending
REVENUES
06/30/14
Operating revenue
$
232,585
Non-Operating:
Unrestricted Contributions
1,066
Temporarily Restricted Contributions
1,200
Permanently Restricted Contributions
514
TOTAL REVENUES
235,365
Gains (Losses) and Other Support
Income from Endowment Investments
Net Change in Fair Value of Investments
Gain (Loss) on Refinancing
Loss on Asset Disposal
Interest Rate Swap Market Adjustment and Other
TOTAL GAINS (LOSSES) AND OTHER SUPPORT

------------------------ Fis ---- Fiscal Years Ending:----09/30/13
09/30/12
09/30/11
$
290,519
$
279,147
$
268,521
1,203
1,081
2,178
294,981

900
4,410
(2,387)
1,000
3,923

EXPENSES:
Operating:
Services to Residents
General and Administrative
Interest
Depreciation and Amortization
Non-Operating:
Fundraising
Other
TOTAL EXPENSES
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

$

1,198
873
601
281,819

434
4,849
(602)
(244)
2,833
7,270

2,991
9,663
940
282,115

522
7,477
(2,610)
(5,275)
1,917
2,031

235
(560)
(656)
(2,488)
(3,616)
(7,085)

148,346
28,766
23,426
27,379

184,535
37,117
27,221
32,813

177,196
35,601
27,065
31,321

165,928
34,445
25,811
29,014

903
795
229,615

1,552
255
283,493

1,585
212
272,980

1,235
210
256,643

9,673

$

18,758

$

10,870

$

Sources of the Guarantor’s Resident Revenues Generally
The following table shows the percentage of total revenues of the Guarantor represented by each principal
source of payment for the fiscal years ending September 30, 2013, 2012, and 2011.
Percentages of Resident Revenues from Medicaid, Medicare,
Other Third Party, and Private Pay Revenues
Private Pay
Medicare
Medicaid
Other*
Total

2012
70.8%
11.8
15.1
2.3
100.0%

2013
67.4%
13.2%
15.1%
4.3%
100.0%

2011
69.7%
12.3
15.9
2.1
100.0%

*Includes sources such as private insurance, HUD and miscellaneous.
Debt Guaranteed by PHS
PHS has guaranteed or assumed certain indebtedness of its affiliates. These guarantees take one of two
forms from (i) guarantees of debt service for tax-exempt revenue bonds that are the obligations of affiliates for the
construction of facilities, to (ii) guarantees of debt services for tax-exempt loans placed with various banking
institutions. Most of those guarantees have burn-off provisions that provide for release of the guaranty when certain
financial thresholds are met. The chart below describes the various obligations for which PHS has provided a
guaranty as of September 30, 2014.
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18,387

Description

Total Debt
Related to
Guarantees

Amount
Guaranteed

Annual Debt
Service

(Dollar Amounts in Thousands)
Interlude – Plymouth

$13,080

$13,080

$765

Folkestone of Wayzata – All Phases

131,970

66,962

8,776

Maranatha – Brooklyn Center

20,000

20,000

1,331

Dickson Hollow – Menomonee Falls, WI

44,235

4,000

2,824

Johanna Shores, Arden Hills

31,245

9,373

2,134

Deerfield, New Richmond, Wisconsin

12,985

2,000

994

Woodland Hill – Hudson, WI (proposed)

44,000

4,000

2,850

$297,515

$119,415

$19,674

TOTAL

PHS has also guaranteed certain indebtedness of unconsolidated affiliates. These guarantees are as follows:
Description

Total Debt Related
to Guarantees

Amount
Guaranteed

Annual Debt
Service

(Dollar Amounts in Thousands)
Walnut Ridge, Clive, Iowa

$24,993

$6,400

$806

Heartwood, Crosby
TOTAL

19,070
$44,063

600
$7,000

600
$1,406

On the annual basis, PHS and affiliates generate significant cash that could be available to pay debt service
related to guarantees, if necessary. This cash generated can be summarized as follows for the fiscal years ended
September 30, 2013 and 2012. Also included is the budgeted amount for September 30, 2014.
Description
(Dollar Amounts in Thousands)
Change in Net Assets
Add (subtract):
Depreciation & amortization
Gains (Losses) and other support
Temporarily restricted contributions
Permanently restricted contributions
Required Debt Principal Payments
Discretionary Cash Available

Budgeted
9/30/2014

9/30/2013

9/30/2012

$10,904

$18,758

$10,870

37,460
(1,120)
(14,329)

32,813
(7,577)
(1,081)
(2,178)
(13,852)

31,321
2,454
(873)
(601)
(11,412)

$32,951

$26,883

$31,759

In 2014, PHS has budgeted capital improvements of $11,350,000 and replacement reserve funding of
$3,034,000 that would be funded from the above discretionary cash available.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management
Presbyterian Homes and Services is governed by a 14 member board which includes the following
individuals:
Position

Name

Years of
Service

City of
Residence

Occupation

Officers
Chair:

Mr. Harold J. Wiens

6

Hugo

President/CEO
Treasurer/CFO
Secretary

Mr. Daniel A. Lindh
Mr. Mark T. Meyer
Ms. Janna R. Severance

Members

Mr. Donald Berglund

3

St. Paul

Mr. Austin Chapman

9

Mr. Theodore Chien

9

Minneapolis &
Anthem, AZ
Minneapolis

Mr. John Clymer

2

Eagan

Mrs. Karol D. Emmerich

8

Jordan

Mr. Kenneth R. Larson

3

Minneapolis

Mr. Allen I. Olson

8

Chanhassen

Mrs. Carole Mae Olson

9

Minneapolis

Dr. Philip K. Olson

6

Minneapolis &
Georgetown, TX

Mr. Daniel E. Stoltz

1

Lino Lakes

Mr. Ronald C. Tortelli

8

Mr. David Wessner

1

Minnetonka &
Palm Coast, FL
Shorewood

Mr. Julie M. White

1

Grimes, IA

Retired Exec. VP of 3M
Company

Arden Hills
Arden Hills
St. Paul

Mr. David D. Crittenden
(Ex-Officio, Non-Voting)

Eagan
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President/CEO of Memorial
Blood Centers
Retired President of The
Northland Company
President/CEO of Sullivan,
Cotter and Associates, Inc.
Exec. VP-Office of Strategy
Mgmt for Marvin Windows
& Doors
Retired VP, Treasurer &
Chief Accounting Officer
Dayton Hudson Co.
President Slumberland
Furniture
Retired Attorney – Former
Governor of the State of
North Dakota
Retired Exec Director of
Episcopal Community
Services
Retired physician Veterans
Administration Hospital in
Minneapolis
President of Spire Federal
Credit Union
Retired Sr. VP of Human
Resources SUPERVALU
Retired CEO of Park
Nicollet
Retired VP Human
Resources of Wells Fargo
Synod Executive for the
Synod of Lakes and Prairies

Daniel A. Lindh is the Chief Executive Officer of PHS and has been associated with Presbyterian Homes
since 1976. Mr. Lindh graduated from Bethel College with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Psychology in 1975 and
received a Masters of Business Administration from the University of St. Thomas in 1980. Mr. Lindh holds a longterm care administrator’s license issued by the State of Minnesota.
Mark Meyer is the Chief Financial Officer of PHS and has been associated with Presbyterian Homes since
1987. Mr. Meyer graduated from the University of St. Thomas with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Accounting in
1984.
Janna Severance is the Secretary of the Board. Ms. Severance is an attorney who practices in the areas of
business law, securities law and corporate finance. Ms. Severance has a Bachelor of Arts degree from Carleton
College, a Master’s degree in communication disorders from the University of Minnesota and juris doctorate from
the University of Minnesota Law School.
THE PROJECT
General
The Project will be built on approximately 12.4 acres along Stageline Road adjacent to Hudson Hospital and Clinic
(“HHC”) in Hudson, Wisconsin. The main entry to the campus is oriented toward the northwest and Stageline Road.
The site is adjacent to and east of HHC. HHC is part of the larger network of HealthPartners family of care.
HealthPartners is the largest consumer-governed, non-profit health care organization in the nation. It serves more
than 1.4 million medical and dental health plan members nationwide.
The Project will provide a continuum of care including 95 senior apartments, 46 assisted living units and 19 memory
care units, as well as a medical suite to be leased to a tenant that will offer dialysis services. The site also allows for
the potential of a future 50-bed skilled care center on property adjacent to the HHC health campus.
Housing need, strategic fit, opportunities for innovation and collaboration are the impetus for the development of
this new senior living community in Hudson.
The building will have a residential look with a soft contemporary style. Decks and sunrooms and materials like
brick or stone and siding will provide an interesting and residential character. The underground garage provides
parking and service spaces. This greatly reduces the need for surface parking and keeps the residential nature
prominent. Landscaping will provide a beautiful setting that draw residents outside and to screen the campus from
the roadways and other properties. Sidewalks encircling the buildings and property will allow opportunity for a
walking loop. Lighting is being designed to provide safety for our residents and staff but not to spill over to
adjoining properties. The storm water management plan includes an easement agreement with HHC as the pond
which will be enlarged is owned by HHC. There will be an access easement agreement for the shared access point at
the new roundabout entry and a separate boulevard lane that will lead up to the housing campus. This will require
some reconfiguration of the HHC parking lot which will be constructed early in the project to minimize impact on
the HHC patients and visitors.
The senior apartments will offer one bedroom or two bedrooms in varying layouts with many having a sunroom.
Senior apartments will also have a small patio or deck. Apartments range from 718-1,705 square feet. Storage
spaces will be available for rent. Senior apartment residents will park in the underground garage. The assisted living
and memory care apartments will include studios and one or two bedrooms with square footage ranging from
approximately 392 to 1,005.
The Town Center will be dedicated to areas important to support of senior housing residents. The Town Center
connects the housing types together and offers a sense of place to build community.
The Town Center support spaces include areas like administrative offices and conference rooms and a commercial
kitchen. There will be dining rooms for senior apartments and assisted living and a small bistro where residents can
enjoy time with visiting friends and family members and staff can pick up breakfast and lunch. Café seating is open
and casual. Town Center provides resident spaces like a community/fellowship auditorium, chapel, club room,
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theatre, library with computers and a barber/beauty salon. An important component of Town Center is the Wellness
Center. This program is built around a fitness equipment room, aerobics/balance/exercise room and activity space
for Wii or other fitness games. Service areas for trash and recycling, service and deliveries, storage for the
commercial kitchen, maintenance, housekeeping and equipment are functional components contained within the
Town Center lower level garage. The Town Center is approximately 29,000 square feet with a two story entry that
looks through to the pond and trees in back bringing nature and natural light into Town Center.
The Project is expected to have approximately 47 full time equivalent employees and the medical office suite is
sized for up to 10 employees. Shifts for employees of the Project run slightly off peak times to reduce traffic
pressures at those times. Part-time employees further spread out the coming and going of cars.
Insurance
PHS has insurance covering the Project and its operations, as well as the properties and operations of other PHS
affiliates, with generally recognized commercial insurers, which provide primary coverage on a claims made
basis. Liability insurance is provided by several different types of policies, based on the nature of the exposure, as
well as an umbrella policy. The types and amounts of insurance are evaluated annually to update property values
and to make sure that retentions and premiums reflect risk and cost acceptable to the insured entities. Additionally,
the Borrower will maintain builders risk coverage for the period of construction of the Project.
The Project
The total area of the Project is approximately 276,000 square feet. The sizes of the independent apartments range
from 718 to 1,705 square feet and the sizes of the assisted living units range from 392 to 1,050 square feet. Monthly
rents for the independent apartments range from $1,644 to $3,904, monthly rents for the assisted living apartments
(not including memory care) range from $3,150 to $4,200, and monthly rents for assisted living-memory care
apartments range from $3,450 to $4,600. Additional monthly charges apply for selected home care services.
The Town Center area includes a commercial kitchen, independent and assisted dining rooms, library, café/bistro,
wellness fitness center, theatre, club room, hearth room, barber/beauty shop, general store, lobby, and offices.
The independent building is 4 stories in height, the assisted living building is 3 stories, and the Town Center section
is 2 stories. There is heated underground parking below the independent living building and Town Center. The first
floor memory care assisted living floor is designed as a neighborhood model with central dining, activity, and living
areas central to the neighborhood. The other two assisted living floors are more corridor style with dining together in
the Town Center dining room.
Independent Units
The independent unit amenities include: individually controlled heat/air; kitchens with refrigerator, stove/selfcleaning oven, dishwasher, microwave, and garbage disposal; in-unit washer and dryer; oak/maple cabinetry; and
private deck or patio.
The following amenities are included in the monthly rent:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

All utilities, including heat, electric, central air conditioning, water, sewer, and trash;
Basic cable/satellite service;
Wi-Fi internet access;
Continental Breakfast;
Scheduled transportation to shopping and outings;
Emergency call system;
Monitored smoke and carbon monoxide detectors;
Controlled entry access;
Month-to-month residency agreement;
Apartment and building maintenance, including lawn and snow removal;
Property tax and building insurance;
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•
•
•
•

Priority access to other Presbyterian Homes housing and care options based upon availability;
Professional management;
Smoke-free environment; and
Pet policy.

Additional services and other conveniences are available for additional fees:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Underground heated parking with indoor heated car wash bay;
Phone service;
Restaurant style dining;
Personal home care services;
Banking services;
Housekeeping;
Handyman; and
Guest meals.

Assisted Living Units
The assisted living units include: individually controlled heat/air; kitchens with a refrigerator, stove/oven, and
microwave; oak/maple cabinetry; and a bathroom with roll in shower and grab bar.
The following amenities are included in the monthly rent:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

All utilities, including heat, electric, central air conditioning, water, sewer, and trash;
Basic cable/satellite service;
Two meals daily;
Wi-Fi Internet access;
Weekly housekeeping and linen change;
Emergency call system;
Scheduled transportation to shopping and outings;
Complimentary use of laundry facilities;
Monitored smoke and carbon monoxide detectors;
Controlled entry access;
• Month-to-month residency agreement;
Apartment and building maintenance, including lawn and snow removal;
Priority access to other Presbyterian Homes housing and care options based upon availability;
Professional management;
Smoke-free environment; and
Pet policy.

Additional services and other conveniences are available for additional fees:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Access to personal care 24 hours a day;
Phone service;
Assistance arranging transportation to medical and social service appointments;
Assistance with accessing community resources and social services;
Additional housekeeping;
Laundry service;
Availability of third daily meal; and
Guest meals.
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Memory Care Units
The memory care units include all of the same features and services as the assisted living units but also include a
third meal daily and a secured landscaped outdoor plaza area. Services, in addition to those offered in assisted living,
include:
•
•

Personal laundry (three loads/week); and
The Dove Program, described below.

Residents of the memory care component engage in the Dove Program, which focuses on three areas: life skills, lifeenrichment, and self-care as outlined below:
•
•

•

Life-skill activities are intended to help recall the person’s various roles in life. Some examples include
setting tables, doing office work, sharing hobbies or caring for a pet.
Recreational and life-enriching activities are intended to provide an ongoing opportunity to engage in
social gatherings or leisure activities. A wide range of activities may be offered, such as leisure or
quiet time, exercise, cognitive stimulation from current events and life review, baking, reading, playing
a game, or spiritual reading and prayer.
Participation in self-care activities are intended to give the individual a sense of independence and selfesteem. Dressing and grooming as well as bathing are examples of cares in which each resident is
encouraged to assist.

Personal Care Services
Services provided include 24 hour on site resident assistant staffing, registered nurse on site 40 hours per week and
on call 24 hours a day, nurse liaison with health care professionals, nurse visit every other month, nurse coordination
of lab requests, and maintenance of resident clinical record information. Additional personal care services are
available and are charged to the resident on a tiered care level basis.

A-11

Unit Mix in Project Facilities
INDEPENDENT LIVING (IL)
One Bedroom
One Bedroom
One Bedroom
One Bedroom
One Bedroom
One Bedroom Plus Den
One Bedroom Plus Den
One Bedroom Plus Den
One Bedroom Plus Sun
Two Bedroom
Two Bedroom
Two Bedroom
Two Bedroom
Two Bedroom Plus Sun
Two Bedroom
Two Bedroom Plus Sun
Sub-total IL Rent
ASSISTED LIVING (AL)
Studio
Studio
One Bedroom
One Bedroom
One Bedroom
One Bedroom
One Bedroom
One Bedroom Plus Den
One Bedroom Plus Sun
Two Bedroom
Sub-Total AL Rent
Memory Care
Studio
Studio
One Bedroom
One Bedroom
One Bedroom
One Bedroom
One Bedroom Plus Sun
Two Bedroom
Sub-Total Memory Care

Sq. Ft
718
820
869
892
943
921
1,035
1,021
1,133
1,149
1,205
1,236
1,293
1,409
1,427
1,705
1,093
Sq. Ft
452
528
561
696
734
734
747
791
918
1,005
670
Sq. Ft
392
452
503
531
561
734
918
1,005
594

# Unit
10
8
1
2
2
8
4
5
16
2
3
23
2
4
1
4
95

Rates
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

# Unit
4
2
16
4
2
2
8
2
4
2
46

Rates
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

# Unit
1
3
3
1
7
1
2
1
19

(Unit mix and rate schedules are subject to change)
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1,644
1,878
1,990
2,043
2,159
2,109
2,370
2,338
2,595
2,631
2,759
2,830
2,961
3,227
3,268
3,904
$ 2,503

3,150
3,250
3,600
3,600
3,650
3,650
3,650
3,750
3,950
4,200
3,622
Rates

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

3,450
3,550
3,850
3,900
3,900
3,950
4,250
4,600
3,889

Medical Office Building
The project includes an approximately 6,130 square foot medical office building that is expected to be leased to
Total Rental Care, Inc. dba DaVita Dialysis. The tenant is expected to provide dialysis treatment to the public, as
well as residents residing within Woodland Hill. Under the terms of the triple net lease, the tenant will pay a base
rent plus applicable property taxes and common area maintenance. The term of the lease is for 12 years with two
tenant options to renew of 5 years each. Base rent for years 1-5 is $20 per square foot per year, increasing to $22.40
per square foot in years 6-10, and $25.09 per square foot in years 11-12. The lease further dictates the landlord work
to include non-exclusive parking and the shell of the building with the tenant being responsible for the finish buildout.
Project Management
The Project Facilities will be managed by PHS Management, LLC, a Minnesota limited liability company of which
Presbyterian Homes Housing and Assisted Living, Inc. (“PHHAL”) is the sole member (“PHSM” or the
“Manager”). PHSM manages the Project under the terms of a Management Agreement (the “Management
Agreement”). Under the Management Agreement, PHSM provides management services, including, but not limited
to: finance, accounting, human resources, information systems, operating policies and supervision of on-site
personnel. For such services PHSM is paid 5% of total operating revenues of the Project. Management fees are
calculated monthly and are payable each month.
PHSM was formed in 2011 by PHS to provide management services to other organizations providing services to
older adults. A large portion of the organizations that PHSM provides services to are affiliates of PHSM. PHSM
provides, or is under contract to provide, management services to 16 nursing home facilities with approximately
1,498 total licensed beds and 2,128 assisted living/memory care units and 3,855 independent living units.
PHHAL, as the sole member of PHSM, has elected to treat the Manager as a disregarded entity for federal income
tax purposes and is exempt from federal income taxation as a result of PHHAL’s status under Section 501(a) of the
Code by virtue of its status as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code.
Board of Governors and Officers of the Manager
The Board of Governors of the Manager. Currently, the Manager’s Board of Governors is comprised of:
Sharon Klefsaas, Chief Manager of PHS Management, LLC and Executive Director of Operations and Service
Strategies employed at PHS. Ms. Klefsaas has been employed by PHS or its management affiliate since 2007. Ms.
Klefsaas is responsible for financial, clinical and customer service outcomes for all senior campuses managed by the
Manager. Ms. Klefsaas has worked in various capacities in the senior care industry since 1979. Ms. Klefsaas holds
a Bachelor of Science Degree with Honors from the University of Minnesota and a Housing with Services
Management Certificate.
Daniel Lindh, Chief Financial Manager of PHS Management, LLC and Chief Executive Officer at PHS. Mr.
Lindh holds the office of Chief Executive Officer and President at PHS. Mr. Lindh graduated from Bethel
College with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Psychology in 1975 and received a Masters of Business Administration
from the University of St. Thomas in 1980. Mr. Lindh is the Chief Executive Officer of PHS and has been
associated with Presbyterian Homes since 1976. Mr. Lindh holds a long-term care administrator’s license issued by
the State of Minnesota.
John Mielke, MD, PHS Management, LLC Board Member. Dr. Mielke is the Chief Medical Officer of PHS. Dr.
Mielke graduated from the University of Minnesota Medical School in Minneapolis in 1975. He completed his
Internal Medicine residency at Abbott Northwestern Hospital and served as a staff physician. During his career Dr.
Mielke has developed programs for the continuity of care for patients. Dr. Mielke also serves as the hospice medical
director of Presbyterian Homes Hospice, Inc., an affiliate of PHS. Dr. Mielke has recently completed the St. Thomas
University Physician’s Leadership College.
A quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the governors consists of a majority of the governors.
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The Officers of the Manager. The officers of the Manager are Sharon Klefsaas, Chief Manager, and Dan Lindh,
Chief Financial Manager.
Facilities Managed by the Manager
The Manager manages facilities in Minnesota, Wisconsin, and Iowa for PHS and its affiliates. The tables that
follow indicate the facilities that are managed by the Manager broken down by type of unit or facility.
Independent senior living facilities owned (directly or indirectly) by PHS and/or managed by the Manager include
the following:
Independent Living:
Andover
Ankeny, IA
Arden Hills
Bayport
Bloomington
Bloomington
Bloomington
Bloomington
Bloomington
Burnsville
Cambridge
Chanhassen
Clive, IA
Cottage Grove
Eden Prairie
Inver Grove Heights
Little Canada
Mahtomedi
Maplewood
Minnetonka
Monticello
New Richmond, WI
North Oaks
Oakdale
Oak Park Heights
Pewaukee, WI
Plymouth
Prior Lake
Roseville
St. Paul
St. Paul
Spring Lake Park
Spring Park
Shoreview
Waukesha, WI
Wayzata
Wayzata
Williamsburg, IA
Woodbury
(1)
(2)

Farmstead Terrace
Mill Pond
Lakeview Terrace
Croixdale
Gideon Pond Cooperative
Newton Manor
Ridgeview Terrace
SummerHouse of Bloomington
Founders Ridge
Valley Ridge
GracePointe Crossing, Mill Ridge & River Hills
SummerWood of Chanhassen
Walnut Ridge
Norris Square
Broadmoor Apartments
Timber Hills
The Mayfield
St. Andrews
Cardinal Pointe
Beacon Hill Terrace
Mississippi Shores
Deerfield Terrace
Waverly Gardens
Echo Ridge
Boutwells Landing
Kirkland Crossing
SummerWood of Plymouth
McKenna Crossing
EagleCrest Terrace
Carondelet Village
Central Towers
Oak Crest
Lake Minnetonka Shores
SummerHouse of Shoreview
Avalon Manor I
Folkestone
Folkestone Phase II
Highland Ridge
Stonecrest
Total Units

Managed or partnered facilities
GP and 99% for profit limited partner
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# Units
72
52
54
56
96(1)
45
51
88
56
80(1)
106
90
123
86
237
157
93
70(1)
108(1)
110
49
50
164
100
316(1)
82
68
79
127
149(1)
127(2)
109
165
72
68
148
73
65
87
3,928

Assisted living facilities owned (directly or indirectly) by PHS and/or managed by the Manager include the
following:
Assisted Living:
Andover
Ankeny, IA
Arden Hills
Bayport
Bloomington
Bloomington
Brooklyn Center
Burnsville
Cambridge
Chanhassen
Clive, IA
Cottage Grove
Crosby
Eden Prairie
Hutchinson
Inver Grove Heights
Mahtomedi
Minnetonka
New Richmond
North Oaks
Oak Park Heights
Pewaukee, WI
Plymouth
Prior Lake
Roseville
St. Paul
St. Paul
Spring Park
Waukesha, WI
Wayzata
Williamsburg, IA
Woodbury

(1)
(2)
(3)

Farmstead Commons
Mill Pond
Lakeview Commons
Croixdale
Bloomington Commons
Founders Ridge
Maranatha
Valley Ridge
GracePointe Crossing
SummerWood of Chanhassen
Walnut Ridge
Norris Square
Heartwood
Castle Ridge
Harmony River
Timber Hills
St. Andrews
Beacon Hill
Deerfield Commons
Waverly Gardens
Boutwells Landing Commons
Kirkland Crossing
SummerWood of Plymouth
McKenna Crossing
EagleCrest
Carondelet Village
Central Towers
Lake Minnetonka Commons
Avalon Manor
Folkestone Commons
Highland Ridge
Stonecrest
Total Units

Managed or partnered facilities
Under construction
GP and 99% for profit limited partner
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# Units
71
48
112(2)
53
104
52
65(2)
60(2)
62
71
55
58
64(1)
21
18
84
69(1)
42
32
89
95(1)
60
52
84
127
65(1)
70(3)
70
75
76
47
77
2,128

Skilled care/nursing facilities owned (directly or indirectly) by PHS and/or managed by the Manager include the
following:
Care Centers:
Ankeny, IA
Arden Hills
Bloomington
Brooklyn Center
Cambridge
Cambridge
Eden Prairie
Hutchinson
New Richmond, WI
North Oaks
Oak Park Heights
Plymouth
Roseville
Spring Park
St. Paul
Wayzata
Williamsburg, IA

(1)
(2)

Mill Pond
McKnight Care Center
PH of Bloomington CC
Maranatha Care Center
GracePointe East
GracePointe West
Castle Ridge Care Center
Harmony River
Deerfield Gables
Waverly Gardens
Boutwells Landing Care Center
Interlude Transitional Care
Langton Place
Lake Minnetonka Shores CC
Carondelet Village
Folkestone Care Center
Highland Ridge Care Center
Total Beds

# Beds
60
208
98
97(2)
90
140
60
120(1)
61
60
108
55
117
145
45(1)
30
59
1,553

Managed or partnered facilities
Under construction

Including the above and the community participants served through its Community Services division, PHS serves
approximately 23,995 older adults on an annual basis through its 5,807 employees.
Budgeted revenue for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2014 for PHS and the consolidated PHS affiliates is
approximately $330,100,000 and when added to the managed/partnered facilities, is in excess of $369,400,000.
Facilities Development
The Company entered into a Development Agreement (the “Development Agreement”) with Senior Housing
Partners, LLC (“SHP”), a limited liability company and a wholly owned subsidiary of Presbyterian Homes Housing
and Assisted Living, Inc. The principal office and place of business of SHP is 3116 Fairview Avenue North,
Roseville, MN 55113. Total compensation payable to SHP under the Development Agreement for the development
of the Project is $1,405,000.
Under the Development Agreement, SHP will be responsible for the following items with respect to the
development of the Project:
Design and Planning. SHP will assist the Borrower and architect in determining the basic requirements and final
plans for the Project, including type of building, floor plan layout, space utilization, equipment needed, estimates of
improvement costs, necessary land use approvals, utility connections, and other site preparations and planning.
Financing. SHP will assist the Borrower in all aspects of obtaining and closing on financing for the Project. The
services of SHP include assisting the Borrower in selection the retention of an underwriter, bond counsel, feasibility
or market consultants, accountants, appraisers, and other necessary parties, working with Borrower or the Project
following commencement of operations and other basic data needed to structure the financing. SHP shall assist the
Borrower throughout the process of structuring and negotiating terms on financing and in making all necessary
decisions and taking all necessary steps to close on such financing.

A-16

Construction. SHP will assist the Borrower in the selection of a general contractor needed to construct and equip the
Project according to the drawings, plans, and specifications adopted. SHP will work with the Borrower and the
architects in obtaining bids or negotiated proposals and in awarding and preparing construction agreements. The
Borrower shall enter into appropriate agreements with contractors or other parties for construction, equipping, and
furnishing of the Project. The agreements are guaranteed maximum contacts in a total sum acceptable to Borrower
and within the established construction cost estimates for the Project. During construction, SHP will make periodic
visits to the site and consult with the Borrower and the architect in coordinating construction activities as scheduled.
SHP will assist the Company in obtaining all necessary municipal approvals for the Project. SHP will coordinate
construction draws for the Borrower.
Opening of the Project. Upon completion of construction of the Project, SHP shall assist the Borrower in final
resolution of any deficiencies or “punch list” items in construction, in obtaining occupancy permits from local and
state government officials, and in determining and making final pay outs to contractors and vendors.
Project Marketing
To attract individuals to the Project, the Borrower entered into a Marketing Agreement with SHP.
As marketing agent, SHP will advise the Borrower and provide services related to the Project including but not
limited to development and implementation of a marketing plan, provision of a Project Coordinator to train and
supervise a dedicated marketing staff person, and planning and direction of promotional activities.
Payment for services for the Project (the “Marketing Commission”) will be equal to $2,500 for each independent
living, assisted living and memory care unit rented. Payment of the “Marketing Commission” will be due only upon
actual occupancy of a unit by a resident and paid in arrears. If a unit is rented and a commission is paid but the unit
vacates before the entire project reaches ninety-five percent (95%) occupancy, then SHP will not be entitled to an
additional commission payment on the unit. SHP will be paid each month upon the net gain of units for the month.
Project Design and Construction
Architect – The architect for the Project is Pope Associates (“Pope”) of St. Paul, Minnesota. The firm was founded
in 1974 and provides architectural and interior design services. The firm’s success is due, in large part, to its ability
to create successful, ongoing working relationships with clients based on a commitment to provide a unique blend of
the highest quality personnel and professional service. Over the last decade, they have developed a team that
specializes in the planning and design for senior housing communities. The depth of their experience includes
campus master planning, independent living, assisted living, memory care, and skilled nursing. Pope has completed
over 3,300 senior housing units and about 40 major projects.
Construction – CBS Construction Services, Inc., based in Champlin, Minnesota (the “Contractor”) is the General
Contractor for the Project. The Contractor was founded in 1992 and has directed the construction of more than 3,500
multi-family and senior housing units in the Upper Midwest with a current annual dollar amount over
$70,000,000. The Contractor has entered into contracts with the Borrower to provide construction labor and certain
materials and to act as general contractor for the Project (the “Construction Contract”). The Contractor has also
entered into a materials purchasing agent agreement, under which the Contractor will purchase construction
materials for the Project as the Borrower’s agent (the “Materials Agreement”). The Construction Labor Contract and
the Construction Materials Agreement each contain a guaranteed maximum price, which combined total
$29,500,000. Under the Construction Labor Contract and the Construction Materials Agreement, the Contractor has
agreed to complete construction of the Project within 15 months. The Construction Labor Contract provides for
liquidated damages of $1,000 per day for late completion. The Construction Labor Contract requires a 5% retainage
on all draws prior to substantial completion; there is no retainage required under the Construction Materials
Agreement. Payment and performance bonds will be provided by the Contractor.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Board of Directors
Presbyterian Homes and Services and Affiliates
Roseville, Minnesota

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Presbyterian Homes and
Services and Affiliates, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as of
September 30, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of operations and changes in
net assets, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

An independent member of Nexia International

(2)

Board of Directors
2013 - Presbyterian Homes and Services and Affiliates

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Presbyterian Homes and Services and Affiliates as of September 30,
2013 and 2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
December 5, 2013

(3)

PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

2013

2012

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Unrestricted
Restricted for Residents
Cash Held or Restricted, Current Portion
Accounts Receivable, Net
Pledges Receivable, Current Portion
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
Total Current Assets

$

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS
Investments and Cash Held or Restricted:
By Agreements with Trustees and Others
Restricted by Donors and Others
Replacement Reserves
Endowment Funds, Including Perpetual Trust
Pledges Receivable
Deferred Financing Costs, Less Accumulated Amortization
Investment in Other Entities
Other Assets
Total Investments and Other Assets

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land
Building and Land Improvements
Equipment and Furnishings
Automotive Equipment
Construction in Progress
Subtotal
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Net Property and Equipment
Total Assets

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
(4)

$

50,814
5,741
35,346
24,479
2,100
1,687
120,167

$

45,318
5,487
25,565
18,341
110
1,870
96,691

53,762
21,472
17,606
52,459
516
14,786
16,192
12,210
189,003

117,508
11,881
13,537
47,422
2,182
15,854
15,821
9,675
233,880

138,760
702,749
109,160
1,722
100,121
1,052,512
260,209
792,303

138,562
666,993
99,688
1,545
46,714
953,502
228,918
724,584

1,101,473

$

1,055,155

2013

2012

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt
Accounts Payable
Construction Payable
Security Deposits and Other Resident Fund Payables
Accrued Payroll and Benefits
Accrued Interest and Other
Total Current Liabilities

$

LONG-TERM DEBT AND OTHER OBLIGATIONS
Long-Term Debt, Less Current Maturities
Resident Notes Payable and Entrance Loan Deposits
Other
Total Long-Term Debt and Other Obligations

18,254
10,938
15,174
4,997
11,566
20,868
81,797

$

12,570
6,604
7,673
4,766
11,427
20,156
63,196

732,721
84,501
19,442
836,664

724,915
81,278
21,512
827,705

132,493
8,945
(354)
141,084

114,186
9,748
(354)
123,580

3,713
38,215
183,012

3,836
36,838
164,254

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

NET ASSETS
Unrestricted, Undesignated
Unrestricted, Designated by Board for Endowment Fund
Non-Controlling Interest
Total Unrestricted
Temporarily Restricted
Permanently Restricted
Total Net Assets
Total Liabilities and Net Assets

$

(5)

1,101,473

$

1,055,155

PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

2013
OPERATING REVENUE

$

OPERATING EXPENSE
Services to Residents
General and Administrative
Interest
Depreciation and Amortization
Total Operating Expense

290,519

2012
$

279,147

184,535
37,117
27,221
32,813
281,686

177,196
35,601
27,065
31,321
271,183

8,833

7,964

NONOPERATING GAINS (LOSSES) AND OTHER SUPPORT
Unrestricted Contributions
Income from Endowment Investments
Net Change in Fair Value of Investments
Interest Rate Swap Market Adjustment
Loss on Refinancing
Loss on Asset Disposal
Fundraising Expense
Other Nonoperating Income
Total Nonoperating Gains (Losses) and Other Support

1,203
434
5,650
2,943
(602)
(244)
(1,552)
(255)
7,577

1,198
522
3,391
2,117
(2,610)
(5,275)
(1,585)
(212)
(2,454)

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSE

16,410

5,510

OTHER CHANGES IN UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Distributions
Net Assets Released from Restriction
CHANGE IN UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS

(110)
1,204
17,504

(200)
6,208
11,518

TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Contributions
Net Assets Released from Restriction
CHANGE IN TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

1,081
(1,204)
(123)

873
(6,208)
(5,335)

PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Contributions
Gain (Loss) from Endowment Investments
CHANGE IN PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

2,178
(801)
1,377

601
4,086
4,687

OPERATING INCOME

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS
Net Assets - Beginning of Year

18,758
164,254

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF TOTAL REVENUE AND EXPENSE
Operating Revenue
Total Contributions
Total Revenue
Operating Expense
Other Nonoperating Losses
Total Operating Expenses and Other Nonoperating Losses
Change in Net Assets
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10,870
153,384

$

183,012

$

164,254

$

290,519
4,462
294,981

$

279,147
2,672
281,819

$

281,686
(5,463)
276,223
18,758

$

271,183
(234)
270,949
10,870

PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

2013
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in Net Assets
Adjustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets to Net
Cash Provided by Operating Activities:
Depreciation
Amortization
Loss on Refinancing
Contributions Restricted for Capital Expenditures or Endowments
Net Change in Fair Value of Investments
Interest Rate Swap Market Adjustment
Changes in Assets and Liabilities:
Receivables
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
Pledge Receivable
Accounts Payable
Accrued Expenses
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

$

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Property and Equipment
Change in Amounts Held with Trustees and Others
Change in Other Restricted Investments
Investments in or Advances to Affiliated Entities and
Changes in Other Assets
Net Cash Used by Investing Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Principal Payments on Long-Term Debt
Proceeds from Long-Term Debt
Proceeds from Resident Entrance Loan Deposits
Payments on Resident Entrance Loan Deposits
Financing Costs Paid
Cash Received from Contributions Restricted for Capital
Expenditures or Endowment
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
NET INCREASE IN UNRESTRICTED CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
Unrestricted Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning
UNRESTRICTED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - ENDING

(7)

$

18,758

2012
$

10,870

31,515
1,298
602
(3,259)
(4,849)
(2,943)

30,388
933
2,610
(1,474)
(7,477)
(2,117)

(6,138)
(2,352)
(324)
4,334
1,724
38,366

(1,195)
(1,668)
1,146
(7)
4,408
36,417

(91,733)
44,605
(4,511)

(107,182)
(70,648)
11,149

(371)
(52,010)

3,608
(163,073)

(20,352)
33,842
14,635
(11,412)
(832)

(18,821)
144,009
16,964
(9,384)
(3,700)

3,259
19,140

1,474
130,542

5,496

3,886

45,318

41,432

50,814

$

45,318

PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

2013

2012

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash Payments for Interest (Net of Interest Capitalized)

$

23,782

$

24,606

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NONCASH INVESTING AND
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Property Acquired through Construction Payable

$

19,428

$

7,788

$

28,631

$

66,649

Refinanced Long-Term Debt

(8)

PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

NOTE 1

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Organization
The consolidated financial statements include the consolidated accounts of Presbyterian
Homes and Services and Affiliates (the Organization), a Minnesota not-for-profit corporation
structured similar to a holding company for care centers and other senior residences,
services to community participants and projects being developed. Several of the care
centers, communities and divisions are incorporated as non-profit corporations or limited
liability companies. The Organization operates primarily in the Twin Cities, Minnesota,
metropolitan area, with two campuses in Iowa, located in Ankeny and Williamsburg, and
three campuses in Wisconsin, located in Pewaukee, New Richmond and Waukesha.
During the year ended September 30, 2012, the Organization sold 1221 Nicollet. As of
September 30, 2013, the Organization was comprised of the following:
Divisions
Care Centers

Activity
Care centers provide a variety of skilled nursing and other
services and programs to their residents. There are currently 13
skilled nursing communities with a total of 1,298 beds in service.

Housing and Assisted
Living

Housing and assisted living communities provide room rentals and
services to residents at 31 communities. There are a total of 5,074
units in communities that include independent living and assisted
living apartments, duplexes and town houses. Some of the units
are restricted for rental to elderly tenants that meet income
restrictions, and the rental rate may be restricted.

Optage

Provides a variety of services to community participants in their
homes from home-delivered meals and companionship to personal
care, therapies, physician and end-of-life care.

Management and
Services

Administrative support for the affiliated organizations and similar
not-for-profit organizations.

Foundation

Recipient of the Organization's fund-raising efforts.

Development, Marketing
and Design Services

Provide a comprehensive package of market research, strategic
planning, project development, financing, construction, interior
design, marketing and management for the senior housing
industry.

As of September 30, 2013, the Organization also has contributed capital and appoints
board members in four non-profit relationships. These consolidated financial statements do
not include the accounts of the joint ventures, as the Organization does not control them
(see Note 5).
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PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

NOTE 1

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Affiliation and Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Organization and its
affiliates. All material intercompany balances, transactions, and earnings have been
eliminated in consolidation.
Non-controlling Interest
The non-controlling interest includes other partners’ interests related to the venture of
Central Towers Limited Partnership. The Organization is the general partner of Central
Towers Limited Partnership, which is consolidated in these financial statements. A pro rata
share of the net assets applicable to the other partner’s interest in Central Towers Limited
Partnership has been recognized in the Organization’s consolidated financial statements as
non-controlling interest.
Tax Exempt Status
The Organization and its affiliates are generally exempt from income taxes under Section
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and applicable sections of the state statutes;
consequently, no provision has been made for income taxes. However, there are immaterial
amounts of unrelated business income in certain affiliates that are taxable.
The Organization follows the accounting standard for contingencies in evaluating uncertain
tax positions. The Organization files information returns as a tax-exempt organization.
Should that status be challenged in the future, all years since inception could be subject to
review by the IRS. The Organization’s tax returns for the 2010, 2011, and 2012 fiscal years
are open to examination by the IRS.
Community Benefit
The Organization provides a subsidy to certain residents, based on their income levels, to
reduce the charges for rents and services. Because the Organization does not pursue
collection of amounts determined to qualify as community support, they are not reported as
revenue. As part of its operations, the Organization provides various services, outreach
programs and support programs at a low cost to the community. The amount by which the
costs of providing these services exceed the revenue earned is considered community
support. During the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, the amount of community
support provided was approximately $2,042 and $2,221, respectively.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

NOTE 1

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Basis of Presentation
Contributions received are recorded as an increase in unrestricted, temporarily restricted or
permanently restricted support, depending on the existence or nature of any donor
restrictions. Accordingly, net assets of the Organization and changes therein are classified
and reported as follows:
Unrestricted – Those resources over which the board of directors has discretionary
control. Designated amounts represent those revenues which the board of directors has
set aside for a particular purpose.
Temporarily Restricted – Those resources subject to donor imposed restrictions which
will be satisfied by actions of the Organization or passage of time. The Organization has
elected to present temporarily restricted contributions that are fulfilled in the same period
within the unrestricted net assets class. These are primarily contributions that are
restricted for the acquisition of property and equipment.
Permanently Restricted – Those resources subject to a donor imposed restriction that
they be maintained permanently by the Organization. A significant portion of the income
derived from these resources is used for capital investments, new project development,
and furtherance of the Organization’s mission. A large portion of the assets are held by a
trust for the Organization.
Unconditional promises to give cash and other assets are accrued at estimated fair market
value at the date each promise is received. The gifts are reported as either temporarily or
permanently restricted support if they are received with donor stipulations that limit the use
of the donated assets. When a donor restriction is satisfied, net assets are released and
reported as an increase in unrestricted net assets. Income earned on temporary or
permanently restricted support, including capital appreciation is recognized in the period
earned. Conditional promises to give cash or other assets are recorded when the condition
has been satisfied.
Excess of Revenue Over Expense
The consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets include excess of
revenue over expense. Changes in unrestricted net assets which are excluded from excess
of revenue over expense, consistent with industry practice, include unrealized gains and
losses on non-trading securities, permanent transfers of assets to and from affiliates for
other than goods or services, contributions of long-lived assets (including assets acquired
using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for the purpose of acquiring
such assets).
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PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

NOTE 1

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Excess of Revenue Over Expense (Continued)
The financial performance of the Organization is influenced by the startup of new projects.
For each of the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, the Organization has been in
various stages of developing, constructing and leasing new projects. The Organization
expenses, as they are incurred, all of the costs associated with the marketing and
preparation of these projects for opening and also incurs expense over revenue as these
projects are leased up to stabilized occupancy. The Organization incurred expense in
excess of revenue of approximately $2,854 and $2,336 for 2013 and 2012, respectively,
related to these new projects.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the statements of cash flows the Organization considers all unrestricted,
undesignated cash accounts, certificates of deposit and highly liquid debt instruments with
a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash and cash equivalents. The
carrying amount of cash equivalents is a reasonable estimate of fair value.
Concentration of Credit Risk
The Organization’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk
consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and temporary cash investments. The
Organization believes it places its cash and cash equivalents and temporary cash
investments with high quality credit institutions. At times such investments may be in
excess of the FDIC insurance limit.
The Organization has investments in a variety of investment funds. In general, investments
are exposed to various risks such as interest rate, credit and overall market volatility risk.
Due to the level of risk associated with certain investments, it is reasonably possible that
change in the values of the investments will occur in the near term and that such changes
could materially affect account balances and the statements of operations.
Investments and Cash Held or Restricted
Investments and cash held or restricted includes assets held by trustees under bond and
mortgage indenture agreements, assets held under HUD mortgage agreements, assets
restricted by donors, replacement reserves (designated by the Organization over which it
retains control and may, at its discretion, subsequently use for other purposes), and assets
held as endowment funds, including perpetual trusts. Investments in debt and equity
securities with readily determinable fair market values are measured at fair value in the
accompanying consolidated statements of financial position. The fair value of the perpetual
trust approximates the estimated present value of the future cash flows. The current portion
of restricted cash and investments is determined based upon the amount required to meet
current liabilities for which the cash is restricted.
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PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

NOTE 1

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Investments and Cash Held or Restricted (Continued)
Investment income or loss (including realized gains and losses on investments, unrealized
gains and losses on investments, interest, and dividends) are included in excess of revenue
over expense unless the income or loss is restricted by donor. Purchases and sales of
securities are recorded on a trade-date basis. Dividend income is recorded on the exdividend date. Interest income is recognized when earned. Realized gains and losses are
recognized based upon specific identification, and unrealized gains and losses are
recognized based upon the change in fair values of investments between reporting periods
and reported as net change in fair value of investments.
Under the HUD regulatory agreements, the HUD entities are required to make deposits into
restricted escrow, reserve for replacement and residual receipt accounts. All disbursements
from the reserve for replacement and residual receipts account require proper written
approval from HUD.
Accounts Receivable
The Organization uses the allowance method to account for uncollectible accounts. The
allowance is based on management’s estimate of potential bad debts, historical collection
history and by considering the resident’s financial history, credit history, and economic
condition. When the Organization has exhausted all collection efforts and accounts are
deemed uncollectible, they are charged to bad debt expense. Accounts receivable are net
of an allowance for doubtful accounts of approximately $1,057 and $482 as of
September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
Pledges Receivable
Pledges are recorded as receivables in the year made. Pledges that are expected to be
collected in future years are recorded at the present value of their estimated future cash
flows. The discounts on those amounts are computed using a risk-free interest rate
applicable to the year in which the pledges are received. Amortization of the discount is
included as additions to the appropriate donor restricted net asset classification.
Tax Increment Financing
The Organization has various tax increment financing (TIF) agreements, whereby the
Organization will receive a portion of the annual tax increment generated by the project
facilities with the TIF agreements. The Organization does not record the notes receivable
as an asset, as the realization of the notes is contingent on the Organization complying with
the terms and conditions of the TIF agreements and paying future annual real estate taxes.
The Organization reports the annual real estate tax expense net of the estimated annual
TIF reimbursement. The annual TIF reimbursement was approximately $722 and $1,017
for the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

NOTE 1

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Deferred Financing Costs and Amortization
Deferred financing costs of $19,962 and $19,917 at September 30, 2013 and 2012,
respectively, are amortized over the terms of the related debt using the effective interest
method. Accumulated amortization was $5,176 and $4,063 at September 30, 2013 and
2012, respectively.
Investment in Other Entities
Investment in other entities includes share certificates owned in a Cooperative, and
investments in not-for-profit unconsolidated joint ventures that are recorded at cost, and an
investment in a for-profit joint venture that is recorded under the equity method of
accounting. During the year ended September 30, 2012, the Organization bought out the
other member’s share of a joint venture. As a result, the Organization consolidated this
entity (see Note 6).
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment with an original cost at or above one thousand dollars are recorded
at cost for purchased assets or fair value at date of receipt for donated assets. Depreciation
is computed on the straight-line method over the following lives:
Buildings and Land Improvements
Equipment and Furnishings
Automotive Equipment

10 - 50 Years
5 - 12 Years
3 - 5 Years

Contributed property, equipment, and material is recorded at fair value at the date of
donation. A contribution is also recognized when assets or businesses are acquired where
the fair value of the assets exceeds the purchase price. If donors stipulate how long
property or equipment is to be used, the contributions are recorded as restricted support. In
the absence of such stipulations, contributions of property, equipment, and materials are
recorded as unrestricted support.
Maintenance, repairs, and replacements which do not improve the assets or extend the
assets’ lives are expensed as incurred.
Construction and development costs have been deferred until the projects have been
completed. When the projects are completed, these costs will be capitalized and
depreciated over the life of the projects. If the projects are cancelled, the construction and
development costs are expensed during that period.
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PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

NOTE 1

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Property and Equipment (Continued)
The Organization reviews its long-lived assets periodically to determine potential
impairment by comparing the carrying value of the asset to the sum of undiscounted cash
flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset. Should the sum
of the undiscounted cash flows be less than the carrying value, the Organization would
determine whether an impairment loss should be recognized. An impairment loss would be
measured by comparing the amount which the carrying value exceeds its fair value.
Interest Capitalization
Interest costs incurred on borrowed funds during the period of construction of capital assets
are capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring those assets, and depreciated over
the estimated useful lives by the straight-line method of depreciation.
Resident Notes Payable and Entrance Loan Deposits
Certain residents that rented units at certain facilities made entrance loan deposits totaling
approximately $84,501 and $81,278 as of September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
Some of the tenants received interest-bearing notes for their deposits, but most received
non-interest bearing notes. The deposits were or are expected to be used by the
Organization to fund construction costs as an alternative to conventional financing
methods. The notes and deposits are due 90 to 120 days after the resident moves out. The
Organization anticipates that the notes and deposits that come due, as a result of the
resident moving out, will be repaid from the proceeds of the next resident moving in.
However, if this does not occur, the funds designated by the board of directors as repair
and replacement reserves (see Note 2) will be used.
The repair and replacement reserves and the resident notes are reported as long-term
asset and liability, respectively, on the consolidated statements of financial position. At
each of the facilities, the contracts with the residents limit the total amount of the deposits
that the Organization must return at any one time. The maximum amounts at each of the
facilities range from $100 to $2,000. If at any time the net amount it has returned to former
residents exceeds the amount that it has received from new tenants by the applicable
maximum amount, the Organization is not required to refund additional deposits until new
deposits are collected bringing the amount owed under the maximum amount.
Asset Retirement Obligation
Asset retirement obligation represents obligations to dispose of assets that are legally
required to be removed at a future date. These are recorded at the net present value using
a risk-free interest rate and inflationary rate and are included in other long-term liabilities on
the consolidated statements of financial position.
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NOTE 1

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Resident Service Revenue
The primary source of housing and assisted living revenue is rental charges to residents.
Rental revenue is recognized ratably over the terms of the leases, which are generally on a
month-to-month basis. Revenue from services provided is recognized when they are
provided. Resident service revenue, where a third-party payor is responsible for paying the
amount, are carried at a net amount determined by the original charge for the services
provided, adjusted by an estimate made for contractual adjustments or discounts provided
to third-party payors.
Certain Care Centers of the Organization charge rates for most services that are provided
primarily through third-party payors including the Medical Assistance and Medicare
programs. The Medical Assistance programs are established in accordance with rules
established by the states of Minnesota, Wisconsin and Iowa. The Medicare program is
administered by the United States Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). The
rates charged to residents in these facilities are subject to retroactive adjustment based on
audits. The Organization does not expect adjustments (if any) to be material to the
consolidated financial statements and, accordingly, no provision for adjustments has been
recorded.
Revenues of approximately $34,379 and $34,610 from Medical Assistance care center
residents and $4,421 and $5,272 from Elderly Waiver residents were recognized for the
years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Medical Assistance accounts
receivable were approximately $3,275 and $3,312 and Elderly Waiver accounts receivable
were approximately $631 and $168 for the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. Revenues of approximately $26,656 and $24,553 from Medicare residents
were recognized for the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Medicare
accounts receivable were approximately $3,132 and $3,158 for the years ended
September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
Donated Services
No amounts have been reflected in the consolidated financial statements for donated
services, since no objective basis is available to measure the value of such services, and
the types of services received do not meet accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America’s criteria for recognition. Nevertheless, volunteers gave
approximately two hundred and twenty five thousand hours of their time to the Organization
during the year ended September 30, 2013. The Organization tracks community impact
activities which are reported separately under the Organization’s annual Social
Accountability Report.
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NOTE 1

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Interest Rate Swaps
The Organization records all derivative instruments, currently consisting of interest rate
swap agreements, on the consolidated statements of financial position at their respective
fair values and all changes in fair value in the consolidated statement of operations as
interest rate swap market adjustment.
Fair Value Measurements
Fair value measurement applies to reported balances that are required or permitted to be
measured at fair value under an existing accounting standard. The Organization
emphasizes that fair value is a market-based measurement, not an entity-specific
measurement. Therefore, a fair value measurement should be determined based on the
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability and
establishes a fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy consists of three levels of inputs
that may be used to measure fair value as follows:
Level 1 – Inputs that utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the Organization has the ability to access.
Level 2 – Inputs that include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active
markets and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument. Fair values for these
instruments are estimated using pricing models, quoted prices of securities with similar
characteristics, or discounted cash flows.
Level 3 – Inputs that are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, which are typically
based on an entity’s own assumptions, as there is little, if any, related market activity.
In instances where the determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from
different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which
the entire fair value measurement falls is based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement in its entirety.
Additionally, from time to time, the Organization may be required to record at fair value
other assets on a nonrecurring basis in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. These adjustments to fair value usually result
from the application of the lower-of-cost-or-market accounting or write down of individual
assets. Nonfinancial assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis would include
nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities measured at fair value in the second step of
a goodwill impairment test, other real estate owned, and other intangible assets measured
at fair value for impairment assessment.
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NOTE 1

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Fair Value Measurements (Continued)
The Organization also adopted the policy of valuing certain financial instruments at fair
value. This accounting policy allows entities the irrevocable option to elect fair value for the
initial and subsequent measurement for certain financial assets and liabilities on an
instrument-by-instrument basis. The Organization has not elected to measure any existing
financial instruments at fair value, however may elect to measure newly acquired financial
instruments at fair value in the future.

NOTE 2

INVESTMENTS AND CASH HELD OR RESTRICTED
The fair value of investments is based upon quoted market prices for those or similar
investments. The fair value of the perpetual trust approximates the estimated present value
of the future cash flows. Guaranteed investment contracts are recorded at contract cost. At
September 30, 2013 and 2012, the Organization had investments in the following
categories:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Mutual Funds
U.S. Government Securities
Corporate Bonds
Common Stocks
Municipalities
Alternative Investments
Certificates of Deposit
Perpetual Trust
Total

2013
55,158
5,848
15,366
39,869
10,116
1,799
589
21,025
30,875
180,645

$

$

2012
43,237
7,721
24,920
81,312
7,700
1,177
671
20,362
28,813
215,913

$

$

Total recorded income and gains on investments consist of the following:
Years Ended September 30,
2013
2012
Operating Revenues:
Investment Income - Other
Nonoperating Revenues:
Investment Income - Endowment Funds
Net Change in Fair Value of Investments
Total
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$

5,268

$

434
4,849
10,551

$

5,604

$

522
7,477
13,603

PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

NOTE 2

INVESTMENTS AND CASH HELD OR RESTRICTED (CONTINUED)
Investments and cash restricted for specific purposes are based on bond indentures, board
designation or other agreements. A description and composition of these funds at
September 30 are as follows:
Description

2013

Reserve Fund - Available for payments to Bond Fund
in the event that sufficient funds are not available to
meet debt service requirements. Interest earned
which accumulates in excess of reserve
requirements may be transferred to the Bond Fund.
Bond Fund - Available for payment of principal and
interest on bonds
Project Fund - Available for payments for construction
of facilities, startup and other project costs
Resident entrance deposits and other cash and
investments designated for future construction costs
Restricted by agreements with HUD
Restricted by agreement with Minnesota Department of
Commerce pledged as security for workers'
compensation self-insurance reserves (see Note 12)
Replacement Reserves - funds designated by the
Organization for future repairs and replacements and
restricted by HUD
Endowment Funds, including perpetual trust
Restricted by financing arrangements and other
Subtotal
Less: Current Portion
Total

$

$

31,888

2012

$

29,722

12,250

27,240

35,087

74,191

13,161
429

10,083
377

4,167

3,802

17,606
52,459
13,598
180,645
35,346
145,299

13,537
47,422
9,539
215,913
25,565
190,348

$

Approximately $7,137 and $6,582 at September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, of
replacement reserve funds were restricted by agreements with HUD or revenue bonds. The
remaining replacement reserves represent funds that are designated by the board of
directors for future repairs and replacements or other operating requirements. The funds
may also be used to repay resident notes and entrance deposits if required.
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NOTE 3

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Organization uses fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain
assets and liabilities and to determine fair value disclosures. For additional information on
how the Organization measures fair value refer to Note 1 – Nature of Business and
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. The following table presents the fair value
hierarchy for the balances of the assets and liabilities of the Organization measured at fair
value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2013 and 2012:
Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
Assets
Investments and Cash Held or Restricted:
Mutual Funds
U.S. Government Securities
Corporate Bonds
Common Stocks
Municipalities
Alternative Investments
Perpetual Trust
Total
Liabilities
Derivatives

Assets
Investments and Cash Held or Restricted:
Mutual Funds
U.S. Government Securities
Corporate Bonds
Common Stocks
Municipalities
Alternative Investments
Perpetual Trust
Total
Liabilities
Derivatives

September 30,
2013
$

$

5,848
15,366
39,869
10,116
1,799
589
30,875
104,462

$

12,974

Level 1
$

$

5,848
15,366
10,116
31,330

$

-

September 30,
2012
$

$

7,721
24,920
81,312
7,700
1,177
671
28,813
152,314

$

15,918
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Level 2
$

$

39,869
1,799
41,668

$

589
30,875
31,464

$

12,974

$

-

Level 1
$

Level 3
$

Level 2

$

7,721
24,920
7,700
40,341

$

-

$

Level 3

$

81,312
1,177
82,489

$

$

671
28,813
29,484

$

15,918

$

-

PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
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SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
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NOTE 3

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis (Continued)
The following table provides a summary of changes to fair value of the Organizations
Level 3 financial assets for the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012.
Perpetual
Trust
$
28,813

Beginning Balance - 10/1/12
Total Gains or Losses (Realized or Unrealized)
for the Year Included in:
Realized Gains
Unrealized Gains (Losses)
Disbursements
Ending Balance - 9/30/13

$

1,945
1,294
(1,177)
30,875

Perpetual
Trust
$
24,841

Beginning Balance - 10/1/11
Total Gains or Losses (Realized or Unrealized)
for the Year Included in:
Realized Gains
Unrealized Gains (Losses)
Disbursements
Ending Balance - 9/30/12

$

1,885
3,267
(1,180)
28,813

Alternative
Investments
$
671

$

(82)
589

Alternative
Investments
$
675

$

(4)
671

$

$

$

$

Total
29,484

1,945
1,212
(1,177)
31,464

Total
25,516

1,885
3,263
(1,180)
29,484

Investments and cash held or restricted (securities) are recorded at fair value on a recurring
basis. Fair value measurement is based upon quoted prices, if available. If quoted prices
are not available, fair values are measured using independent pricing models or other
model-based valuation techniques such as the present value of future cash flows, adjusted
for the security’s credit rating, prepayment assumptions, and other factors such as credit
loss assumptions. Securities valued using Level 1 inputs include those traded on an active
exchange, such as the New York Stock Exchange, as well as U.S. Treasury and other U.S.
government and agency mortgage-backed securities that are traded by dealers or brokers
in active over-the-counter markets. Securities valued using Level 2 inputs include private
collateralized mortgage obligations, municipal bonds, and corporate debt securities.
Securities valued using Level 3 includes alternative investments and perpetual trusts that
are valued based on the present value of future cash flow from these investments.
Significant changes in any of these inputs would result in a significant change to the fair
value measurement.
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NOTE 3

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis (Continued)
Quoted market prices are available and used for exchange-traded derivatives, such as
certain interest rate futures and option contracts; such derivatives are classified as using
Level 1 inputs. However, substantially all of our derivatives are traded in over-the-counter
markets where quoted market prices are not readily available. For those derivatives, fair
values are determined using internally developed models that use primarily market
observable inputs, such as yield curves and option volatilities and, accordingly, are
classified as Level 2 inputs.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The following disclosures represent financial instruments in which the ending balances at
September 30, 2013 and 2012 are not carried at fair value in their entirety on the
consolidated balance sheet.

Long-Term Debt

$

September 30, 2013
Cost
Fair Value
750,975
$
714,675

$

September 30, 2012
Cost
Fair Value
737,485
$
732,878

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class
of financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate fair value:
Long-Term Debt
The fair value of long-term debt is calculated based on the estimated trade values as of
September 30, 2013 and 2012. The value is estimated using the rates currently offered for
like debt instruments with similar remaining maturities. Based upon these inputs the fair
market value of long-term debt would have been classified as a level three liability.
All Other
The carrying value is a reasonable estimate of the fair value for all other financial
instruments due to the short-term nature of those financial instruments.
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NOTE 4

PLEDGES RECEIVABLE
Pledges receivable as of September 30 consist of the following:
2013
Unrestricted
Temporarily Restricted
Permanently Restricted
Total Pledges Receivable

$

2,692
35
2,727

2012
$

10
2,435
40
2,485

Less: Unamortized Discount
Total Net Pledges Receivable

76
2,651

153
2,332

Less: Current Portion
Less: Amount Reported as Endowment Funds
Non-Current Pledges Receivable

2,100
35
516

110
40
2,182

$

$

Pledges receivable that are permanently restricted, or temporarily restricted for capital, are
presented as non-current assets. At September 30, 2013, the amount of pledges expected
to be collected within the next five years are as follows:
Year Ending September 30,
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
Thereafter
Total

NOTE 5

$

$

Amount
2,100
604
13
5
5
2,727

INVESTMENT IN OTHER ENTITIES AND OTHER ASSETS
Investment in Gideon Pond Cooperative (the Cooperative)
The Organization has received or purchased share certificates (each share represents the
right to occupy a cooperative housing unit in the Cooperative’s buildings) and at
September 30, 2013 owned 97 cooperative share certificates of 101 total shares. The share
certificates are carried at the lower of amortized cost or estimated fair value. All units held
by the Organization are currently available to lease to tenants.

(23)

PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

NOTE 5

INVESTMENT IN OTHER ENTITIES AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Investment in Gideon Pond Cooperative (the Cooperative) (Continued)
At September 30, the investment in Gideon Pond Cooperative consisted of the following
components:
Share of Certificates
Garages
Total

$
$

2013
9,204
265
9,469

$
$

2012
8,844
250
9,094

Unconsolidated Affiliates
The Organization assists various other not-for-profit corporations with the development of
senior housing projects. For some of these entities, the Organization is generally allowed to
appoint members to the entity’s board of directors, but does not maintain control over the
board. Other entities, while operating as not-for-profit entities, are joint ventures with
another not-for-profit organization. In these joint ventures, both entities appoint board
members, and distributions (if any) are determined by the entities’ bylaws and membership
control agreements. As a result of not having control, these affiliates (the Unconsolidated
Affiliates) are not included in these consolidated financial statements.
The Organization generally provides capital to these Unconsolidated Affiliates to assist
them in the project’s development. Sometimes these advances fund initial costs, which are
reimbursed to the Organization when the project is financed. For the years ended
September 30, 2013 and 2012, the Organization has contributed capital of approximately
$6,723 and $6,727, respectively, to these Unconsolidated Affiliates, which it has recorded
as an investment at its original cost basis. These investments are reduced upon
distributions received from the Unconsolidated Affiliates, and the Organization recognizes
revenue from distributions received in excess of the original cost basis.
The Organization generally provides management services to the Unconsolidated Affiliates
under management contracts. For the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, the
management fees earned were approximately $785 and $615, respectively.
The Unconsolidated Affiliates at September 30, 2013 include PSA Housing and Assisted
Living, Inc. (St. Andrews Village), Crosby Senior Services (Heartwood), Carondelet Village,
Inc., and PHS Walnut Ridge, LLC. PHS/VOA Rochester, Inc. (The Homestead of
Rochester) was an unconsolidated affiliate at September 30, 2011, VOA bought out PHS’s
share during the year ended September 30, 2012.

(24)

PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

NOTE 5

INVESTMENT IN OTHER ENTITIES AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)
For-Profit Joint Venture
The Organization also had a 50% interest in Wayzata Bay Redevelopment Company, LLC
which was a for-profit joint venture accounted for under the equity method of accounting.
During the year ended September 30, 2012, the Organization bought out is joint venture
share in Wayzata Bay Redevelopment Company, LLC (see Note 6).
The following is summarized financial data for the Unconsolidated Affiliates as of and for
the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012:
Assets
Liabilities
Net Assets

$
$

Operating Revenues
Operating Expenses
Interest Expense
Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Net Loss

$

$

2013
126,657
122,776
3,881
20,049
12,990
5,216
3,352
(1,509)

$

$

2012
128,123
125,158
2,965
17,494
11,058
4,418
2,703
(685)

Other Assets
Other assets include the following at September 30:
Real Estate Development Costs
Donated Land Held for Future Resale
Notes Receivable
Other
Total

$

$

2013
7,872
1,520
1,674
1,144
12,210

$

$

2012
5,307
1,520
1,704
1,144
9,675

Real estate development costs include costs related to planned developments of new
projects. These generally include costs related to architectural drawings, market research,
site development, and other predevelopment costs. Once construction begins on these
projects the costs are transferred to construction in progress. If the Organization
determines to not move forward with a project, these costs will be expensed at that time.
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NOTE 5

INVESTMENT IN OTHER ENTITIES AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Other Assets (Continued)
Notes receivable consist of an unsecured note from Carondelet Village, Inc. related to
funds advanced by the Organization to fund Carondelet Village, Inc.’s required debt service
reserve fund. The note earns interest at a rate of 6% per year and is payable upon demand
unless Carondelet Village, Inc. is in default on payment of their bonds or payment of the
note would cause them to be in default on their bond payments. The balance of this note
was $1,067 at September 30, 2013 and 2012. Collection of this note is fully expected and
accordingly, no allowance has been provided. Also included in notes receivable is an
unsecured note from Crosby Senior Services related to deferred development fees. The
note earns interest at a rate of .5% and is payable from Crosby’s entrance deposits and
available cash. The balance of this note was $607 and $637 as of September 30, 2013 and
2012, respectively. Collection of this note is fully expected and accordingly, no allowance
has been provided.

NOTE 6

ACQUIRED OPERATIONS
Wayzata Bay Redevelopment Company, LLC
Effective March 29, 2012, the Organization reached an agreement to buy out the other
partner’s share of this former joint venture which was originally organized to develop the
retail portions of a master development in Wayzata, Minnesota. The acquisition included
the land to be developed, in addition to pre-development costs incurred to get the land
ready for construction. The total cost of the acquisition was approximately $17,100, which
was funded with cash and replacement reserves plus a $5,800 option to purchase a portion
of the retail space in the future.
The following is a summary of the assets and liabilities acquired in the transactions
described above:
2012
Cash
Accounts Receivable
Other Assets
Assets Limited to Use
Property and Equipment
Total Assets

$

Accounts Payable
Accrued Expenses
Other Liabilities
Long-Term Debt
Total Liabilities

$

$

$

59
36,553
36,612
83
1,664
462
34,403
36,612

The transaction during the year ended September 30, 2012 did not result in a gain.
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NOTE 6

ACQUIRED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)
Wayzata Bay Redevelopment Company, LLC (Continued)
Total revenues of $-0-, including non-operating revenues, attributable to prior year
acquisitions, are included in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets for the period from acquisition through September 30, 2012.
The changes in net assets attributable to the acquisition described above for the period
from acquisition through September 30, 2012 are summarized in the following table:

Net Assets - September 30, 2011
Change in Net Assets
Net Assets - September 30, 2012

Unrestricted
$
$
-

Temporarily
Restricted
$
$
-

Permanently
Restricted
$
$
-

Total
$
$

-

The acquired entity’s revenue for the year ended September 30, 2012, including
nonoperating revenues, would not have changed had entity been acquired on October 1,
2011.

NOTE 7

CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS
Wayzata Bay Senior Housing, Inc.
During the year ended September 30, 2010, the Organization acquired property in
Wayzata, Minnesota to be used in a planned master development. The development is to
be completed in multiple stages. The first stage of the project, currently underway, will add
254 senior living units and approximately 32,000 square feet of retail space. Total
construction costs of the first stage are expected to be approximately $97,467 and are
being financed with proceeds from long-term debt and equity. At September 30, 2013 and
2012, approximately $85,471 and $18,235, respectively, has been incurred and is included
in construction in progress. This first stage of construction was completed in October 2013.
Financing for the second stage was obtained subsequent to year end as described in
Note13 and construction began in October.
Arden Hills
During the year ended September 30, 2011, the Organization started construction on a tear
down and rebuild of the Arden Hills campus. Phase I was completed in November 2012
and Phase II was completed in September 2013. The project was financed with proceeds
from long-term debt and equity at a total cost of approximately $46,000. At September 30,
2013 and 2012, $-0- and $26,285 is included in construction in progress on the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.
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NOTE 7

CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS (CONTINUED)
Maranatha
During the year ended September 30, 2012, the Organization began construction on a
rebuild of the Maranatha campus which consists of 97 care center beds through the
moratorium exception process. The total estimated cost of the project is approximately
$15,737 and is being financed with proceeds from long-term debt and equity. At
September 30, 2013 and 2012, approximately $13,753 and $1,185, respectively, has been
incurred related to this project and is included in construction in progress on the
consolidated financial statements. The project opened in November 2013.
Other
The Organization has also incurred construction costs related to the planned development
of new building projects, as well as planned renovations and remodeling of existing nursing
facilities and senior housing projects.

NOTE 8

LONG-TERM DEBT
Notes, Bonds and Mortgages
Notes, bonds and mortgages at September 30 consist of the following:
Description

2013

Revenue Bonds, Series 2003 for Farmstead, payments due at
a variable interest rate through 2033

(4) $

10,645

2012
$

11,045

2.0% to 6.0% Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2010, for
Mayfield, payments due through 2030

5,285

5,475

2.0% to 6.0% Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2010, for
Gideon Pond Commons, LLC, payments due
through 2030

15,240

15,745

23,195

23,420

5% to 5.5% Revenue Bonds, Series 2006, for Bloomington
Care Center, payments due through 2041

20,965

21,260

5.5% Mortgage Note for Broadmoor Apartments, payments
due through 2015, with balloon payment

3,415

3,587

7.5% Revenue Note, Series 2004, for Broadmoor
payment

6,714

6,973

Summerhouse of Bloomington, Mississippi Shores,
Echo Ridge, Summerhouse of Shoreview, payments due
at a variable interest rate through 2038
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NOTE 8

LONG-TERM DEBT
Notes, Bonds and Mortgages (Continued)
Description

2013

2012

4.25% to 5.7% Revenue Bonds, Series 1998, for Castle
Ridge, payments due through 2028

2,615

2,725

6.77% Mortgage Note for Central Towers, payments due
through 2026

2,400

2,400

2% Mortgage Note for Central Towers, payments due
through 2018

106

128

1% MHFA Mortgage Note for Central Towers, payments
due through 2027

125

125

2.9% to 6.25% Revenue Bonds, Series 2003 for
Summerwood of Chanhassen, payments due through
2033, less unamortized bond discount

21,489

21,868

5% to 6% Revenue Bonds, Series 2006, for Norris Square,
payments due through 2041

28,750

29,040

2.33% Loan Participation Notes, Series 2003,
for Croixdale, payments due through 2025

(6)

6,994

7,480

Revenue Refunding Bonds, for EagleCrest, payments due
at a variable interest rate through 2039

(7)

22,115

22,355

5.30% Mortgage Note for Country Inn & Suites, payments
due through 2023

(2)

3,509

3,777

Note payable, for Maranatha, Maximum Borrowing Limit of
$20,000

(10)

16,959

4,562

907

936

2.34% HUD-Insured Mortgage Payable to Oak Grove
Capital Corporation for Avalon Square, payments
due through 2043.

17,933

18,311

4.88% Mortgage Note to Department of Housing and
Urban Development (HUD) for Ridgeview Terrace,
payments due through 2032

1,672

1,727

4.88% Mortgage Note to HUD for Newton Manor,
payments due through 2025

1,054

1,116

26,335

26,935

4,778

4,995

6.0% Mortgage Note for Maranatha, payments due
through 2031

Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2005 for Inver Grove
Heights, payments due at a variable interest rate
through 2035
3.12% mortgage for PHS Management LLC (Hamline
Office Building), due through 2029
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NOTE 8

LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)
Notes, Bonds and Mortgages (Continued)
Description

2013

2.63% Revenue Note Payable, Series 2008 for Mill Pond
Apartments, payments due through 2028

(6)

4.75% HUD-Insured Mortgage Payable to Oak Grove
Capital Corporation for Mill Pond, payments due
through 2035

2012

3,133

3,289

4,830

4,952

Revenue Bonds, Series 2003 for Oakcrest, payments due
at a variable interest rate through 2033

(4)

6,260

6,460

5.0% Mortgage Note for Lake Minnetonka, Series 2010
payments due through 2020

(8)

27,295

27,863

397

467

17,352

17,631

4.75% - 7.625% Revenue Bonds, Series 2006 for GracePointe East, payments due through 2033, less
unamortized bond discount.

7,830

8,000

5.25% to 6.5% Revenue Bonds, Series 2007, for Waverly
Gardens, payments due through 2047

80,345

80,680

4.5% to 5.6% Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2006, for
Kirkland Crossings, payments due through 2041

17,205

17,455

54,660

55,780

1,010

1,156

20,760

-

0% Note Payable for Ankeney, IA property, principal paid
in equal annual installments through 2019.
3.26% HUD-Insured Mortgage Payable to Oak Grove Capital
Corporation for Summerwood of Plymouth, payments due
through 2047

Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2005, for Boutwells
Landing, payments due at a variable interest rate
through 2035

(3)

6% Mortgage Note for Boutwells Landing, payments due
through 2019
1.4% to 6.0% Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2013
for Boutwells Landing, payments due through 2036
4.5% Tax Exempt Loan Participation Notes, Series 2007
for Boutwells Landing, payments due through 2036,
Refinanced in 2013

(6)

-

18,891

Revenue Bonds, Series 2004 for Beacon Hill, payments
due at a variable interest rate through 2034

(4)

9,310

9,510
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NOTE 8

LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)
Notes, Bonds and Mortgages (Continued)
Description

2013

2.31% Revenue Bonds, Series 2006 and 2007 for
payments through 2017 with balloon payment
2.31% Revenue Bonds, Series 2005B, for Highland Ridge,
payments through 2017 with balloon payment

(2)

Unsecured note payable for Highland Ridge. Limit of $2,000.
Interest at the short term applicable federal rate for the month
of the advance, as published by the IRS. Due 1/31/2014.
4% to 5.75% Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2006, for
Stonecrest, payments due through 2041

2012

4,528

4,851

4,061

4,351

1,952

1,285

12,960

13,150

7,490

7,665

1.75% to 5.25% Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2012,
for Stonecrest, payments due through 2034.
4.25% Revenue Note, Series 2003 for GracePointe West,
payments due through 2023

(6)

1,876

2,020

4.25% Revenue Note, Series 2003, for GracePointe Terrace,
payments due through 2023

(6)

1,675

1,803

9,515

-

-

9,740

16,268

16,600

3.45% to 6.65% Revenue Bonds, Series 2011, for
Deerfield Gables, payments due through 2043

13,140

13,140

5.15% to 6.0% Revenue Bonds, Series 1998, for
Deerfield Housing, payments due through 2032

5,855

6,000

4.25% to 5.75% Revenue Bonds, Series 2006, for
Mckenna Crossing, due through 2042

28,585

28,955

-

6,421

32,000

19,339

1.75% to 4.65% Revenue Bonds, Series 2013 for GracePointe
Commons, payments due through 2033
4.4% to 6.0% Revenue Bonds, Series 1998 for GracePointe
Commons, payments due through 2033
Refinanced in 2013
Revenue Note, Series 2010, for Founders Ridge,
payments due through 2018, with balloon payment

(9)

7.125% Note Payable, for Wayzata Bay Commercial,
payments due through 2014
Loan Payable, for Arden Hills, due at a variable interest
rate through 2033
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NOTE 8

LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)
Notes, Bonds and Mortgages (Continued)
Description

2013

4.70% to 6.00% Revenue Bonds, Series 2012, for
Folkestone Senior Living Community, due through 2047

2012

104,375

104,375

6,235

5,945

.25% Note Payable for Wayzata Bay Commercial, payments
due through 2013.

1,160

1,157

Other

5,713

2,569

750,975

737,485

18,254

12,570

$5,800 Option Agreement, Lot 1, Block 1, Wayzata Bay
Commercial, Interest accrues at 5.0% through the option term
of April 1, 2016

(1)

Subtotal
Less: Current Maturities
Total

$

732,721

$

724,915

(1) In conjunction with the acquisition of 100% interest in Wayzata Bay Redevelopment
Company during 2012 (see Note 6), an option was granted to the former partner to
purchase a portion of the retail property once developed. In consideration for this
option, the former partner paid $5,800. This option payment accrues interest at 5%
and shall be applied against the purchase price of the property if the option is
exercised. If the option is not exercised, the option payment, including accrued
interest, is refundable. The option expires April 1, 2016.
(2) The interest rate and monthly payment will be adjusted in 2015 (if applicable).
(3) The 2005 Revenue Bonds are scheduled to be paid in varying annual installments
through 2035; however, the 2005 Revenue Bonds can be called on a daily basis by
the bondholders. The Organization has remarketing agreement with underwriters that
provides for a “best efforts” remarketing of the 2005 Revenue Bonds. The 2005
Revenue Bonds are secured by a credit enhancement from Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac), which is effective for the term of the bonds. If the
credit enhancement is used to pay for Revenue Bonds that were not remarketed, such
amounts are due 13 months after the draw. Accordingly based on the terms of the
credit enhancement, the 2005 Revenue Bonds, other than the original amount
scheduled to be paid in fiscal year 2014, are reported as long-term liabilities.
(4) The mortgage loan is secured by a letter of credit enhancement agreement with
Fannie Mae, which guarantees the payment of the mortgage loan.
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NOTE 8

LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)
Notes, Bonds and Mortgages (Continued)
(5) The bonds are secured by a credit enhancement agreement with Freddie Mac, which
guarantees the payment of the bonds.
(6) The interest rate is set upon issuance, and re-set every five years through a
predetermined index, and have interest rate floors and ceilings as set in the
agreement.
(7) The EagleCrest Revenue Bonds that were issued in 2009 are scheduled to be paid in
varying annual principal installments, but can be called on a weekly basis by the
bondholders. The bonds are secured by a credit enhancement agreement with Freddie
Mac which guarantees the payment of the bonds. In addition, any draws upon the
liquidity agreement are to be repaid 365 plus 1 days after drawn upon which supports
the classification as a long-term liability.
(8) The mortgage note was issued in 2010 for Lake Minnetonka Housing, Lake
Minnetonka Care Center, and Lake Minnetonka Employee Housing. The interest rate
on the note was 4% until June 1, 2010, at which time the rate reset to the greater of
3% plus 70% times the sum of the current 30-day LIBOR rate or 4%. At any time after
the date of substantial completion of the project improvements and the note has been
fully funded or the Organization agrees in writing that no further advances shall be
made under this note, the Organization may elect to fix the interest rate for either (I) a
period of five years at a rate equal to the greater of 70% times the sum of the current
five year LIBOR swap rate plus 3% or 5%; or (II) fixed through May 31, 2015, at rate
equal to the greater of 70% times the sum of a comparable term LIBOR swap rate plus
3% or 5%. If the Organization has failed to notify the lender which option they select by
June 1, 2012, option (I) above shall the default option. The Organization selected
option (I) and fixed the interest rate at 5% for five years.
(9) The revenue note was issued to finance construction of the Founders Ridge project.
The interest rate on the note is variable throughout the construction period, calculated
as the one month LIBOR rate plus a spread. The rate became fixed through a swap at
4.42% on October 1, 2012 through maturity.
(10) The interest rate on the note is fixed at 7% through June 30, 2014. Beginning July 1,
2014, the interest rate shall become fixed per annum at a rate equal to the greater of
4.75% or 1.5% plus the highest U.S. prime rate of interest.
Substantially all of the Organization’s property, equipment and assets, plus the assignment
of rents and income contracts, is pledged as collateral on the above debts.
Many of the notes and bonds include various restrictive covenants requiring adherence to
be in compliance with the terms of the note or bond.
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NOTE 8

LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)
Notes, Bonds and Mortgages (Continued)
Annual maturities on the notes, bonds and mortgages for the five years subsequent to
September 30, 2013 based on the terms of letters of credit or credit enhancement
agreements as well as management’s expectation are approximately as follows, the
maturities reflect any changes made to the requirements subsequent to September 30,
2013.
Management's
Expected
Amount
$
18,254
25,047
16,460
38,510
16,740
635,964
$
750,975

Year Ending September 30,
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
Thereafter
Total

$

$

Credit
Terms
Amount
18,254
170,643
12,772
34,602
12,599
502,105
750,975

Interest Cost
The total interest cost incurred during the construction period, net of interest earnings on
invested tax-exempt bond proceeds, for the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012,
was approximately $7,074 and $4,098, respectively. These amounts are capitalized as part
of the cost of construction.

(34)

PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

NOTE 8

LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)
Derivatives and Variable Interest Rate Risk Management
The Organization uses derivative instruments to manage variable interest rates on certain
of the Organization’s long-term debt issues. As part of the Organization’s strategy to
manage the variability of interest rates, the Organization has entered into interest rate swap
agreements to reduce the impact of changes in interest rates. At September 30, 2013, the
Organization has the following interest rate swap agreements with commercial banks which
effectively limit the Organization’s interest rate exposure.
Notional
Amount
Agreement related to Series 1999 and 2002
Revenue bonds for Presbyterian Homes of
Arden Hills, Inc. and Presbyterian Home
Care Centers, Inc. Transferred to
Presbyterian Homes and Services in 2011
Agreement related to Series 2005 Revenue

$

Revenue bonds for Boutwells Landing
Agreement related to Series 2007
Revenue bonds for Waverly Gardens

Swap Rate

Termination
Date

26,831

3.391% Fixed

October 1, 2029

33,949

3.566% Fixed

November 1, 2015

81,345

USD-SIFMA
Municipal
Swap Index

October 1, 2047

Agreement related to Series 2007
Revenue bonds for EagleCrest, agreement
transferred to Presbyterian Homes
and Services in 2009
Agreement related to Series 2010 Revenue
Bonds for Founders Ridge

22,185

USD-SIFMA
Municipal
Swap Index

July 1, 2042

16,268

2.74% Fixed

April 1, 2018

The fair value of the derivative instruments was as follows at September 30, 2013 and
2012:

Derivatives not Designated as
Hedging Instruments

Balance Sheet
Location
Other Long-Term
Liabilities

September 30,
2013
$

12,974

September 30,
2012
$

15,918

The effect of the derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations and
changes in net assets was as follows for the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012:
Location of Loss
Recognized in
Excess (Deficit)
of Revenue
Over Expense
Derivatives not Designated as
Hedging Instruments

Interest Rate Swap
Market Adjustment

(35)

Amount of Loss on Derivatives
Recognized in Excess
of Revenue Over Expense
Year Ended September 30,
2013
2012

$

(2,943)

$

(2,117)
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NOTE 8

LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)
Derivatives and Variable Interest Rate Risk Management (Continued)
The fair value of the derivatives reflects the price that a third-party would be willing to pay or
receive in arm’s-length transactions and includes mark-to-market adjustments to reflect the
effects of changes in the related index. The Organization recognized its derivatives as a net
asset or liability at fair value on the consolidated statements of financial position. Changes
in the fair value of the fixed-rate swaps are recorded in the consolidated statements of
operations as nonoperating gains or losses and are included in excess of revenue over
expense, as these transactions do not qualify for hedge accounting.
The Organization also purchases interest rate cap agreements on other variable rate
bonds, which have terms of three to five years. The Organization amortizes these costs
over the term of the agreement. In addition, the Organization funds an escrow account over
the term of the agreement in anticipation of purchasing another interest rate cap upon
maturity. At September 30, 2013 and 2012, the value of these interest rate caps were
approximately $943 and $963, respectively, and are included in prepaids and other assets
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

NOTE 9

NET ASSETS
Temporarily Restricted Net Assets
Temporarily restricted net assets are contributions that are restricted by the donor for the
following, which are mainly related to capital acquisitions at September 30:
2013
Arden Hills Care Center
Highland Ridge
Gracepointe Crossing
Bloomington Care Center
Endowment Earnings
Other
Total

$

$

(36)

148
2,000
245
257
1,050
13
3,713

2012
$

$

117
1,923
236
243
1,278
39
3,836
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NOTE 9

NET ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Permanently Restricted Net Assets
At September 30, permanently restricted net assets consist of the following:
John S. Holl Trust
Presbyterian Homes of Wisconsin Endowment
PHS General Endowment
Total Permanently Restricted Net Assets

$

$

2013
30,875
2,675
4,665
38,215

$

$

2012
28,813
2,524
5,501
36,838

Investment income on the John S. Holl trust and other endowment funds is unrestricted.
The John S. Holl trust is a perpetual trust held by third-party trustee for the Organization.
The fair value of this trust at September 30 is reported as permanently restricted net assets.
Board Designated Net Assets
At September 30, board designated net assets consist of the following:

Highland Ridge Endowment
Croixdale Endowment
North Oaks Endowment
PHS General Endowment Funds
Total Board Designated Endowments

$

$

2013
3,386
1,979
1,806
1,774
8,945

$

$

2012
2,948
1,901
1,719
3,180
9,748

Debt agreements or bylaws of certain affiliates may limit the ability of the Organization to
transfer, advance or use these unrestricted funds for the benefit of the other affiliates.
The bylaws of Croixdale do not allow for the net assets of Croixdale, $15,674 at
September 30, 2013, to be used by or transferred to the Organization or its affiliates. The
bylaws of Highland Ridge do not allow for the net assets of Highland Ridge, $20,117 at
September 30, 2013, to be used by or transferred to the Organization or its affiliates.
Interpretation of Relevant Law
The Organization interpreted the State Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (the
Act) as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original gift as of the gift date of the
donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary.
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NOTE 9

NET ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Interpretation of Relevant Law (Continued)
As a result of this interpretation, the Organization classifies as permanently restricted net
assets (1) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent endowment, (2) the original
value of subsequent gifts to the permanent endowment, and (3) accumulations to the
permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift
instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund. The remaining portion of the
donor-restricted endowment fund that is not classified in permanently restricted net assets
is classified as temporarily restricted net assets until those amounts are appropriated for
expenditure by the Organization in a manner consistent with the standard of prudence
prescribed in the Act. In accordance with the Act, the Organization considers the following
factors in making a determination to appropriate or accumulate donor restricted endowment
funds:
-

The duration and preservation of the fund
The purposes of the Organization and the donor-restricted endowment fund
General economic conditions
The possible effect of inflation and deflation
The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments
Other resources of the Organization
The investment policy of the Organization

The following table shows the changes in endowment net assets for the years ended
September 30, 2013 and 2012:

Endowment Net Assets,
Beginning of Year - 10/1/12

Unrestricted

Temporarily
Restricted

$

$

9,748

$ 19,051

174

-

414

(869)

-

-

(869)

818

-

240

Net Appreciation/(Depreciation)
(Realized and Unrealized)
Contributions
Net Assets Appropriated
for Expenditure and Sales
Endowment Net Assets,
End of Year - 9/30/13

(992)
$

8,945

(38)

$

Total

8,025

Investment Return:
Investment Income

1,278

Permanently
Restricted

(685)

(402)
$

1,050

$

7,340

133
(1,394)
$ 17,335
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NOTE 9

NET ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Interpretation of Relevant Law (Continued)

Endowment Net Assets,
Beginning of Year - 10/1/11

Unrestricted

Temporarily
Restricted

$

$

8,802

Investment Return:
Investment Income
Net Appreciation/(Depreciation)
(Realized and Unrealized)
Contributions
Net Assets Appropriated
for Expenditure and Sales
Endowment Net Assets,
End of Year - 9/30/12

$

Total

7,310

$ 17,618

242

247

-

489

764

-

-

764

267

-

715

982

(327)
$

1,506

Permanently
Restricted

9,748

(475)
$

1,278

$

8,025

(802)
$ 19,051

Return Objectives and Risk Parameters
The Organization has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that
attempt to provide a predictable stream of funding to programs supported by its
endowment. Endowment assets include those assets of donor-restricted funds that the
Organization must hold in perpetuity or for a donor-specified period. Under this policy, as
approved by the board of directors, the endowment assets are invested in a manner that is
intended to preserve and grow capital, strive for consistent absolute returns, preserve
purchasing power by striving for long-term returns which either match or exceed the set
payout, fees and inflation without putting the principal value at imprudent risk, and diversify
investments consistent with commonly accepted industry standard to minimize the risk of
large losses. The Organization expects its endowment funds, over time, to provide an
average rate of return in line with or better than their respective benchmarks or peer
groups. Actual results in any given year may vary from this amount.
Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives
To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the Organization relies on a total return
strategy in which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation
(realized and unrealized) and current yield (interest and dividends). The Organization
targets a diversified asset allocation that meets the Organization’s long-term rate-of-return
objectives while avoiding undue risk from imprudent concentration in any single asset class
or investment vehicle.
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NOTE 9

NET ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Spending Policy and How the Investment Objectives Relate to Spending Policy
The Organization has a policy of appropriating for distribution each year, three to five
percent of the previous 16 quarter trailing average of its endowment fund’s fair value on
June 30th of the fiscal year in which the distribution is planned. In establishing this policy,
the Organization considered the long-term expected return on its endowment. Accordingly,
over the long term, the Organization expects the current spending policy to allow its
endowment to grow annually. This is consistent with the Organization’s objective to
maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets held in perpetuity as well as to
provide additional real growth through new gifts and investment return.

NOTE 10

PENSION PLAN
The Organization participates in contributory, defined contribution pension plan 403(b). All
employees who have one year or more of service, have reached the age of 21 and work
more than 20 hours per week are eligible to participate in the plan. Participants vest in the
employer contribution at graduated rates, up to full vesting after five years.
The Organization contributes 3% of eligible employee salaries for those employee who
have 1 to 5 years of service and have elected to contribute 1% of their salaries, 4% of
eligible employee salaries for those employees who have 6 to 11 years of service and have
elected to contribute 2% of their salaries, and 5% of eligible employee salaries for those
employees who have 12 or more years of service and have elected to contribute 3% of their
salaries.
Contributions to the plan by the Organization approximated $2,564 and $2,384 for the
years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

NOTE 11

FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE
Expense by classifications for the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 were:
2013
Program Services:
Services to Residents
Supporting Services:
Management and General
Fundraising
Total Program Expenses

(40)

$

244,569

$

37,117
1,552
283,238

2012
$

235,582

$

35,601
1,585
272,768
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NOTE 12

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Workers’ Compensation Self-Insurance
The Organization self-insures its workers’ compensation claims. The Organization has
purchased reinsurance for specific claims greater than $470 and annual aggregate claims
greater than $3,716 up to a maximum of $5,000. Expenses are recorded as claims are
incurred. Incurred but not reported claims and expected claim adjustment costs are
actuarially estimated and accrued. As required by the state of Minnesota, the Organization
has pledged cash and investments of $4,167 to secure the payment of claims. Expenses
incurred were approximately $2,090 and $2,001 for the years ended September 30, 2013
and 2012, respectively. At September 30, 2013 and 2012, management has estimated
reserves and recorded liabilities for outstanding claims of approximately $3,460 and
$3,254, respectively, which is included in other long-term liabilities on the consolidated
statements of financial position.
The Organization’s provision for outstanding losses, although supported by actuarial
projections and other data, is ultimately based on management’s expectations of future
events. It is possible that these estimates could change as more detailed information
concerning the losses is received and the effect of such changes could be material to the
consolidated financial statements.
Employee Health Self-Insurance
The Organization has self-insured for employee health insurance claims. The Organization
has purchased reinsurance for specific claims greater than $220 and annual aggregate
claims greater than $12,920. Expenses are recorded as claims are incurred. An estimate of
incurred but not reported claims is accrued and amounted to approximately $1,831 and
$1,994 at September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. This accrual is included in accrued
payroll and benefits on the consolidated statements of financial position. Claims and
administrative expenses incurred were approximately $8,833 and $7,826 for the years
ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
Professional Liability Insurance
The Organization is covered by professional liability insurance on a claims made basis. For
the year ended September 30, 2013, per claim, per location, and aggregate maximum
annual coverage was $5,000, $7,000 and $30,000, respectively. The deductible on
professional liability is $1,000. The Organization records its estimate of claim liabilities for
deductibles and claims in excess of coverage based on actuarial estimates which
amounted to $2,441 and $1,641 at September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, which is
included in other long-term liabilities on the consolidated statements of financial position. If
this policy should lapse and not be replaced with equivalent coverage, claims occurring
during, but reported subsequent to, its term will be uninsured.
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NOTE 12

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)
Cooperative Units Acquisition Commitments
In 2000, the Organization entered into an agreement to acquire the remaining membership
unit certificates (4 as of September 30, 2013) in Gideon Pond Cooperative (the
Cooperative) as those units become available for sale. The price established by the
Cooperative’s bylaws as of September 30, 2013, for the remaining units have an average
value of $147 each. Because the individual unit owner determines when they will sell their
unit, the Organization will not recognize an asset or liability until the title is transferred to the
Organization.
Heartwood Guarantee
The Organization has provided a guarantee in the amount of $600 for tax-exempt revenue
bonds issued in the amount of $22,935 used to finance a 98-unit senior housing, assisted
living and memory care campus in Crosby, Minnesota. The project is a joint venture
between the Organization and the Cuyuna Regional Medical Center and opened in October
2008. The project is an Unconsolidated Affiliate of the Organization (see Note 5).
Walnut Ridge Guarantee
The Organization has provided a guarantee in the amount of $6,400 for tax-exempt
revenue bonds in the amount of $25,600 used to finance acquisition of a 178-unit joint
venture in Clive, Iowa. The project is a joint venture between the Organization and Wedum
and formed in September 2012. The project is an Unconsolidated Affiliate of the
Organization (see Note 5).
Litigation
The health care industry is subject to numerous laws and regulations of federal, state and
local governments. Compliance with these laws and regulations, specifically those relating
to the Medicare and Medicaid programs, can be subject to government review and
interpretation, as well as regulatory actions unknown and unasserted at this time. Federal
government activity has increased with respect to investigations and allegations concerning
possible violations by health care providers of regulations, which could result in the
imposition of significant fines and penalties, as well as significant repayments of previously
billed and collected revenues from resident and patient services. Management believes that
the Organization is in substantial compliance with current laws and regulations.
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NOTE 13

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Subsequent to year-end, the Organization refinanced bonds payable, which had a balance
of $21,489 at September 30, 2013. The bonds payable were refinanced using tax exempt,
bank qualified loan participations bearing interest at 2.90%. The loan participations are due
in installment payments to 2033.
Subsequent to year-end, the Organization financed a Transitional Care Campus in
Plymouth, Minnesota, which will include 50 transitional care apartments and 5 care suites.
The cost of constructing and equipping the project is approximately $17,000 and will be
financed with tax exempt loan participations in the amount of $13,080 and equity. The
project is a partnership between Presbyterian Homes and Services (90%) and Allina Health
System (10%).
Subsequent to year-end, the Organization completed the financing of the Wayzata Bay
Plaza Block retail and the sale of the air rights for the development of 59 for sale
condominium units. The cost of constructing and equipping the twenty one thousand, seven
hundred square feet of retail in the Plaza Block is approximately $14,700 and will be funded
with a $9,200 bank loan and equity. The sale of the air rights to the condominium developer
will generate proceeds of $9,800 to the Organization. Of this amount $8,400 was paid in
October, 2013 and the balance will be due in the Summer of 2014 upon completion of
construction.
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Organization has considered
events and transactions that have occurred through December 5, 2013, the date the
consolidated financial statements were available to be issued.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Presbyterian Homes and Services and Affiliates
Shoreview, Minnesota

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Presbyterian Homes and Services and
Affiliates as of and for the years ended September 31, 2013 and 2012, and our report thereon dated
December 5, 2013, which expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements,
appears on page 2. Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements as a whole. The supplementary consolidating information is
presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated financial statements rather than to
present the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows of the individual companies, and it is
not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The consolidating information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the consolidated financial statements and
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the
consolidated financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the consolidating
information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements as
a whole.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
December 5, 2013

An independent member of Nexia International
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PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

Presbyterian Homes & Services
International
Nurse
Recruitment

Optage
Senior Dining
Choices

Optage Inc.
Optage Home
Optage
and Community
Assisted Living
Based Services

Optage
Primary Care

Presbyterian
Homes
Hospice, Inc.
Optage Hospice

Presbyterian
Homes of
Andover, Inc.
Farmstead

$

$

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Unrestricted
Restricted for Residents
Cash Held or Restricted, Current
Portion
Accounts Receivable, Less Allowance
for Doubtful Accounts
Pledges Receivable, Current Portion
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
Total Current Assets

$

$

-

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land
Buildings and Land Improvements
Equipment and Furnishings
Automotive Equipment
Construction in Progress
Subtotal
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Net Property and Equipment
$

(381)
-

$

3,480
-

$

(582)
-

-

-

1,221
1
841

138
3,618

-

-

-

-

-

20

-

-

20

-

3
1,833
405
2,241
634
1,607

31
(1,920)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS
Investments and Cash Held or Restricted:
By Agreements with Trustees and
Others
Restricted by Donors and Others
Replacement Reserves
Endowment Funds
Pledges Receivable
Deferred Financing Costs, Less
Accumulated Amortization
Investment in Other Entities
Other Assets
Due from Affiliates
Total Investments and
Other Assets

Total Assets

(1,951)
-

(1,920)

$

2,468

$

(45)

$

-

860
-

5,388
-

-

263

331
1,191

39
64
5,754

-

-

641
-

-

-

-

249
329

-

-

-

-

1,219

16
153
169
85
84

410
410
153
257

31
31
9
22

289
289
62
227

720
11,623
2,246
11
14,600
7,099
7,501

3,702

-

(1,812)
-

171
1
(410)

$

(153)

206
(1,606)

$

(1,584)

$

1,418

$

14,474

Presbyterian
Homes of
Arden
Hills, Inc.
Johanna
Shores

Presbyterian
Homes of
Bloomington, Inc.
Summerhouse of
Bloomington

$

$

$

4,358
11

645
-

1,693

(48)

1,121
55
7,238

Presbyterian Homes Bloomington
Care Center, Inc.
Gideon Pond
Bloomington
Commons
Care Center

$

7,930
-

$

247
6

Bloomington
Bethany Senior
Housing, Inc.
Founders Ridge

Broadmoor
Apartments, Inc.
Broadmoor

$

$

1,934
-

209
115

406

874

-

9
40
646

52
15
8,403

1,407
11
2,545

17
4
1,955

381
484
5,076
-

550
244
-

1,342
1,461
-

1,488
1,146
-

-

-

654
93
-

225
-

280
9,469
948

378
-

570
-

6,688

1,019

13,500

3,012

475
47,389
8,477
89
56,430
11,506
44,924

545
9,423
1,721
8
11,697
5,015
6,682

360
5,659
684
6,703
4,015
2,688

342
24,318
3,752
61
28,473
8,054
20,419

58,850

$

8,347

$

24,591

$

25,976

$

Presbyterian
Homes Care
Centers, Inc.
Langton Place

$

Central Towers
Limited Partnership
Central Towers

$

$

209
53
-

496
8
2,510

14
10
286

810
408
-

133
509
-

488
-

27
929
-

147
1
805

63
-

1
-

570

956

2,171

705

489

2,151
15,143
2,374
19,668
883
18,785

6,000
7,110
1,607
14,717
4,525
10,192

231
9,251
2,300
55
11,837
7,188
4,649

718
4,520
1,054
47
6,339
3,709
2,630

348
9,579
1,362
11,289
4,969
6,320

(46)

-

1,922
2
82

21,310

109

(4,407)
-

Castle Ridge
Care Center, Inc.
Castle Ridge

(2,318)
(1,885)

$

9,263

1,209
43
(3,155)

$

3,665

$

5,845

$

7,095
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CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

PHS/
Chanhassen, Inc
Summerwood of
Chanhassen

PHS/Cottage
Grove, Inc.
Norris Square

PHS/CG
Center LLC
Norris
Marketplace

$

$

$

PHM New
Richmond
Senior
Housing, Inc.
Deerfield

Croixdale
Croixdale

PHS/EagleCrest, Inc.
Country Inn &
Hamline
EagleCrest
Suites
Center

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Unrestricted
Restricted for Residents
Cash Held or Restricted, Current
Portion
Accounts Receivable, Less Allowance
for Doubtful Accounts
Pledges Receivable, Current Portion
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
Total Current Assets
INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS
Investments and Cash Held or Restricted:
By Agreements with Trustees and
Others
Restricted by Donors and Others
Replacement Reserves
Endowment Funds
Pledges Receivable
Deferred Financing Costs, Less
Accumulated Amortization
Investment in Other Entities
Other Assets
Due from Affiliates
Total Investments and
Other Assets
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land
Buildings and Land Improvements
Equipment and Furnishings
Automotive Equipment
Construction in Progress
Subtotal
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Net Property and Equipment
Total Assets

$

1,567
-

1,986
-

305

679

39
8
1,919

32
8
2,705

1,709
247
-

1,859
150
162
-

641
-

(3,865)
-

$

$

877
80

$

14,425
-

$

1,509
-

$ (5,269)
-

-

453

541

34
100
4
7,433

563
6
1,979

104
255
15,325

19
(14)
1,514

-

188
1,979
96

1,249
537
-

2,647
-

349
-

-

742
1,791
167

44
-

85
566

551
-

684
4,027

42
-

1
-

2,597

4,871

44

2,914

2,337

7,358

391

1

3,565
21,851
2,995
28,411
8,202
20,209

3,375
20,041
3,103
26,519
5,071
21,448

5,314
879
6,193
6,193

603
15,788
1,724
18,115
5,405
12,710

935
18,987
3,667
33
23,622
1,776
21,846

3,950
22,140
3,004
116
29,210
11,509
17,701

810
5,164
1,197
15
7,186
2,951
4,235

2,061
3,848
20
5,929
408
5,521

24,725

$

29,024

-

7,295
-

(3,865)

$

(47)

2,372

$

23,057

$

26,162

$

40,384

-

$

6,140

1
(5,268)

$

254

Maranatha
Conservative
Baptist Home,
Inc. and Center
Park Senior
Apartments, Inc.
Maranatha

Presbyterian
Homes
Foundation
Foundation

Presbyterian Homes
of Wisconsin, Inc.
PHW/
Avalon
Helpmates
Square

Gideon Pond
West, Inc.
Ridgeview
Terrace

Gideon Pond
Housing
Corporation
Newton Manor

$

$

$

$

$

540
10
-

-

902
11
1,463

$

885
-

(111)
774

1,348
-

$

811
85

21
18

57
18

PHS/Inver
Grove, Inc.
Timber
Hills

Presbyterian
Homes
Mill Pond
Apartments, Inc.
Mill Pond
Apartments

Presbyterian
Homes
Mill Pond
Care Center, Inc.
Mill Pond

PHS
Monticello,
Inc.
Mississippi
Shores

$

$

$

$

6,298
206

678
-

413
-

42
-

-

166

35

32

398

-

47

224

31
1,379

48
15
1,125

2
8
84

8
6
121

48
237
7,187

1
2
681

220
27
707

(1)
14
279

Noah's Ark
Affordable
Housing, Inc.
Oakcrest

$

1,306
108
179
7
27
1,627

309
-

923
41,586
350

60
2,675
-

396
-

59
-

173
-

267
630
-

142
-

945
-

276
-

216
408
-

-

6,372
-

1,916
3,026

171
-

58
-

58
-

410
-

66
-

60
-

71
-

156
-

309

49,231

7,677

567

117

231

1,307

208

1,005

347

780

1,110
5,804
1,446
65
13,753
22,178
2,283
19,895

-

16
16
8
8

1,580
20,857
2,228
61
24,726
8,239
16,487

230
1,865
313
2,408
1,298
1,110

100
2,506
371
2,977
1,566
1,411

4,414
31,581
2,794
24
38,813
12,837
25,976

1,165
3,637
405
5,207
1,874
3,333

1,064
9,191
1,388
87
11,730
4,976
6,754

190
3,532
858
4,580
2,222
2,358

794
9,312
1,690
21
11,817
5,173
6,644

9,064

$ 18,179

1,763

$ 34,470

21,667

$

50,005

$

$

1,311

$

(48)

$

4,222

$

8,466

$

2,984

$

9,051
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Presbyterian Homes Housing and Assisted Living, Inc.
PHS Lake
Minnetonka
Lake

PHS

Minnetonka

Senior

Senior

Housing

Lifestyle

1221

GracePointe

of Plymouth

Partners

Design

Nicollet

Gables East

$

890
-

$ 5,682
-

-

150

-

-

Management Summerwood

Shores

PHHAL

LLC

Mayfield

Mission

Valley

Development

Ridge

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Unrestricted
Restricted for Residents
Cash Held or Restricted, Current
Portion
Accounts Receivable, Less Allowance
for Doubtful Accounts
Pledges Receivable, Current Portion
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
Total Current Assets
INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS
Investments and Cash Held or Restricted:
By Agreements with Trustees and
Others
Restricted by Donors and Others
Replacement Reserves
Endowment Funds
Pledges Receivable
Deferred Financing Costs, Less
Accumulated Amortization
Investment in Other Entities
Other Assets
Due from Affiliates
Total Investments and
Other Assets
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land
Buildings and Land Improvements
Equipment and Furnishings
Automotive Equipment
Construction in Progress
Subtotal
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Net Property and Equipment
Total Assets

$

(93)
8

$

-

(23,364)
-

$

-

7,176
-

$

264
-

$

-

$

805
15

$ 3,599
-

-

143

196

$

(8,313)
3,504
331
(4,478)

$

(14)
-

1,465
38
1,418

4,351
(19,013)

153
230
7,559

59
62
1,161

2,097
7
7,786

1,125
1,389

-

470
9
1,442

7
4
3,806

31
17

2,262
-

(938)
-

4,167
1,337
-

1,942
-

-

-

-

558
356
-

241
425
-

9,074
-

-

678
87

8,550
4,663
9,943

136
4,380

206
26

601
138

33

-

268
-

149
926

357
39,109

-

3,027

22,218

10,020

2,174

739

33

-

1,182

1,741

48,540

-

3,709
24,965
8,248
30
36,952
10,104
26,848

7,951
1,254
33
9,238
386
8,852

400
8,069
3,480
85
12,034
4,377
7,657

1,770
14,878
1,716
4
18,368
5,297
13,071

102
102
89
13

14
14
12
2

-

113
8,647
808
38
9,606
1,819
7,787

273
4,354
923
5,550
3,180
2,370

-

139
139
14
125

16,406

$ 8,538

$ 1,424

-

$ 10,411

$ 7,917

44,062

$ 142

$ 31,293

$

12,057

$

25,236

$

(49)

$

$

Presbyterian

Kirkland

Wayzata Bay

PHS/

Homes of

Crossings, Inc.

Senior

Oakdale, Inc.

North Oaks, Inc.

Kirkland

Housing, Inc.

Wayzata Bay

Echo Ridge

Waverly Gardens

Crossings

Folkestone

Commercial

Shepherd's
Path Senior
Housing, Inc.
Mckenna Crossing

$

$

$

$

1,658
-

$

9,561
1

$

3,011
186

$

(8,614)
-

(14,206)
-

282

7,440

321

17,739

1
36
1,977

480
33
17,515

49
6
3,573

9,125

8,311
(5,895)

240
8
(2,521)

256
-

5,718
2,000
369
1,806
-

1,196
380
-

26,039
6,579
-

(9,530)
-

195
-

1,070
-

294
-

1,957
-

35
2,007
-

451

10,963

1,870

34,575

470
7,080
1,123
21
8,694
3,809
4,885

13,205
65,532
6,927
66
85,730
17,186
68,544

1,235
14,463
1,854
19
17,571
6,550
11,021

12,280
85,471
97,751
97,751

7,313

$

97,022

$

16,464

$

141,451

-

(3,353)
161

$

PHS/

Williamsburg

Shoreview, Inc.

Valley Senior Service Alliance

PHS/Beacon

Retirement

Summerhouse

Boutwells Landing

Hill, Inc.

Community, Inc.

Beacon Hill

Highland Ridge

$

$

of Shoreview

$

$

$

2,165
-

5,822
-

992
94

140

252

-

2
30
1,288

167
181
11,957

1,035
20
3,360

79
123
6,276

147
2,000
6
3,239

2,000
149
-

550
211
-

2,500
934
70

1,583
103
-

748
-

229
4,413
-

953
-

158
-

719
-

548
1,322

201
5

47
-

(7,488)

3,102

919

4,223

3,556

954

4,689

34,444
34,444
36
34,408

5,260
27,359
2,828
35,447
3,230
32,217

579
7,048
778
2
8,407
3,270
5,137

5,864
84,121
7,448
71
97,504
35,230
62,274

652
23,375
4,428
40
28,495
5,180
23,315

1,281
9,932
2,421
13,634
6,842
6,792

1,176
31,700
4,142
88
37,106
9,843
27,263

$

32,798

(50)

(42)

10,036
487

Care Center

1,086

21,025

423

1,298
-

Housing

$

7,344

$

78,454

$

30,231

$

14,022

$

35,191
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Grandview

Mill Ridge

PHS/

Christian Homes

Commons

Grandview
West, Inc.

Woodbury, Inc.

GracePointe

GracePointe

GracePointe

Stonecrest

Gables West

Terrace

Commons

PHS West

PHW

Health, Inc. Menomonee
Interlude

Falls, Inc.

Eliminations

Consolidated

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Unrestricted
Restricted for Residents
Cash Held or Restricted, Current
Portion
Accounts Receivable, Less Allowance
for Doubtful Accounts
Pledges Receivable, Current Portion
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
Total Current Assets

$

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS
Investments and Cash Held or Restricted:
By Agreements with Trustees and
Others
Restricted by Donors and Others
Replacement Reserves
Endowment Funds
Pledges Receivable
Deferred Financing Costs, Less
Accumulated Amortization
Investment in Other Entities
Other Assets
Due from Affiliates
Total Investments and
Other Assets
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land
Buildings and Land Improvements
Equipment and Furnishings
Automotive Equipment
Construction in Progress
Subtotal
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Net Property and Equipment
Total Assets

$

4,295
-

$

1,055
14

$

512
-

$

1,339
559

$ (362)
-

$

-

50,814
5,741

-

165

50
4
4,962

1,007
19
2,095

3
1
516

47
3
2,113

758
344
-

452
-

44
-

358
92
-

-

292
-

556
651

42
121
-

39
-

247
551

2
340
-

-

(6,038)
(2,918)
(67,059)

14,786
16,192
12,210
-

2,309

615

83

1,248

342

292

(76,015)

189,003

1,776
17,447
2,464
21
21,708
5,590
16,118

134
3,941
2,299
120
6,494
2,156
4,338

6
3,143
554
6
3,709
857
2,852

94
11,586
917
13
12,610
2,532
10,078

2
2
2

2,938
18
2,956
2,956

(6,283)
(6,283)
(1,084)
(5,199)

138,760
702,749
109,160
1,722
100,121
1,052,512
260,209
792,303

3,248

$ (84,575)

$ 1,101,473

7,048

$

3,451

(51)

$

13,439

43
(319)

$

25

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

613

23,389

-

-

(3,361)
(3,361)

-

35,346
24,479
2,100
1,687
120,167

53,762
21,472
17,606
52,459
516
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Presbyterian Homes & Services
International
Nurse
Recruitment

Optage
Senior Dining
Choices

Optage Inc.
Optage Home
Optage
and Community
Assisted Living
Based Services

Optage
Primary Care

Presbyterian
Homes
Hospice, Inc.
Optage Hospice

Presbyterian
Homes of
Andover, Inc.
Farmstead

$

$

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt
Accounts Payable
Construction Payable
Security Deposits and Other Resident
Fund Payables
Accrued Payroll and Benefits
Accrued Interest and Other
Total Current Liabilities

$

LONG-TERM DEBT AND OTHER
OBLIGATIONS
Long-Term Debt, Less Current Maturities
Resident Notes Payable and Entrance
Loan Deposits
Other
Due to Affiliates
Total Long-Term Debt and
Other Obligations

17
-

$

237
-

$

12
-

$

36
-

$

22
-

57
-

459
130
-

17

101
338

151
163

197
233

130
152

79
136

99
108
796

77

-

-

-

-

-

10,186

805

-

736

-

-

-

-

882

-

736

-

-

-

10,186

NET ASSETS
Unrestricted, Undesignated
Unrestricted, Designated by Board for
Endowment Fund
Non-Controlling Interest
Total Unrestricted

(2,819)

2,130

2,803

(386)

(1,736)

1,282

3,492

(2,819)

2,130

2,803

(386)

(1,736)

1,282

3,492

Temporarily Restricted
Permanently Restricted
Total Net Assets (Deficit)

(2,819)

2,130

2,803

(386)

(1,736)

1,282

3,492

Total Liabilities and Net Assets

$

(1,920)

$

2,468

$

3,702

(52)

$

(153)

$

(1,584)

$

1,418

$

14,474

Presbyterian
Homes of
Arden
Hills, Inc.
Johanna
Shores

Presbyterian
Homes of
Bloomington, Inc.
Summerhouse of
Bloomington

$

$

$

810
449
1,693

154
68
-

Presbyterian Homes Bloomington
Care Center, Inc.
Gideon Pond
Bloomington
Commons
Care Center

$

525
103
-

$

310
199
-

Bloomington
Bethany Senior
Housing, Inc.
Founders Ridge

Broadmoor
Apartments, Inc.
Broadmoor

$

$

664
73
-

465
49
-

Presbyterian
Homes Care
Centers, Inc.
Langton Place

$

315
-

Castle Ridge
Care Center, Inc.
Castle Ridge

Central Towers
Limited Partnership
Central Towers

$

$

115
155
-

22
277
-

13
796
516
4,277

13
2
260
497

200
636
1,464

6
435
708
1,658

93
340
1,170

102
352
968

475
211
1,001

2
207
117
596

46
46
223
614

31,190

7,658

14,423

20,613

15,604

9,664

-

2,477

5,356

3,520
4,556

2,019
253

-

2,973

3,061
1,327
2,412

4
3,226

28
-

4
871

306
815

39,266

9,930

14,423

23,586

22,404

12,894

28

3,352

6,477

15,307

(2,080)

8,704

732

(2,264)

(4,599)

2,636

1,897

358

15,307

(2,080)

8,704

732

(2,264)

(4,599)

2,636

1,897

(354)
4

15,307

(2,080)

8,704

732

(2,264)

(4,599)

2,636

1,897

58,850

$

8,347

$

24,591

$

25,976

$

21,310

(53)

$

9,263

$

3,665

$

5,845

4
$

7,095

PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

PHS/
Chanhassen, Inc
Summerwood of
Chanhassen

PHS/Cottage
Grove, Inc.
Norris Square

PHS/CG
Center LLC
Norris
Marketplace

$

$

$

PHM New
Richmond
Senior
Housing, Inc.
Deerfield

Croixdale
Croixdale

PHS/EagleCrest, Inc.
Country Inn &
Hamline
EagleCrest
Suites
Center

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt
Accounts Payable
Construction Payable
Security Deposits and Other Resident
Fund Payables
Accrued Payroll and Benefits
Accrued Interest and Other
Total Current Liabilities

LONG-TERM DEBT AND OTHER
OBLIGATIONS
Long-Term Debt, Less Current Maturities
Resident Notes Payable and Entrance
Loan Deposits
Other
Due to Affiliates
Total Long-Term Debt and
Other Obligations

NET ASSETS
Unrestricted, Undesignated
Unrestricted, Designated by Board for
Endowment Fund
Non-Controlling Interest
Total Unrestricted
Temporarily Restricted
Permanently Restricted
Total Net Assets (Deficit)
Total Liabilities and Net Assets

$

405
116
-

300
89
-

9
-

$

498
78
-

$

245
2,518
-

$

549
260
-

$

283
89
-

$

30
-

107
597
1,225

127
607
1,123

240
249

173
138
887

80
356
242
3,441

25
276
606
1,716

38
349
759

150
180

21,084

28,601

-

6,496

18,720

21,566

3,226

-

4,477

990
-

2,386

-

14
2,752

1,258
-

-

876

25,561

29,591

2,386

6,496

21,486

22,824

3,226

876

(2,061)

(1,690)

(263)

13,695

1,235

15,844

2,155

(802)

(2,061)

(1,690)

(263)

1,979
15,674

1,235

15,844

2,155

(802)

(2,061)

(1,690)

(263)

15,674

1,235

15,844

2,155

(802)

24,725

$

29,024

$

(54)

2,372

$

23,057

$

26,162

$

40,384

$

6,140

$

254

Maranatha
Conservative
Baptist Home,
Inc. and Center
Park Senior
Apartments, Inc.
Maranatha

Presbyterian
Homes
Foundation
Foundation

Presbyterian Homes
of Wisconsin, Inc.
PHW/
Avalon
Helpmates
Square

Gideon Pond
West, Inc.
Ridgeview
Terrace

Gideon Pond
Housing
Corporation
Newton Manor

$

$

$

$

$

$

147
270
-

369
-

42
-

$

422
111
-

58
38
-

65
26
-

PHS/Inver
Grove, Inc.
Timber
Hills

Presbyterian
Homes
Mill Pond
Apartments, Inc.
Mill Pond
Apartments

Presbyterian
Homes
Mill Pond
Care Center, Inc.
Mill Pond

PHS
Monticello,
Inc.
Mississippi
Shores

$

$

$

$

718
207
-

175
14
-

128
168
-

54
137
-

Noah's Ark
Affordable
Housing, Inc.
Oakcrest

$

235
27
-

10
299
254
980

200
569

61
103

84
220
44
881

17
10
123

14
41
146

198
119
567
1,809

90
279

212
19
527

13
61
265

93
18
268
641

17,719

-

-

17,510

1,614

989

25,617

2,958

4,703

2,693

6,025

249
323

449
8,409

-

1,354

19

47

7,787
1

146

923

226

37

18,291

8,858

-

18,864

1,633

1,036

33,405

3,104

5,626

2,919

6,062

2,396

2,593

6,271

(1,566)

(445)

581

(744)

839

2,313

(200)

2,348

2,396

1,774
4,367

6,271

(1,566)

(445)

581

(744)

839

2,313

(200)

2,348

2,396

1,698
34,513
40,578

15
2,675
8,961

(1,566)

(445)

581

(744)

839

2,313

(200)

2,348

21,667

$

50,005

$

9,064

$ 18,179

$

1,311

$

1,763

$ 34,470

(55)

$

4,222

$

8,466

$

2,984

$

9,051

PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

Presbyterian Homes Housing and Assisted Living, Inc.
PHS Lake
Minnetonka
Lake

PHS

Minnetonka

Senior

Senior

Housing

Lifestyle

1221

GracePointe

of Plymouth

Partners

Design

Nicollet

Gables East

$

$

Management Summerwood

Shores

PHHAL

LLC

Mayfield

Mission

Valley

Development

Ridge

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt
Accounts Payable
Construction Payable
Security Deposits and Other Resident
Fund Payables
Accrued Payroll and Benefits
Accrued Interest and Other
Total Current Liabilities

LONG-TERM DEBT AND OTHER
OBLIGATIONS
Long-Term Debt, Less Current Maturities
Resident Notes Payable and Entrance
Loan Deposits
Other
Due to Affiliates
Total Long-Term Debt and
Other Obligations

NET ASSETS
Unrestricted, Undesignated
Unrestricted, Designated by Board for
Endowment Fund
Non-Controlling Interest
Total Unrestricted
Temporarily Restricted
Permanently Restricted
Total Net Assets (Deficit)
Total Liabilities and Net Assets

$

609
644
-

$

8
659
692
2,612

45
(2,265)
-

$

3
(2,017)
40
(4,194)

228
536
-

288
79
-

25
-

$

7
-

$

-

$

180
2,354
-

$

200
30
-

$

(7)
-

$

62
-

3,933
278
4,975

178
272
817

153
46
224

67
74

-

16
614
146
3,310

13
279
522

3,497
217
3,707

29
60
151

26,685

352

4,551

17,064

-

-

-

7,589

5,085

1,709

594

25
-

-

2,676
-

-

-

-

-

23
331

-

1,951
2,229
-

-

26,710

352

7,227

17,064

-

-

-

7,943

5,085

5,889

594

1,971

15,899

13,034

(1,475)

8,314

1,350

-

(842)

2,310

34,466

(603)

1,971

15,899

13,034

(1,475)

8,314

1,350

-

(842)

2,310

34,466

(603)

1,971

15,899

13,034

(1,475)

8,314

1,350

-

(842)

2,310

34,466

(603)

$ 8,538

$ 1,424

$ 31,293

$

12,057

$

25,236

$

(56)

16,406

$

-

$ 10,411

$ 7,917

$

44,062

$ 142

Presbyterian

Kirkland

Wayzata Bay

PHS/

Homes of

Crossings, Inc.

Senior

Oakdale, Inc.

North Oaks, Inc.

Kirkland

Housing, Inc.

Wayzata Bay

Echo Ridge

Waverly Gardens

Crossings

Folkestone

Commercial

Shepherd's
Path Senior
Housing, Inc.
Mckenna Crossing

$

$

$

$

139
58
-

$

700
340
-

$

260
89
-

$

152
134
14,283

1,156
18
-

390
119
-

PHS/

Williamsburg

Shoreview, Inc.

Valley Senior Service Alliance

PHS/Beacon

Retirement

Summerhouse

Boutwells Landing

Hill, Inc.

Community, Inc.

Beacon Hill

Highland Ridge

$

$

of Shoreview

$

109
43
-

Housing

$

1,769
322
-

Care Center

$

475
280
-

303
128
-

2,580
187
-

15
170
382

1
329
3,536
4,906

137
173
314
973

12
3,387
17,968

450
1,624

154
165
424
1,252

12
168
332

463
376
1,168
4,098

640
211
1,606

97
72
600

1
182
40
2,990

6,939

78,982

16,731

106,961

6,239

28,195

5,449

53,594

20,285

9,007

7,961

164

21,183
4,969
1,138

498
6

9,729
2,000
4,500

12,901

4,155
613

2,901
-

27,425
2,352
1,355

-

-

2,453
1,670

7,103

106,272

17,235

123,190

19,140

32,963

8,350

84,726

20,285

9,007

12,084

(172)

(15,962)

(1,744)

293

261

(1,417)

(1,338)

(10,370)

8,340

4,415

13,704

(172)

1,806
(14,156)

(1,744)

293

261

(1,417)

(1,338)

(10,370)

8,340

4,415

3,386
17,090

(172)

(14,156)

(1,744)

293

261

(1,417)

(1,338)

(10,370)

8,340

4,415

2,000
1,027
20,117

7,313

$

97,022

$

16,464

$

141,451

$

21,025

$

32,798

(57)

$

7,344

$

78,454

$

30,231

$

14,022

$

35,191

PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

Grandview

Mill Ridge

PHS/

Christian Homes

Commons

Grandview
West, Inc.

Woodbury, Inc.

GracePointe

GracePointe

GracePointe

Stonecrest

Gables West

Terrace

Commons

PHS West

PHW

Health, Inc. Menomonee
Interlude

Falls, Inc.

Eliminations

Consolidated

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt
Accounts Payable
Construction Payable
Security Deposits and Other Resident
Fund Payables
Accrued Payroll and Benefits
Accrued Interest and Other
Total Current Liabilities

$

LONG-TERM DEBT AND OTHER
OBLIGATIONS
Long-Term Debt, Less Current Maturities
Resident Notes Payable and Entrance
Loan Deposits
Other
Due to Affiliates
Total Long-Term Debt and
Other Obligations

NET ASSETS
Unrestricted, Undesignated
Unrestricted, Designated by Board for
Endowment Fund
Non-Controlling Interest
Total Unrestricted
Temporarily Restricted
Permanently Restricted
Total Net Assets (Deficit)
Total Liabilities and Net Assets

$

405
86
-

$

153
1,243
-

$

137
37
-

$

170
69
-

$

38
-

$

44
-

$

(559)
(802)

$

18,254
10,938
15,174

154
618
1,263

14
579
62
2,051

16
85
275

151
179
569

6
44

44

(1,361)

4,997
11,566
20,868
81,797

20,045

1,723

1,538

9,345

-

-

(671)

732,721

-

9
2,541

83
13

266
-

-

3,204

(2,000)
(67,059)

84,501
19,442
-

20,045

4,273

1,634

9,611

-

3,204

(69,730)

836,664

2,081

724

1,542

3,259

(19)

-

(13,484)

132,493

2,081

724

1,542

3,259

(19)

-

(13,484)

8,945
(354)
141,084

2,081

724

1,542

3,259

(19)

-

(13,484)

3,713
38,215
183,012

3,248

$ (84,575)

$ 1,101,473

23,389

$

7,048

$

3,451

(58)

$

13,439

$

25

$

PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

Presbyterian Homes & Services
International
Nurse
Recruitment

Optage
Senior Dining
Choices

Optage Inc.
Optage Home
Optage
and Community
Assisted Living
Based Services

$

$

$

Optage
Primary Care

Presbyterian
Homes
Hospice, Inc.
Optage Hospice

Presbyterian
Homes of
Andover, Inc.
Farmstead

$

$

$

OPERATING REVENUE
Net Services to Residents
Other Operating Revenues
OPERATING REVENUE
OPERATING EXPENSE
Services to Residents
General and Administrative
Interest
Depreciation and Amortization
Total Operating Expense

424
2
426

NONOPERATING GAINS (LOSSES)
AND OTHER SUPPORT
Unrestricted Contributions
Income From Endowment Investments
Net Change in Fair Value of Investments
Interest Rate Swap Market Adjustment
(Gain) Loss on Refinancing
Loss on Asset Disposal
Fundraising Expenses
Other Nonoperating Expenses
Total Nonoperating Gains (Losses)
and Other Support
EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF
REVENUE OVER EXPENSE

PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Permanently Restricted Contributions
Gain From Endowment Investments
CHANGE IN PERMANENTLY
RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
$

3,370
2
3,372

2,825
896
62
3,783

(15)

516
226
742

1,038
828
7
1,873

(411)

(1,131)

2,859
4
2,863

4,944
47
4,991

1,759
466
44
2,269

2,466
661
579
504
4,210

594

781

(2)
-

(7)
-

-

-

-

(5)
(3)

-

(2)

(7)

-

-

-

(8)

317

-

(341)

TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Temporarily Restricted Contributions
Released from Restriction
CHANGE IN TEMPORARILY
RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

$

-

-

CHANGE IN UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS

3,731
2
3,733

3,526
199
23
3,748

319

(341)

OTHER CHANGES IN
UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Transfers (to) from Affiliates
Distributions
Unrestricted Capital Contributions
Minority Interest in Expenses Over Revenues
Net Assets Released From Restriction

5,829
16
5,845

4,462
799
265
5,526

(341)

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

TOTAL CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

85
85

317

(22)

(411)

13
-

25
-

(9)

(386)

(1,131)

9
(1,122)

594

773

-

14
-

594

787

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(341)

$

317

$

(59)

(9)

$

(386)

$

(1,122)

$

594

$

787

Presbyterian
Homes of
Arden
Hills, Inc.
Johanna
Shores

Presbyterian
Homes of
Bloomington, Inc.
Summerhouse of
Bloomington

$

$

19,642
298
19,940

16,521
2,499
542
1,769
21,331

$

560
234
512
401
1,707

6,483
180
6,663

$

3,733
811
844
240
5,628

Bloomington
Bethany Senior
Housing, Inc.
Founders Ridge

13,553
27
13,580

$

10,402
1,045
1,147
1,200
13,794

Broadmoor
Apartments, Inc.
Broadmoor

4,306
26
4,332

$

2,395
682
752
832
4,661

11
2,118
2,129

Presbyterian
Homes Care
Centers, Inc.
Langton Place

$

1,084
31
716
500
2,331

$

$

5,712
34
5,746

11,555
1,436
435
414
13,840

4,498
577
159
228
5,462

30

284

1,385
32
1,417

785
587
166
334
1,872

1,035

(214)

2,189
(20)
(12)

(2)
-

-

(7)

523
-

-

(11)
(5)

(1)

(3)

2,157

(2)

-

(7)

523

-

(16)

(1)

(3)

766

(106)

1,035

(221)

194

853

-

(106)

120
-

1,035

(202)

Central Towers
Limited Partnership
Central Towers

(104)

-

(329)

13,819
51
13,870

Castle Ridge
Care Center, Inc.
Castle Ridge

(1,391)

87
-

$

1,381
222
1,603

Presbyterian Homes Bloomington
Care Center, Inc.
Gideon Pond
Bloomington
Commons
Care Center

(202)

-

(101)

-

194

(202)

14

283

512
-

3
-

526

286

(455)

(458)

9
(449)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

853

$

(106)

$

1,035

$

(101)

$

194

(60)

$

(202)

$

526

$

286

$

(449)

PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

PHS/
Chanhassen, Inc
Summerwood of
Chanhassen

PHS/Cottage
Grove, Inc.
Norris Square

PHS/CG
Center LLC
Norris
Marketplace

$

$

$

Croixdale
Croixdale

PHM New
Richmond
Senior
Housing, Inc.
Deerfield

PHS/EagleCrest, Inc.
Country Inn &
Hamline
EagleCrest
Suites
Center

OPERATING REVENUE
Net Services to Residents
Other Operating Revenues
OPERATING REVENUE
OPERATING EXPENSE
Services to Residents
General and Administrative
Interest
Depreciation and Amortization
Total Operating Expense

5,874
125
5,999

2,851
789
1,336
1,054
6,030

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

5,400
77
5,477

2,982
756
1,554
963
6,255

(31)

(778)

-

$

91
6
44
141

3,977
83
4,060

$

2,144
589
169
663
3,565

(141)

495

6,770
48
6,818

$

10,820
92
10,912

$

2,299
2,299

5,191
874
1,161
1,097
8,323

5,568
1,262
1,316
998
9,144

752
871
218
285
2,126

(1,505)

1,768

173

$

502
502

333
46
212
591
(89)

NONOPERATING GAINS (LOSSES)
AND OTHER SUPPORT
Unrestricted Contributions
Income From Endowment Investments
Net Change in Fair Value of Investments
Interest Rate Swap Market Adjustment
(Gain) Loss on Refinancing
Loss on Asset Disposal
Fundraising Expenses
Other Nonoperating Expenses
Total Nonoperating Gains (Losses)
and Other Support

(5)
(6)

(5)
(4)

-

8
215
(2)

(5)
(1)

(375)
(8)
(5)

-

-

(11)

(9)

-

221

(6)

(388)

-

-

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF
REVENUE OVER EXPENSE

(42)

(787)

716

(1,511)

OTHER CHANGES IN
UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Transfers (to) from Affiliates
Distributions
Unrestricted Capital Contributions
Minority Interest in Expenses Over Revenues
Net Assets Released From Restriction

9
(110)
-

21
-

CHANGE IN UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS

(143)

(766)

TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Temporarily Restricted Contributions
Released from Restriction
CHANGE IN TEMPORARILY
RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Permanently Restricted Contributions
Gain From Endowment Investments
CHANGE IN PERMANENTLY
RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
TOTAL CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

$

(141)

-

7
-

(141)

110
-

723

(1,401)

1,380

173

5
-

-

1,385

173

(89)

(89)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(143)

$

(766)

(61)

$

(141)

$

723

$

(1,401)

$

1,385

$

173

$

(89)

Maranatha
Conservative
Baptist Home,
Inc. and Center
Park Senior
Apartments, Inc.
Maranatha

$

9,158
85
9,243

Presbyterian
Homes
Foundation
Foundation

$

7,572
1,306
231
744
9,853
(610)

$

-

Presbyterian Homes
of Wisconsin, Inc.
PHW/
Avalon
Helpmates
Square

Gideon Pond
West, Inc.
Ridgeview
Terrace

Gideon Pond
Housing
Corporation
Newton Manor

PHS/Inver
Grove, Inc.
Timber
Hills

Presbyterian
Homes
Mill Pond
Apartments, Inc.
Mill Pond
Apartments

$

$

$

$

$

467
5
472

446
2
448

8,179
50
8,229

763
2
765

Presbyterian
Homes
Mill Pond
Care Center, Inc.
Mill Pond

PHS
Monticello,
Inc.
Mississippi
Shores

$

$

249
196
445

$ 5,321
149
5,470

5,943
34
5,977

400
7
407

213
18
2
233

2,726
832
497
871
4,926

149
143
83
70
445

112
155
53
90
410

3,578
1,027
1,512
1,155
7,272

266
87
119
144
616

4,419
705
232
393
5,749

(407)

212

544

27

38

957

149

228

590
4
594

Noah's Ark
Affordable
Housing, Inc.
Oakcrest

$

175
140
111
195
621

1,328
141
1,469

482
225
101
426
1,234

(27)

235

(8)
-

616
1
5,307
-

123
(83)

(23)

-

-

(7)
(6)

(1)
-

(5)

(1)
-

(2)
-

(8)

5,924

40

(23)

-

-

(13)

(1)

(5)

(1)

(2)

(618)

5,517

252

521

27

38

944

148

223

100
-

(3,666)
1,204

1,557
-

72
-

-

-

13
-

-

5
-

(518)

3,055

1,809

593

27

38

957

148

228

(28)

233

-

3
-

(28)

236

-

1,004
(1,204)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(200)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,178
(979)

151

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

199

151

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(518)

$

3,054

$

1,960

$

593

$

27

$

38

(62)

$

957

$

148

$

228

$

(28)

$

236

PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

Presbyterian Homes Housing & Assisted Living, Inc.
PHS Lake
Minnetonka
Lake

PHS

Shores

Senior

Senior

Management Summerwood Housing

Minnetonka
PHHAL

LLC

of Plymouth Partners

Lifestyle

1221

Design

Nicollet

GracePointe

Mission

Valley

Gables East Mayfield Development

Ridge

OPERATING REVENUE
Net Services to Residents
Other Operating Revenues
OPERATING REVENUE

$ 20,767
562
21,329

OPERATING EXPENSE
Services to Residents
General and Administrative
Interest
Depreciation and Amortization
Total Operating Expense

15,148
2,717
1,393
1,665
20,923

$

18
123
141

$

13,276
13,276

$ 5,466
25
5,491

$

2
3,594
3,596

43
34
93
170

10,505
199
553
11,257

2,616
712
570
647
4,545

1,771
8
1,779

(29)

2,019

946

1,817

$

3,740
3,740

$

4,097
1
4,098

-

$ 5,230
31
5,261

$ 1,116
36
1,152

4,330
656
462
378
5,826

381
204
283
241
1,109

3
(2)
1

(17)
(1)

-

(72)
(1,552)
-

(15)

-

-

-

(6)
-

(2)
(1)

-

-

(18)

-

(1,624)

(15)

-

-

-

(6)

(3)

-

-

OTHER CHANGES IN
UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Transfers (to) from Affiliates
Distributions
Unrestricted Capital Contributions
Minority Interest in Expenses Over Revenues
Net Assets Released From Restriction
CHANGE IN UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Temporarily Restricted Contributions
Released from Restriction
CHANGE IN TEMPORARILY
RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Permanently Restricted Contributions
Gain From Endowment Investments
CHANGE IN PERMANENTLY
RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
TOTAL CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

$

395

931

1,817

(358)

(1)

4,694

(571)

40

4,694

(104)
-

350
-

8
-

(105)

(221)

48

4,144

(565)

1,652
-

1,627
-

(1,534)
-

-

413

1,623

2,022

(603)

1,817

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

413

$ 1,623

2,022

(63)

$

(603)

$ 1,817

(358)

$ (358)

$

(105)

$

(221)

$

48

(550)
-

(565)

25
-

$

-

43

725
466
44
14
1,249

NONOPERATING GAINS (LOSSES)
AND OTHER SUPPORT
Unrestricted Contributions
Income From Endowment Investments
Net Change in Fair Value of Investments
Interest Rate Swap Market Adjustment
(Gain) Loss on Refinancing
Loss on Asset Disposal
Fundraising Expenses
Other Nonoperating Expenses
Total Nonoperating Gains (Losses)
and Other Support

(29)

(565)

(856)
17
(839)

$ 681
3
684

406

388

(1)

3,855
3,855

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF
REVENUE OVER EXPENSE

(358)

$

$

4,144

(565)

$ (565)

Presbyterian

Kirkland

Wayzata Bay

Shepherd's

PHS/

PHS/

Homes of

Crossings, Inc.

Senior

Path Senior

Shoreview, Inc.

Valley Senior Service Alliance

PHS/Beacon

Retirement

Oakdale, Inc.

North Oaks, Inc.

Kirkland

Housing, Inc.

Wayzata Bay

Housing, Inc.

Summerhouse

Boutwells Landing

Hill, Inc.

Community, Inc.

Echo Ridge

Waverly Gardens

Crossings

Folkestone

Commercial

Mckenna Crossing

of Shoreview

Beacon Hill

Highland Ridge

$

$

$

$

1,376
27
1,403

410
242
408
350
1,410

$

9,974
1,739
4,995
2,752
19,460

5,348
65
5,413

$

2,585
693
948
565
4,791

-

-

6,924
115
7,039

$

1,163
21
1,184

Housing

$

384
197
351
279
1,211

Care Center

14,728
155
14,883

$

7,097
1,809
1,771
3,310
13,987

11,932
141
12,073

1
127
128

23
8
31

4,080
949
1,626
1,500
8,155

(31)

(1,116)

(27)

896

(102)

$

9,018
1,209
845
1,103
12,175

4,157
29
4,186

$

1,859
614
499
557
3,529

6,854
47
6,901

4,635
802
217
1,392
7,046

(7)

(720)

622

(128)

(2)
-

(454)
(27)

(5)
(10)

489
-

-

(6)
(6)

(1)
-

51
1,060
(16)
-

(369)
(5)
(8)

(4)
(3)

39
95
343
(2)

(2)

(481)

(15)

489

-

(12)

(1)

1,095

(382)

(7)

475

(9)

(1,201)

607

361

(1,128)

(28)

1,991

(484)

4
-

40
-

(5)

$

18,427
313
18,740

Williamsburg

(1,161)

(31)

(1,364)
-

-

292
-

208
-

(757)

361

261

(920)

-

113
-

(28)

657

160
-

2,104

(324)

(145)

650

330

9
-

2
-

659

332

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

77
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

77

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,000
27

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,027

(5)

$

(1,161)

$

(757)

$

361

$

261

$

(920)

(64)

$

(28)

$

2,104

$

(324)

$

659

$

1,436

PRESBYTERIAN HOMES AND SERVICES AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

Grandview

Mill Ridge

PHS/

Christian Homes

Commons

Grandview
West, Inc.

Woodbury, Inc.

GracePointe

GracePointe

GracePointe

Stonecrest

Gables West

Terrace

Commons

PHS West

PHW

Health, Inc. Menomonee
Interlude

Falls, Inc.

Eliminations

Consolidated

$

$

OPERATING REVENUE
Net Services to Residents
Other Operating Revenues
OPERATING REVENUE

$

OPERATING EXPENSE
Services to Residents
General and Administrative
Interest
Depreciation and Amortization
Total Operating Expense

5,945
68
6,013

$

10,047
113
10,160

$

793
7
800

$

3,620
18
3,638

$
left

-

$

-

-

(20,529)
(20,529)

277,505
13,014
290,519

2,683
715
1,080
856
5,334

8,395
1,099
88
379
9,961

325
177
79
157
738

1,749
486
527
446
3,208

34
(15)
19

-

(15,629)
(3,726)
(662)
(20,017)

184,535
37,117
27,221
32,813
281,686

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

679

199

62

430

(19)

-

(512)

8,833

NONOPERATING GAINS (LOSSES)
AND OTHER SUPPORT
Unrestricted Contributions
Income From Endowment Investments
Net Change in Fair Value of Investments
Interest Rate Swap Market Adjustment
(Gain) Loss on Refinancing
Loss on Asset Disposal
Fundraising Expenses
Other Nonoperating Expenses
Total Nonoperating Gains (Losses)
and Other Support

(5)
(11)

(10)
(5)

(1)
-

(233)
(3)
-

-

-

-

1,203
434
5,650
2,943
(602)
(244)
(1,552)
(255)

(16)

(15)

(1)

(236)

-

-

-

7,577

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF
REVENUE OVER EXPENSE

663

184

61

194

13
-

17
-

-

4
-

676

201

61

198

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,081
(1,204)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(123)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,178
(801)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,377

OTHER CHANGES IN
UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Transfers (to) from Affiliates
Distributions
Unrestricted Capital Contributions
Minority Interest in Expenses Over Revenues
Net Assets Released From Restriction
CHANGE IN UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Temporarily Restricted Contributions
Released from Restriction
CHANGE IN TEMPORARILY
RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Permanently Restricted Contributions
Gain From Endowment Investments
CHANGE IN PERMANENTLY
RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
TOTAL CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

$

676

$

201

$

(65)

61

$

198

(19)

-

-

-

(19)

$

(19)

(512)

-

-

$

-

16,410

(110)
1,204

(512)

$

(512)

17,504

$

18,758
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT

Board of Governors
Hudson Senior Housing, LLC
Roseville, Minnesota

We have prepared a financial feasibility study (the “Study”) of the plans of Hudson Senior Housing, LLC (the
“Company”), a Minnesota non-profit limited liability company, to develop, own and operate a senior housing
campus in Hudson, Wisconsin (the “Community”). The Community is planned to consist of 95 independent
living units, an assisted living center containing 46 assisted living units and 19 memory care assisted living units,
a town center, underground parking and related common areas. Proceeds from the issuance of the Series 2014
Bonds (as defined subsequently herein), and other available funds, are planned to be used by the Company to
construct and equip the Community, pay for other related costs, and construct a medical suite which is planned to
be leased to a tenant that will offer dialysis services (the “Project”).
Presbyterian Homes and Services (“PHS” or the “Guarantor”), an affiliate of the Company, is planned to enter
into a limited guaranty agreement (the “Limited Guaranty Agreement”), dated as of November 1, 2014, in favor
of the trustee. Until the Limited Guaranty Agreement is terminated, PHS will guaranty timely payment of the debt
service of the Series 2014 Bonds (as defined subsequently herein). The maximum payments under the Limited
Guaranty Agreement are limited to $4,000,000. The Limited Guaranty Agreement will expire upon (1) the
Community attaining an average rate of not less than 90% occupancy calculated over the most recently ended
fiscal year; and (2) the Company attaining (a) a 1.30 to 1.00 debt service coverage ratio for the most recently
ended fiscal year and (b) at least 60 days cash on hand for the most recently completed fiscal year based upon the
Company’s audited financial statements. In no event shall the obligations of the Guarantor under the Limited
Guaranty Agreement terminate prior to September 30, 2018.
The Company entered into a management agreement with PHS Management, LLC (“PHSM”), a limited liability
company and a controlled subsidiary of PHS. Under the terms of the management agreement, PHSM has agreed
to provide finance and accounting, human resources, information systems, operating policies and supervision of
on-site personnel related to the Project.
The Company entered into a development agreement with Senior Housing Partners, LLC (“SHP”), a limited
liability company and a controlled subsidiary of PHS. Under the terms of the development agreement, SHP has
agreed to provide design and planning, financing, construction, and project opening services related to the Project.
The Company also entered into a marketing agreement with SHP to advise the Company and provide services
including but not limited to development and implementation of a marketing plan, provision of a marketing
manager to train and supervise a dedicated marketing staff person, and planning and direction of promotional
activities.
As used hereafter, management of the Company refers to management of the Company, PHSM and SHP
(collectively “Management”).
PHS and its affiliates (other than the Company) will not be obligated to pay debt service on the Series 2014
Bonds or other financial obligations of the Company, other than to the extent of the commitment of the
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Guarantor under the Limited Guaranty Agreement. Accordingly, the forecasted financial statements
include only the forecasted financial results of the Company, and do not include the financial results of
PHS or other affiliates.
The Study was undertaken to evaluate the ability of the Company to generate sufficient funds to meet its
operating expenses, working capital needs, and other financial requirements, including the debt service
requirements associated with the proposed issuance of the $43,930,000 Wisconsin Health and Educational
Facilities Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2014 (Woodland Hill Senior Housing Project) (the “Series 2014
Bonds”). The Company’s underwriter, Piper Jaffray & Co. (the “Underwriter”), has indicated the following
structure and terms of the Series 2014 Bonds:
x

$43,930,000 of tax-exempt fixed rate bonds (the “Series 2014 Bonds”), consisting of term maturities to
December 1, 2049 with semi-annual principal sinking fund payments assumed to begin on December 1,
2017, semi-annual interest payments assumed to begin on June 1, 2015, with assumed annual interest
rates ranging from 2.75 percent to 5.625 percent.

The proceeds from the Series 2014 Bonds, an equity contribution from PHS, and investment earnings on trusteeheld funds relating to the Series 2014 Bonds will be used, among other things, to fund:
x
x
x
x
x
x

Project-related costs for the Community including development consulting, marketing, construction,
architectural, pre-opening costs and a portion of post-opening marketing costs;
Project-related costs for a medical suite including construction and architectural costs;
A debt service reserve fund for the Series 2014 Bonds;
Interest for the Series 2014 Bonds for a period of approximately 15 months;
Costs of issuance related to the Series 2014 Bonds; and
Working capital.

Our procedures included analysis of:
x
x

x
x
x
x
x
x

The Company’s objectives, timing, and financing;
Management’s assessment of the current and future demand for the Company’s services,
including consideration of:
– Economic and demographic characteristics of Management’s defined primary market area
for the Community;
– Locations, capacities, and comparable market information pertaining to other existing and
planned senior care facilities in the Community’s primary market area; and
– Forecasted occupancy and utilization levels of the Community.
Project-related costs;
Debt service requirements and estimated financing costs of the Series 2014 Bonds;
Staffing requirements, salaries and wages, related fringe benefits and other operating expenses
of the Community;
Anticipated monthly service fees, and per diem charges for the Community's residents;
Sources of other Community operating and non-operating revenues; and
Community revenue, expense, and volume/utilization relationships.

Management has set forth its significant forecast assumptions upon which the accompanying forecasted financial
statements are based in the Study in the section entitled, “Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and
Accounting Policies.” These assumptions are integral and essential to an understanding of Management’s
forecasted financial statements.
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The accompanying financial forecast as of September 30, 2015, 2016, 2017, and 2018, and for each of the four
years then ending (the “Forecast Period”), is based upon assumptions provided by, or reviewed with, and
approved by Management. The financial forecast includes the following forecasted financial statements of the
Company:
x
x
x

Forecasted Statements of Operations and Changes in Unrestricted Net Assets;
Forecasted Statements of Cash Flows; and
Forecasted Statements of Financial Position.

In addition, Management has summarized and included a Forecasted Schedule of Financial Ratios.
We have examined the accompanying financial forecast. Management is responsible for its financial forecast. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the forecast based on our examination. Our examination was conducted
in accordance with attestation standards for an examination of a financial forecast established by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and, accordingly, included such procedures as we considered necessary
to evaluate both the assumptions used by Management and the preparation and presentation of the forecast. We
believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Management’s financial forecast has
been prepared for the specific purpose of presenting the forecasted financial statements of financial position,
results of operations, changes in unrestricted net assets, and cash flows of the Company.
The accompanying forecast does not include the effects of accounting standards that have been issued but are not
effective as the date of the Study.
Legislation and regulations at all levels of government have affected and may continue to affect the operations of
senior living communities, including revenues and expenses of facilities, such as the Company’s. The financial
forecast is based upon legislation and regulations currently in effect. If future legislation or regulations related to
the Company’s operations are subsequently enacted, such legislation or regulations could have a material effect
on future operations.
A substantial number of prospective residents of the Community’s independent living units are assumed to sell
their current homes prior to occupancy at the Community. If prospective residents encounter difficulties in selling
their current home due to local or national economic conditions affecting the sale of residential real estate, there
could be a delay in the forecasted fill-up of the Community and/or the remarketing of vacated units, which could
have an adverse impact on the liquidity and revenues of the Company and the ability to provide for payment of
the debt service associated with the Series 2014 Bonds.
Management’s financial forecast is based on the achievement of occupancy levels as determined by Management.
We have not been engaged to evaluate the effectiveness of Management and we are not responsible for future
marketing efforts and other Management actions upon which actual results will depend.
The interest rates, principal payments, and other financing assumptions are described in the section entitled
“Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and Accounting Policies.” If actual interest rates, principal
payments, or funding requirements are different from those assumed, the amount of the Series 2014 Bonds and
associated debt service requirements would need to be adjusted, accordingly, from those indicated in the forecast.
If such interest rates, principal payments, and funding requirements are lower than those assumed, such
adjustments would not adversely affect the forecast.
Our conclusions are presented below:
x

The accompanying financial forecast indicates that sufficient funds could be generated to meet the
Company’s operating expenses, working capital needs, and other financial requirements, including
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the debt service requirements associated with the Series 2014 Bonds during the Forecast Period.
However, the achievement of any financial forecast is dependent upon future events, the occurrence
of which cannot be assured.
x

In our opinion, the accompanying financial forecast is presented in conformity with guidelines for
presentation of a forecast established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and
the underlying assumptions provide a reasonable basis for Management’s financial forecast.
However, usually there will be differences between the forecasted and actual results because events
and circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and those differences may be material.

A sensitivity analysis of certain of Management’s forecast assumptions and the potential impact on the
Company’s forecasted annual debt service coverage ratio and certain liquidity ratios are presented beginning on
page C-58 of the Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and Accounting Policies. Management has
conducted this sensitivity analysis on its financial forecast which is presented for purposes of additional analysis
and is not a required part of the financial forecast. This sensitivity analysis has not been subjected to procedures
applied in the examination of the financial forecast and, accordingly, we express no opinion or any other form of
assurance on it.
We have no responsibility to update this Study for events and circumstances occurring after the date of this Study.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
October 13, 2014
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HUDSON SENIOR HOUSING, LLC
FORECASTED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND
CHANGES IN UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
FOR THE YEARS ENDING SEPTEMBER 30,
(000s Omitted)
2015
OPERATING REVENUES
Resident Service Revenue:
Independent Living Units
Assisted Living Center
Interest Income
Other Revenue
Total Operating Revenues

$

OPERATING EXPENSES
Nursing
Culinary
Plant Operations and Maintenance
Housekeeping and Laundry Services
Resident Activities
Administrative Services
Employee Benefits
Depreciation and Amortization
Interest Expense
Total Operating Expenses
EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES

2016

-

$

794
834
21
173
1,822

2017

$

2,318
3,010
60
382
5,770

2018

$

2,792
4,166
61
445
7,464

200
200

372
326
365
50
60
724
230
823
1,558
4,508

783
650
577
95
107
986
353
1,266
2,339
7,156

811
728
595
98
110
915
363
1,274
2,331
7,225

(200)

(2,686)

(1,386)

239

Transfer from Affiliate
CHANGE IN UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS

4,000
3,800

(2,686)

(1,386)

239

UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS, BEGINNING
UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS, ENDING

3,800

3,800
1,114

1,114
(272)

(272)
(33)

$

$

$

$

See Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and Accounting Policies and
Independent Accountants’ Report
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HUDSON SENIOR HOUSING, LLC
FORECASTED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDING SEPTEMBER 30,
(000s Omitted)
2015
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in Unrestricted Net Assets
Non-Cash Items and Other Adjustments to Operations:
Depreciation and Amortization
Transfer from Affiliates
Funded Pre-Opening Expenses
Funded Marketing Costs Expensed
Increase in Operating Assets:
Accounts Receivable, Residents
Prepaid Expenses
Increase in Operating Liabilities:
Accounts Payable
Accrued Expenses
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities

$

3,800

2016

2017

$ (2,686)

$ (1,386)

(4,000)
200

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of Property and Equipment
Payment of Project Costs (Including Capitalized Interest)
(Increase) Decrease in Project Fund - Series 2014 Bonds
Increase in Debt Service Reserve Fund
(Increase) Decrease in Funded Interest Fund
(Increase) Decrease in Bond Fund
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payment of Financing Costs
Transfer from Affiliate
Proceeds from Issuance of Series 2014 Bonds
Principal Payments on Series 2014 Bonds
Payment of Funded Pre-opening Expenses
Payment of Funded Marketing Costs
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Financing Activities

823
20
269

2018
$

239

1,266
171

1,274
-

-

(33)
(10)

(40)
(5)

(22)
(1)

779
779

123
140
(1,354)

4
25
35

1
1,491

(29,378)
(13,870)
(2,877)
(1,522)
(47,647)

(12,376)
13,276
1,522
(779)
1,643

(80)
594
(180)
334

(80)
2
(78)

(862)
4,000
43,930
(200)
46,868

(20)
(269)
(289)

(171)
(171)

(545)
(545)

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

-

-

198

868

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning

-

-

-

198

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - ENDING
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE
OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash Paid for Interest

$

-

$

-

$

1,240

$

2,339

$

198

$

1,066

$ 2,339

$

2,336

See Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and Accounting Policies and Independent
Accountants’ Report
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HUDSON SENIOR HOUSING, LLC
FORECASTED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SEPTEMBER 30,
(000s Omitted)
2015
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Accounts Receivable, Residents
Prepaid Expenses and Other
Current Portion of Assets Limited as to Use
Total Current Assets

$

779
779

2016

$

33
10
779
822

2017

$

2018

198
73
15
959
1,245

$ 1,066
95
16
957
2,134

ASSETS LIMITED AS TO USE
Debt Service Reserve Fund
Project Fund
Funded Interest Fund
Bond Fund
Total Assets Limited as to Use
Less: Current Portion of Assets Limited as to Use
Noncurrent Assets Limited as to Use

2,877
13,870
1,522
18,269
779
17,490

2,877
594
779
4,250
779
3,471

2,877
959
3,836
959
2,877

2,877
957
3,834
957
2,877

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and Equipment
Construction in Progress
Sub-Total
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Total Property and Equipment (Net)

29,378
29,378
29,378

41,754
41,754
806
40,948

41,834
41,834
2,047
39,787

41,914
41,914
3,296
38,618

862
862

845
845

820
820

795
795

$ 48,509

$ 46,086

$ 44,729

$ 44,424

$

$

$

$

OTHER ASSETS
Deferred Financing Costs (Net)
Total Other Assets
Total Assets
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt
Accounts Payable
Accrued Salaries, Benefits, and Payroll Taxes
Accrued Interest
Total Current Liabilities
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Series 2014 Bonds
Total Long-Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities
NET ASSETS
Unrestricted Net Assets
Total Net Assets
Total Liabilities and Net Assets

779
779

123
140
779
1,042

545
127
165
779
1,616

555
128
170
774
1,627

43,930
43,930

43,930
43,930

43,385
43,385

42,830
42,830

44,709

44,972

45,001

44,457

3,800
3,800

1,114
1,114

(272)
(272)

$ 48,509

$ 46,086

$ 44,729

(33)
(33)
$ 44,424

See Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and Accounting Policies and Independent
Accountants’ Report
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HUDSON SENIOR HOUSING, LLC
FORECASTED SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL RATIOS
FOR THE YEAR ENDING SEPTEMBER 30,
(000s Omitted)
2018
DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE RATIOS
CHANGE IN UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
NON-CASH ITEMS AND ADD-BACKS:
Depreciation and Amortization
Interest Expense
INCOME AVAILABLE FOR DEBT SERVICE
FORECASTED ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE

(1)

ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE RATIO

239

$

1,274
2,331
3,844

$

2,881

(2)

FORECASTED MAXIMUM ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE

1.33
(3)

MAXIMUM ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE RATIO
DAYS CASH ON HAND

$

$
(4)

2,883
1.33

(2)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
BOND FUND
TOTAL
OPERATING EXPENSES

$

(5)

DAILY CASH OPERATING EXPENSES
NUMBER OF DAYS OF CASH ON HAND

$

1,066
957
2,023

$

5,951

$

16
126

Notes:
(1) Forecasted annual debt service is equal to the forecasted debt service on the Series 2014 Bonds.
(2) Calculations are presented based upon assumed terms of the Series 2014 Bonds.
(3) Forecasted maximum annual debt service is equal to the forecasted maximum annual debt service on the Series 2014 Bonds which
is forecasted to occur during the fiscal year ending September 30, 2022.
(4) This ratio was requested by the Underwriter and is not forecasted to be required by the Series 2014 Bonds.
(5) Operating expenses are equal to total operating expenses less depreciation and amortization expense.

See Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and Accounting Policies and Independent
Accountants’ Report
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BACKGROUND AND INFORMATION
Basis of Presentation
The purpose of the financial feasibility study (the “Study”) is to evaluate Management (as subsequently defined
hereinafter) of Hudson Senior Housing, LLC’s (the “Company”) ability to meet the operating requirements,
working capital needs, and other financial requirements, including the debt service requirements associated with
the proposed issuance of the $43,930,000 Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority Revenue Bonds,
Series 2014 (Woodland Hill Senior Housing Project) (the “Series 2014 Bonds”).
The accompanying financial forecast for the years ending September 30, 2015, 2016, 2017, and 2018, and for
each of the four years then ending (the “Forecast Period”), contained herein is estimated by Management. The
financial forecast presents, to the best of Management’s knowledge and belief, Management’s expected financial
position, results of operations and changes in net assets, and cash flows for the Forecast Period. Accordingly, the
financial forecast reflects Management’s judgment as of October 13, 2014, the date of this financial forecast, of its
expected conditions and its expected course of action. The assumptions disclosed herein, while not all-inclusive,
are those that Management believes are significant to its financial forecast. Furthermore, there will usually be
differences between the forecasted and actual results, because events and circumstances frequently do not occur as
expected, and those differences may be material.
Fundamental to the Study is the assumption that the operations of the Company will be competently and
efficiently managed and its services professionally and consistently marketed. In addition, the validity of
the financial forecast will decrease substantially in proportion to the time elapsed since its preparation.
Management’s financial forecast has been prepared in connection with the proposed issuance of the Series
2014 Bonds. Management does not intend to update its financial forecast of the Company subsequent to the
issuance of this financial forecast, and, accordingly, there are risks inherent to referring to or using, this
financial forecast in the future as it may, and most likely will, become outdated.
The assumed interest rates, principal payments, financing assumptions, and assumptions pertaining to the
forecasted revenue, expenses, and cash flows are described in the section entitled, “Summary of Significant
Forecast Assumptions and Accounting Policies.” If the actual interest rates, principal payments, funding
requirements, or other financing assumptions related to the Series 2014 Bonds are different from those assumed,
the principal amount of the Series 2014 Bonds, and associated debt service requirements would need to be
adjusted, accordingly, from those indicated in the forecast. If interest rates, principal payments, and funding
requirements are lower than those assumed, then such adjustments would not adversely affect the forecast.
The Company
The Company is a Minnesota non-profit limited liability company formed on September 15, 2014. Its sole
member, Presbyterian Homes Housing and Assisted Living, Inc. (“PHHAL”), is a Minnesota non-profit
corporation formed in 1983. The Company’s sole purpose is to develop, construct, finance and operate a senior
campus in Hudson, Wisconsin that provides residential rental housing and related services to seniors (the
“Community”).
The sole member of the Company is PHHAL. PHHAL is a controlled affiliate of Presbyterian Homes and
Services (“PHS” or the “Guarantor”), which is a Minnesota non-profit corporation that was formed in 1950.
PHHAL is exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”). Because PHHAL is the sole member of the Company, the Company is “disregarded” for
federal income tax purposes and the tax status of PHHAL will be regarded for federal income tax purposes as the
tax status of the Company.
The governance of the Company is vested in its board of governors (the “Board of Governors” or individually the
“Governors”). The Board of Governors currently consists of three (3) persons.
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PHHAL formed a Minnesota non-profit corporation named Hudson Senior Housing, Inc. on September 15, 2014,
and intends to apply for tax exempt status for such corporation under the Code. PHHAL intends to transfer its sole
member interest in the Company to Hudson Senior Housing, Inc. if and when Hudson Senior Housing, Inc. is
granted tax exempt status under the Code. Management anticipates that the board of directors of Hudson Senior
Housing, Inc. will be the same persons who serve as the Board of Governors of the Company.
Affiliated Entities
PHS is a Minnesota nonprofit corporation formed in 1950 for charitable purposes as set forth in Section 501(c)(3)
of the Code. PHS is headquartered in Roseville, Minnesota. PHS is exempt from federal income taxation under
Section 501(a) of the Code by virtue of being a charitable corporation described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code.
PHS is also the sole member of, or has a controlling interest in, several other affiliated entities (the “Affiliated
Entities”) as described further below.
PHS is structured similar to a holding company for care centers, assisted living and independent living facilities,
home care, primary medical care, hospice care, and projects being developed throughout Minnesota, Wisconsin
and Iowa. In 2013, PHS and its Affiliated Entities served approximately 23,995 older adults in its 39 campuses
and other community service programs, and owned or managed approximately 6,056 units of senior housing and
assisted living and 1,553 nursing home beds. Some of the units are restricted for rental to elderly tenants that meet
income restrictions, and the rental rate may be restricted.
Listed below are Affiliated Entities which are forecasted to provide services to the Company:
Senior Housing Partners, LLC
Senior Housing Partners, LLC (“SHP”) is a limited liability company that provides developmental planning
services to organizations.
PHS Management, LLC
PHS Management, LLC (“PHSM”) is a limited liability company that provides management services to
organizations providing services to older adults.
Presbyterian Homes Foundation
Presbyterian Homes Foundation is the recipient of the fundraising activities for PHS and its Affiliated Entities.
Senior Lifestyle Design, LLC
Senior Lifestyle Design, LLC (“SLD”) is a limited liability company with the sole member being PHHAL. SLD
provides interior design consulting services to organizations.
PHS and its Affiliated Entities will not be responsible for the debts or other obligations of the Company,
other than to the extent of the commitment of the Guarantor under the Limited Guaranty Agreement (as
described subsequently herein). The Company will be the sole entity obligated to pay debt service on the
Series 2014 Bonds and other financial obligations. Accordingly, the forecasted financial statements only
include the forecasted financial results of the Company, and do not include the financial results of PHS or
the Affiliated Entities.
The following are various agreements and commitments PHS and its Affiliated Entities expect to enter into with
the Company.
Project Development
The Company entered into a Development Agreement (as defined subsequently hereinafter) with SHP (see
Project Development and Planning section hereinafter for details).
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Project Marketing
The Company entered into a Marketing Agreement (as defined subsequently hereinafter) with SHP (see Project
Development and Planning section hereinafter for details).
Management Services Agreement
The Company entered into a ten year Management Agreement (as defined subsequently hereinafter) with PHSM,
to manage the Community (see Project Development and Planning section hereinafter for details).
Interior Design
The Company has entered into an interior design agreement (“Interior Design Agreement”) with SLD for
assistance with interior design related to the Project.
Limited Guaranty Agreement
PHS expects to enter into a limited guaranty agreement (the “Limited Guaranty Agreement”) dated as of
November 1, 2014, in favor of the trustee. Pursuant to the terms of the Limited Guaranty Agreement, PHS will
guarantee the timely payment of the debt service of the Series 2014 Bonds. The maximum payments under the
Limited Guaranty Agreement are limited to $4,000,000. The Limited Guaranty Agreement will terminate upon (1)
the Community attaining an average rate of not less than 90% occupancy calculated over the most recently ended
fiscal year; and (2) the Company attaining (a) a 1.30 to 1.00 debt service coverage ratio for the most recently
ended fiscal year and (b) at least 60 days cash on hand for the most recently completed fiscal year based upon the
Company’s audited financial statements. In no event shall the obligations of the Limited Guarantor under the
Limited Guaranty Agreement terminate prior to September 30, 2018.
Management
As used hereafter, management of the Company refers to management of the Company, PHSM and SHP
(collectively “Management”).
The Community
The Community is planned to be located on approximately 12 acres of land in Hudson, Wisconsin and to include
the following components referred to as the “Project”:
x
x
x

95 independent living apartments (the “Independent Living Units”);
A 65-unit assisted living center (the “Assisted Living Center”) consisting of 46 residential style assisted
living apartments (the “Assisted Living Units”) and 19 memory care assisted living suites (the “Memory
Care Units”);
A centralized town center, with administrative offices, conference rooms, a commercial kitchen, dining
rooms, bistro, community/fellowship auditorium, chapel, club room, theatre, library and salon. The town
center will also include a wellness center which will have a fitness equipment room,
aerobic/balance/exercise room and activity space;

x

Underground parking spaces supporting the Community; and

x

A medical suite (the “Medical Suite”).

Independent Living Units
The Independent Living Units are planned to be in a four-story building connected to the town center with heated
underground parking. The Independent Living Units are planned to be licensed as a residential care apartment
complex (“RCAC”).
The following table presents a summary of the number of units and square footage by type planned for the
Independent Living Units.
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Table 1
Independent Living Units
Forecasted Unit Configuration

Unit Type
One-Bedroom
One-Bedroom, Plus Den or Sun Room
Two-Bedroom
Two-Bedroom, Plus Den or Sun Room
Total/Weighted Average

Number of
Units

Unit Size
(Square Feet)

23
33
31
8
95

718-943
921-1,133
1,149-1,427
1,409-1,705
1,093

Source: Management
Each of the Independent Living Units is planned to be furnished with individually controlled heat/air, kitchens
with refrigerator, stove/self cleaning oven, dishwasher, microwave, garbage disposal, washer and dryer, oak or
maple cabinetry and a private deck or patio.
The following services are planned to be included in the monthly fees paid by residents of the Independent Living
Units:
x All utilities, including heat, electric, central air conditioning, water, sewer and trash;
x Basic cable/satellite service;
x Wi-Fi internet access;
x Continental breakfast;
x Scheduled transportation to shopping and outings;
x Emergency call system;
x Monitored smoke and carbon monoxide detectors;
x Controlled entry access;
x Month to month residency agreement;
x Apartment and building maintenance, including lawn and snow removal;
x Property tax and building insurance;
x Priority access to other PHS housing and care options based upon availability;
x Professional management;
x Smoke-free environment; and
x Pet policy.
Other services planned to be available to residents of the Independent Living Units for an additional fee include:
x Underground heated parking with indoor heated car wash bay;
x Phone service;
x Restaurant style dining;
x Personal home care services;
x Banking services;
x Housekeeping;
x Handyman; and
x Guest meals.
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Assisted Living Center
The Assisted Living Center is planned to be in a three-story building connected to the town center and consist of
the 46 Assisted Living Units for residents who require varying amounts of assistance with activities of daily
living, and the 19 Memory Care Units for residents in need of memory care assisted living in a secured
environment. The Assisted Living Center is planned to be licensed as a community based residential facility
(“CBRF”).
The following table presents a summary of the Assisted Living Unit’s planned unit configuration:
Table 2
Assisted Living Units
Forecasted Unit Configuration

Unit Type
Studio
One-Bedroom
One-Bedroom, Plus Den or Sun Room
Two-Bedroom
Total/Weighted Average

Number of
Units

Unit Size
(Square Feet)

6
32
6
2
46

452-528
561-747
791-918
1,005
670

Source: Management
The Assisted Living Units are planned to be private apartments with individually controlled heat/air, kitchens
with a refrigerator, stove/oven, microwave, oak/maple cabinetry, and a bathroom with roll in shower and grab bar.
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The following services are planned to be included in the monthly fees paid by residents of the Assisted Living
Units:
x All utilities, including heat, electric, central air conditioning, water, sewer and trash;
x Basic cable/satellite service;
x Two meals daily;
x Wi-Fi internet access;
x Weekly housekeeping and linen change;
x Emergency call system;
x Scheduled transportation to shopping and outings;
x Complimentary use of laundry facilities;
x Monitored smoke and carbon monoxide detectors;
x Controlled entry access;
x Month to month residency agreement;
x Apartment and building maintenance, including lawn and snow removal;
x Priority access to other PHS housing and care options based upon availability;
x Professional management;
x Smoke-free environment; and
x Pet policy.
Other services planned to be available to residents of the Assisted Living Units for an additional fee include:
x Access to personal care 24 hours a day;
x Phone service;
x Assistance arranging transportation to medical and social service appointments;
x Assistance with accessing community resources and social services;
x Additional housekeeping;
x Laundry service;
x Availability of third daily meal; and
x Guest meals.
The following table presents a summary of the Memory Care Unit’s planned unit configuration:
Table 3
Memory Care Units
Forecasted Unit Configuration

Unit Type
Studio
One-Bedroom
One-Bedroom, Plus Sun Room
Two-Bedroom
Total/Weighted Average

Number of
Units

Unit Size
(Square Feet)

4
12
2
1
19

392-452
503-734
918
1,005
594

Source: Management
The Memory Care Units include all of the same features and services as the Assisted Living Units, but also
include a third meal daily and a secured landscaped outdoor plaza area. Services, in addition to those offered to
the Assisted Living Units include personal laundry (three loads per week) and a program focusing on life skills,
life-enrichment and self care.
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Medical Suite
A portion of the Project is forecasted to be used as the Medical Suite, and is planned to be leased to Total Renal
Care, Inc. (the “Tenant”) for use as a dialysis clinic. The leased space is planned to have approximately 6,130
square feet with a separate entry.
The lease with the Tenant (the “Lease”) is forecasted to be for a term of twelve years, with two options to renew,
each for a term of another consecutive 5 years. As rent, the Tenant is forecasted to pay 100% of expenses
attributable to its leased space, plus $122,600 annually for the first five years, $137,312 for years 6-10 and
$153,802 for years 11-12.
Project Development and Planning
Development Agreement
The Company has entered into a development agreement (the “Development Agreement”) with SHP.
According to the terms of the Development Agreement, the Company will compensate SHP approximately
$1,405,000, of which $730,000 is due upon closing of the Series 2014 Bonds and the remaining $675,000 is
payable in 15 equal monthly installments of $45,000 beginning in the first month after the closing of the Series
2014 Bonds.
Under the Development Agreement, SHP will be responsible for the following items:
x Design and Planning – SHP will assist the Company and architect in determining the basic requirements and
final plans for the Project, including type of building, floor plan layout, space utilization, equipment needed,
estimates of improvement costs, necessary land use approvals, utility connections, and other site preparations
and planning.
x Financing – SHP shall assist the Company in all aspects of obtaining and closing on financing for the Project.
The services of SHP include assisting the Company in selection and retention of an underwriter, bond
counsel, feasibility or market consultants, accountants, appraisers, and other necessary parties, working with
the Company or its affiliate in preparing projections of revenues, expenses, and net income available for debt
service from the Project following commencement of operations and other basic data needed to structure
financing. SHP shall assist the Company or its affiliate throughout the process of structuring and negotiating
terms on financing and in making all necessary decisions and taking all necessary steps to close on such
financing.
x Construction – SHP has assisted the Company in the selection of a general contractor needed to construct and
equip the Community according to the drawings, plans, and specifications adopted. SHP has worked with the
Company and the architects in obtaining bids or negotiated proposals and in awarding and preparing
construction agreements. The Company will enter into appropriate agreements with contractors or other
parties for construction, equipping, and furnishing of the Community. The agreements are guaranteed
maximum price contracts in a total sum acceptable to the Company and within the established construction
cost estimates for the Project. During construction, SHP will make periodic visits to the site and consult with
the Company and the architect in coordinating construction activities as scheduled. SHP will assist the
Company in obtaining all necessary municipal approvals for the Project. SHP will coordinate construction
draws for the Company.
x Opening of Project – Upon completion of construction of the Project, SHP will assist the Company in final
resolution of any deficiencies or other items related to construction, obtaining occupancy permits from local
and state government officials, and determining and making final pay outs to contractors and vendors.

C-15

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT FORECAST ASSUMPTIONS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Marketing Agreement
The Company has entered into a marketing agreement (“Marketing Agreement”) with SHP.
As marketing agent, SHP will advise the Company and provide services including but not limited to development
and implementation of a marketing plan, provision of a project coordinator to train and supervise marketing staff,
and planning and direction of promotional activities. Payment for services (the “Marketing Commission”),
includes all direct and indirect costs of marketing, including the marketing fee to SHP, and will be equal to $2,500
for each independent, assisted living and memory care unit rented. The Marketing Commission will be due only
upon actual occupancy of the unit by a resident and paid in arrears. If a unit is rented and a commission is paid but
the unit vacates before the Community reaches 95 percent (95%) occupancy, then SHP will not be entitled to an
additional commission payment on the unit. SHP will be paid each month upon the net gain of units for the
month.
Management Services Agreement
The Company has entered into a management agreement (the “Management Agreement”) dated October 8, 2014
with PHSM to manage the Community. Under the terms of the contract, PHSM will provide management services
to the Company including, but not limited to, finance and accounting, human resources, information systems,
operating policies and supervision of on-site personnel. Commencing on the date of occupancy, PHSM will
receive management fees equal to five percent (5%) of total operating revenues from the Community.
Management fees will be calculated monthly and will be payable each month. The term of the Management
Agreement is for ten (10) years and shall automatically renew for an additional five (5) years, unless the Company
or PHSM provides ninety (90) days written notice of termination.
Project Timeline
A proposed timeline for the Project is summarized in the following table:
Table 4
Project Timeline

Date

Item

November 2014
November 2014
January 2016

Series 2014 Bonds are Issued
Construction Begins on the Community
Construction is Complete on the Independent Living Units

February 2016

Move-Ins Begin in the Independent Living Units

February 2016

Construction is Complete on the Assisted Living Center

March 2016
July 2017
October 2017
October 2017

Move-Ins Begin in the Assisted Living Center
Independent Living Units Reach Stabilized Occupancy (95%)
Memory Care Units Reach Stabilized Occupancy (95%)
Assisted Living Units Reach Stabilized Occupancy (95%)

Source: Management
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PLAN OF FINANCE
A summary of the forecasted sources and uses of funds for the Company’s financing is provided in the following
table.
Table 5
Forecasted Sources and Uses of Funds
(000s Omitted)

Sources of Funds:
Series 2014 Bonds Proceeds
Equity Contribution - PHS
Investment Earnings on Trustee Held Funds
Total Sources of Funds

$ 43,930
4,000
129
$ 48,059

(1)
(2)
(3)

Uses of Funds:
Land
Construction Costs
Design and Engineering
Contingency
Other Project Costs
Furniture, Fixtures & Equipment
Development Fees
Total Project Related Costs

$ 3,600
29,500
1,040
963
595
2,000
1,405
39,103

(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)

2,800
2,877
640
1,777
862
8,956

(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)

Funded Interest
Debt Service Reserve Fund
Marketing
Working Capital
Cost of Issuance and Other Finance Costs
Total Other Costs
Total Uses of Funds

$ 48,059

Source: Management and Underwriter
Certain summaries, assumptions, rationale, and descriptions included in Management’s financial forecast
are more fully described in the financing-related documents pertaining to the Series 2014 Bonds. For more
detailed information regarding the proposed terms, conditions, debt service requirements, and any other
requirements of the Series 2014 Bonds, all of the Series 2014 Bonds financing-related documents should be
read in their entirety.
Notes to Table 5:
1) The Company’s underwriter, Piper Jaffray & Co. (the “Underwriter”) has indicated that bond proceeds
in the amount of $43,930,000 are estimated to be generated from the proposed issuance of the Series
2014 Bonds. The responsibility for payment of the debt service on the Series 2014 Bonds is solely that of
the Company, other than to the extent of the commitment of the Guarantor under the Limited Guaranty
Agreement. The Underwriter has indicated the following structure and terms of the Series 2014 Bonds:
x

$43,930,000 of tax-exempt fixed rate bonds (the “Series 2014 Bonds”), consisting of term maturities
to December 1, 2049 with semi-annual principal sinking fund payments assumed to begin on
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December 1, 2017, semi-annual annual interest payments assumed to begin on June 1, 2015, with
assumed annual interest rates ranging from 2.75 percent to 5.625 percent.
2) Management has forecasted an equity contribution of approximately $4,000,000 at closing of the Series
2014 Bonds from PHS.
3) Management has estimated interest earnings on trustee-held funds associated with the Series 2014 Bonds
during the first 15 months subsequent to issuance, as provided by Management. Management has
assumed the following interest rates on trustee-held funds based upon information provided by the
Underwriter:
x
x

0.25 percent on the project fund; and
2.00 percent on the debt service reserve fund.

4) Represents the forecasted cost of the land for the Project based on a purchase agreement between
PHHAL and Hudson Hospital, Inc. Management is planning to assign the land purchase agreement from
PHHAL to the Company.
5) Management has forecasted construction and other costs related to the construction of the Project will
approximate $29,500,000. The Company has entered into a guaranteed maximum price contract (“Labor
Contract”) with CBS Construction Services, Inc. (“CBS”) related to labor and certain materials for the
Project in the amount of approximately $15,323,647 and a separate guaranteed maximum price materials
purchasing agent agreement (“Materials Contract”) with CBS related to the materials for the Project in
the amount of approximately $14,176,353. It should be noted that although Management has entered into
a Labor Contract and a Materials Contract, adjustments for allowances, change orders, or other
circumstances not addressed in these contracts could result in the total construction costs exceeding the
maximum price that was established by the contracts.
6) Design and engineering costs are based on an architect contract between PHHAL and Pope Architects,
Inc. in the forecasted amount of $1,033,000 and other design and engineering costs of approximately
$7,000, and include architect, engineering, and design fees, as well as construction administration,
interior design fees, and other such costs. Management is planning to assign the architect contract from
PHHAL to the Company.
7) Management has included a project contingency of $963,000 in the overall project related costs of the
Project.
8) Miscellaneous costs related to the Project are estimated to include expenses related to site work, city
fees, travel, legal and other professional fees, property related fees, pre-opening expenditures, and other
administrative costs as provided by Management.
9) Management has forecasted furniture, fixtures and equipment costs of approximately $2,000,000.
10) Development Fees are forecasted at approximately $1,405,000 based upon the Development Agreement
with SHP (as more fully described previously herein).
11) Management and the Underwriter have estimated funded interest in the amount of $2,800,000 which
represents the Project related debt service through approximately 15 months from the assumed issuance
date of the Series 2014 Bonds.
12) Represents the estimated amount that will be deposited to the debt service reserve fund related to the
Series 2014 Bonds as provided by Management and the Underwriter.
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13) Marketing costs related to the initial occupancy of the Community are assumed to approximate $640,000
and will include Marketing Commission’s paid to SHP under the Marketing Agreement, direct
marketing costs, salaries and commissions, promotional materials, and other items as provided by
Management based on their experience with other projects.
14) Represents the amount of working capital to be funded from proceeds of the Series 2014 Bonds.
15) Management and the Underwriter’s estimate of costs related to the Underwriter’s discount, legal fees,
accounting fees, and other costs associated with the proposed issuance of the Series 2014 Bonds.
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MARKET ASSESSMENT
Management’s assumptions for the future utilization of the Community were developed based on analysis of the
following factors, which may affect the demand for the services:
x

Site description and general area analysis;

x

Defined primary market area (“PMA”) for the Community;

x

Demographic and economic characteristics of Management’s defined PMA;

x

Estimated age and income qualified households within Management’s defined PMA;

x

Description and utilization of existing and proposed comparable retirement communities
within Management’s defined PMA; and

x

Penetration rates for retirement community services within Management’s defined PMA.

Site Analysis
Site Description and Surrounding Land Use
The Community is planned to be located on approximately 12 acres at the southwest corner of Stageline Road and
O’Neil Road in Hudson, Wisconsin (the “Site”). Topography around the Site is generally flat with mature
vegetation. Directly west of the Site is Hudson Hospital and Clinic and beyond the hospital is significant retail,
restaurants, banks and pharmacies. Interstate 94 is north of the Site and south and east of the Site are wooded
areas with middle to high end single-family homes that appear to have been built in the last ten to twenty years.
The Site is approximately 2 miles east of downtown Hudson, Wisconsin and the St. Croix River which forms the
border between Wisconsin and Minnesota.
Access and Visibility
Primary access to the Community is planned to be from Stageline Road. Stageline Road borders the Community
to the north and is an east-west road that is a main thoroughfare that runs parallel to Interstate 94 through Hudson,
Wisconsin. Carmichael Road is a north-south thoroughfare that intersects Stageline Road less than one mile west
of the Site and provides direct access to Interstate 94.

C-20

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT FORECAST ASSUMPTIONS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Community Site

Legend:
Site

Source: Microsoft MapPoint 2013

Proximity to Retail, Health Care, and Community Services
Conveniences important to seniors including pharmacies, grocery stores, gas stations, banks and restaurants are
located near the Site along Stageline Road, less than one block south of the Site.
There are several medical clinics located in Hudson, Wisconsin near the Site including family practice and
specialty services. In addition, the following table provides a summary of the hospitals within a 15 mile radius of
the planned Community according to the American Hospital Directory.
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Table 6
Hospitals Near the Community

Hospital Name
Hudson Hospital
Lakeview Hospital
River Falls Area Hospital
Westfields Hospital
Woodwinds Health Campus

Location

Approximate
Miles from
the Site

Type

Number of
Beds

Hudson, WI
Stillwater, MN
River Falls, WI
New Richmond, WI
Woodbury, MN

Adjacent
11
10
15
14

Critical Access
Short Term Acute Care
Critical Access
Critical Access
Short Term Acute Care

25
68
21
25
86

Source: American Hospital Directory, September 2014.

In addition, there are a variety of community services available to seniors in the area. The Marie B. Blakeman
Community Center is located less than two miles north-west of the Site, offering a variety of daily services and
activities in areas such as education, creative arts, recreation, health and nutrition.
Primary Market Area
Management defines the PMA for the Community’s Independent Living Units as the geographic area from which
the majority of the prospective residents are assumed to originate prior to occupancy. Management has defined
the PMA to be an area that encompasses 3 ZIP codes and extends from the Site approximately 4-10 miles to the
north, 5 miles to the south, 12 miles to the east, and 2 miles to the west.
Management has assumed that the prospective resident origin of the Assisted Living Center at the Community
will be similar to the origin of the Independent Living Units. Therefore, the PMA for the Assisted Living Center
at the Community has been defined to be the same as that defined for the Independent Living Units.
The following ZIP codes make up the PMA: 54016, 54023 and 54082 which represent the cities of Houlton,
Hudson and Roberts, Wisconsin.
The following map depicts the PMA and the location of the proposed Community.
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PMA

Legend:
Site

Source: Microsoft MapPoint 2013

PMA Population Data
The age distribution of the population in a geographic area is considered by Management to be a key factor in the
determination of the area’s retirement housing needs. Population data regarding numbers of elderly is presented in
the following tables. The 2014 and 2019 data in the following tables are estimates and projections, respectively,
provided by The Nielsen Company, a recognized provider of census demographic information.
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Table 7

Elderly Population Change for the PMA
Average Compounded
Percentage Change
2000 to 2010 to 2014 to
2010
2014
2019

2000
(Actual)
Population

2010
(Actual)
Population

2014
(Estimated)
Population

2019
(Projected)
Population

Total Population

26,618

35,637

36,290

37,061

3.0%

0.5%

0.4%

Under Age 65

24,706

32,287

32,204

31,876

2.7%

-0.1%

-0.2%

Age 65 to 74 Population
Age 75 to 84 Population
Age 85 & Over Population

1,090
553
269

2,040
916
394

2,608
1,063
415

3,383
1,367
435

6.5%
5.2%
3.9%

6.3%
3.8%
1.3%

5.3%
5.2%
0.9%

Total 65 & Over
Total 75 & Over

1,912
822

3,350
1,310

4,086
1,478

5,185
1,802

5.8%
4.8%

5.1%
3.1%

4.9%
4.0%

Sources: The Nielsen Company and U.S. Census Bureau
The following table presents the percentage of total population by age group for the elderly population in the
PMA, the State of Wisconsin and the United States.
Table 8
Percentage of Total Population by Age Cohort

Age Cohort
65 & Over
75 & Over
85 & Over

Age Cohort
65 & Over
75 & Over
85 & Over

PMA

2014 (Estimated)
Wisconsin

U.S.

11.3%
4.1%
1.1%

14.8%
6.7%
2.2%

14.2%
6.2%
1.9%

PMA

2019 (Projected)
Wisconsin

U.S.

14.0%
4.9%
1.2%

16.9%
6.8%
2.2%

16.2%
6.5%
1.9%

Sources: The Nielsen Company and U.S. Census Bureau
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Real Estate Trends
The following table presents data on the real estate market in St. Croix County where the Community is planned
to be located.
Table 9
Real Estate Trends in St. Croix County
2010 through YTD 2014

County
St. Croix

2010
Number
Median
Homes
Sales
Sold
Price
960

$ 160,000

ANNUAL DATA
2011
2012
Number
Median
Number
Median
Homes
Sales
Homes
Sales
Sold
Price
Sold
Price
950

$ 142,000

1,263

$ 147,500

2013
Number
Median
Homes
Sales
Sold
Price
1,420

For the 8 Month Period
Ended August 31, 2014
Number
Median
Homes
Sales
Sold
Price

$ 175,000

930

$ 182,000

Source: Wisconsin Realtors Association, https://www.wra.org/Resources/Property/Wisconsin Housing Statistics,
September, 2014.

Economy and Employment Information
The following table summarizes the top 8 largest employers in the city of Hudson, Wisconsin.
Table 10
Top 8 Largest Employers in the City of Hudson, Wisconsin

By Number of Employees
2014
Major Employer
Phillips-Medisize Corp
Body Shop
County Market
Gea
Pier 500
Target
United Gear & Assembly Inc.
YMCA

Location

Number of
Employees

Hudson
Hudson
Hudson
Hudson
Hudson
Hudson
Hudson
Hudson

250-499
100-249
100-249
100-249
100-249
100-249
100-249
100-249

Source: Wisconsin's WORKnet, http://worknet.wisconsin.gov/worknet, September 2014.
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The following table summarizes employment by industry sector for the Minneapolis-St. Paul-Bloomington, MNWI Metropolitan Statistical Area (“MSA”), as defined in Note (1) to the table below, as of May 2013.
Table 11
Minneapolis-St. Paul-Bloomington, MN-WI MSA (1)(2)
Employment by Industry Sector – May 2013
Major Occupational Group
Business and Financial Operations Occupations
Office and Administrative Support Occupations
Sales and Related Occupations
Food Preparation and Serving Related Occupations
Production Occupations
Management Occupations
Transportation and Material Moving Occupations
Education, Training, and Library Occupations
Healthcare Practitioners and Technical Occupations
Personal Care and Service Occupations
Computer and Mathematical Occupations
Installation, Maintenance, and Repair Occupations
Healthcare Support Occupations
Construction and Extraction Occupations
Building and Grounds Cleaning and Maintenance Occupations
Architecture and Engineering Occupations
Community and Social Service Occupations
Protective Service Occupations
Arts, Design, Entertainment, Sports, and Media Occupations
Life, Physical, and Social Science Occupations
Legal Occupations
Farming, Fishing, and Forestry Occupations
All Occupations

(4)

Number

Percentage

(3)

(3)

277,000
186,810
147,900
129,680
123,200
98,440
97,460
93,990
76,270
69,360
54,530
53,520
50,340
47,800
38,810
29,700
29,660
29,410
16,270
14,950
870

15.5%
10.4%
8.3%
7.2%
6.9%
5.5%
5.4%
5.2%
4.3%
3.9%
3.0%
3.0%
2.8%
2.7%
2.2%
1.7%
1.7%
1.6%
0.9%
0.8%
0.0%

1,791,390

100.0%

Source: United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, May 2013 Occupational Employment and
Wage Estimates, www.bls.gov/oes/current, September 2014.
Notes:
(1) Minneapolis-St. Paul-Bloomington, MN-WI Metropolitan Statistical Area represents the following counties in
Wisconsin: St. Croix and Pierce and in Minnesota: Chisago, Isanti, Sherburne, Wright, Carver, Scott, Dakota,
Hennepin, Anoka, Ramsey and Washington.
(2) Estimates do not include self-employed workers.
(3) Estimates not released
(4) The sum of the employment for each category does not foot to the total for all occupations as data for the
Business and Financial Operations Occupations category was not released.
The following table summarizes unemployment rate trends for St. Croix County, Wisconsin, the State of
Wisconsin, and the United States for 2011 through August 2014.
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Table 12
Unemployment Rate Trends
St. Croix County WI

(1)

Wisconsin

(1)

United States

(1)

2014
3.6%
4.1%
4.2%
3.9%
4.3%
5.3%
5.6%
5.1%

(P)

5.1%
5.8%
6.0%
5.5%
5.9%
6.7%
7.0%
6.7%

(P)

6.3%
6.5%
6.3%
6.1%
5.9%
6.8%
7.0%
7.0%

4.8%
4.2%
3.9%
4.0%
4.0%
4.2%
4.4%
4.7%
4.3%
5.1%
6.1%
6.6%
6.1%

6.7%
5.8%
6.0%
5.9%
6.0%
6.4%
6.7%
7.1%
6.5%
7.0%
7.5%
7.9%
7.9%

7.4%
6.5%
6.6%
7.0%
7.0%
7.3%
7.7%
7.8%
7.3%
7.1%
7.6%
8.1%
8.5%

2012 (Annual Average)

5.4%

6.9%

8.1%

2011 (Annual Average)

6.0%

7.5%

8.9%

August
July
June
May
April
March
February
January
2013
Annual
December
November
October
September
August
July
June
May
April
March
February
January

Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, www.bls.gov, October 2014.
(1) Data reflects rates not seasonally adjusted.
(P) Preliminary.
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Independent Living Units Market Assessment
Comparable Retirement Communities
Comparable retirement communities may include several types of facilities. Continuing care retirement
communities (“CCRC”) may offer life care, modified life care, fee-for-service, or rental contracts. Independent
living residents generally have access to common area amenities, which often include a central dining room, a
library, lounge areas, and other community areas. Various monthly service fee options often cover laundering the
resident’s flat linen, housekeeping services, maintenance, scheduled transportation, and one (or more) meals per
day.
The life care concept offers independent living housing and various levels of service and healthcare that provides
for a resident’s changing needs as he/she ages and begins to require a higher level of care. Life care arrangements
typically include an entrance fee and a monthly service fee. In a life care facility, a resident may receive assisted
living or nursing care at little or no extra charge beyond the monthly service fee paid in his/her independent living
unit (“extensive” contract or “Type A” contract). A modified life care facility typically offers a limited benefit for
assisted living and nursing care services (“modified” contract or “Type B” contract). Under Type B contracts, the
community is obligated to provide residents with assisted living or nursing care services for a specified number of
days at no extra charge and/or at rates that are discounted from those charged to those admitted from outside the
CCRC.
The fee-for-service community (“fee-for service” contract or “Type C” contract) offers a variation of the typical
life care concept. The general concept of continuing care is offered at a fee-for-service facility in various forms.
For example, at some facilities, residents pay reduced entrance fees and must pay per-diem rates for assisted
living and nursing care, while other facilities may offer priority, but not guaranteed admission to assisted living
and nursing care services, and/or low entrance fees with higher monthly service fees. While healthcare is often
provided in the service package for a fee-for-service senior care community, it is funded by the resident on an “asneeded” basis at current per diem rates.
A rental retirement community offers independent living housing and may offer healthcare services, such as
assisted living or nursing care. A resident is not required to pay an entrance fee. The resident generally signs a
lease for the independent living unit selected and pays for various additional services utilized on a per diem basis.
The resident may enter the community at various levels of care in a rental retirement community.
Retirement communities offering an equity option involve the actual purchase of real estate or membership by the
resident. This includes independent living condominiums and cooperatives. Healthcare services may be accessible
in this type of senior housing on an optional basis.
Management has defined comparable independent living facilities as certain facilities that include independent
living services, offer similar services and amenities, compete for similar age and income qualified residents, and
are located within the PMA of the planned Community (the “Comparable IL Communities”).
Table 13
Comparable IL Communities in the PMA
Independent Living
The Community

Non-Profit
or Profit
Non-Profit

Wintergreen

Non-Profit

Total Comparable IL Units in the PMA including the Community

Year Opened
Planned February
2016
1985

Number of IL
Units
95

Occupancy
n/a

92

97.8%

187

Source: Management, telephone interviews, personal visits and/or other research conducted in September 2014.
Notes: IL = Independent Living.
n/a = Not applicable.
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The following map depicts the location of the Community and the Comparable IL Communities in the PMA.
Comparable IL Communities in the PMA

Legend:
The Community
1. Wintergreen
Source: Microsoft MapPoint 2013

The following table profiles the Community and the Comparable IL Communities within the PMA.
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Table 14
Comparable IL Communities in the PMA
Street Address
City/State/ZIP Code
Miles from the Project
Type of Contract
Owner/Sponsor

The Community
405 Stageline Road
Hudson, WI 54016
n/a
Rental

Wintergreen
1312 Wisconsin Street
Hudson, WI 54016
2.2
Rental

Presbyterian Homes & Services

Christian Community Homes
and Services, Inc.

Non-Profit

Non-Profit

Planned February 2016

1985

0
23
33
31
8
0
95
65
0

0
46
0
44
2
0
92
37
81

n/a
718-943
921-1,133
1,149-1,427
1,409-1,705
n/a

n/a
684
n/a
906-1,368
1,110
n/a

Profit/Non-Profit
Year Opened
IL Units:
Studio apartments
One-bedroom apartments
One-bedroom/den apartments
Two-bedroom apartments
Two-bedroom/den or Three-bedroom
Villas/Townhomes/Cottages
Total IL Units
AL/MC Beds
SNF Beds
IL Square Footage:
Studio apartments
One-bedroom apartments
One-bedroom/den apartments
Two-bedroom apartments
Two-bedroom/den or Three-bedroom
Villas/Townhomes/Cottages
IL Monthly Service Fees:
Studio apartments
One-bedroom apartments

$1,550-2,035

(1)

One-bedroom/den apartments

$1,988-2,446

(1)

n/a

Two-bedroom apartments

$2,480-3,080

(1)

$1,337-2,009

Two-bedroom/den or Three-bedroom

$3,042-3,680
n/a
$0

(1)

$1,672

Villas/Townhomes/Cottages
IL second person fee
IL Entrance Fees:
Studio apartments
One-bedroom apartments
One-bedroom/den apartments
Two-bedroom apartments
Two-bedroom/den or Three-bedroom
Villas/Townhomes/Cottages
IL second person fee
IL Reported Occupancy Rate
Included in the Monthly Fee:
Meals
Housekeeping and linen service
Laundry service
Scheduled transportation
Utilities

n/a

n/a
$1,019-1,160

n/a
$0

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
97.8%

Continental breakfast
No
Washer/dryer in-unit
Yes
All included except phone

Ten lunches a month
No
Coin operated
Yes
All included except phone and
cable

Source: Telephone interviews, personal visits, and other research conducted in September 2014.
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Notes to Table:
IL = Independent Living.
AL = Assisted Living.
MC = Memory Care.
SNF = Skilled Nursing Facility.
n/a = Not applicable to this facility.
The Community
(1) Forecasted monthly rates at opening have been deflated by 3.0 percent per annum to reflect 2014 dollars.
Proposed Independent Living Developments
Based upon telephone interviews with local planning agencies, interviews with management at existing retirement
communities, and other research there are no new independent living communities that are currently being
planned in the PMA other than the Community.
Summary of Independent Living Units
As shown on Table 13, there are 92 existing independent living units in the PMA comparable with the
Community’s planned 95 Independent Living Units.
Estimated Eligible Households for Independent Living Services
For purposes of estimating the income-qualified population in the PMA, Management has estimated the annual
pre-tax income that would be required for the Independent Living Units based on the minimum monthly service
fee planned at the Community, and the weighted average monthly service fee planned at the Community. It
should be noted, seniors who own their homes have an untapped source of income from the investment potential
of the equity in their homes and, therefore, would have a lower annual pre-tax income required to be able to afford
to live at the Community.
In addition to the services planned to be included in the monthly service fee, Management assumes that a resident
would incur certain other basic living expenses. Management has applied a methodology that assumes that these
additional living expenses would not be in excess of 50 percent of a potential resident’s monthly service fee. The
following two annual household income scenarios are presented for purposes of estimating the number of income
qualified households in the PMA:



Annual household income of approximately $32,900 or more (in 2016) based upon the monthly fee of the
smallest one bedroom apartment of the Independent Living Units at the Community; and
Annual household income of approximately $50,100 or more (in 2016) based upon the weighted average
monthly fee of the Independent Living Units at the Community.

Management assumes the majority of prospective residents would be at least 75 years of age upon the planned
opening of the Community in February, 2016. Therefore, Management has assumed that households with the
following characteristics would be the most likely to consider residing at the Community’s Independent Living
Units based upon demographic age cohorts available as of the date of this report:
x
x

Householders age 75 or older are assumed to fill approximately 100 percent of the units; and
Householders with annual household income of $32,900 or more (in 2016), assuming the minimum
monthly service fee for the Community’s Independent Living Units, or householders with annual
household income of $50,100 or more (in 2016) assuming the weighted average monthly service fee for
the Independent Living Units at the Community.
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The following table presents the household income distribution data in the PMA as well as the calculated income
eligible households for the Independent Living Units. The 2014 and 2019 data in the table are estimates as
provided by The Nielsen Company. The following table also presents data for 2016 that has been interpolated
from information provided by The Nielsen Company.
Table 15
Income Eligible Households in the PMA
Age Range:
Total Households
Median Household Income
Household Income:
Less than $25,000
$25,000 - 34,999
$35,000 - 49,999
$50,000 - 74,999
$75,000 - 99,999
$100,000 - 149,999
$150,000 - 199,999
$200,000 or More
Households with $31,000 or more of income
Households with $47,200 or more of income

2014 (Estimated)
75-84
85 & Over
691
281

65-74
1,586
$

52,444

$

344
161
249
399
205
168
20
40
1,145
878
Age Range:

65-74
1,766

Total Households
(1)

Median Household Income
Household Income:
Less than $25,000
$25,000 - 34,999
$35,000 - 49,999
$50,000 - 74,999
$75,000 - 99,999
$100,000 - 149,999
$150,000 - 199,999
$200,000 or More
Households with $32,900 or more of income
Households with $50,100 or more of income

$

53,719
363
178
272
445
235
200
24
49
1,262
951

Age Range:
Total Households
Median Household Income
Household Income:
Less than $25,000
$25,000 - 34,999
$35,000 - 49,999
$50,000 - 74,999
$75,000 - 99,999
$100,000 - 149,999
$150,000 - 199,999
$200,000 or More
Households with $36,000 or more of income
Households with $54,700 or more of income

65-74
2,036
$ 55,631
392
204
306
515
280
247
29
63
1,420
1,037

35,199

$

250
94
113
127
58
40
2
7
385
255

30,761

$

114
46
43
44
17
15
1
1
139
86

$

35,264
275
106
126
140
64
46
3
7
408
259

$

31,082
114
47
43
45
18
16
2
1
135
82

2019 (Projected)
75-84
85 & Over
879
293
$ 35,362 $ 31,563
313
123
145
159
74
55
4
6
433
268

115
48
42
47
19
17
3
2
127
79

45,404
708
301
405
570
280
223
23
48
1,669
1,219

2016 (Inter polated) (1)
75-84
85 & Over
767
286

Source: The Nielsen Company and Management
Notes: (1) Interpolated data is based upon the 2014 and 2019 data provided by The Nielsen Company.
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Total
2,558

Total
2,819
$

46,401
752
331
441
630
317
262
29
57
1,805
1,292

Total
3,208
$ 47,879
820
375
493
721
373
319
36
71
1,980
1,384
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Penetration Analysis – Independent Living Units
Penetration rates are one measure of the degree to which the PMA might be either under-served or saturated. As
penetration rates increase, independent living units may become more difficult to fill. However, higher
penetration rates may not necessarily be an indication of the difficulty in achieving expected occupancy levels.
Some markets may have a higher acceptance level for independent living housing options and may support higher
penetration rates.
These penetration rates should be considered in conjunction with each other and other market factors such as
occupancy levels at existing comparable communities within and near the PMA, the number of proposed facilities
in the PMA, the planned design of the units and community spaces at the Community, alternatives for potential
residents, and the proposed marketing plans and efforts of Management.
Management has presented three penetration rate calculations as follows:
x

x

x

The Gross Market Penetration rate is calculated by adding the total number of Independent
Living Units of the Community to those of the comparable existing and proposed retirement
communities within Management’s defined PMA and dividing by the total number of age and
income qualified households (households headed by individuals 75 years of age or older).
The Net Market Penetration rate is calculated by adding the total number of Independent
Living Units at the Community, number of units needed to be filled to achieve a 95 percent
occupancy of the comparable existing and proposed retirement communities within
Management’s defined PMA, as well as the number of units becoming vacant due to resident
attrition at the existing facilities and dividing by the total number of age and income qualified
households (households headed by individuals 75 years of age or older).
The Project Penetration rate is that calculated proportion of eligible households in a PMA that
will need to move to the Independent Living Units at the Community to maintain its full
occupancy (defined as the point where the occupancy stabilizes, typically, at 95 percent for
independent living units).

The following table presents a summary of these penetration rate calculations:
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Table 16
Independent Living Units Estimated Penetration Analysis – 2016
Age 75-andover with
Incomes of
$32,900 and
above

Estimated Penetration Rates

Age 75-andover with
Incomes of
$50,100 and
above

Gross Market Penetration Rate Analysis:
Market Inventory of Independent Living Units in the PMA:
(1)

The Project
Existing Comparable Units
Planned Comparable Units
Total Units
Number of units assuming 65% of the residents of the Community originate from within the PMA at
95% occupancy, and assuming 70% of the residents at existing and planned comparable facilities
originate from the PMA at 95% occupancy [a]
Number of Age and Income Qualified Households
Gross Market Penetration Rate [a/b]

(2)

[b]

Net Market Penetration Rate Analysis
Total Unoccupied Independent Living Units within the PMA:
Number of units at the Community assuming that 100% of the units will be filled by persons age
75 and over and that stabilized occupancy is achieved at 95.0%
Number of vacant units at existing comparable projects that need to be filled to achieve a 95%
occupancy rate
Number of units at planned comparable projects assuming 95% stabilized occupancy
(3)

Total existing units becoming available from resident attrition
Subtotal of units to be occupied assuming 65% of the Community units and 70.0% of existing and
planned comparable units originate from the PMA [c]
(2)

Number of Age and Income Qualified Households
Less the number of occupied comparable independent living units
Net Number of Age and Income Qualified Households [d]
Net Market Penetration Rate [c/d]
Project Penetration Rate Analysis:
Number of units at the Community assuming that 100% of the units will be filled by persons age
75 and over, stabilized occupancy is achieved at 95%, and assuming 65% of the residents originate
from the PMA [e]
Project Penetration Rate [e/d]

95
92
0
187

95
92
0
187

120

120

543
22.1%

341
35.2%

90

90

0
0

0
0

21

21

73

73

543
-90
453
16.1%

341
-90
251
29.1%

59
13.0%

59
23.5%

Source: Management
Notes:
(1) There are 95 independent living units at the Community. It is assumed that 100% of the occupied units will be
filled by persons age 75 and over.
(2) Age and income qualified households from Table 15.
(3) Represents the number of units becoming available (based on occupied comparable units in the PMA)
annually from resident attrition (assuming a 13.1% attrition rate for entrance fee communities and a 22.9%
attrition rate for rental communities from “State of Seniors Housing 2012” report by the American Association of
Homes and Services for the Aging, American Seniors Housing Association, Assisted Living Federation of
America, National Center for Assisted Living and National Investment Center).
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Description and Utilization of Assisted Living Services
In Wisconsin, there are three licensed categories of senior housing that can be considered assisted living (memory
care is a subset of this category and is usually a secured area within an assisted living building or a separate
component that offers specialized programming and more intensive supervision than standard assisted living
developments). Each of these is described as follows:
Residential Care Apartment Complexes (“RCACs”)
An RCAC is a place where five or more adults reside. Apartments must have a lockable entrance and exit;
kitchen, including a stove (or microwave oven); an individual bathroom, sleeping and living areas. This living
option also provides to persons who reside in the place, not more than 28 hours per week of the following
services:
x
x
x
x

Supportive Services: Activities related to general housekeeping, transportation to access community
services and recreational activities.
Personal Assistance: Services related to activities of daily living, e.g., dressing, eating, bathing and
grooming. The most common meal plan utilized by tenants of the RCACs is that consisting of two meals
per day.
Nursing Services: Health monitoring, medication administration and medication management.
Emergency Assistance: An RCAC shall ensure that tenants’ health and safety are protected in the event of
an emergency and shall be able to provide emergency assistance 24 hours a day.

RCACs provide the services either directly or under contract, and the services must be part of the tenant’s service
agreement. RCAC’s are not for those persons who are incompetent or for those with Alzheimer’s- related
dementia or other infirmities of aging that require more in-depth monitoring by health care professionals.
Community Based Residential Facilities (“CBRFs”)
For persons who seek larger congregate settings, a CBRF is a place where five or more adults reside. Services
provided include room and board, supervision, support services, and may include up to 3 hours of nursing care per
week.
According to the Wisconsin Department of Health and Family Services, “CBRFs can admit people of advanced
age, persons with dementia, developmental disabilities, mental health problems, physical disabilities, traumatic
brain injury, AIDS, alcohol and other drug abuse, correctional client, pregnant women needing counseling and/or
the terminally ill.”
For both RCAC’s and CBRF’s certification is required to qualify for reimbursement from the Community Options
Program (“COP”) or Medical Assistance (“MA”) program in order to house tenants who are recipients of COP or
MA funds. Both RCACs and CBRFs are also subject to random unannounced surveys.
Adult Family Homes (“AFH”) are for persons seeking a small congregate setting. They house up to four persons.
Care guidelines are similar to CBRF’s except that they can provide up to seven hours of nursing care per week.
Because of the very small size of these facilities, they were not included as comparable for purposes of this study.
Senior housing that does not provide nursing or personal care services need not be licensed with the State. Thus,
independent senior buildings that offer meals, housekeeping and other basic services could exist without RCAC,
CBRF or AFH licensure.
Management has used the general industry term “assisted living” to describe facilities that provide services,
including meals, housekeeping, medication management, assistance with activities of daily living, and general
supervision. Facilities with a separate secured unit and specialized programs for residents with dementia are
referred to as “Memory Care” housing.
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It should be noted that Management has included only those market-rate facilities restricted to persons aged 55
and over and those facilities with more than 10 beds in the analysis of existing comparable assisted living and
memory care facilities in the PMA. There is one existing assisted living facility in the PMA with 5 beds that
Management does not consider to be comparable with the Community (referred to herein as the “NonComparable AL and MC Community”); the Non-Comparable AL and MC Community is not included in the
calculated penetration rates table that follows.
Existing Comparable Assisted Living and Memory Care Facilities
The following table summarizes the comparable assisted living and memory care facilities in the PMA.
Table 17
Assisted Living and Memory Care Communities in the PMA

Assisted Living
The Community

Comforts of Home
Comforts of Home
Pine Ridge
Red Cedar Canyon
Total Assisted Living Beds
Memory Care
The Community

Comforts of Home
Pine Ridge Gardens
Red Cedar Canyon
Total Memory Care Beds
Total Assisted Living and Memory Care Units

NonProfit or
Profit
Non-Profit

Profit
Profit
Non-Profit
Profit

Non-Profit

Profit
Non-Profit
Profit

Beds
Occupied by
Low-Income
Occupancy Residents
n/a
n/a

Year
Opened
Planned
March
2016
2012
2005
1993
2008

Number
of Beds
46

40
22
20
53
181

97.5%
95.5%
100.0%
90.6%
94.8%

20
10
0
4
34

Planned
March
2016
2005
1993
2008

19

n/a

n/a

19
17
16
71
252

100.0%
100.0%
81.3%
94.2%
94.7%

0
0
2
2
36

Source: Telephone interviews, personal visits, and/or other research conducted in September 2014.
Notes:
n/a = Not applicable.
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The following map shows the location of the existing comparable assisted living and memory care communities
in the PMA.

Comparable Assisted Living and Memory Care Communities in the PMA

Legend:
The Community
1. Comforts of Home
2. Comforts of Home

3. Pine Ridge and Pine Ridge Gardens
4. Red Cedar Canyon

Source: Microsoft MapPoint 2013

The following tables summarize the Community and comparable existing assisted living and memory care
communities in the PMA based on information from telephone interviews, personal visits, and other research
completed during September, 2014.
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Table 18
Comparable Assisted Living and Memory Care Communities in the PMA
Street address
City/State/ZIP code
Miles from the Project
Owner/sponsor
Profit/Non-Profit
Year opened
Number of beds:
AL studios-shared
AL studios-private
AL one-bedroo m
AL one-bedroom/den
AL two-bedroo m
Total AL beds
MC studios-shared
MC studios-private
MC one-bedroo m
MC one-bedroom/den
MC two-bedroo m
Total MC beds
Total AL/MC Beds
Square footage:
AL studios-shared
AL studios-private
AL one-bedroo m
AL one-bedroom/den
AL two-bedroom
MC studios-shared
MC studios-private
MC one-bedroom
MC one-bedroom/den
MC two-bedroom
Monthly fees:
AL studios-shared
AL studios-private

The Community
415 Stageline Road
Hudson, WI 54016
n/a
Presbyterian Homes & Services

Comforts of Home
805 Heggen Street
Hudson, WI 54016
1.5
Comforts of Home Senior
Living

Comforts of Home
1111 Heggen Street
Hudson, WI 54016
1.5
Comforts of Home Senior
Living

Non-Profit
Planned March 2016

Profit
2012

Profit
2005

0
6
32
6
2
46
0
4
12
2
1
19
65

0
40
0
0
0
40
0
0
0
0
0
0
40

0
22
0
0
0
22
0
19
0
0
0
19
41

n/a
452-528
561-747
791-918
1,005
n/a
392-452
503-734
918
1,005

n/a
250
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

n/a
250
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
250
n/a
n/a
n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a
$3,282-3,376

(1)

$4,400

$4,400

AL one-bedroom

$3,706-3,753

(1)

n/a

n/a

AL one-bedroom/den

$3,848-4,036
(1)
$4,272
n/a

(1)

n/a
n/a
n/a

n/a
n/a
n/a

$5,363-5,458

(2)

n/a

$4,400

$5,740-5,835

(2)

n/a

n/a

AL two-bedroom
MC studios-shared
MC studios-private
MC one-bedroom
MC one-bedroom/den

$6,117

(2)

n/a

n/a

MC two-bedroom

$6,447

(2)

n/a

n/a

97.5%
n/a

95.5%
100.0%

3 meals/day
Weekly
Weekly
Weekly
n/a

3 meals/day
Weekly
Weekly
Weekly
Weekly

Reported occupancy rate-AL
Reported occupancy rate-MC
Included in the monthly fee:
Meals
Housekeeping
Linen service
Laundry service -AL
Laundry service - MC
Personal care-AL
Personal care-MC

n/a
n/a
(3)

2 meals/day
Weekly
Weekly
Free common laundry
3 loads/week
Levels of care (4)
Levels of care

(5)
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Table 18 (continued)
Assisted Living and Memory Care Facilities in the PMA
Street address
City/State/ZIP code
Miles from the Project
Owner/sponsor
Profit/Non-Profit
Year opened
Number of beds:
AL studios-shared
AL studios-private
AL one-bedroom
AL one-bedroom/den
AL two-bedroom
Total AL beds
MC studios-shared
MC studios-private
MC one-bedroom
MC one-bedroom/den
MC two-bedroom
Total MC beds
Total AL/MC Beds
Square footage:
AL studios-shared
AL studios-private
AL one-bedroom
AL one-bedroom/den
AL two-bedroom
MC studios-shared
MC studios-private
MC one-bedroom
MC one-bedroom/den
MC two-bedroom
Monthly fees:
AL studios-shared
AL studios-private
AL one-bedroom
AL one-bedroom/den
AL two-bedroom
MC studios-shared
MC studios-private

Pine Ridge and Pine Ridge Gardens
1320 Wisconsin Street
Hudson, WI 54016
2.2
Christian Community Homes &
Services, Inc.
Non-Profit
1993

Red Cedar Canyo n
3001 Hanley Road
Hudson, WI 54016
1.3
Privately owned

0
0
20
0
0
20
0
0
17
0
0
17
37

0
0
*
0
*
53
0
16
0
0
0
16
69

n/a
n/a
410-623
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
414-668
n/a
n/a

n/a
n/a
*
n/a
*
n/a
*
n/a
n/a
n/a

n/a

n/a

Profit
2008

n/a

n/a

$3,224-3,534

$2,795-3,255

n/a
n/a
n/a

n/a
$3,125-3,465
n/a

n/a

$4,600-4,900

$4,805-5,115

n/a

MC one-bedroom/den

n/a

n/a

MC two-bedroom

n/a

n/a

100.0%
100.0%

90.6%
81.3%

3 meals/day
Weekly
Weekly
Free common laundry
Weekly

3 meals/day
Weekly
Weekly
Free common laudry
Weekly

MC one-bedroom

Reported occupancy rate-AL
Reported occupancy rate-MC
Included in the monthly fee:
Meals
Housekeeping
Linen service
Laundry service -AL
Laundry service - MC
Personal care-AL
Personal care-MC

Levels of care

(1)

Levels of care

(1)

Levels of care

(2)

Levels of care

(2)

Source: Telephone interviews, personal visits, and other research conducted in September, 2014.
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Notes to table:
* = Unable to obtain information from the facility.
n/a = Not applicable to this facility.
AL = Assisted Living.
IL = Independent Living.
MC = Memory Care.
The Community
(1) Monthly rates on the table include the required minimum personal care package and have been deflated
by 3.0 percent per annum to reflect 2014 dollars.
(2) Monthly rates include the required minimum personal care package and have been deflated by 3.0 percent
per annum to reflect 2014 dollars.
(3) Memory care residents are planned to receive three meals per day and assisted living residents are
planned to receive two meals per with an option to purchase a third meal.
(4) There are multiple levels of personal care planned for an additional $313 to $3,806 per month (in 2014
dollars). Care level one is included in the monthly rates shown on the table.
(5) There are multiple levels of personal care planned for an additional $2,111 to $3,648 per month (in 2014
dollars). Care level one is included in the monthly rates shown on the table.
Comforts of Home
(1) There are multiple levels of care that range from an additional $450 to $1,100 per month.
Comforts of Home
(1) There are multiple levels of care that range from an additional $450 to $1,100 per month.
Pine Ridge
(1) There are multiple levels of care that range from an additional $248 to $1,581 per month.
(2) There are multiple levels of care that range from an additional $217 to $589 per month.
Red Cedar Canyon
(1) There are multiple levels of care that range from an additional $540 to $2,160 per month.
(2) There are multiple levels of care that range from an additional $400 to $800 per month.
Planned Assisted Living and Memory Care Developments in the PMA
Based upon telephone interviews with local planning agencies, interviews with management at existing retirement
communities, and other research there are no new assisted living and memory care communities that are currently
being planned in the PMA other than the Community.
Summary of Assisted Living and Memory Care Units
There are a total of 187 assisted living and memory care beds in the PMA, excluding the 65 units planned at the
Community. Management has reflected the existing assisted living and memory care units as comparable with the
Community for purposes of calculating assisted living penetration rates presented subsequently hereinafter.
Assisted Living Estimated Penetration Analysis
The increased size of the private-paying frail elderly market has attracted providers to develop new and creative
options for caring for this population. Methodologies for projecting bed need or demand for assisted living vary.
Research studies have identified impairment levels in activities of daily living (“ADL”) such as dressing, bathing,
eating, toileting, mobility, and taking medications, as well as instrumental activities of daily living (“IADL”),
such as meal preparation, home maintenance, shopping, and personal finance; all of which generally are often
used to measure levels of functioning and estimate the care needs of a specific population. The decision by elderly
persons to enter an assisted living facility to meet their needs for assistance often depends on alternatives
available and is somewhat more discretionary than the decision to enter a nursing care facility.
Population data and income statistics may be utilized to some extent to estimate the number of qualified
households (age 75 and over) for assisted living services, yet should not be relied upon entirely as a measure of
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success for a facility. The amount of cross-subsidization that occurs between adult care givers (assumed to be
those households aged 45-to-64 earning in excess of $100,000 annually) and their parents may also provide for
additional financial assistance as a means for non-income qualified seniors to afford this level of care.
Additionally, non-income qualified seniors may have additional assets that could provide the financial means to
afford this level of care. Thus, assisted living calculated estimated penetration rates, where relevant, and estimated
market penetration rates are presented as a range between age-qualified households and age-and income-qualified
households.
Management anticipates that the prospective residents of its Assisted Living Units and Memory Care Units will
generally meet the following profile prior to occupancy:

x
x
x

75 years of age or older;
Living alone; and
Requiring some assistance with ADLs and/or IADLs.

Additionally, pre-tax income characteristics have been applied to estimate a range of market penetration rates for
age and income qualified households. Management assumes that a prospective resident of the Community’s
assisted living center will have an annual pre-tax income of at least $46,400 (in 2016) or an annual income of
$25,000 (in 2016) or more if they own their own home. This assumption allows those owning a home to be
included as qualified households in light of the additional potential financial resources from the sales proceeds.
The following table presents the household income distribution data in the PMA as well as the calculated income
eligible households for the Assisted Living Units. The 2014 and 2019 data in the table are estimates as provided
by The Nielsen Company. The following table also presents data for 2016 that has been interpolated from
information provided by The Nielsen Company.
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Table 19
Income Eligible Households in PMA
Age Range:
Total Households
Median Household Income
Household Income:
Less than $25,000
$25,000 - 34,999
$35,000 - 49,999
$50,000 - 74,999
$75,000 - 99,999
$100,000 - 149,999
$150,000 - 199,999
$200,000 or More
Households with $23,600 or more of income
Households with $43,700 or more of income

2014 (Estimated)
75-84
85 & Over
691
281

65-74
1,586
$

52,444

$

344
161
249
399
205
168
20
40
1,261
937
Age Range:

65-74
1,766

Total Households
(1)

Median Household Income
Household Income:
Less than $25,000
$25,000 - 34,999
$35,000 - 49,999
$50,000 - 74,999
$75,000 - 99,999
$100,000 - 149,999
$150,000 - 199,999
$200,000 or More
Households with $25,000 or more of income
Households with $46,400 or more of income

$

53,719
363
178
272
445
235
200
24
49
1,403
1,018

Age Range:
Total Households
Median Household Income
Household Income:
Less than $25,000
$25,000 - 34,999
$35,000 - 49,999
$50,000 - 74,999
$75,000 - 99,999
$100,000 - 149,999
$150,000 - 199,999
$200,000 or More
Households with $27,300 or more of income
Households with $50,700 or more of income

65-74
2,036
$ 55,631
392
204
306
515
280
247
29
63
1,597
1,120

35,199

$

250
94
113
127
58
40
2
7
455
281

30,761

$

114
46
43
44
17
15
1
1
173
96

$

35,264
275
106
126
140
64
46
3
7
492
290

$

31,082
114
47
43
45
18
16
2
1
172
92

2019 (Projected)
75-84
85 & Over
879
293
$ 35,362 $ 31,563
313
123
145
159
74
55
4
6
538
294

115
48
42
47
19
17
3
2
167
87

45,404
708
301
405
570
280
223
23
48
1,890
1,314

2016 (Interpolated) (1)
75-84
85 & Over
767
286

Source: The Nielsen Company and Management
Notes: (1) Interpolated data is based upon the 2014 and 2019 data provided by The Nielsen Company.

C-42

Total
2,558

Total
2,819
$

46,401
752
331
441
630
317
262
29
57
2,067
1,401

Total
3,208
$ 47,879
820
375
493
721
373
319
36
71
2,302
1,500

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT FORECAST ASSUMPTIONS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following table estimates the number of age and income qualified households that are living alone and
estimated to require assistance with ADLs or IADLs within the PMA. The information is presented in 2016, the
proposed year of completion of the Assisted Living Units.
Table 20
Estimated Number of Qualified Individuals in the PMA – 2016

Estimated Age
Qualified
Households
1,053
N/A

(1)

Estimated Age,
Income and Asset
Qualified
Households
N/A
560

(2)

Percentage
Requiring
Assistance

Percentage

(3)

Living Alone

35.9%
35.0%

53.2%
53.2%

(4)

Estimated Number
of Age Qualified
Individuals

Estimated Number of
Age and Income Asset
Qualified Individuals

201
N/A

N/A
104

Source: The Nielsen Company and Management
Notes:
n/a = Not applicable.
(1) Households with householders aged 75 years of age and older, from the previous table.
(2) Households with householders aged 75 years of age and over with reported incomes of $25,000 and over if
they own their homes (based on tenure data from the 2010 U.S. Census) plus all householders aged 75 years and
older with reported incomes of $46,400 or more, from the previous table.
(3) Percentage of persons aged 75 years of age and older estimated to need assistance with ADLs. Percentage is
the weighted average based upon the number of qualified households age 75 to 84 and age 85 and over. From the
National Center for Health Statistics, "Functional Limitations among Medicare Beneficiaries” from the Medicare
Current Beneficiary Survey, average for 2008-2010, May 2013.
(4) Percentage of persons aged 75 years of age and older estimated to be living alone. Percentage is from
www.census.gov for the PMA from the 2010 U.S. Census.
The market penetration rate is presented as the percentage of the age-qualified individuals and age-and incomequalified individuals that Management assumes that the total market has absorbed (or must absorb) for the entire
market to achieve stabilized occupancy. The market penetration rate is calculated by dividing the number of
comparable assisted living units within the PMA by the number of age-qualified individuals and the age-and
income-qualified individuals within the PMA.
The project penetration rate is presented as a range between the percentages of the age-qualified individuals and
the percentage of age-and income-qualified individuals that Management assumes that the Community’s Assisted
Living Units and Memory Care Units would need to attract in order to achieve stabilized occupancy. Project
penetration is calculated by dividing the number of Assisted Living Units and Memory Care Units at the
Community by the total number of age-qualified individuals and age-and income-qualified individuals in the
PMA.
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Table 21
Assisted Living and Memory Care Estimated Penetration Rate Analysis – 2016

Estimated Age
Qualified Individuals

Estimated Penetration Rates
Market Penetration Rate Analysis:
Market Inventory of Assisted Living Units in the PMA:
The Project
Existing comparable assisted living and memory support facilities
Total units at the Project and existing comparable facilities

(1)

Number of units assuming 65% of Community residents originate from the PMA at
95% occupancy, and 70% of existing comparable residents originate from the PMA
at 93% occupancy [a]
(2)

Number of Qualified Individuals
Plus the number of Qualified Individuals currently residing at exisiting comparable
(1)

assisted living and memory support units in the PMA
Total Qualified Individuals [b]
Market Penetration Rate - The Project and Existing Comparable Units [a/b]
Number of Planned comparable units assuming 70% of residents will originate from
the PMA at 95% occupancy [c]
Total existing and planned units to be occupied in the PMA [a+c] [d]
Market Penetration Rate - The Project Existing Comparable and Planned
Comparable Units [d/b]
Project Penetration Rate Analysis:
Number of units at the Project assuming 65% of residents originate from the PMA
at 95% occupancy [e]
Project Penetration Rate [e/b]

Estimated Age and
Income Qualified
Individuals

65

65

187
252

151
216

162

138

201

104

177
378
42.8%

143
247
55.8%

0

0

162

138

42.8%

55.8%

40
10.6%

40
16.2%

Source: Management
Notes:
(1) Excludes existing comparable units occupied by low-income residents for the Estimated Age and Income
Qualified Individuals calculation.
(2) Number of qualified individuals from the previous table.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Accounting
The Company’s forecasted financial statements are presented using the accrual basis of accounting.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are assumed to include certain investments in highly liquid instruments with original
maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition, which are not included in assets limited as to use or
investments.
Accounts Receivable, Residents
The Company plans to report accounts receivable at the original invoice amount less an estimate for doubtful
receivables based on a review of all outstanding amounts on a monthly basis. Management plans to determine the
allowance for doubtful accounts by identifying troubled accounts and by using historical experience applied to an
aging of accounts. Resident accounts receivable will be written off when deemed uncollectible and recoveries of
balances previously written off will be recorded when received.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment additions are stated at cost, which includes interest capitalized during construction.
Contributed property is assumed to be recorded at its estimated fair value at the date of receipt. Depreciation is
forecasted on a straight-line basis for all depreciable assets over estimated useful lives. Management has estimated
useful lives ranging from 35 years for buildings and improvements and 10 years for furniture and equipment.
The Company periodically assesses the ability to realize the value of its long-lived assets and evaluates such
assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may
not be recoverable. For assets to be held, impairment is determined to exist if estimated future cash flows,
undiscounted and without interest charges, are less than the carrying amount. For assets to be disposed of,
impairment is determined to exist if the estimated net realizable value is less than the carrying amount. The
Company has determined that there are no indicators of impairment during the prospective reporting period.
Assets Limited as to Use
Assets limited as to use include assets held by a bond trustee under bond indenture agreements. Assets limited as
to use which are assumed to be available to meet current obligations are classified as current assets. Assets limited
as to use are assumed to be carried at fair value. Management does not assume any changes in the underlying
values of the assets limited as to use during the Forecast Period that would result in realized or unrealized gains or
losses.
Deferred Financing Costs
Financing costs incurred in connection with the issuance of long-term debt are assumed to be deferred and
amortized using the straight line method over the term of the related financing.
Investments and Investment Income
Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all investments in debt securities are
forecasted to be measured at fair value. Investment income or loss is assumed to be included in the operating
income unless the income or loss is restricted by donor or law. Management classifies investments as trading
securities, and therefore, will project unrealized losses, and changes in cash flows for investments, as cash flows
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from operating activities. Management has not forecasted any unrealized gains or losses on investments during
the Forecast Period.
Resident Service Revenue
Resident service revenue is forecasted to be reported at the estimated net realizable amounts from residents and
third-party payors, including estimated retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-party
payors. Resident service revenue is recorded as revenue when earned. Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an
estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as final settlements
are determined. Management has not assumed any third-party settlements or adjustments during the Forecast
Period.
Contributions
The Company reports contributions of cash and other assets as temporarily restricted net assets if they are
received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction expires, that is,
when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, temporarily restricted net assets are
reclassified to unrestricted net assets and reported in the statements of operations and changes in unrestricted net
assets as assets released from restrictions. The Company reports contributions of property and equipment as
additions to unrestricted net assets unless explicit donor stipulations specify how the donated assets must be used.
Contributions of long-lived assets with explicit restrictions that specify how the assets are to be used and
contributions of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire long-lived assets are reported as temporarily
restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long these assets must be maintained, the
Company reports expirations of donor restrictions when the donated or acquired long-lived assets are placed in
service.
Income Taxes
The Company is granted an exemption from federal income taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal
Revenue Code and has been designated as a publicly supported organization through PHHAL’s exemption as a
sole member of the Company; accordingly, no provision for income taxes has been made in the forecasted
financial statements.
Real Estate Taxes
The real estate of the Company is forecasted to be exempted from ad valorem property taxes by the State of
Wisconsin and their political subdivisions.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America, requires Management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.
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MANAGEMENT’S BASIS FOR FORECAST OF REVENUES
Forecasted revenues for the Community are primarily based on the monthly service fees assumed by Management
to be charged to the residents and the assumed utilization of the Independent Living Units and Assisted Living
Center, consisting of Assisted Living Units and Memory Care Units.
Forecasted Occupancy Levels
Forecasted occupancy for the Community’s Independent Living Units is based upon Management’s assumed
move-in schedule for these units. Occupancy of the Assisted Living Center is forecasted to be primarily from
direct entrants, as provided by Management, and transfers from the Independent Living Units.
The following tables reflect Management’s anticipated move-in schedule for the Community’s Independent
Living Units, Assisted Living Units, and Memory Care Units, respectively, upon completion of the Project, as
well as forecasted occupancy and utilization assumptions for the Community.
Table 22
Forecasted Independent Living Units Move-In Schedule

Month/Year
2016
February 2016
March 2016
April 2016
May 2016
June 2016
July 2016
August 2016
September 2016
2017
October 2016
November 2016
December 2016
January 2017
February 2017
March 2017
April 2017
May 2017
June 2017
July 2017
Thereafter

Cumulative Occupancy
Number
of Units
Percentage

Total
Units

Net
Move-Ins

95
95
95
95
95
95
95
95

14.3
17.9
3.7
3.7
3.7
3.7
3.7
3.7

14.3
32.2
35.9
39.6
43.3
47.0
50.7
54.4

15.0%
33.9%
37.8%
41.7%
45.6%
49.4%
53.3%
57.2%

95
95
95
95
95
95
95
95
95
95
95

3.7
3.7
3.7
3.7
3.7
3.7
3.7
3.7
3.7
2.6

58.1
61.8
65.4
69.1
72.8
76.5
80.2
83.9
87.6
90.3
90.3

61.1%
65.0%
68.9%
72.8%
76.7%
80.6%
84.4%
88.3%
92.2%
95.0%
95.0%

Source: Management
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Table 23
Forecasted Assisted Living Units Move-In Schedule

Month/Year
2016
March 2016
April 2016
May 2016
June 2016
July 2016
August 2016
September 2016
2017
October 2016
November 2016
December 2016
January 2017
February 2017
March 2017
April 2017
May 2017
June 2017
July 2017
August 2017
September 2017
2018
October 2017
Thereafter

Cumulative Occupancy
Number
of Units
Percentage

Total
Units

Net
Move-Ins

46
46
46
46
46
46
46

9.2
1.8
1.8
1.8
1.8
1.8
1.8

9.2
11.0
12.9
14.7
16.6
18.4
20.2

20.0%
24.0%
28.0%
32.0%
36.0%
40.0%
44.0%

46
46
46
46
46
46
46
46
46
46
46
46

1.8
1.8
1.8
1.8
1.8
1.8
1.8
1.8
1.8
1.8
1.8
1.8

22.1
23.9
25.8
27.6
29.4
31.3
33.1
35.0
36.8
38.6
40.5
42.3

48.0%
52.0%
56.0%
60.0%
64.0%
68.0%
72.0%
76.0%
80.0%
84.0%
88.0%
92.0%

46
46

1.4

43.7
43.7

95.0%
95.0%

Source: Management
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Table 24
Forecasted Memory Care Units Move-In Schedule

Month/Year
2016
March 2016
April 2016
May 2016
June 2016
July 2016
August 2016
September 2016
2017
October 2016
November 2016
December 2016
January 2017
February 2017
March 2017
April 2017
May 2017
June 2017
July 2017
August 2017
September 2017
2018
October 2017
Thereafter

Cumulative Occupancy
Number
of Units
Percentage

Total
Units

Net
Move-Ins

19
19
19
19
19
19
19

4.8
0.7
0.7
0.7
0.7
0.7
0.7

4.8
5.5
6.2
6.9
7.6
8.3
9.0

25.0%
28.8%
32.5%
36.3%
40.0%
43.8%
47.5%

19
19
19
19
19
19
19
19
19
19
19
19

0.7
0.7
0.7
0.7
0.7
0.7
0.7
0.7
0.7
0.7
0.7
0.7

9.7
10.5
11.2
11.9
12.6
13.3
14.0
14.7
15.4
16.2
16.9
17.6

51.3%
55.0%
58.8%
62.5%
66.3%
70.0%
73.8%
77.5%
81.3%
85.0%
88.8%
92.5%

19
19

0.5

18.1
18.1

95.0%
95.0%

Source: Management

Forecasted Monthly Service Fees/Daily Rates
Independent Living Units
The following table summarizes the average monthly service fees for the Independent Living Units at the planned
opening in February 2016.
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Table 25
Independent Living Units
Forecasted Monthly Service Fees at Planned Opening

Unit Type
One-Bedroom
One-Bedroom, Plus Den or Sun Room
Two-Bedroom
Two-Bedroom, Plus Den or Sun Room
Total/Weighted Average

Number of
Units

Monthly
Service Fee

23
33
31
8
95

$1,644-$2,159
$2,109-$2,595
$2,631-$3,268
$3,227-$3,904
$2,503

Source: Management
Management has forecasted that monthly service fees for the Independent Living Units will be inflated by an
average of 3.0 percent per annum beginning on October 1, 2017.
Assisted Living Units
The following table summarizes the average monthly service fees for the Assisted Living Units at the planned
opening in March 2016.

Table 26
Assisted Living Units
Forecasted Monthly Service Fees at Planned Opening

Units

Monthly
(1)
Service Fee

Service Fee

6
32
6
2
46

$3,150-$3,250
$3,600-$3,650
$3,750-$3,950
$4,200
$3,622

$1,154
$1,154
$1,154
$1,154
$1,154

$4,304-$4,404
$4,754-$4,804
$4,904-$5,104
$5,354
$4,776

Number of
Unit Type
Studio
One-Bedroom
One-Bedroom, Plus Den or Sun Room
Two-Bedroom
Total/Weighted Average

Total
Average
Monthly

Average
Additional
(2)
Service Fees

Source: Management
Notes:
(1) Residents are required to purchase the minimum basic personal care package which is an additional $332 per
month which is not reflected in the monthly service fee above.
(2) Additional service fees are forecasted based upon Management’s experience. Management has forecasted
average additional service fees ranging from $332 per month to $3,618 per month.
Management has forecasted that monthly service fees and the additional service fees for the Assisted Living Units
will be inflated by an average of 3.0 percent per annum beginning on October 1, 2017.
Management has forecasted the fee for second person occupants to be approximately $600 per month upon
opening of the Assisted Living Units in March 2016 and will be inflated by 3.0 percent on October 1, 2017.
Management has forecasted 5.0 percent of occupied Assisted Living Units to have second person occupants.
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Memory Care Units
The following table summarizes the average monthly service fees for the Memory Care Units at the planned
opening in March 2016.
Table 27
Memory Care Units
Forecasted Monthly Service Fees at Planned Opening

Units

Monthly
(1)
Service Fee

Average
Additional
(2)
Service Fees

Service Fee

4
12
2
1
19

$3,450-$3,550
$3,850-$3,950
$4,250
$4,600
$3,889

$3,012
$3,012
$3,012
$3,012
$3,012

$6,462-$6,562
$6,862-$6,962
$7,262
$7,612
$6,901

Number of
Unit Type
Studio
One-Bedroom
One-Bedroom, Plus Sun Room
Two-Bedroom
Total/Weighted Average

Total
Average
Monthly

Source: Management
Notes:
(1) Residents are required to purchase the minimum basic personal care package which is an additional $2,240 per
month which is not reflected in the monthly service fee above.
(2) Additional service fees are forecasted based upon Management’s experience. Management has forecasted
average additional service fees ranging from $2,240 per month to $3,870 per month.
Management has forecasted that monthly service fees and the additional service fees for the Memory Care Units
will be inflated by an average of 3.0 percent per annum beginning on October 1, 2017.
Interest Income
Interest income consists of interest earned on available cash and cash equivalents and assets limited as to use.
During construction of the Project, interest expense on the Series 2014 Bonds has been netted with interest earned
on the various trustee-held funds relating to the Series 2014 Bonds. The following table reflects Management’s
assumed realized investment earning rates during the Forecast Period.
Table 28
Forecasted Investment Earning Rates

For the Years Ending September 30,
2015
2016
2017
2018
n/a
n/a
0.00% 0.50%
2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%
0.25% 0.25% 0.25%
n/a
0.00% 0.00%
n/a
n/a
n/a
0.25% 0.25% 0.25%

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Debt Service Reserve Fund
Project Fund
Funded Interest Fund
Bond Fund
Source: Management and Underwriter
n/a = not applicable
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Management does not forecast any unrealized or realized gains/losses from the valuation or sale of investments
during the Forecast Period.
Other Revenue
Management has forecasted other revenue to include revenue related to the Medical Suite lease revenue, guest
rooms, parking garage, housekeeping, dining packages, guest meals, beauty shop, telephone/internet,
vending/general store, and other services. Management has forecasted other revenue, excluding Medical Suite
lease revenue, equal to approximately 6 percent of resident services revenue for the year ending September 30,
2016 and 5 percent of resident services revenue throughout the remainder of the Forecast Period.

MANAGEMENT’S BASIS FOR FORECAST OF EXPENSES
Operating Expenses
Operating expenses have been forecasted to be recognized during the month incurred. Management has forecasted
operating expenses based upon Management’s operating plans for the Community and its experience operating
similar retirement communities. In general, operating expenses are forecasted to increase during the fill-up period
of the Community and by 3.0 percent annually throughout the Forecast Period for inflation, except for certain
expenses as noted in the paragraphs that follow.
The specific basis for major expense items were formulated by Management and are discussed below.
Salaries and Benefits
A full-time equivalent employee (“FTE”) represents 2,080 hours of time paid annually. Average hourly rates are
forecasted to increase at a rate of 3.0 percent annually for inflation throughout the Forecast Period for the
Community. Listed below are Management’s forecasted FTEs and average hourly rates, by department, for the
Community upon opening for the years ending September 30, 2016 through 2018.
Table 29
Forecasted Staffing and Average Hourly Rates of the Community
(In Full-Time Equivalents)

Departments
Nursing
Culinary
Plant Operations and Maintenance
Housekeeping and Laundry Services
Resident Activities
Administrative Services
Total/Weighted Average

For the Years Ending September 30,
2016
2017
2018
Number Average Number Average Number Average
of
Hourly
of
Hourly
of
Hourly
FTEs
Rate
FTEs
Rate
FTEs
Rate
10.54
8.03
1.38
1.39
1.38
3.27
25.99

Source: Management
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$16.58
$15.00
$18.61
$14.48
$16.90
$21.75
$16.76

21.91
12.78
2.50
2.70
2.40
4.90
47.19

$16.48
$15.30
$19.18
$14.69
$17.81
$22.18
$16.86

21.91
12.78
2.50
2.70
2.40
4.90
47.19

$16.98
$15.76
$19.75
$15.14
$18.34
$22.85
$17.37
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Benefit costs are assumed to include payroll taxes and employee benefits including FICA, unemployment taxes,
workers’ compensation, health insurance, and other miscellaneous benefits. These benefit costs are assumed to
approximate 25 percent of wages for the year ending September 30, 2016 and 21 percent of wages throughout the
remainder of the Forecast Period for the Community.
Nursing
Non-salary costs in this department include Management’s estimate of the costs of operating the Assisted Living
Center. These non-salary costs include costs for supplies and other miscellaneous costs incurred in the provision
of assisted living and memory care services. Management has forecasted these costs beginning in the year ending
September 30, 2016 based upon the number of months the Assisted Living Center is planned to be open.
Additionally, these costs are anticipated to increase for inflation at 3.0 percent annually throughout the Forecast
Period.
Culinary
Non-salary related costs of the culinary department include Management’s estimate of the costs for raw food,
culinary supplies, equipment, linens, and other such costs. Raw food costs are forecasted to increase during the
Community’s assumed fill-up correlating with increases in meal consumptions as a result of higher census, with
the overall cost of raw food costs per meal increasing annually at 3.0 percent for inflation. Other culinary
department costs are anticipated to increase at 3.0 percent annually throughout the Forecast Period for inflation.
Plant Operations and Maintenance
Non-salary related costs in this department include Management’s estimate of the cost for electricity, water,
sewer, gas, sanitation, service contracts, repairs, general maintenance, and operating supplies which Management
assumes are primarily fixed in nature. Management has forecasted these costs for the year ending September 30,
2016 based upon the number of months the Community is planned to be open. Additionally, these costs are
anticipated to increase for inflation at 3.0 percent annually throughout the Forecast Period.
Housekeeping and Laundry Services
Non-salary related costs of housekeeping and laundry services include Management’s estimate of the costs for
supplies, chemicals and other miscellaneous costs associated with providing housekeeping and laundry services to
residents. Management has forecasted these costs for the year ending September 30, 2016 based upon the number
of months the Community is planned to be open. Additionally, these costs are anticipated to increase for inflation
at 3.0 percent annually throughout the Forecast Period.
Resident Activities
Non-salary related costs of resident activities include Management’s estimate of costs for items such as resident
entertainment, resident functions, spiritual care, vehicle repairs, gasoline and oil, and other such costs based on
Management’s assumptions. Management has forecasted these costs for the year ending September 30, 2016
based upon the number of months the Community is planned to be open. Additionally, these costs are anticipated
to increase for inflation at 3.0 percent annually throughout the Forecast Period.
Administrative Services
Non-salary related costs of administration are forecasted to include Management’s estimate of costs for cable
television, telephone service, professional fees, Management Fees, marketing costs under the Marketing
Agreement, other marketing costs, professional liability insurance, supplies, and other miscellaneous costs.
Management has forecasted these costs, excluding Management Fees and costs under the Marketing Agreement,
for the year ending September 30, 2016 based upon the number of months the Community is planned to be open.
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Additionally, these costs are anticipated to increase for inflation at 3.0 percent annually throughout the Forecast
Period. Management Fees have been forecasted based upon terms of the Management Agreement as more fully
described previously herein. Marketing costs related to the Marketing Agreement have been forecasted based
upon the terms of the Marketing Agreement as more fully described previously herein. Management has
forecasted initial marketing costs to be funded by the proceeds of the Series 2014 Bonds.
Depreciation and Amortization
Property and equipment are forecasted to be depreciated over their estimated useful lives by the straight-line
method. Amortization expense is forecast based on amortizing deferred financing costs related to the Company’s
outstanding debt using the straight line method over the term of the debt.
Interest Expense
Interest expense is forecasted related to the anticipated debt service requirements of the Series 2014 Bonds, as
provided by the Underwriter. Management has capitalized interest expense during the development and
construction period of the Community, net of interest income on the related trustee-held funds.

MANAGEMENT’S BASIS FOR FORECAST OF OTHER ITEMS
Current Assets and Current Liabilities
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalent balances for the Forecast Period are assumed to reflect net cash flows during the
Forecast Period.
Accounts Receivable, Residents
Accounts receivable, net of an allowance for non-collectible accounts, are forecasted based on Management’s
estimate of 5 days of resident services revenue in accounts receivable throughout the Forecast Period.
Prepaid Expenses and Other
Prepaid expenses and other are forecasted based upon Management’s estimate of 1.0 percent of operating
expenses excluding salaries, employee benefits and payroll taxes, depreciation, amortization and interest
throughout the Forecast Period.
Accounts Payable
Accounts payable are forecasted based upon Management’s estimate of 30 days of operating expenses excluding
salaries, employee benefits and payroll taxes, depreciation, amortization and interest throughout the Forecast
Period.
Accrued Salaries, Benefits, and Payroll Taxes
Accrued salaries, benefits and payroll taxes are forecasted based upon Management’s estimate of 30 days of
salaries, employee benefits and payroll taxes during the Forecast Period.
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Accrued Interest
Accrued interest is forecasted based upon the terms of the Series 2014 Bonds during the Forecast Period.
Assets Limited as to Use
Trustee Held Funds
The following funds are forecasted to be held by the Series 2014 Bonds’ trustee in the name of the Company:
Debt Service Reserve Fund — The Company is required to maintain a debt service reserve fund
approximately equal to the maximum annual debt service requirement of the Series 2014 Bonds (excluding
the year of final maturity). It is assumed that no draw against the debt service reserve fund will be required
during the Forecast Period. Forecasted interest earnings on the debt service reserve fund are assumed to be
transferred to the bond fund annually.
Project Fund — Upon the assumed issuance of the Series 2014 Bonds, the project fund is planned to be
funded to include the forecasted amount of funds needed to pay for remaining Project-related costs.
Funded Interest Fund — Upon the assumed issuance of the Series 2014 Bonds, the funded interest fund is
planned to be net funded to pay for interest expense on the Series 2014 Bonds for the first 15 months after
the issuance of the Series 2014 Bonds.
Bond Fund — The bond fund is planned to represent monthly advance payments of bond principal and
interest to be made by the Company to the Bond Trustee relating to the Series 2014 Bonds. The funds held in
the Bond Fund will be used by the bond trustee to make the principal payments and the interest payments to
the owners of the Series 2014 Bonds when due.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment balances, net of accumulated depreciation, are forecasted based on assumed costs of
constructing the Project, and other routine property and equipment additions during the Forecast Period, reduced
by estimated annual depreciation. The following table reflects Project related costs, capitalized interest, net of
interest earnings, and other routine capital additions during the Forecast Period.
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Table 30
Forecasted Property and Equipment Additions
(000s Omitted)
For the Years Ending September 30,
2015
2016
2017
2018
Property and Equipment, Beginning
Project Costs

(1)

Capitalized Interest, Net
Routine Additions
Total

(2)

$

-

$ 29,378

27,440

11,644

1,938
$ 29,378

732
$ 41,754

$ 41,754
80
$ 41,834

$ 41,834
80
$ 41,914

Source: Management
Notes:
(1) Project Costs are shown as Construction in Progress on the Statement of Financial Position until placed in
service.
(2) Capitalized Interest, Net is shown net of interest income of $81,000 in 2015 and $49,000 in 2016.
Deferred Financing Costs
Financing costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Series 2014 Bonds are forecasted to be deferred
and amortized based on the straight-line method over the term of the related debt.
Long-Term Debt
After the assumed issuance of the Series 2014 Bonds, the Company’s long-term debt is assumed to be equal to the
debt service requirements associated with the Series 2014 Bonds. See the notes to Table 5 for a summary of the
terms of the Series 2014 Bonds.
The following table presents a summary of the assumed annual principal payments for the Series 2014 Bonds
which is presented on a September 30, fiscal year basis.
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Table 31
Series 2014 Bonds
Forecasted Principal Payments
(000s Omitted)
Series
2014
Bonds

Fiscal Year
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
$

545
555
575
595
630
650
40,380
43,930

Source: Management and Underwriter

Unrestricted Net Assets
Unrestricted net assets for the Forecast Period are based on the results of the Forecasted Statements of Operations
and Changes in Unrestricted Net Assets. Management has forecasted $4,000,000 to be transferred to the Company
from PHS during the year ending September 30, 2015.
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SENSITIVITY ANALYSES
The financial forecast was prepared based on assumptions made by Management concerning future
operations of the Company. Various factors and conditions may occur which could adversely affect the
forecast of the financial condition of the Company and its ability to meet debt service requirements. These
factors may include, but may not be limited to, legislation and regulatory actions, changes in assumptions
concerning occupancy, rental rates, financing, construction costs, operating costs, occupancy variations due
to increased competition from other senior housing facilities. Furthermore, Management prepared its
financial forecast assuming that the Company obtains financing at rates and terms similar to those
provided by the Underwriter, and the debt service requirements of the Series 2014 Bonds do not change
during the Forecast Period.
The analyses that follow should not be construed as reflecting the only significant assumptions presented in the
forecast. The sensitivity analyses represent Management’s estimates and the Underwriter’s request and have not
been examined. The sensitivity analyses are not intended to be all-inclusive, and are presented for the purpose of
demonstrating the significance of: (1) an extended move-in period and a reduction in stabilized occupancy of the
Community, and (2) operating costs exceeding forecasted amounts.
Sensitivity Analysis #1 - Occupancy
Sensitivity Analysis #1A in Table 32, as presented by Management, was conducted to reflect the impact of a 6
month extension in the assumed move-in period of the Community’s units without a corresponding ability to
reduce operating expenses.
Sensitivity Analysis #1B in Table 32 was conducted to estimate the reduction in forecasted stabilized occupancy
of the Community for the year ending September 30, 2018 to a breakeven point such that the Company’s
forecasted annual debt service coverage ratio for the year ending September 30, 2018 would approximate 1.00,
without a corresponding ability to reduce operating expenses.
The following table contrasts the forecasted financial metrics against the sensitivity analyses.

C-58

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT FORECAST ASSUMPTIONS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Table 32
Sensitivity Analysis #1
For the Year Ending September 30, 2018
As Forecasted
Sensitivity #1A

Sensitivity #1B

ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE
RATIO

1.33

1.26

1.00

MAXIMUM ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE
COVERAGE RATIO

1.33

1.25

1.00

NUMBER OF DAYS OF CASH ON
HAND

126

48

68

As Forecasted

Sensitivity #1A

Sensitivity #1B

27.8%
81.3%
95.0%

23.7%
69.7%
93.8%

27.8%
81.3%
82.5%

18
5.01

24
3.76

18
5.01

18.7%
70.0%
95.0%

15.7%
58.8%
90.5%

18.7%
70.0%
82.5%

20
2.19

26
1.68

20
2.19

21.1%
71.9%
95.0%

18.2%
61.8%
91.0%

21.1%
71.9%
82.5%

20
0.90

26
0.69

20
0.90

Independent Living Units:
Average Occupancy for the Year Ending:
September 30, 2016
September 30, 2017
September 30, 2018
Initial Move-in Period:
Number of Months
Average Monthly Move-ins
Assisted Living Units
Average Occupancy for the Year Ending:
September 30, 2016
September 30, 2017
September 30, 2018
Initial Move-in Period:
Number of Months
Average Monthly Move-ins
Memory Care Units
Average Occupancy for the Year Ending:
September 30, 2016
September 30, 2017
September 30, 2018
Initial Move-in Period:
Number of Months
Average Monthly Move-ins

Source: Management
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Sensitivity Analysis #2 – Operating Expense Inflation
Sensitivity Analysis #2 in Table 33 was conducted to estimate the impact of operating expenses increasing at a
rate of 1% per year greater than forecasted levels throughout the Forecast Period without a corresponding ability
to increase operating revenues.
The following table contrasts the forecasted financial metrics against the sensitivity analyses.
Table 33
Sensitivity Analyses #2
For the Year Ending September 30, 2018

Forecasted Annual Debt Service Coverage Ratio
Forecasted Maximum Annual Debt Service Coverage Ratio
Number Days Cash on Hand

Source: Management
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As Forecasted

Sensitivity #2

1.33
1.33
126

1.31
1.31
121

APPENDIX D
DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS AND SUMMARIES OF BOND DOCUMENTS

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS AND SUMMARIES OF BOND DOCUMENTS
Brief descriptions of the Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Mortgage, the Limited Guaranty and the
Disbursing Agreement are set forth below. Those descriptions do not purport to be comprehensive or definitive. All
references in this Official Statement to those documents are qualified in their entirety by reference to each
document, copies of which are available for review prior to the issuance and delivery of the Bonds at the offices of
the Authority and thereafter at the offices of the Trustee.
DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS
“Act” means Chapter 231, Wisconsin Statutes, as from time to time supplemented and amended.
“Additional Bonds” means any bonds issued pursuant to the provisions summarized under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Issuance of Additional Bonds.”
“Advance Refunded Municipal Obligations” means obligations of any state of the United States or any
political subdivision, public instrumentality or public authority of any state which (a) are not callable prior to
maturity or with respect to which irrevocable instructions concerning their calling and redemption have been given
by the trustee for them and (b) are fully secured by and payable solely from cash or U.S. Government Obligations
which (i) may be applied only to the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the obligations,
(ii) are held by an escrow agent or the Trustee pursuant to an escrow agreement satisfactory to the Trustee, (iii) are
not redeemable prior to maturity without the consent of their holder and (iv) are not available to satisfy any other
claims including those against the Trustee or the escrow agent.
“Affiliate” means any Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by or under direct or indirect
common control with the Borrower. For the purposes of this definition, “control” when used with respect to any
specified Person means the power to direct the management and policies of such Person, directly or indirectly,
whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise; and the terms “controlling” and
“controlled” have meanings correlative to the foregoing.
“Annual Debt Service Requirement” means, for any Fiscal Year of a Person, the total amount of principal
and interest on Indebtedness of that Person that was due in that Fiscal Year (whether by reason of stated maturity,
scheduled mandatory prepayment, operation of any mandatory sinking fund or otherwise) plus the total amount of
principal and interest on any debt guaranteed by that Person that was due in that Fiscal Year (whether by reason of
stated maturity, scheduled mandatory prepayment, operation of any mandatory sinking fund or otherwise), subject to
the following:
(a)
for Indebtedness subject to mandatory redemption prior to maturity through the operation
of a sinking fund, the amount of principal due in any Fiscal Year is determined by reference to the amounts
required to be deposited in that Fiscal Year in the sinking fund established for that Indebtedness and not by
reference to the aggregate principal amount of the Indebtedness (or the Bonds, as the case may be)
nominally due in that Fiscal Year,
(b)
for Indebtedness incurred as a temporary borrowing in anticipation of permanent
Indebtedness, Annual Debt Service Requirement is determined by assuming that the Indebtedness is
payable according to a binding commitment subject only to commercially reasonable contingencies by a
financial institution generally regarded as responsible, which commitment and institution are acceptable to
the Trustee, providing for the refinancing of the temporary Indebtedness on a long-term basis,
(c)
for Indebtedness which is subject to a Qualified Swap Agreement with a Swap Provider
requiring the Borrower to pay a fixed interest rate on a notional amount or requiring the Borrower to pay a
variable interest rate on a notional amount, and the Borrower has made a determination that the Qualified
Swap Agreement was entered for the purpose of providing substitute interest payments (or a portion
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thereof) for indebtedness of a particular maturity or maturities in a principal amount equal to the notional
amount of the Qualified Swap Agreement, then during the term of the Qualified Swap Agreement and so
long as the Swap Provider under the Qualified Swap Agreement is not in default under the Qualified Swap
Agreement, for purposes of any calculation of Annual Debt Service Requirement, the interest rate (or
portion thereof) on the indebtedness of that maturity or maturities will be determined as if the indebtedness
bore interest at the fixed interest rate or the variable interest rate, as the case may be, payable by the
Borrower after giving effect to the Qualified Swap Agreement if Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s has
assigned to the unsecured obligations of the Swap Provider, or the person who guarantees the obligations of
the Swap Provider to make its payments to the Borrower, as of the date the Qualified Swap Agreement is
entered, a rating of at least “A”, otherwise the higher of the rate on such indebtedness or the amount due
under the Qualified Swap Agreement,
(d)
for Indebtedness which is Commitment Indebtedness, no Annual Debt Service
Requirement shall be deemed payable until such time as funding occurs under the commitment that gave
rise to the Commitment Indebtedness,
(e)

for guaranties, as provided in the definition of “Indebtedness” and

(f)
for Balloon Indebtedness and Variable Rate Indebtedness, as summarized under the
heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT – Calculation of
Debt Service.”
“Arbitrage Bonds” means bonds which are arbitrage bonds within the meaning of Section 148 of the Code.
“Architect” as used in the Disbursing Agreement means Pope Architects Inc.
“Authority” means the Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority, a public body politic and
corporate organized and existing under the laws of the State of Wisconsin.
“Authority’s Documents” means the Loan Agreement, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Tax Exemption
Agreement, the Indenture and the Bonds.
“Authorized Borrower Representative” means the person identified in a written certificate which is signed
by the chief executive manager or chief financial manager of the Borrower, which contains a specimen of the
Authorized Borrower Representative’s signature and which has been delivered to the Trustee. Authorized Borrower
Representative includes any alternate or alternates designated in the certificate in the same manner. An Authorized
Borrower Representative or alternate may be an employee of the Borrower.
“Balloon Indebtedness” means Indebtedness 25% or more of the original principal amount of which
matures during any consecutive twelve-month period if the maturing principal amount is not required to be
amortized below that percentage by mandatory redemption or prepayment prior to the twelve-month period.
“Bond Counsel” means Counsel whose legal opinions on municipal bond issues are nationally recognized.
“Bond Documents” has the meaning attributed to it under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE MORTGAGE – Mortgaged Property.”
“Bond Financed Property” means any and all land, equipment, improvements or other real or personal
property of the Project financed with the proceeds of the Bonds, as more specifically identified in the Tax
Exemption Agreement.
“Bond Fund” means the fund by that name created by the Indenture.
“Bond Interest Payment Date” means each date on which a payment of interest on the Bonds is due.
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“Bond Principal Payment Date” means each date on which a payment of principal (whether upon maturity,
redemption, acceleration or otherwise) on the Bonds is due.
“Bond Purchase Agreement” means the Bond Purchase Agreement with respect to the Bonds among the
Borrower, the Authority and the Purchaser.
“Bonds” means the Series 2014 Bonds and any Additional Bonds.
“Book Value” means, when used in connection with the property and assets of the Borrower, that value of
such property, net of accumulated depreciation, as it is carried on the books of account of the Borrower and in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.
“Borrower” means Hudson Senior Housing, LLC, a Minnesota nonprofit limited liability company.
“Borrower’s Closing Certificate” means the Officer’s Certificate of the Borrower dated the date of and
delivered at the time of the issuance and sale of the Bonds.
“Borrower’s Documents” means the Loan Agreement, the Note, the Mortgage, the Bond Purchase
Agreement, the Tax Exemption Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the Disbursing Agreement, the
Limited Guaranty and all other documents to which the Borrower is a party related to the issuance of the Bonds.
“Closing Date” means the date the Bonds are delivered to the Purchaser against payment therefor pursuant
to the Bond Purchase Agreement.
“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, and any proposed,
temporary or final regulations related to it or any successor federal income tax code and its related regulations.
References to specific sections of the Code mean the designated sections of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, in effect on the date of the Loan Agreement and any successor or renumbered provisions.
“Commitment Indebtedness” means the obligation of the Borrower to repay amounts disbursed pursuant to
a commitment from a financial institution to refinance or purchase when due, when tendered or when required to be
purchased (a) other indebtedness of the Borrower, or (b) indebtedness guaranteed by the Borrower or secured by or
payable from amounts paid on indebtedness of the Borrower, and the obligation of the Borrower to pay interest
payable on amounts disbursed for such purposes, plus any fees, costs or expenses payable to such financial
institution for, under or in connection with such commitment, in the event of disbursement pursuant to such
commitment or in connection with enforcement thereof, including without limitation any penalties payable in the
event of such enforcement.
“Completion Certificate” means a certificate signed by the Authorized Borrower Representative (a) stating,
without prejudice as to rights against third parties, the date on which the Project was substantially completed to the
satisfaction of the Borrower, and that all costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Project and expected to
be paid with proceeds of the Bonds have been paid except for specified amounts either that are not yet due and
payable or that the Borrower is contesting in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (b) stating that all permits for
the occupancy and use of the Project have been obtained, if applicable, and (c) either (i) demonstrating that the
weighted average maturity of the Bonds does not exceed 120% of the average reasonably expected economic life of
the Bond Financed Property (taking into account any additions to or deletions from the Project as originally
contemplated), calculated in accordance with Section 147 of the Code or (ii) containing the agreement of the
Borrower to sufficiently shorten the weighted average maturity of the Bonds so that the condition described in (i)
will be met through a defeasance or optional redemption of a portion of the Bonds as provided in the Loan
Agreement.
“Continuing Disclosure Agreement” means the Continuing Disclosure Agreement between the Borrower
and the Trustee dated as of November 1, 2014.
“Counsel” means an attorney admitted to practice before the highest court of any state.
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“Days Cash on Hand” means the sum of Borrower’s unrestricted and unencumbered cash, cash equivalents,
Trustee held funds in the Bond Fund and marketable securities, divided by operating expenses including interest
expense (excluding depreciation and amortization), divided by 365 days measured as of the end of each Fiscal Year.
Days Cash on Hand does not include funds in the Replacement Reserve Fund or the Debt Service Reserve Fund.
Days Cash on Hand is calculated based on the Borrower’s most recent Fiscal Year end for which audited financial
statements are available.
“Debt Service Reserve Fund” means the fund by that name created by the Indenture.
“Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement” means $2,774,418.75; provided that upon any partial
redemption of the Bonds (other than a mandatory sinking fund redemption of the Bonds pursuant to the Indenture),
the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement shall be resized to be an amount equal to the lesser of (a) 100% of the
maximum amount of principal and interest due on the Outstanding Bonds in the then current or any Fiscal Year of
the Borrower after giving effect to the redemption (excluding, with respect to the Bonds, the year of the final
maturity thereof), (b) 10% of the original face amount of the Bonds or (c) 125% of the average annual principal and
interest requirements on the Outstanding Bonds after giving effect to the redemption.
“Default” means the occurrence of an event which, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both, is
an Event of Default.
“Defeasance Obligations” means noncallable U.S. Government Obligations not redeemable at the option of
the issuer or anyone acting on its behalf prior to maturity and Advance Refunded Municipal Obligations to the
extent permitted by law.
“Designated Trust Office” means the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee. The address of the
Designated Trust Office is initially the address set forth in the Loan Agreement which the Trustee has designated as
its address for receiving notices under the Indenture and the Loan Agreement.
“Determination of Taxability” means the issuance of a statutory notice of deficiency by the Internal
Revenue Service, or a ruling of the National Office or any District Office, or a final decision by any court of
competent jurisdiction that interest on Bonds is not excludable from the gross income of the recipient under Section
103 and related Sections of the Code and regulations thereunder because of any act or omission of the Borrower, any
Affiliate (or any successor or transferee) or of the Trustee, provided that the period for a contest or appeal, if any, of
such action, ruling or decision has expired without any such appeal or contest having been instituted, or, if instituted,
such contest or appeal has been unsuccessfully concluded. Inclusion of interest on Bonds in the computation of any
alternative minimum tax shall not be a Determination of Taxability.
“Disbursing Agreement” means the Disbursing Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, among the
Borrower, the Trustee and the Title Company.
“Domestic Corporation” means a corporation or other legal entity organized and existing under the laws of
the United States, one of the states of the United States or the District of Columbia.
“Event of Default” as used in or with reference to (a) the Loan Agreement has the meaning attributed to it
under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT – Events of
Default,” (b) the Indenture has the meaning attributed to it under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Events of Default,” (c) the Mortgage has the meaning attributed to it under
the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MORTGAGE – Events of Default” and (d) other
documents has the meaning attributed to it in them.
“Event of Taxability” means any act, omission or event which results in the interest paid or payable on any
Bond becoming includable for federal income tax purposes in the gross income of any owner.
“Facility” or “Facilities” means the Borrower’s senior living and related facilities located on its campus in
Hudson, Wisconsin, and all additions and improvements thereto, which includes, but is not limited to, the Project.
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“Financial Statement Recipients” means the Authority, the Trustee, the Purchaser and any firm or
corporation which has, at the request of the Borrower, assigned a credit rating to the Bonds.
“Fiscal Year” means the period commencing on the first day of October of each year and ending on the last
day of next succeeding September or such other period as the Borrower may adopt in the future as its fiscal year by
resolution of the board of directors of the Borrower.
“General Contractor” as used in the Disbursing Agreement means CBS Construction Services, Inc.
“Gross Revenues” as used in the Indenture and Loan Agreement means total operating revenues for a
specified period but excluding unrealized gains and losses on investments, as determined in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles.
“Gross Revenues” as used in the Mortgage means all receipts, revenues, income (including investment
income) and other money received or receivable by or on behalf of the Borrower from all sources, including without
limitation the operation, ownership and leasing of the Facilities, including any revenues received from daily or
monthly room charges, rents or the proceeds of any license or sublease permitted under the Loan Agreement, and all
rights to receive the same whether in the form of accounts, accounts receivable, general intangibles, contract rights,
chattel paper, instruments or other rights and the proceeds thereof, and any insurance proceeds and condemnation
awards therefrom to the extent provided in the Loan Agreement or the Mortgage, whether now existing or hereafter
coming into existence and whether now owned or held or hereafter acquired by the Borrower; provided, however,
that there shall be excluded from Gross Revenues, any security deposit received by the Borrower from residents and
any income derived therefrom.
“Guarantor” means Presbyterian Homes and Services, a Minnesota nonprofit corporation.
“Improvements” means any addition, enlargements, improvement, extension or alteration of or to the
Project as they then exist.
“Indebtedness” means (i) all obligations for the payment of money incurred or assumed by a Person which
appear as liabilities on its balance sheet as determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
consistently applied having a final maturity of more than one year from the date of its creation or which is renewable
or extendible at the option of the obligor for a period or periods more than one year from the date of its creation and
(ii) to the extent described below, all guaranties, in any manner, directly or indirectly, or any obligation of others. A
guaranty shall be disregarded as Indebtedness so long as all covenants with respect to the underlying indebtedness
are being observed and complied with by the primary obligor, but if there shall be a failure by the primary obligor to
so observe and comply with all such covenants, the guaranty shall be valued at twenty percent (20%) of the
indebtedness guaranteed (and the Annual Debt Service Requirements, if any, with respect to the guaranty, shall
likewise be measured at twenty percent of the debt service of the underlying guaranteed indebtedness accruing in
any Fiscal Year); provided, however, that if such guaranty shall have been drawn upon, then such guaranty shall be
valued at one hundred percent (100%) of the indebtedness so guaranteed (and the Annual Debt Service
Requirements, if any, with respect to the guaranty, shall likewise be measured at one hundred percent of the debt
service of the underlying guaranteed indebtedness accruing in any Fiscal Year), until such time as the primary
obligor on such underlying indebtedness repays all amounts drawn under the guaranty and no further draws have
occurred for at least two (2) years and the primary obligor has made payment of one hundred percent (100%) of the
payments due under such underlying indebtedness for such two year period. For purposes of this definition no
single evidence of indebtedness shall be counted more than once even though both clauses (i) and (ii) above may
apply.
“Indenture” means the Trust Indenture dated as of November 1, 2014 between the Authority and the
Trustee, as amended from time to time.
“Indenture Funds” means the Project Fund, the Issuing Expenses Fund, the Bond Fund, the Debt Service
Reserve Fund and any other funds or accounts created under the Indenture but does not include the Rebate Fund.

D-5

“Independent Accountant”—see definition of “Qualified Accountant” below.
“Independent Architect” means an architect, engineer or firm of architects or engineers selected by the
Borrower which has no specific interest, direct or indirect, in the Borrower and, in the case of an individual, is not a
director, officer or employee of the Borrower and, in the case of a firm, does not have a partner, director, officer or
employee who is a director, officer or employee of the Borrower.
“Independent Consultant” means a nationally recognized consultant or firm of independent certified public
accountants which has experience in the preparation of feasibility studies for use in connection with the financing of
health care institutions of the Borrower’s type, has been selected by the Borrower and is not unsatisfactory to the
Authority.
“Independent Engineer” as used in the Mortgage means an engineer or firm of engineers selected by the
Borrower which has no specific interest, direct or indirect, in the Borrower and, in the case of an individual, is not a
director, officer or employee of the Borrower and, in the case of a firm, does not have a partner, director, officer or
employee who is a director, officer or employee of the Borrower.
“Independent Insurance Consultant” means an insurance, actuarial or consultant of recognized standing
which has been selected by the Borrower and is not unsatisfactory to the Authority.
“Inspecting Architect” as used in the Disbursing Agreement means Pope Architects Inc.
“Interest Account” means the account by that name in the Bond Fund created by the Indenture.
“Issuing Expenses Fund” means the fund by that name created by the Indenture.
“Land” means the real estate described in the Mortgage and any additional real estate which may be
included within the lien of the Mortgage, but excluding any real estate released from the lien of the Mortgage
pursuant to the Mortgage or the terms of the Loan Agreement.
“Limited Guaranty” means the Limited Guaranty Agreement from the Guarantor to the Trustee dated as of
November 1, 2014.
“Loan” means the loan made by the Authority to the Borrower under the Loan Agreement.
“Loan Agreement” means the Loan Agreement dated as of November 1, 2014 between the Borrower and
the Authority, as amended from time to time.
“Long-Term Indebtedness” means Indebtedness of the Borrower other than Short-Term Indebtedness.
“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and its successors and assigns.
“Mortgage” means the Mortgage, Security and Assignment of Leases and Rents dated as of November 1,
2014 from the Borrower to the Trustee covering the Borrower’s facilities, equipment and its rents, leases and
accounts.
“Net Income Available for Debt Service” means the Borrower’s (a) revenues in excess (deficiency) of
expenses (less donor restricted charitable contributions) plus (b) interest payments on Indebtedness, depreciation and
amortization for the period of determination as shown on the statement of operations and changes in net assets
minus (c) gains and losses on sales of fixed assets and losses on extinguishment of indebtedness.
“Note” means the Borrower’s Promissory Note issued pursuant to the Loan Agreement.
“Officer’s Certificate” means (a) with respect to the Authority, a certificate of the Authority signed by the
Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, Executive Director or by any other person designated by resolution of the Authority
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to act for any of those officers, either generally or with respect to the execution of any particular document or other
specific matter, if a certified copy of the resolution has been filed with the Trustee; and (b) with respect to the
Borrower, a certificate signed by the chief executive manager or chief financial manager or by any other person
designated by an Authorized Borrower Representative.
“Opinion of Bond Counsel” means a written opinion, satisfactory in form and substance to the Trustee, of
Bond Counsel selected and paid by the Borrower and not unsatisfactory to the Authority.
“Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion, satisfactory in form and substance to the Trustee, of
Counsel selected and paid by the Borrower and not unsatisfactory to the Authority.
“Outstanding” when used with reference to the Bonds means all Bonds which have been authenticated and
delivered by the Trustee under the Indenture except
(a)
Bonds or portions of Bonds which have been canceled after (i) purchase in the open
market, (ii) payment at maturity or redemption prior to maturity or (iii) delivery to the Trustee by the
Borrower pursuant to the Indenture,
(b)
Bonds for the payment or redemption of which there has been deposited with the Trustee,
in trust, cash or Defeasance Obligations in an amount sufficient, including in the case of Defeasance
Obligations the income or increment to accrue on them, but without reinvestment, to pay or redeem (when
redeemable) the Bonds at or before their respective maturity dates, including interest which has accrued on
the Bonds and will accrue to the final payment or redemption of the Bonds and any redemption premium
on them; provided that if the Bonds are to be redeemed prior to their maturity irrevocable notice of the
redemption has been given or irrevocable arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee have been made for the
giving of a notice of redemption, and provided further that the requirements summarized under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Discharge” have been satisfied with
respect to such Bonds,
(c)

Bonds in lieu of which other Bonds have been authenticated under the Indenture, and

(d)
for purposes of any agreement, acceptance, approval, waiver, consent, request or other
action to be taken under the Loan Agreement or the Indenture by the Registered Owners of a specified
percentage of principal amount of Bonds, Bonds held by or for the account of the Authority, the Borrower
or any Person controlling, controlled by or under common control with any of them.
“Person” means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a joint stock company, a joint
venture, a trust, an unincorporated organization, or a government or any agency or political subdivision thereof.
“Prepayment Account” means the account by that name in the Bond Fund created by the Indenture.
“Principal Account” means the account by that name in the Bond Fund created by the Indenture.
“Project” means the Borrower’s project described under the heading “THE PROJECT” in the forepart of
this Official Statement.
“Project Cost” means any costs of the Project that are permitted to be financed under the Act, the payment
of which will not cause an Event of Taxability to occur and that are not Issuing Expenses.
“Project Fund” means the fund by that name created by the Indenture.
“Purchaser” means the initial purchaser of the Bonds, whether one or more.
“Qualified Accountants” means (a) CliftonLarsonAllen, LLP, (b) a firm of certified public accountants of
the size and type commonly referred to as nationally known certified public accountants or (c) a firm of independent
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public accountants selected by the Borrower and not unsatisfactory to the Trustee and the Authority, which approval
shall not be unreasonably withheld.
“Qualified Investments” means, subject to the Tax Exemption Agreement:
(a)
U.S. Government Obligations and bonds or securities issued or guaranteed as to principal
and interest by a commission, board or other instrumentality of the federal government,
(b)

short-term discount obligations of the Federal National Mortgage Association,

(c)
certificates of deposit or time deposits constituting direct obligations of any bank the full
amount of which is insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation,
(d)
time deposits in any credit union, bank, savings bank, trust company or savings and loan
association which is authorized to transact business in the State if the time deposits mature in not more than
three years,
(e)
bonds or securities of any county, city, drainage district, technical college district, village,
town or school district of the State,
(f)
any security which matures or which may be tendered for purchase at the option of the
holder within not more than seven years of the date on which it is acquired, if that security has a rating
which is the highest or second highest rating category assigned by S&P, Moody’s or other similar
nationally recognized rating agency or if that security is senior to, or on a parity with, a security of the same
issuer which has such a rating,
(g)
securities of an open-end management investment company or investment trust if the
investment company or investment trust does not charge a sales load, if the investment company or
investment trust is registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, 15 USC 80a-1 to 80a-64, and if
the portfolio of the investment company or investment trust is limited to the following: (i) bonds and
securities issued by the federal government or a commission, board or other instrumentality of the federal
government, (ii) bonds that are guaranteed as to principal and interest by the federal government or a
commission, board or other instrumentality of the federal government and (iii) repurchase agreements that
are fully collateralized by bonds or securities described under (i) or (ii) and
(h)
any other obligation or security which constitutes a permitted investment for money of
the Authority as a result of an amendment of the Act subsequent to November 1, 2014 if the prior written
consent of the Authority is obtained.
“Qualified Swap Agreement” means an agreement between the Borrower and a Swap Provider under which
the Borrower agrees to pay the Swap Provider an amount calculated at an agreed-upon rate or index based upon a
notional amount and the Swap Provider agrees to pay the Borrower for a specified period of time an amount
calculated at an agreed-upon rate or index based upon the same notional amount.
“Rebate Fund” means the fund by that name created by the Tax Exemption Agreement.
“Registered Owner” or “Owner” or “holder” or “Bondholder” when used with reference to a Bond means
the person who is the registered owner of a Bond or that person’s legal representative.
“Registered Owner’s Address” means the address, which a Registered Owner may change upon written
request to the Trustee, of the Registered Owner of any Bond as it appears in the Registration Books.
“Registration Books” means books maintained by the Trustee on behalf of the Authority at the Designated
Trust Office of the Trustee for the purpose of recording the registration, transfer, exchange or replacement of any of
the Bonds.
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“Related Facilities” means any structures, buildings or other facilities hereinafter acquired or constructed
by the Borrower and located on the Land (excluding the Project), and used, directly or indirectly, for senior living
and related purposes.
“Replacement Reserve Fund” means the fund by that name created by the Indenture.
“Revenues” means (a) all income and revenues derived pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement
(except to the extent included in Unassigned Rights) including all payments made by the Borrower in respect of the
Note, (b) all amounts realized upon recourse to the Loan Agreement or any collateral given by the Borrower to
secure the Borrower’s obligations under the Loan Agreement, (c) moneys and securities held by the Trustee in trust
funds under the Indenture other than the Rebate Fund and (d) earnings from the investment of money held by the
Trustee in the trust funds established under the Indenture (which does not include the Rebate Fund).
“Series 2014 Bonds” means the Authority’s Revenue Bonds, Series 2014 (Woodland Hill Senior Housing
Project).
“Short-Term Indebtedness” means any Indebtedness incurred, assumed or guaranteed by the Borrower
maturing not more than 365 days after it is incurred.
“Special Interest Rate” means (a) with respect to interest payable on the Note or any Bond, for each
maturity of Bonds to which such interest is related, the applicable rate of interest on such Bond plus two percent
(2%) and (b) with respect to interest otherwise payable to the Authority or the Trustee under the Loan Agreement or
the Indenture, at a rate per annum equal to the sum of the weighted average rate per annum payable on the Bonds
then Outstanding for the period in question plus two percent (2%).
“S&P” or “Standard & Poor’s” means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw Hill
Companies, Inc., and its successors and assigns.
“State” means the State of Wisconsin.
“Surviving Corporation” means the corporation or other legal entity surviving or resulting from a
consolidation or merger permitted by the provisions summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT – Maintenance of Tax Status,” the entity to whom all or
substantially all of the assets of the Borrower are sold or transferred in a sale or transfer permitted by the provisions
summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT –
Maintenance of Tax Status,” or, if the sale or transfer of assets is one described under the heading “SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT – Maintenance of Tax Status” and is to the Borrower, the
Borrower.
“Swap Provider” means the counterparty with which the Borrower enters a Qualified Swap Agreement.
“Tax Exemption Agreement” means the Tax Exemption Certificate and Agreement between the Authority,
the Borrower and the Trustee dated the date of issuance and delivery of the Bonds.
“Title Company” means First American Title Insurance Company.
“Trustee” means the trustee at the time serving under the Indenture.
“Unassigned Rights” means the Authority’s rights (a) to receive indemnity, payments for its expenses and
other payments under the Loan Agreement or any other document associated with the issuance of any Bonds, (b) to
execute and deliver amendments to the Loan Agreement and the Indenture and to receive notices and other
documents and to provide its consent, acceptance or approval with respect to matters as to which that right is given
in the Loan Agreement or the Indenture and (c) to receive indemnification and payment of expenses under the Bond
Purchase Agreement.
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“U.S. Government Obligations” means obligations which are direct, full faith and credit obligations of the
United States of America or are obligations with respect to which the United States of America has unconditionally
guaranteed the timely payment of all principal or interest or both, but only to the extent of the principal or interest so
guaranteed.
“Valuation Date” means each December 1, commencing December 1, 2015.
“Variable Rate Indebtedness” means any portion of Indebtedness the interest rate on which varies
periodically such that the interest rate at a future date cannot accurately be calculated.
SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE
Granting Clauses
In consideration of the acceptance by the Trustee of the trusts created by the Indenture, the purchase and
acceptance of the Bonds by the Purchaser and other good and valuable consideration, and to secure the payment of
the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds and the performance and observance by the Authority of
its obligations under the Indenture and the Bonds, pursuant to the Indenture the Authority pledges and assigns to the
Trustee and grants the Trustee a security interest in, with power of sale, the following property: (a) except for the
Unassigned Rights, the Authority’s entire right, title and interest in and to each of the Borrower’s Documents
specifically including the Authority’s right to receive payments from the Borrower under the Note, the Loan
Agreement and the other Borrower’s Documents; (b) the Authority’s entire right, title and interest in and to all
Revenues and all cash, securities or other investments held by the Trustee in any of the Indenture Funds or otherwise
under the terms of the Indenture; and (c) all money and securities from time to time held by the Trustee under the
terms of the Indenture (which does not include the Rebate Fund) and all other real or personal property from time to
time conveyed, pledged, assigned or transferred to the Trustee as additional security under the Indenture.
Authorization and Issuance of the Bonds
The Indenture authorizes the issuance of the Bonds and limits their aggregate principal amount to the
amount stated on the cover page of this Official Statement.
Use of Proceeds from the Sale of the Bonds
The Authority agrees in the Indenture to deposit the purchase price with the Trustee and, upon receipt, the
Trustee agrees in the Indenture to apply the purchase price in the manner described in the forepart of this Official
Statement. See “THE PROJECT” in the forepart of this Official Statement.
Bond Fund
The Indenture creates a trust fund designated the Hudson Senior Housing, LLC Bond Fund (the “Bond
Fund”). Within the Bond Fund are created the following Accounts:
Principal Account. Except as provided in the Indenture, money in the Principal Account will be
used solely (i) for the payment or scheduled mandatory redemption of the principal of the Bonds as it
becomes due, whether at maturity, redemption, acceleration or otherwise and (ii) for the redemption of the
Bonds from amounts transferred to the Principal Account from the Prepayment Account.
Interest Account. Except as provided in the Indenture, money in the Interest Account will be used
solely for the payment of the interest on the Bonds as it becomes due.
Prepayment Account. Money in the Prepayment Account will be used first to make up any
deficiencies existing in the Interest Account, Principal Account and Debt Service Reserve Fund (in that
order) and second for the payment of the principal of and premium, if any, on Bonds called for redemption
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as provided in the Indenture except for redemptions to satisfy sinking fund installments established for
sinking fund redemptions. Money on deposit in the Prepayment Account which is not needed to pay the
principal of or premium if any, on Bonds called for redemption may be used by the Trustee to purchase
Bonds in the open market for cancellation if the Trustee is requested to do so by the Borrower.
Whenever the amount in the Bond Fund from any source is sufficient to pay the principal of, unpaid
interest which has accrued on the Bonds and will accrue to the date the Bonds are redeemed and any redemption
premiums on all the Bonds then Outstanding and is available for that purpose the Trustee, upon the written request
of the Borrower, is instructed and agrees in the Indenture to take or cause to be taken the necessary steps to pay or
redeem all of the Bonds then Outstanding on the next date on which all of the Bonds may be redeemed and for
which the required redemption notice may be given.
If (i) on any date on which a payment from the Principal Account or the Interest Account is due there is not
enough money in the Principal Account or the Interest Account to make all of the payments then required to be
made from the Principal Account or the Interest Account or (ii) a Default or an Event of Default under the Indenture
has occurred and is continuing, then, prior to any transfers from any available debt service reserve fund, money in
any account of the Bond Fund may be immediately or from time to time thereafter transferred to any other account
in the Bond Fund which the Trustee determines to be appropriate for application as summarized under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Application of Proceeds.”
Project Fund
The Indenture creates a trust fund designated “Hudson Senior Housing, LLC Project Fund” (the “Project
Fund”). In addition, the Indenture also creates a subaccount in the Project Fund designated “Hudson Senior
Housing, LLC subaccount of the Project Fund” (the “Borrower’s Project Account”).
Money in the Project Fund will be used to pay Project Costs or to reimburse the Borrower for Project Costs
actually paid by it subsequent to the Closing Date. Upon the earlier of the receipt by the Trustee of a Completion
Certificate or the third anniversary of the original issuance and delivery of the Bonds, amounts on deposit in the
Project Fund or received for deposit in the Project Fund on any date thereafter will be transferred to the Principal
Account to the extent necessary to make the next payment therefrom so long as the next principal payment
therefrom is required to be made within 13 months from the date of deposit therein, then to the Interest Account to
the extent necessary to make the next two interest payments therefrom, and then to the Prepayment Account, and the
Trustee shall close the Project Fund, unless the Trustee is provided with an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect
that some other disposition of those amounts will not adversely affect the validity of the Bonds or any exclusion
from gross income for federal income tax purposes to which interest on the Bonds would otherwise be entitled in
which case the applicable provisions of the Indenture shall remain operative through the date set forth in such
Opinion of Bond Counsel. Moneys shall be disbursed from the Project Fund to fund requisitions, and the Trustee
shall only withdraw moneys from the Borrower’s Project Account of the Project Fund if so designated in the form of
Requisition.
The Trustee shall withdraw sufficient funds from the Project Fund to fund a deposit into the Interest
Account of the Bond Fund to pay each regularly scheduled payment of interest on the Bonds prior to the date of
delivery of the Completion Certificate (or such earlier date as directed in writing by the Borrower). The amount to
be transferred shall be net of any funds currently on deposit in the Interest Account of the Bond Fund due to a
transfer of funds from the Debt Service Reserve Fund, if any. Nothing summarized in this paragraph shall preclude
the Borrower from including interest as part of the requisition of funds from the Project Fund under the provisions of
the immediately preceding paragraph, if necessary or desired, and such requisition for interest is an eligible Project
Cost.
Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and an acceleration of Outstanding Bonds, money in the
Project Fund may be immediately or from time to time thereafter transferred to the account in the Bond Fund that
the Trustee determines to be appropriate for application as summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Application of Proceeds.”
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Issuing Expenses Fund
Money in the Issuing Expenses Fund will be used to pay Issuing Expenses or to reimburse the Borrower for
Issuing Expenses actually paid by it. No money on deposit in any fund or account created by the Indenture will be
used to pay Issuing Expenses other than money on deposit in the Issuing Expenses Fund. Upon the earlier of the
receipt by the Trustee of a Written Request of the Borrower to the effect that all Issuing Expenses have been paid
and that the Borrower has been reimbursed for all Issuing Expenses paid by it or the first anniversary of the original
issuance and delivery of the Bonds, the Trustee shall transfer any amounts then on deposit in the Issuing Expenses
Fund to the Project Fund (to the extent that the Project Fund has not been closed in accordance with the Indenture)
and applied as other amounts on deposit in the Project would be applied, then to the Principal Account to the extent
necessary to make the next payment therefrom so long as the next principal payment therefrom is required to be
made within 13 months from the date of deposit therein, then to the Interest Account to the extent necessary to make
the next two interest payments therefrom, and then to the Prepayment Account, and the Trustee shall close the
Issuing Expenses Fund.
Debt Service Reserve Fund
The Indenture creates a trust fund designated the Hudson Senior Housing, LLC Debt Service Reserve Fund
(the “Debt Service Reserve Fund”). Simultaneously with the issuance and sale of the Bonds proceeds of the sale in
an amount such that the balance in the Debt Service Reserve Fund is equal to the Debt Service Reserve Fund
Requirement shall be deposited in the Debt Service Reserve Fund. Amounts received from or for the account of the
Borrower pursuant to the provisions summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF
THE LOAN AGREEMENT – Debt Service Reserve Fund” shall also be deposited in the Debt Service Reserve
Fund.
Funds on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund will be used to make up deficiencies in the Interest
Account and Principal Account (in that order) in the event and to the extent that other amounts held by the Trustee
and available therefor are insufficient. The Authority authorizes and directs the Trustee to transfer sufficient funds
from the Debt Service Reserve Fund to the Principal Account and the Interest Account sufficiently in advance of a
Bond Interest Payment Date or a Bond Principal Payment Date so that the principal of, premium if any, and interest
on the Bonds are paid when due. The Trustee agrees in the Indenture to give prompt written notice to the Borrower
and the Authority whenever money is withdrawn from the Debt Service Reserve Fund which will be applied to the
payment of the principal of or interest on the Bonds.
If the value of the amount on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund is less than the Debt Service
Reserve Fund Requirement then the deficiency will be funded from payments received from the Borrower at the
times and in the amounts provided in the Loan Agreement. If on any Valuation Date the value of the amount on
deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund exceeds the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement the excess will be
transferred on that date to the Interest Account until the delivery of the Completion Certificate, and thereafter to the
Principal Account. Notwithstanding the other provisions of this paragraph, amounts on deposit in the Debt Service
Reserve Fund which would be in excess of the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement because of a partial
defeasance of the Bonds if the date of the partial defeasance were a Valuation Date, may, at the option of the
Borrower, on the date of the partial defeasance, be used to purchase Defeasance Obligations for deposit in an escrow
of the type described in clause (d)(ii) or (iv) under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE
INDENTURE – Discharge” which has been established in connection with the partial defeasance.
Whenever the value of the amount on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund, together with money on
deposit in the Interest Account and Principal Account which are available for that purpose, are sufficient to fully pay
the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on all Outstanding Bonds in accordance with their terms, then the
Trustee is authorized and directed to transfer all funds on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund to the Interest
Account and the Principal Account in such proportions that the amount on deposit in the Interest Account and
available for that purpose will be sufficient to fully pay the interest which will become due on Outstanding Bonds in
accordance with their terms and the amount on deposit in the Principal Account and available for that purpose will
be sufficient to pay the principal of and premium, if any, on the Outstanding Bonds in accordance with their terms.
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Anything in the Indenture or the Loan Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, so long as there is on
deposit in the Interest Account and the Principal Account an amount sufficient to pay the principal of, premium, if
any, and interest on all Outstanding Bonds in accordance with their terms and available for that purpose no deposit
is required to be made into the Debt Service Reserve Fund.
The Trustee agrees in the Indenture to cause investments in the Debt Service Reserve Fund to be valued on
each Valuation Date. The Trustee shall not be obligated to determine the value of the amount on deposit in the Debt
Service Reserve Fund on any date which is not a Valuation Date. The Trustee agrees in the Indenture to give
prompt written notice to the Borrower and the Authority of the fact if on any Valuation Date the Trustee determines
that the value of the investments on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund is less than the Debt Service Reserve
Fund Requirement.
Replacement Reserve Fund
The Indenture creates a fund designated as the “Replacement Reserve Fund,” to be funded with deposits
made by the Borrower pursuant to the provisions summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT – Deposits in Respect of the Note and Other Payments.” The
Trustee shall apply moneys on deposit in the Replacement Reserve Fund, upon written request of the Borrower, to
pay for the costs of maintenance of the Project or capital expenditures related to the Project, as certified by the
Borrower. It is expected that funds on deposit in the Replacement Reserve Fund will be used for the costs of
maintenance of the Project and other capital expenditures, and there is no reasonable assurance that the funds on
deposit in the Replacement Reserve Fund will be available to pay principal of or interest on the Bonds or the Note
even if the Borrower encounters financial difficulties.
Non-presentment of Bonds
If funds sufficient to pay the principal of any Bond when due (whether at maturity, redemption,
acceleration or otherwise) are on deposit with the Trustee but the Bond is not presented to the Trustee for payment,
then all liability of the Authority to the Registered Owner for the payment of the Bond is completely discharged.
The Trustee agrees in the Indenture to hold the funds on deposit for any Bonds that have not been presented when
due, but without liability for interest, solely for the benefit of the Registered Owners of those Bonds. Thereafter and
prior to the transfer provided for in the succeeding paragraph, the sole claim that any Registered Owner who did not
present its Bonds for payment when due has for the payment of its Bonds is to receive the funds held for its Bonds
by the Trustee.
Any money held by the Trustee pursuant to the provisions summarized under this heading that remains
unclaimed by the Registered Owners entitled to it for a period of five (5) years after the date on which those Bonds
became due will, except as may otherwise be provided by law, be paid to the Borrower upon its written request or, if
required by law, to the officer, board or body as may then be entitled by law to receive it. Thereafter, the Registered
Owners of the Bonds not presented for payment may look only to the holder of those funds for the payment of its
Bonds and may not look to the Trustee for payment of its Bonds and the Trustee has no responsibility with respect to
the money transferred or the unpresented Bonds.
Investments Generally
Subject to the requirements of the Tax Exemption Agreement and the limitations summarized under this
heading, the Trustee agrees in the Indenture, upon the written direction of the Borrower in accordance with the Loan
Agreement, to continuously invest and reinvest money on deposit in the Indenture Funds and the Rebate Fund in
Qualified Investments. The Trustee may conclusively rely upon the Borrower’s written instructions as to both the
suitability and legality of the directed investments. Ratings of Qualified Investments shall be determined at the time
of purchase of such Qualified Investments and without regard to ratings subcategories. The Trustee shall not be
responsible or liable for any loss suffered in connection with any investment made in accordance with the terms of
the Indenture and Loan Agreement. In the absence of investment instructions from the Borrower, the Trustee shall
not be responsible or liable for keeping the moneys held by it under the Indenture fully invested in Qualified
Investments and such amounts not invested in Qualified Investments will be uninvested. The Qualified Investments
acquired pursuant to the provisions summarized under this heading must be (i) securities which are traded on an
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established securities market and are purchased in such a market, (ii) direct obligations of the United States or (iii)
other obligations purchased at their fair market value under circumstances where their fair market value may be
established by published evidence. Investments made with money on deposit in the Indenture Funds and the Rebate
Fund may be made by the Trustee through its own bank investment department and (a) will have maturities or be
readily marketable prior to maturity in the amounts and not later than the dates as may be necessary to provide funds
for the purpose for which the money in any account is to be used, (b) will be held by or under the control of the
Trustee, (c) will at all times be considered a part of the account for whose benefit the investment was made, (d) will
have any loss attributable to them charged to the account for whose benefit the investment was made, (e) in the case
of the Interest Account and the Principal Account, will have any interest or profit derived from them applied as
summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT –
Deposits in Respect of the Note and Other Payments,” (f) in the case of the Prepayment Account, will have any
interest or profit derived from them retained in the Account in which the investment was made until applied as other
amounts on deposit in the Account will be applied, (g) in the case of the Debt Service Reserve Fund, will have any
interest or profit derived from them retained in the Debt Service Reserve Fund until the amount on deposit in the
Debt Service Reserve Fund equals the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement and thereafter will have any interest
or profit derived from them deposited in the Interest Account or Principal Account as summarized under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Debt Service Reserve Fund,” (h) in the case
of the Issuing Expenses Fund will have any interest or profit derived from them retained in the Issuing Expenses
Fund until the earlier of the first anniversary of the original issuance and delivery of the Bonds or the date on which
the Trustee receives the Written Request to close such Fund pursuant to the Indenture and thereafter will have any
interest or profit derived from them credited to the Project Fund until the Project Fund is closed and thereafter to the
Principal Account if it will be applied to the payment of principal due on the Bonds occurring within 13 months of
such transfer and then to the Interest Account, (i) in the case of the Project Fund will have any interest or profit
derived from them retained in the Project Fund until the earlier of the third anniversary of the original issuance and
delivery of the Bonds or the date on which the Trustee receives the Completion Certificate and thereafter will have
any interest or profit derived from them credited to the Principal Account if it will be applied to the payment of
principal due on the Bonds occurring within 13 months of such transfer and then to the Interest Account, and (j) in
all other cases, will have any interest or profit derived from them retained in the Fund or Account from which the
investment was made.
Discharge
The Indenture, the Note and the Loan Agreement and the estate and rights granted by them cease,
determine and are void if:
(a)
the Borrower has performed all of its obligations under the Borrower’s Documents and
the Authority has performed all of its obligations under the Authority’s Documents,
(b)
all expenses of the Trustee which have accrued and will accrue through the final payment
of the Bonds have been paid or arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for their payment have been made,
(c)
all expenses of the Authority which have accrued and will accrue through the final
payment of the Bonds have been paid or arrangements satisfactory to the Authority for their payment have
been made,
(d)
provision for the payment of all Outstanding Bonds has been made to the satisfaction of
the Trustee in one or more of the following ways: (i) by paying or causing to be paid, when due, the
principal of, premium, if any, and interest on all Outstanding Bonds, (ii) by depositing with the Trustee, in
trust, at or before maturity, cash in an amount sufficient to pay or redeem (when redeemable) all
Outstanding Bonds including unpaid interest which has accrued on the Bonds and will accrue to the final
payment or redemption of the Bonds and any redemption premium, (iii) by delivering to the Trustee, for
cancellation, all Outstanding Bonds or (iv) by depositing with the Trustee Defeasance Obligations which
mature in an amount which will, together with the income or increment to accrue on them but without
reinvestment, be sufficient to pay or redeem (when redeemable) all Bonds at or before their respective
maturity dates, including interest which has accrued on the Bonds and will accrue to the final payment or
redemption of the Bonds and any redemption premium,

D-14

(e)
a notice of redemption has been given as required by the Indenture if any of the Bonds
are to be redeemed before their maturity or if a notice of redemption cannot then be given as provided in
the Indenture, then the Borrower has given the Trustee, in a form satisfactory to the Trustee, irrevocable
instructions to provide a notice of redemption to the Registered Owners of any Bonds to be redeemed in
accordance with the Indenture when a notice of redemption can be timely given under the Indenture,
(f)
if the payment of the Bonds has been provided for as described in clause (d)(ii) or (d)(iv)
under this heading, the Trustee (i) has been furnished with an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that
the actions taken pursuant to the provisions summarized under this heading will not adversely affect the
validity of any Bonds or cause an Event of Taxability with respect to any Bonds to occur and will not cause
the Bonds to be treated as Arbitrage Bonds and (ii) the Trustee has given notice to the Registered Owners
of the Bonds at the Registered Owner’s Address of the actions taken as described in clause (d) under this
heading and
(g)
if the payment of the Bonds has been provided for as described in clause (d)(iv) under
this heading, the Trustee has been furnished with an opinion from a Qualified Accountant to the effect that
the funds available or to be available in the escrow for the payment of the Bonds will be sufficient to pay
the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds.
On the occurrence of the events described in clauses (a) through (g) under this heading, the Trustee is
authorized and directed to:
(h)

cancel the Note and deliver it to the Borrower,

(i)
execute and deliver all appropriate instruments evidencing and acknowledging the
satisfaction of the Indenture and the Loan Agreement and
(j)
assign and deliver to the Borrower any money and investments in any Indenture Fund
(except money or investments held by the Trustee for the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and
interest on any Bond).
Notwithstanding any other provision of the Indenture which may be contrary to the provisions summarized
under this heading, all money and Defeasance Obligations which are set aside and held in trust pursuant to the
provisions summarized under this heading for the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the
Bonds will be applied to and used solely for the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the
particular Bond with respect to which it was so set aside in trust. The income derived from Defeasance Obligations
held by the Trustee pursuant to the provisions summarized under this heading which are not needed for the payment
of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds is to be disposed of in a manner which, in the Opinion
of Bond Counsel, will not adversely affect the validity of any Bond or cause an Event of Taxability to occur.
Notwithstanding a discharge of the Indenture as summarized in clause (d)(ii) or (d)(iv) under this heading,
resulting in the Registered Owners of the Bonds having a claim for the payment of their Bonds solely from the cash
and securities so set aside, the Indenture will continue to govern the method of making payments on the Bonds, the
registration, transfer and exchange of the Bonds, the circumstances under which the Bonds may be redeemed and
similar matters.
Events of Default
The occurrence and continuance of any of the following events is an Event of Default under the Indenture:
(a) failure to pay when due the principal of (whether at maturity, redemption, acceleration or otherwise), premium, if
any, or interest on any Bond; or (b) an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement has occurred and is continuing;
or (c) the Authority for any reason is rendered incapable of fulfilling its obligations under the Indenture; or (d) the
Authority defaults in the due and punctual performance of any other of the covenants, conditions, agreements and
provisions contained in the Bonds, the Indenture or any supplemental indenture on the part of the Authority to be
performed and the default continues for 30 days after written notice specifying the default and requiring that it be
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remedied has been given to the Authority and the Borrower by the Trustee, which may give the notice in its
discretion and must give the notice upon receipt of a written request of the Registered Owners of at least 25% of the
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding that it do so; provided that if the default is one which can
be remedied but cannot be remedied within that 30-day period, the Trustee may grant an extension of the 30-day
period if the Authority institutes corrective action within that 30-day period and diligently pursues that action until
the default is remedied.
Acceleration and Other Remedies
Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default specified in clause (b) under the heading “SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Events of Default” and described in clause (e) or (f) under the
heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT – Events of Default,” the
entire principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding and the interest accrued thereon automatically becomes due
and payable immediately, without the necessity of any action on the part of the Authority or the Trustee, anything in
the Bonds or in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding. The Trustee agrees in the Indenture to give written
notification of an automatic acceleration to the Authority and the Borrower.
Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under the Indenture other than an Event of Default specified in
clause (a) under this heading, the Trustee may and, upon receipt of a request to do so from the Registered Owners of
25% of the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, must, by written notice to the Authority and
the Borrower declare the principal of and accrued interest on the Bonds (if not then due and payable) to be due and
payable immediately.
Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default under the Indenture the Trustee may take whatever action at
law or in equity it deems necessary or desirable (i) to collect any amounts then due under the Indenture, the Bonds,
the Loan Agreement or the Note, (ii) to enforce performance of any obligation, agreement or covenant of the
Authority under the Indenture or the Bonds, of the Borrower under any of the Borrower’s Documents, of a guarantor
under any guaranty given with respect to any Bond or the Note or of the grantor of any other collateral given to
secure the payment of the Bonds or the Note or (iii) to otherwise enforce any of its rights.
None of the remedies under the Indenture is exclusive of any other remedy or remedies. Each remedy
given under the Indenture is cumulative and is in addition to every other remedy which is given or which now or
hereafter exists at law, in equity or by statute. No delay or omission in the exercise of any right or power accruing
upon an Event of Default under the Indenture impairs the right or power or is a waiver of or acquiescence in any
Event of Default. Every right and power given by the Indenture may be exercised from time to time and as often as
may be deemed expedient. No waiver of any Event of Default under the Indenture extends to or affects any
subsequent or other Event of Default or impairs any rights or remedies consequent thereon.
Right To Direct Proceedings
Anything in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the Registered Owners of a majority of the
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding have the right to direct the exercise of any rights or remedies
under the Indenture or any of the Borrower’s Documents and the method and place of conducting all proceedings to
be taken in connection with the enforcement of the Indenture or any of the Borrower’s Documents. The directions
of the Registered Owners pursuant to the provisions summarized under this heading are to be (a) contained in a
request which is signed by the Registered Owners of at least a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the
Bonds then Outstanding and delivered to the Trustee, (b) in accordance with law and the provisions of the Indenture
and (c) accompanied with indemnification of the Trustee as provided in the Indenture. The Trustee may refuse to
follow any direction that conflicts with law or the Indenture, is unduly prejudicial to the rights of any bondholder, or
would involve the Trustee in personal liability.
Application of Proceeds
(a)
Subject to the provisions of paragraph (c) under this heading, if the principal of all the Bonds is
not due, whether by declaration by the Trustee pursuant to the provisions summarized under the heading
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“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Acceleration and Other Remedies” or
otherwise, then any money received by the Authority or the Trustee as a result of the exercise of one or more of the
remedies granted by the Indenture or any of the Borrower’s Documents will be applied as follows:
FIRST: To the payment of (i) the fees, costs and expenses associated with the exercise of any
remedy granted by the Indenture or any of the Borrower’s Documents, including reasonable compensation
to the Trustee and its attorneys and agents, (ii) any expenses of the Authority and (iii) any expenses of the
Trustee.
SECOND: To fund any deficiency in the Rebate Fund if doing so will prevent the occurrence of
an Event of Taxability.
THIRD: To the payment of interest then due on the Bonds, in the order of the maturity of the
payments of interest then due, together, to the extent permitted by law, with interest on any overdue interest
at the Special Interest Rate and, if the amount available is not sufficient to pay in full any particular
installment of interest, then to the payment of interest ratably, according to the amounts due, to the persons
entitled to it without discrimination or privilege.
FOURTH: To the payment of principal and premium, if any, then due on the Bonds (other than
Bonds called for redemption for the payment of which money is held pursuant to the provisions of the
Indenture), in the order of the maturity of the payments of principal and premium then due, together with
interest on any overdue principal or premium at the Special Interest Rate and, if the amount available is not
sufficient to pay in full the Bonds due on any particular date then to their payment ratably, according to the
amount of principal due, to the persons entitled to it without any discrimination or privilege.
FIFTH: To the payment of any other sums required to be paid by the Borrower pursuant to any
provisions of the Indenture or any of the Borrower’s Documents.
SIXTH: Any balance is to be paid to the Borrower, its successors or assigns, upon its written
request, to whoever may be lawfully entitled to receive any balance, upon its written request, or as any
court of competent jurisdiction may direct.
(b)
Subject to the provisions summarized in paragraph (c) under this heading, if the principal of the
Bonds is due, whether by declaration by the Trustee pursuant to the provisions summarized under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Acceleration and Other Remedies” or
otherwise, then any money received by the Authority or the Trustee as a result of the exercise of one or more of the
remedies granted by the Indenture or any of the Borrower’s Documents will be applied as follows:
FIRST: To the payment of (i) the costs and expenses associated with the exercise of any remedy
granted by the Indenture or any of the Borrower’s Documents, including reasonable compensation to the
Authority, the Trustee and either of their attorneys and agents, (ii) any expenses of the Authority and (iii)
any expenses of the Trustee.
SECOND: To fund any deficiency in the Rebate Fund if doing so will prevent the occurrence of
an Event of Taxability.
THIRD: To the payment of the full amount of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest then
due and unpaid on the Bonds. In the event money available for that purpose is insufficient to pay the full
amount due, then the money which is available for that purpose will be applied ratably, according to the
aggregate of principal, interest and premium, if any, then due without preference or priority as between
principal, interest or premium.
FOURTH: To the payment of any other sums required to be paid by the Borrower pursuant to any
provisions of the Indenture or any of the Borrower’s Documents.
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FIFTH: Any balance is to be paid to the Borrower, its successors or assigns, upon its written
request, to whoever may be lawfully entitled to receive it, upon its written request, or as any court of
competent jurisdiction may direct.
(c)
If the principal of all the Bonds has been declared due and payable and if the declaration is
thereafter rescinded and annulled under the provisions of the Indenture then, subject to the provisions summarized in
paragraph (b) under this heading in the event that the principal of all the Bonds later becomes due or is declared due
and payable, the money is to be applied in accordance with the provisions summarized in paragraph (a) under this
heading and any amounts transferred to the Principal Account and Interest Account of the Bond Fund from any
other Indenture Fund will be returned to the account from which they were taken.
(d)
Whenever money is to be applied pursuant to the provisions summarized under this heading, the
money is to be applied at the times the Trustee determines, having due regard for the amount of money available for
application and the likelihood of additional money becoming available for application in the future. Whenever the
Trustee applies funds pursuant to the provisions summarized under this heading it will fix the date (which will be a
Bond Interest Payment Date unless it deems another date more suitable) upon which the application is to be made
and on that date interest on the amounts of principal paid ceases to accrue. The Trustee agrees in the Indenture to
give any notice it deems appropriate of the deposit with it of any money pursuant to the provisions summarized
under this heading and of the fixing of the payment date. Subject to the book entry only system provisions of the
Indenture, payments of principal to the Registered Owner of any unpaid Bonds will not be made until the Bond is
presented to the Trustee at its Designated Trust Office for appropriate endorsement or for cancellation if fully paid.
Remedies Vested in Trustee
All rights of action (including the right to file proofs of claim) under the Indenture or under any Bonds may
be enforced by the Trustee without the possession of any of the Bonds or the production of them in any trial or other
proceeding relating to them. Any suit or proceeding instituted by the Trustee is to be brought in its name as Trustee
without the necessity of joining as plaintiffs or defendants the Registered Owners. Any resulting recovery or
judgment is for the benefit of the Registered Owners of the Outstanding Bonds in accordance with the terms of the
Indenture.
Rights and Remedies of the Registered Owners of the Bonds
No Registered Owner of any Bonds has any right to institute any suit, action or proceeding in equity or at
law for the enforcement of the Indenture, for the execution of any trust created under the Indenture, for the
appointment of a receiver or any other remedy, unless: (a) an Event of Default under the Indenture has occurred of
which the Trustee has been notified as provided in the Indenture or of which it is deemed to have notice, (b) the
Trustee has received a request to do so and has been offered a reasonable opportunity either to proceed to exercise
the powers granted in the Indenture or to institute an action, suit or proceeding in its own name, (c) the Trustee has
been offered indemnity as provided in the Indenture and (d) the Trustee has thereafter failed or refused to exercise
the powers granted in the Indenture or to institute an action, suit or proceeding in its own name. No Registered
Owner has any right to affect, disturb or prejudice the security of the Indenture by its action or to enforce any right
under the Indenture except in the manner provided in the Indenture and all proceedings at law or in equity are to be
conducted in the manner provided in the Indenture for the equal and ratable benefit of all the Registered Owners.
Nothing in the Indenture, however, affects or impairs the right of the Registered Owners to enforce the payment of
the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on any Bonds at and after its maturity or the obligation of the
Authority to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds issued under the Indenture to the
Registered Owners at the time, place, from the source and in the manner expressed in the Indenture and the Bonds.
Waivers of Events of Default
The Trustee may waive any Event of Default under the Indenture and its consequences and rescind any
declaration of maturity of principal of and interest on the Bonds and must do so upon receipt of a written request to
do so from the Registered Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of all the Bonds then outstanding in
respect of which a default in the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds exists, or
from the Registered Owners of 25% (absent a request to the contrary from a larger percentage) in principal amount
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of the Bonds then Outstanding in the case of any other default. Directions of the Registered Owners pursuant to the
provisions summarized under this heading are to be accompanied with indemnification of the Trustee as is provided
in the Indenture. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the Trustee may not waive any Event of Default in the
payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on any Bond unless prior to the waiver all arrears of
principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds, together with interest to the extent permitted by law on those
amounts at the Special Interest Rate from the date when due, and all fees, costs and expenses of the Authority and
the Trustee in connection with the Event of Default have been paid or provided for.
Removal of the Trustee
The Trustee may be removed at any time without cause (a) at the direction of the Borrower (so long as no
Default or Event of Default under the Indenture or any of the Borrower’s Documents has occurred, whether or not
continuing) or (b) by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing signed by the Registered Owners of a
majority of the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding and delivered to the Trustee and the
Authority. A removal takes effect upon the appointment of a successor or temporary Trustee pursuant to the
Indenture by the Registered Owners or the Authority and the successor or temporary Trustee’s acceptance of its
appointment. The Trustee’s rights to indemnity and reimbursement of outstanding fees and expenses shall survive
the Trustee’s resignation or removal.
Supplemental Indentures Not Requiring the Consent of the Registered Owners
The Authority and the Trustee may, without the consent of or notice to the Registered Owners, enter into an
indenture or indentures supplemental to the Indenture which are not inconsistent with the terms and provisions of the
Indenture in order to (a) cure any ambiguity or formal defect or omission in the Indenture, (b) grant to or confer
upon the Trustee for the benefit of the Registered Owners any additional rights, remedies, powers or authority that
may lawfully be granted to or conferred upon the Registered Owners or the Trustee, (c) subject to the Indenture
additional revenues, properties or collateral, (d) supplement the Indenture in any other way which, in the judgment
of the Trustee, is not to the material prejudice of the Trustee or the Registered Owners or (e) provide for the creation
of any series of Additional Bonds, as provided in and subject to the conditions and requirements summarized under
the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Issuance of Additional Bonds.”
Supplemental Indentures Requiring the Consent of the Registered Owners
Exclusive of supplemental indentures covered by the provisions summarized under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Supplemental Indentures Not Requiring the
Consent of the Registered Owners,” the Authority and the Trustee, with the prior written consent of the Registered
Owners of a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, may enter into an indenture
or indentures supplemental to the Indenture as the Authority and the Trustee deem necessary and desirable for the
purpose of modifying, altering, amending, adding to or rescinding, in any particular, any of the terms or provisions
contained in the Indenture or in any supplemental indenture. No supplemental indenture, however, may permit, (a)
an extension of the stated maturity or reduction in the principal amount of, reduction in the rate or extension of the
time for paying interest on, a reduction of any premium payable on the redemption of or a reduction in the amount
or extension of the time for any payment required by any sinking fund or principal fund applicable to any Bond
without the consent of the Registered Owners of all Bonds at the time Outstanding which would be affected by the
action to be taken, (b) the creation of any lien prior to or on a parity with the lien of the Indenture, without the
consent of the Registered Owners of all Bonds at the time Outstanding, (c) a reduction in the aggregate principal
amount of Bonds the Registered Owners of which are required to consent to any supplemental indenture without the
consent of the Registered Owners of all Bonds at the time Outstanding which would be affected by the action to be
taken or (d) a modification of the rights, duties or immunities of the Trustee.
If at any time the Authority requests the Trustee to enter into a supplemental indenture for any of the
purposes summarized under this heading, the Trustee agrees in the Indenture, upon being satisfactorily indemnified
with respect to expenses, to send notice of the proposed execution of the supplemental indenture by first class mail
to the Registered Owner of each of the Bonds at the Registered Owner’s Address subject, for so long as the Bonds
are in a book entry system, to the letter of representations. The notice will briefly set forth the nature of the
proposed supplemental indenture and state that copies of it are on file at the Designated Trust Office of the Trustee
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for inspection by the Registered Owner of any Bond. If, within 60 days or any longer period as is prescribed by the
Authority following the mailing of the notice, consent of the percentage of the Registered Owners of the Bonds then
Outstanding required for such amendment has been obtained, no Registered Owner of any Bond has any right to
object to any of the terms and provisions contained in the provisions summarized under this heading or their
operation, in any manner to question the propriety of the execution of the supplemental indenture or to enjoin or
restrain the Trustee or the Authority from executing the supplemental indenture or from taking any action pursuant
to the provisions of the supplemental indenture. No supplement or amendment shall be entered into unless an
opinion of counsel is delivered to the effect that the supplement or amendment is authorized and permitted by the
governing document, is enforceable against the Borrower and does not adversely impact the tax-exempt status of
interest on the Bonds.
Amendments to the Borrower’s Documents Not Requiring the Consent of the Registered Owners
The Authority and the Trustee may, without the consent of or notice to the Registered Owners, consent to
any amendment, change or modification of any of the Borrower’s Documents (a) as may be required by the
provisions of the Loan Agreement and the Indenture, (b) for the purpose of curing any ambiguity or formal defect or
omission in any of the Borrower’s Documents, (c) in connection with any other change in any of the Borrower’s
Documents which, in the judgment of the Trustee, is not to the material prejudice of the Trustee or the Registered
Owners, or (d) to consent to the creation of any series of Additional Bonds, as summarized under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Issuance of Additional Bonds,” including
therein any amendment of the Loan Agreement to provide for increased loan payments and, if necessary, to provide
terms and conditions relating to the acquisition, construction, installation and equipping of any Improvement
financed with the proceeds of such series of Additional Bonds, or to subject to the lien of the Mortgage such
Improvement.
Amendments to the Borrower’s Documents Requiring the Consent of the Registered Owners
Except for the amendments, changes or modifications summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Amendments to the Borrower’s Documents Not Requiring the
Consent of the Registered Owners,” neither the Authority nor the Trustee will consent to any other amendment,
change or modification of any of the Borrower’s Documents without mailing a notice to all Registered Owners and
obtaining the prior written consent of the Registered Owners of a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the
Bonds then Outstanding which are affected by the change in the manner summarized under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Supplemental Indentures Requiring the
Consent of the Registered Owners.” No amendment to any of the Borrower’s Documents, however, may permit, (a)
an extension of the stated maturity or reduction in the principal amount of, reduction in the rate or extension of the
time for paying interest on, a reduction of the amount or an extension of the time for paying any premium payable
on the prepayment of, or a reduction in the amount or extension of the time for any payment of principal on any of
the Borrower’s Documents without the consent of the Registered Owners of all the Bonds Outstanding which would
be affected by the action to be taken, (b) the creation of any lien prior to or on a parity with any lien created by any
of the Borrower’s Documents without the consent of the Registered Owners of all Bonds at the time Outstanding, (c)
a reduction in the aggregate principal amount of Bonds the Registered Owners of which are required to consent to
any amendment of any of the Borrower’s Documents without the consent of the Registered Owners of all Bonds at
the time Outstanding which would be affected by the action to be taken or (d) modify the rights, duties or
immunities of the Trustee without the written consent of the Trustee. If at any time the Authority and the Borrower
request the consent of the Trustee to any proposed amendment, change or modification of any of the Borrower’s
Documents the Trustee agrees in the Indenture, upon being satisfactorily indemnified with respect to expenses, to
send notice of the proposed amendment, change or modification in the same manner as summarized under the
heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Supplemental Indentures Requiring
the Consent of the Registered Owners.” The notice will briefly set forth the nature of the proposed amendment,
change or modification and state that copies of the instrument embodying it are on file at the Designated Trust
Office of the Trustee for inspection by the Registered Owners.
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Issuance of Additional Bonds
In addition to the Series 2014 Bonds, the Authority may, upon request of the Borrower, issue, and the
Trustee shall authenticate and deliver, Additional Bonds to (i) provide funds to complete the Project, (ii) provide
financing for Improvements or for Related Facilities or (iii) subject to applicable law, refund any Bonds then
outstanding and, in case of an advance refunding, the interest thereon to maturity or a specified redemption date.
Any such Additional Bonds shall be authorized by resolution of the Authority and described in a supplemental
indenture executed by the Authority and the Trustee and, when so issued, authorized and described, shall be secured
by the Indenture and the Trust Estate on a parity with the Bonds then outstanding under the Indenture; provided, that
no such Additional Bonds shall be issued under the Indenture or secured by the Trust Estate on a parity with the
outstanding Bonds unless the following are delivered to the Trustee:
A.
An Authority resolution authorizing the issuance of the Additional Bonds and the sale thereof to
the purchaser or purchasers named therein for the purchase price set forth therein;
B.
An Authority order directing the authentication of such Additional Bonds and the delivery thereof
to or upon the order of the purchaser or purchasers named therein upon payment of the purchase price set forth
therein;
C.
An Officer’s Certificate of the Borrower requesting the issuance of such Additional Bonds, stating
that no default has occurred under the Loan Agreement which has not been cured, that the Additional Bonds to be
authenticated have not theretofore been issued and that all conditions precedent provided for in the Indenture
relating to the authentication and delivery of such Additional Bonds have been complied with;
D.
An Officer’s Certificate of the Borrower, an Opinion of Counsel, and as applicable, a report of an
Independent Accountant required by the provisions summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT – Indebtedness Generally,” demonstrating the ability of the
Borrower to incur the Indebtedness underlying or evidenced by such Additional Bonds;
E.

An Opinion of Bond Counsel:

(1)
stating that all conditions precedent provided in the Indenture relating to the
authentication and delivery of such Additional Bonds have been complied with;
(2)
stating that the Additional Bonds whose authentication and delivery are then applied for,
when issued and executed by the Authority and authenticated and delivered by the Trustee, will be the valid
and binding obligations of the Authority in accordance with their terms and entitled to the benefits of and
secured by the lien of the Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Mortgage equally and ratably with all
Outstanding Bonds; and
(3)
stating that the issuance of such Additional Bonds will not affect the tax-exempt nature
for federal income tax purposes of any tax-exempt Bonds then Outstanding;
F.

An executed counterpart of the supplemental indenture creating such Additional Bonds;

G.
Cash in the amount necessary to make the balance in the Debt Service Reserve Fund equal to the
Debt Service Reserve Requirement immediately after the issuance of the Additional Bonds, which cash may be from
proceeds of such Additional Bonds if so provided in the Authority order referred to in paragraph B under this
heading;
H.
An executed counterpart of an amendment to the Loan Agreement providing for additional loan
payments sufficient to provide for the payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest on all Bonds and
Additional Bonds to be Outstanding after the issuance of such series of Additional Bonds;
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I.
The Authority resolution authorizing the execution and delivery of the supplemental indenture, the
amendment to the Loan Agreement and such Additional Bonds;
J.
Executed counterparts of amendments or supplements to the Mortgage, describing the Additional
Bonds as additional indebtedness secured by the Mortgage, and subjecting to the lien of the Mortgage and any
additional property acquired or to be acquired from the proceeds of such Additional Bonds; and
K.
A Borrower resolution authorizing the execution and delivery of the amendment to the Loan
Agreement, the amendment or supplement to the Mortgage, if any, and approving the supplemental indenture and
the issuance and sale of such Additional Bonds.
Any Additional Bonds shall be dated, shall bear interest at a rate or rates not exceeding the maximum rate,
if any, permitted by law, shall have stated maturities, and may be subject to redemption prior to their stated
maturities at such times and prices and on such terms and conditions, all as may be provided by the supplemental
indenture authorizing their issuance. All Additional Bonds shall be payable and secured equally and ratably and on
a parity with the Bonds and any Additional Bonds theretofore issued, entitled to the same benefits and security of
the Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Mortgage.
SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT
Deposits in Respect of the Note and Other Payments
The Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement to make the following payments to the Trustee:
(a)
for deposit into the Interest Account on the 20th day of each month, commencing
December 20, 2014, a sum equal to at least one sixth (1/6th) of the amount necessary, together with any
money then on deposit in the Interest Account and available for that purpose, to pay the next installment of
interest due on the Note;
(b)
for deposit into the Principal Account on the 20th day of each month, commencing June
20, 2017, a sum equal to at least one sixth (1/6th) of the amount necessary, together with any money then
on deposit in the Principal Account and available for that purpose, to pay the next installment of principal
due on the Note; and
(c)
for deposit into the Replacement Reserve Fund on the first day of each month,
commencing with October 1, 2018, $3,333 until the balance in the Replacement Reserve Fund is equal to
or greater than $100,000, and continuing thereafter when the balance in the Replacement Reserve Fund is
less than $100,000. The Borrower may from time to time upon written request to the Trustee request
release of money then on deposit in the Replacement Reserve Fund, to pay for the costs of maintenance of
the Project or capital expenditures related to the Project. Any such request will be accompanied by
certification by an Authorized Borrower Representative as to the use of funds requested. It is expected that
funds on deposit in the Replacement Reserve Fund will be used for maintenance of the Project and other
capital expenditures, and there is no reasonable assurance that the funds on deposit in the Replacement
Reserve Fund will be available to pay principal of or interest on the Bonds or the Note even if the Borrower
encounters financial difficulties.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the monthly payments to the Interest Account summarized in clause (a)
under this heading shall not be necessary for so long as the Trustee is directed to make the regularly scheduled
transfers of the interest due on the Bonds from funds in the Project Fund.
Obligation of the Borrower Unconditional
The Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement that its obligation to make the payments described in the Loan
Agreement and the Note and to perform its obligations under the Loan Agreement and the Note is absolute and
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unconditional and is not subject to diminution by any defense (other than payment), by any right of set off,
counterclaim or abatement, by the happening or non-happening of any event or for any other reason whatsoever.
Pledge of the Loan Agreement and the Note
Except for Unassigned Rights, all of the Authority’s right, title and interest in the Loan Agreement and the
Note (including the right to receive the payments to be made by the Borrower pursuant to the Note) have been
assigned to the Trustee by the Indenture. The Borrower consents to that assignment and agrees in the Loan
Agreement that the Trustee may enforce any of the rights, privileges and remedies of the Authority under the Loan
Agreement and the Note other than the Unassigned Rights.
Issuing Expenses Fund Insufficiency
If amounts in the Issuing Expenses Fund available for the payment of Issuing Expenses are insufficient to
pay Issuing Expenses in full, the Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement to complete the payment of the Issuing
Expenses from its own funds.
Agreement To Complete the Project
The Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement to complete or cause the completion of the Project. The
Borrower also agrees in the Loan Agreement to construct, acquire and install any additional land, improvements or
equipment that are necessary, in the judgment of the Borrower, for the operation of the Project.
Establishment of the Completion Date
Upon the completion of all of the respective components of the Project to be financed with proceeds of the
Bonds, the Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement to deliver to the Trustee and the Authority a Completion
Certificate.
Project Fund Insufficiency
If amounts in the Project Fund available for payment of the Project Costs are insufficient to pay the costs of
the Project in full, the Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement to complete the Project at its own expense.
Inspection of the Bond Financed Property
The Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement that each of the Authority, the Trustee and the authorized
agents of either of them, on reasonable prior written notice and as often as the Authority and the Trustee reasonably
determine to be desirable, (a) have the right at reasonable times to enter upon the Facilities in order to examine and
inspect the Bond Financed Property, (b) have the right to any access to the Facilities that is reasonably necessary to
complete the Project or to repair and maintain the Bond Financed Property in the event the Borrower fails to do so,
(c) will be permitted to discuss the affairs and finances of the Borrower with its officers and independent
accountants and (d) will be permitted at all reasonable times to examine and copy the books and records of the
Borrower with respect to the Bond Financed Property; provided, however, the Borrower shall not be required to
disclose or discuss information that it is required to hold confidential either by law or contract.
Sufficient Revenues
Notwithstanding any other provision of the Loan Agreement or any other of the Borrower’s Documents,
the Borrower unconditionally agrees in the Loan Agreement that it will pay pursuant to the Loan Agreement and the
Note the full amount needed and at the times needed to enable the Authority to make timely payment of the
principal of (whether due upon maturity, redemption, acceleration or otherwise), premium, if any, and interest on the
Bonds.
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Insurance
The Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement to maintain or cause to be maintained, at its sole cost and
expense, insurance with respect to its property and operations against the casualties, contingencies and risks
(including, but not limited to, business interruption (with a minimum of 12 months of coverage), public liability and
fire and extended coverage) and in amounts not less than is customary in a case of organizations engaged in the
same or similar activities and similarly situated which is adequate to protect itself and its property and operations.
The policy required by the provisions summarized under this heading for fire and extended coverage must name the
Trustee, as its interest may appear, as mortgagee. Each policy required by the provisions of the Indenture
summarized under this heading must be noncancelable except upon 30 days prior written notice to the Borrower,
and to extent applicable, the Trustee. The Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement to give immediate notice to the
Trustee of receipt of any notice of cancellation. Upon request, no more than once each Fiscal Year, the Borrower
agrees in the Loan Agreement to deliver a certificate of an Independent Insurance Consultant to the Authority and
the Trustee which indicates that the insurance then being maintained by the Borrower meets the requirements of the
provisions summarized under this heading. The Borrower may self-insure or participate in pooled-risk insurance or
similar programs if the Independent Insurance Consultant determines that it is prudent under the circumstances and
the certificate required by the preceding sentence is delivered at least once each Fiscal Year with respect to those
programs.
Maintenance of Tax Status
The Borrower is a Minnesota nonprofit limited liability company whose sole member is Presbyterian
Homes Housing and Assisted Living, Inc., a Minnesota corporation that is organized and operated exclusively for
religious, educational or charitable purposes and not for pecuniary profit. Subject to the provisions summarized
under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT – Maintenance of
Existence,” the Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement that it will at all times maintain its status as a disregarded
entity whose sole member is an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code and exempt from federal
income taxation under Section 501(a) of the Code. The Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement that it will not take
any action or permit any action to be taken by others which will adversely affect its agreement summarized under
this heading.
The Borrower further agrees in the Loan Agreement that none of its revenues, income or profits, whether
realized or unrealized, will be distributed to any of its directors or inure to the benefit of any private Person;
provided that the Borrower may pay to any Person the value of any service performed for or any product supplied to
the Borrower by that Person.
Maintenance of Existence
The Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement that during the term of the Loan Agreement it will maintain
its existence as a nonprofit limited liability company, that is a disregarded entity, with its sole member a nonstock,
nonprofit corporation and will be duly qualified to transact business in the State, will not dissolve, will not sell, lease
(except pursuant to a Permitted Encumbrance as defined in the Mortgage), transfer or otherwise dispose of all or
substantially all of its assets, will not consolidate with or merge into another legal entity, will not permit one or more
other legal entities to consolidate with or merge into it, will not change the sole member of the Borrower to other
than an Affiliate or change more than a 50% ownership interest in the Borrower to other than an Affiliate(s).
The Borrower may, without violating the provisions summarized under this heading, consolidate with or
merge into another Domestic Corporation, permit one or more other Domestic Corporations to consolidate with or
merge into it, sell or otherwise transfer to another Domestic Corporation all or substantially all of its assets, have
another Domestic Corporation sell or otherwise transfer to it all or substantially all of its assets or change its sole
member to other than an Affiliate or change more than a 50% ownership interest in the Borrower to other than an
Affiliate(s) if (a) the Surviving Corporation is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State or is
qualified to do business in the State, (b) the Surviving Corporation (unless it is the Borrower) expressly assumes and
agrees in a writing delivered to and satisfactory in form and content to the Trustee and the Authority to perform all
of the Borrower’s obligations under the Borrower’s Documents,(c) immediately after giving effect to the transaction
no Default or Event of Default under the Loan Agreement has occurred and is continuing, (d) the Surviving
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Corporation is an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code and exempt from federal income taxation
under Section 501(a) of the Code, (e) the Borrower has delivered to the Authority and the Trustee an Opinion of
Bond Counsel to the effect that the transaction will not adversely affect the validity of the Bonds or cause an Event
of Taxability to occur and (f) the Borrower has delivered to the Authority and the Trustee an Officer’s Certificate of
the Borrower and an Opinion of Counsel (which may rely upon the certificate with respect to matters of fact) each
stating that the consolidation, merger, conveyance or transfer complies with the provisions summarized under this
heading and that all the conditions in the Loan Agreement to the transaction have been complied with.
Upon a consolidation, merger, sale or other transfer permitted by the provisions summarized under this
heading, the Surviving Corporation, as applicable, succeeds to, is substituted for and may exercise every right and
power of the Borrower under the Loan Agreement with the same effect as if the Surviving Corporation had been
named as the Borrower in the Loan Agreement. No sale or other transfer permitted by the Loan Agreement,
however, relieves the Borrower or any Surviving Corporation which has previously become the Borrower in the
manner prescribed under this heading from its liability as the obligor and maker on the Note. The Borrower agrees
in the Loan Agreement that upon any such consolidation, merger, sale or other transfer permitted by the provisions
summarized under this heading, except for such consolidation, merger, sale or other transfer that is with an Affiliate
of the Borrower, the Borrower shall exercise its right to optionally redeem the Bonds no later than the first date that
such Bonds can be optionally redeemed at par pursuant to the Indenture.
Financial Information and Reports
The Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement to keep proper books of record and account in which full, true
and correct entries will be made of all the Borrower’s business and affairs in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles consistently applied.
The Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement to furnish to the Financial Statement Recipients, and any
beneficial owner of $1,000,000 or more Outstanding principal amount of Bonds,
(i)
as soon as available, and in any event within 120 days after the close of each Fiscal Year
of the Borrower, a copy of the detailed annual audit report for such year and accompanying consolidated
financial statements of Presbyterian Homes and Services (“PHS”) and its affiliates, including consolidating
schedules of the Borrower and other affiliates of PHS, prepared in reasonable detail and in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles by Qualified Accountants which audit report shall be
accompanied by: (A) an opinion of such accountants to the effect that the same fairly presents the
consolidated financial condition and the consolidated results of operations of PHS for the periods and as of
the relevant dates thereof; (B) a certificate of such accountants stating that in the ordinary course of their
audit, conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing practices, they did not become aware of
any Event of Default with respect to financial matters or, if their audit disclosed an Event of Default, a
specification of the Event of Default and (C) an Officer’s Certificate executed by the chief financial officer
of the Borrower stating he or she did not become aware of any Event of Default, or describes an Event of
Default, if any, and demonstrating compliance with the covenants summarized under the headings
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT – Maintenance of Rates” and
“ – Days Cash on Hand”;
(ii)
for so long as the Limited Guaranty is in effect with respect to the Bonds, as soon as
available, and in any event within 30 days after the close of each calendar month, a marketing and
occupancy report for the Project in the form and substance acceptable to the Purchaser;
(iii)
after the Limited Guaranty is no longer in effect with respect to the Bonds, as soon as
available, and in any event within 45 days after the close of each fiscal quarter of the Borrower, an
occupancy report for the Project in form and substance acceptable to the Purchaser and Trustee;
(iv)
as soon as available, and in any event at least 30 days prior to the commencement of each
Fiscal Year of the Borrower, beginning with the Fiscal Year ending September 30, 2016, a copy of the
annual budget of the Borrower; and
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(v)
as soon as available, and in any event within 45 days after the close of each fiscal quarter,
a copy of the management prepared unaudited financial statements of the Borrower prepared in reasonable
detail and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
The Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement that all pertinent financial books, documents and vouchers
(other than donor, resident and personnel records) relating to the Borrower’s business, affairs and properties will at
all times upon reasonable prior written notice during regular business hours be open to the inspection of an
accountant or other agent (who may make copies of all or any part of them) as is from time to time designated and
compensated by the Financial Statement Recipients making the inspection in order to enable them to determine
whether the Borrower has complied with the covenants, terms and provisions of the Loan Agreement. Without
limitation, the Borrower will permit any of the Financial Statement Recipients or the persons designated by them to
visit and inspect, at their own expense, any of the properties of the Borrower and to discuss the affairs, finances and
accounts of the Borrower with its officers and accountants, all at reasonable times, upon prior written notice and as
often as the Financial Statement Recipients may reasonably desire.
Tax Exempt Bonds
The Borrower and Authority intend that the interest paid on the Bonds will be excluded from the gross
income of the Owners of the Bonds for federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103 of the Code. The
Borrower and Authority each respectively agrees in the Loan Agreement that it will not take any action which
would, or fail to take any action the omission of which would, cause an Event of Taxability to occur. The
obligations of the Borrower and the Authority summarized under this heading survive a defeasance of the Bonds
pursuant to the provisions summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE
INDENTURE – Discharge” and continue until all the Bonds have been paid.
Maintenance of Rates
The Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement that it will, subject to applicable requirements or restrictions
imposed by law, maintain its rates, charges and other revenues at a level such that in each Fiscal Year beginning
with the Borrower’s Fiscal Year ending September 30, 2018, its Net Income Available for Debt Service will not be
less than 120% of its Annual Debt Service Requirement for that year. For purposes of the provisions of the
Indenture summarized under this heading, Net Income Available for Debt Service shall include donations of cash
and cash equivalents to the Borrower from an Affiliate of the Borrower.
If in any Fiscal Year beginning with the Borrower’s Fiscal Year ending September 30, 2018, the
Borrower’s Net Income Available for Debt Service is less than 120% of its Annual Debt Service Requirement for
such Fiscal Year, the Borrower will immediately request an Independent Consultant to make recommendations with
respect to its operations, including its rates. The Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement to consider any
recommendations by the Independent Consultant and, to the fullest extent practicable, to a adopt and carry out such
recommendations. The Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement that it will within 30 days after receipt file copies
of the Independent Consultant’s opinion and recommendations with the Authority, the Trustee and the Purchaser.
The provisions summarized under this heading shall not be construed to prohibit the Borrower from serving indigent
patients to the extent required for it to continue its qualification as a tax-exempt organization or to maintain
eligibility to participate in the Medicare and Medicaid programs, to comply with any other requirements of law, or
from serving any other class of patients without charge or at reduced rates so long as such service does not prevent
the Borrower from satisfying the other requirements of the provisions summarized under this heading.
So long as the Borrower is otherwise in full compliance with its obligations under the Loan Agreement,
including following, to the fullest extent practicable, the recommendations of the Independent Consultant, it shall
not constitute an Event of Default that the Net Income Available for Debt Service of the Borrower for any Fiscal
Year is less than 120% of the Annual Debt Service Requirement for such Fiscal Year; provided, however, it shall
constitute an Event of Default if the Net Income Available for Debt Service for any Fiscal Year is less than 100% of
the Annual Debt Service Requirement for such Fiscal Year; but provided further, that for purposes of the covenant
of the Loan Agreement summarized under this heading, Net Income Available for Debt Service for such prior Fiscal
Year shall include any donation of cash or cash equivalents made to the Borrower by an Affiliate within 60 days
after the end of such Fiscal Year.
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Days Cash on Hand
The Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement that beginning with the Fiscal Year ending September 30,
2018, the Borrower shall maintain at least 60 Days Cash on Hand, tested annually as of the end of each Fiscal Year
based on the audited financial statements for such Fiscal Year. For purposes of the provisions summarized under
this heading, Days Cash on Hand shall include donations of cash or cash equivalents to the Borrower from an
Affiliate of the Borrower within not more than 30 days from the end of a Fiscal Year.
Debt Service Reserve Fund
Simultaneously with the issuance and sale of the Bonds, a deposit will be made to the Debt Service Reserve
Fund in the amount of the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement. All of that amount will be derived from the
sale of the Bonds. Money on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund will be used to make up any deficiencies in
the Interest Account and the Principal Account (in that order) as provided in the Indenture.
If (a) the value of the cash and Qualified Investments on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund is less
than the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement on any date as a result of a transfer from the Debt Service Reserve
Fund to the Principal Account or the Interest Account to fund a deficiency in one or both of those accounts, then the
Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement to deposit amounts sufficient to make up the deficiency in 12 consecutive
substantially equal monthly installments beginning with the first day of the sixth month after the month in which the
deficiency occurred or (b) it is determined that on a Valuation Date that the value of the cash and Qualified
Investments then on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund is less than 90% of the Debt Service Reserve Fund
Requirement (other than due to a deficiency described in (a) above), the Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement to
deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund amounts sufficient to make up the deficiency within 120 days following
the date on which the Borrower received notice of the deficiency.
If on any Valuation Date the amount on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund exceeds the Debt Service
Reserve Fund Requirement the excess will be transferred on that date to the Interest Account until delivery of the
Completion Certificate, and thereafter to the Principal Account; provided, however, that amounts on deposit in the
Debt Service Reserve Fund which would be in excess of the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement because of a
partial defeasance of the Bonds if the date of the partial defeasance were a Valuation Date, may, at the option of the
Borrower, on the date of the partial defeasance, be used to purchase Defeasance Obligations for deposit in an escrow
of the type described in clause (d)(ii) or (iv) under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE
INDENTURE – Discharge” which has been established in connection with the partial defeasance.
Transactions with Affiliates
The Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement that it will not make payments for property or services except
at an amount equal to the fair market value thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower may make
payments or transfers of property or cash to an Affiliate so long as (i) the Borrower’s Net Income Available for Debt
Service was not less than 120% of its Annual Debt Service Requirement in the prior Fiscal Year, (ii) as of the last
day of such Fiscal Year the Borrower had in excess of 60 Days Cash on Hand, (iii) no Event of Default has occurred
under the Loan Agreement or will occur under the Loan Agreement as a result of such transfer, and (iv) the Debt
Service Reserve Fund contains an amount not less than the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement; provided,
however, that, notwithstanding anything else summarized under this heading, no such payment or transfer to an
Affiliate may be made under the Loan Agreement unless, following such transfer, the Borrower retains not less than
60 Days Cash on Hand.
Indebtedness Generally
The Borrower agrees in the Loan Agreement that, until all of its obligations under the Loan Agreement
have been fully paid and discharged, the Borrower shall not, directly or indirectly, incur any Long-Term
Indebtedness except as summarized under this heading.
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The Borrower may incur Long-Term Indebtedness if:
(a)
Before incurring or otherwise becoming liable with respect to any such Long-Term
Indebtedness, the Borrower shall furnish the Trustee:
(i)
an Officer’s Certificate of the Borrower which shall (A) state the general
purpose for which such Long-Term Indebtedness is to be incurred and (B) state the principal
amount of Long-Term Indebtedness to be incurred, the maturity date or dates thereof and the
interest rate or rates with respect thereto; and
(ii)
an Opinion of Counsel for the Borrower to the effect that all conditions
precedent in the Loan Agreement specified for incurring such Long-Term Indebtedness have been
satisfied.
(b)
The Borrower shall not incur any Long-Term Indebtedness to advance refund
Outstanding Bonds unless, in addition to the filing of the items described in paragraph (a) above:
(i)
there shall be filed with the Trustee a report of an Independent Accountant to the
effect that the proceeds of the Long-Term Indebtedness, together with any other funds deposited
with the Trustee for such purpose, will be not less than an amount sufficient to pay the principal of
and the redemption premium, if any, on the Outstanding Bonds to be refunded and the interest
which will become due and payable thereon on or prior to the redemption date or stated maturity
thereof, or that the principal of and interest on Defeasance Obligations purchased from such
proceeds or from other funds provided by the Borrower and deposited in trust with the Trustee,
which Defeasance Obligations do not permit redemption thereof at the option of the issuer, when
due and payable (or redeemable at the option of the holder) will provide, together with any other
moneys which shall have been deposited irrevocably with the Trustee for such purpose, sufficient
moneys to pay such principal, redemption premium, if any, and interest; and
(ii)
there shall be filed with the Trustee an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect
that the incurring of such Long-Term Indebtedness and the refunding of Bonds with the proceeds
thereof will not prejudice the exemption from federal income tax of the interest accruing on any of
the Bonds.
(c)
Except as summarized in paragraphs (b) and (d) under this heading, the Borrower shall
not incur any Long-Term Indebtedness unless it shall furnish the Trustee, in addition to the items described
in paragraph (a) under this heading, either:
(i)
a written report or opinion of an Independent Accountant stating that the Net
Income Available for Debt Service of the Borrower for each of the last two Fiscal Years for which
audited Financial Statements are available preceding the date on which the proposed Long-Term
Indebtedness is to be incurred were more than one hundred thirty percent (130%) of the Annual
Debt Service Requirement on Long-Term Indebtedness (including such requirements for the
proposed Long-Term Indebtedness as if it were outstanding at the beginning of such period but
excluding such requirements for any then outstanding Long-Term Indebtedness or Bonds to be
refinanced by the proposed Long-Term Indebtedness) for each Fiscal Year, or
(ii)
(provided the Borrower met its covenants summarized under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT – Maintenance of
Rates” in the most recent Fiscal Year) a financial forecast accompanied by an Independent
Accountant’s examination report stating that the estimated Net Income Available for Debt Service
of the Borrower for the Fiscal Year after the Fiscal Year in which any Improvements, Related
Facilities or other facilities being financed by such Long-Term Indebtedness are to be placed in
service, or are to achieve stabilized occupancy, as applicable, or, if no Improvements, Related
Facilities or other facilities are to be financed thereby, the Fiscal Year after the Fiscal Year in
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which the proposed Long-Term Indebtedness is to be incurred, will be not less than one hundred
thirty percent (130%) of the maximum Annual Debt Service Requirement on Long-Term
Indebtedness (including such requirements for the proposed Long-Term Indebtedness but
excluding such requirements for any then outstanding Long-Term Indebtedness or Bonds to be
refinanced by the proposed Long-Term Indebtedness) for each Fiscal Year beginning the Fiscal
Year after the Fiscal Year in which any Improvements, Related Facilities or other facilities being
financed by such Long-Term Indebtedness are to be placed in service, or are to achieve stabilized
occupancy, as applicable, or, if no Improvements, Related Facilities or other facilities are to be
financed thereby, beginning the first Fiscal Year after the Fiscal Year in which the proposed LongTerm Indebtedness is to be incurred, but before the final maturity of all then Outstanding Bonds.
(d)
Notwithstanding the provisions summarized in paragraph (c) under this heading, the
Borrower may incur Long-Term Indebtedness (i) if and to the extent necessary to provide additional funds
for completing payment of the cost of any Improvements, Related Facilities or other facilities for which any
Long-Term Indebtedness shall have been incurred at one time or from time to time pursuant to the
provisions summarized under this heading, or (ii) for refinancing the principal amount of any outstanding
Long-Term Indebtedness provided the maximum Annual Debt Service Requirement on Long-Term
Indebtedness (including such requirements for the proposed Long-Term Indebtedness but excluding such
requirements for the Long-Term Indebtedness to be refinanced thereby) for each Fiscal Year after the
Fiscal Year in which the proposed Long-Term Indebtedness is to be incurred but before the final maturity
of all then Outstanding Bonds will be no greater than the maximum Annual Debt Service Requirement on
Long-Term Indebtedness would have been for each such Fiscal Year had such proposed Long-Term
Indebtedness not been incurred nor the refinancing accomplished.
Calculation of Debt Service
The calculation of Annual Debt Service Requirements on Long-Term Indebtedness whether pursuant to the
Loan Agreement or the Indenture, shall be made in a manner consistent with that set forth under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT – Indebtedness Generally” and the
following:
(a)
With respect to Balloon Indebtedness, such Balloon Indebtedness shall be assumed to be
amortized in substantially equal annual amounts to be paid for principal and interest over an assumed
amortization period of years equal to the number of years from the date of issuance of such Balloon
Indebtedness to the longer of (i) its stated maturity or (ii) twenty years from its issuance date, and at the
stated interest rate applicable to such Balloon Indebtedness.
(b)
With respect to Indebtedness which is also Variable Rate Indebtedness, in determining
the amount of debt service payable on Variable Rate Indebtedness for any future period, interest on such
indebtedness for any period of calculation (the “Determination Period”) shall be computed by assuming
that the rate of interest applicable to the Determination Period is equal to the average annual rate of interest
on similar securities (calculated in the manner in which the rate of interest for the Determination Period is
to be calculated) which was in effect for the twenty-four month period prior to a date selected by the
Borrower, which selected date is within 45 days immediately preceding the beginning of the Determination
Period, plus two percent (2%) per annum, as certified by a banking or investment banking institution
knowledgeable in matters of variable rate financing or, if it is not possible to calculate such average annual
rate of interest, by assuming that the rate of interest applicable to the Determination Period is equal to the
rate of interest then in effect on such Variable Rate Indebtedness, plus two percent (2%) per annum. In
addition, debt service shall include any continuing credit enhancement, liquidity and/or remarketing fees
for the relevant period.
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Events of Default
The occurrence and continuance of any of the following events is an Event of Default under the Loan
Agreement:
(a)
failure by any Borrower to pay when due the principal of (whether at maturity,
redemption, acceleration or otherwise), premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds; or
(b)
failure by any Borrower to observe and perform any covenant, condition or agreement
summarized under the headings “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN
AGREEMENT – Maintenance of Tax Status,” “– Tax Exempt Bonds” and “– Debt Service Reserve Fund;”
or
(c)
failure by any Borrower to observe and perform any covenant, condition or agreement in
the Borrower’s Documents to be observed or performed by it, other than those described in clause (a) or (b)
under this heading, for a period of 30 days after written notice specifying the failure and requesting that it
be remedied is given to the Borrower by the Trustee; provided that if the failure is one which can be
remedied but cannot be remedied within that 30-day period, the Trustee may grant an extension of the 30day period if the Borrower institutes corrective action within that 30-day period and diligently pursues that
action until the default is remedied; or
(d)
the occurrence of a default under any agreement, mortgage, indenture, note, guaranty,
security agreement or other instrument under which there may be issued or by which there may be secured
or evidenced any indebtedness of any Borrower, whether the indebtedness now exists or is hereafter
created, which results in indebtedness in an aggregate principal amount in excess of $250,000 at any one
time becoming or being declared due and payable prior to the date on which it would otherwise become
due and payable and the acceleration is not remedied, rescinded, annulled or satisfied by payment within 30
days after the acceleration; or
(e)
the entry of a decree or order by a court of competent jurisdiction making any Borrower
the subject of an “order for relief” within the meaning of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, adjudging any
Borrower bankrupt or insolvent or approving as properly filed a petition seeking reorganization of any
Borrower under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or any other federal or state law relating to bankruptcy or
insolvency, appointing a receiver or trustee of any Borrower, with or without the consent of any Borrower,
as applicable, or part of its property or decreeing or ordering the winding up or liquidation of the affairs of
any Borrower or the sequestration of a substantial part of its property and any such decree or order
remaining in force undischarged and unstayed for a period of 90 days; or
(f)
any Borrower instituting proceedings requesting an “order for relief” under the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code or requesting an adjudication that it is bankrupt or insolvent or consenting to the
institution of bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings against it, the filing of a petition or answer or consent
seeking reorganization or relief (other than as a creditor) for any Borrower under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code
or any other federal or state law relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, any Borrower consenting to the
appointment of a receiver, for itself or all or any part of its property making an assignment for the benefit of
creditors or admitting in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due or action is taken
by any Borrower in furtherance of any of these purposes; or
(g)
any representation or warranty made by any Borrower in the Borrower’s Closing
Certificate, any of the Borrower’s Documents or any financial statement or other document delivered in
connection with the issuance of the Bonds proving to be false or misleading in any material respect as of
the date given or made; or
(h)
the entry against any Borrower of one or more judgments involving an aggregate liability
of $250,000 or more which are not appealable, are unstayed and are not being paid according to their terms
unless the Trustee has received an Opinion of Counsel to the effect that the judgments, except for amounts
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not exceeding $250,000 in the aggregate including any related fees and expenses, are covered by insurance;
or
(i)
the issuance and levy of one or more writs of attachment or garnishments against the
property of the Borrower or Guarantor claiming in the aggregate, $250,000 or more of the Borrower’s
property which is not released or appealed and bonded in a manner satisfactory to the Trustee within
10 days.
Remedies
Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default described in paragraph (e) under the heading “SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT – Events of Default,” paragraph (f) under said heading or
both, the principal of and accrued interest on the Note (if not then due and payable) automatically becomes due and
payable immediately, without the necessity of any action on the part of the Authority or the Trustee, anything in the
Note or in the Loan Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding.
Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement other than those described in the
first paragraph under this heading, the Authority, or the Trustee on behalf of the Authority, may and, upon receipt of
a request to do so from the Registered Owners of 25% of the principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding, shall
by written notice to the Borrower declare the principal of and accrued interest on the Note (if not then due and
payable) to be due and payable immediately.
Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default under the Loan Agreement the Trustee may take whatever
action at law or in equity the Authority or the Trustee deem necessary or desirable (i) to collect any amounts then
due under the Loan Agreement or the Note, (ii) to enforce performance of any obligation, agreement or covenant of
the Borrower under any of the Borrower’s Documents or (iii) to otherwise enforce any of its rights.
None of the Authority’s or the Trustee’s remedies under the Loan Agreement is exclusive of any other
remedy or remedies. Each remedy given to the Authority is cumulative and is in addition to every other remedy
which is given or which now or hereafter exists at law, in equity or by statute. No delay or omission by the
Authority in the exercise of any right or power accruing upon an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement
impairs the right or power or is a waiver of or acquiescence in any Event of Default. Every right and power given
by the Loan Agreement to the Authority or the Trustee may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be
deemed expedient by the Authority or the Trustee, as the case may be. No waiver of any Event of Default under the
Loan Agreement extends to or affects any subsequent Event of Default under the Loan Agreement or impairs any
rights or remedies consequent thereon.
Upon acceleration of amounts due on the Note pursuant to the Loan Agreement the Trustee will declare the
Bonds to be due and payable if amounts due on the Bonds have not automatically accelerated.
Waivers of Events of Default
The Authority, or the Trustee on behalf of the Authority, may waive any Event of Default under the Loan
Agreement and its consequences and rescind any action previously taken and must do so upon receipt of a request
from the Registered Owners of a majority of the principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding. There may not be
waived, however, any Event of Default described in paragraph (a) under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT – Events of Default” unless, prior to the waiver, all arrears of
principal, premium and interest, with interest on overdue installments of principal, premium and (to the extent
permitted by law) interest at the Special Interest Rate and all expenses of the Authority and the Trustee in
connection with the Event of Default have been paid or provided for.
If any waiver of an Event of Default occurs pursuant to the provisions summarized under this heading or
any proceeding taken by the Trustee on account of any Event of Default is discontinued, abandoned or determined
adversely, then the Authority, the Borrower, the Trustee and the Registered Owners will be restored to their former
positions and rights under the Loan Agreement. No waiver pursuant to the provisions summarized under this
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heading, whether by the Trustee or the Registered Owners, extends to or affects any subsequent or other Event of
Default under the Loan Agreement or impairs any rights or remedies consequent thereon.
Remedies Subject to Law
All rights, remedies and powers given to the Authority by the Loan Agreement may be exercised only to
the extent that the exercise does not violate any applicable provision of law. All the provisions of the Loan
Agreement are intended to be subject to all applicable mandatory provisions of law which may be controlling and to
be limited to the extent necessary so that they will not render the Loan Agreement invalid or unenforceable under
the provisions of any applicable law.
SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MORTGAGE
Mortgaged Property
In order further to secure the payment of all sums due or to become due under in order further to secure the
payment of all sums due or to become due under the Bonds, the Loan Agreement, the Note, the Mortgage, the
Indenture and all certificates and other documents and papers delivered, or to be delivered, pursuant thereto and any
supplement to or replacement or successor agreement for any of the foregoing regardless of whether such document
has, on the date of the Mortgage, been executed and delivered (collectively, the “Bond Documents”) as well as to
secure the performance of all of the Borrower’s covenants and agreements contained in the Bond Documents and in
consideration of the premises, the loan made by the Authority under the Loan Agreement, the Borrower has granted,
bargained and sold, mortgaged, conveyed, aliened, enfeoffed, released, confirmed, assigned, transferred, granted a
security interest in, and set-over unto the Trustee, its successors and assigns, all of the Borrower’s right, title and
interest, now owned or hereafter acquired, in the Land, together with:
(a)
the tenements, hereditaments, appurtenances and all the estates and rights of the
Borrower in and to the said Land;
(b)
all the right, title and interest of the Borrower, in and to all streets, roads and public
places, opened or proposed, adjoining the said Land, and all easements and rights of way, public or private,
now or hereafter used in connection with said Land;
(c)
all right, title and interest of the Borrower, now owned or hereafter acquired, in and to
any land lying in the bed of any street, road or avenue, open or proposed, in front of or adjoining said Land
to the extent of the interest of the Borrower therein, now or hereafter acquired;
(d)
all right, title and interest of the Borrower, now owned or hereafter acquired, in and to
any and all sidewalks and alleys, and all strips and gores of land, adjacent to or used in connection with
said Land;
(e)
all right, title and interest of the Borrower in and to all buildings, structures and
improvements of every kind and description now or hereafter erected or placed on said Land, including the
Facilities;
(f)
all right, title and interest of the Borrower in and to all fittings, appliances, apparatus,
equipment, machinery, building materials, supplies and fixtures now or at any time hereafter, affixed or
attached to or placed upon, or used in any way in connection with the complete and comfortable use,
enjoyment, operation, maintenance and occupancy of said Land, buildings, structures and improvements;
(g)
all right, title and interest of the Borrower in and to all building materials, supplies,
equipment, machinery and other chattels delivered or being upon the Land and intended to be incorporated
or installed in or on the Land;
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(h)
all of the Borrower’s right, title and interest now owned or hereafter acquired in and to all
Personal Property;
(i)
all right, title and interest of the Borrower in and to the reversions, remainders,
easements, rents, issues and profits arising or issuing from said Land, and/or the buildings, structures and
improvements thereon including, but not limited to, the rents, issues and profits arising or issuing from all
insurance policies, sale agreements, licenses, options, leases and subleases now or hereafter entered into
covering any part of said Land and/or the buildings, structures and improvements thereon, all of which
insurance policies, sale agreements, licenses, options, leases, subleases, rents, issues and profits are
assigned by the Mortgage and shall be caused to be assigned to the Trustee by the Borrower;
(j)
all right, title and interest of the Borrower in and to any and all awards, damages,
payments and other compensation, and any and all claims therefor, and rights thereto, which may result
from taking or injury by virtue of the exercise of the power of eminent domain of, or to, or any damage,
injury or destruction in any manner caused to, said Land and/or buildings, structures and improvements
thereon, or any part thereof, or from any change of grade or vacation of any street abutting thereon, all of
which awards, damages, payments, compensation, claims and rights are assigned by the Mortgage,
transferred and set over to the Trustee to the fullest extent that the Borrower may under the law so do;
(k)
all right, title and interest of the Borrower in and to all unearned premiums accrued,
accruing or to accrue under any and all insurance policies now or hereafter obtained by the Borrower; and
(l)
all right, title and interest of the Borrower in any leases with respect to the Facilities and
any management agreements with respect to all or any portion of the Facilities.
All of which property, and rights therein, described under this heading are collectively referred to as the
“Mortgaged Property.”
Pledge of Gross Revenues and Personal Property
As security for its obligation to make any payments required under the Bond Documents and to make all
other payments due or to become due, and to perform its covenants and agreements under the Bond Documents,
pursuant to the Mortgage the Borrower pledges and grants to the Trustee, a lien on and security interest in all of its
right, title and interest in and under or arising out of all and any real or personal property included in the Land and
all fixtures and all rights and things of value, of any type or description, wherever located and now existing or
hereafter arising, together with any and all additions and accessions thereto and replacements, products and proceeds
(including, without limitation proceeds of insurance) thereof, including but not limited to the following: (a) the
Gross Revenues of the Borrower; and (b) all fittings, appliances, apparatus, equipment, machinery, furniture,
fixtures, chattels, building materials and other articles of tangible personal property of any kind or nature, together
with all replacements thereof, substitutions therefor and additions and accessions thereto, now, or at any time
hereafter, affixed or attached to or placed upon, or used in any way in connection with the complete and comfortable
use, enjoyment, operation, maintenance and occupancy of the Mortgaged Property; (c) all other machinery and
equipment of the Borrower, (d) all inventory of the Borrower wherever located, (e) all other goods and all other
tangible personal property of the Borrower, (f) all present and future accounts, accounts receivable, contract rights,
chattel paper, documents, instruments, securities and general intangibles of the Borrower, including all agreements
with residents in the Facilities, (g) all general intangibles and all other real or personal property and fixtures and all
rights and things of value of every kind and nature, tangible or intangible, absolute or contingent, equal or equitable,
and regardless of whether or not the provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code are applicable thereto, including
without limitation (i) all patient, lessee or other customer lists, books and records, ledger and account cards,
computer tapes, software, disks, printouts and records, whether now in existence or hereafter created, of the
Borrower, (ii) all rights (including without limitation rights to payment) of the Borrower under governmental
contracts, to the extent the same may be lawfully assigned or a security interest therein lawfully granted, (iii) all
management agreements (related to the Facilities), now existing or hereafter arising, each as amended from time to
time, including without limitation all rights and privileges thereunder, (iv) all rights and claims in and to any funds
or accounts established under the Indenture, and all securities, monies and other property held therein, (v) all
certificates of need, licenses, permits, rights of use, covenants or rights, and other approvals, including without
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limitation those benefiting or permitting the use or operation of the Facilities or any part thereof, (vi) all permits,
approvals, consents, waivers, exemptions, variances, franchises, orders, authorizations, rights and licenses obtained
or hereafter obtained from any federal, state or other governmental authority or agency, with respect to the Facilities,
(vii) all liens, security interests, mortgages, security, warranties, guarantees, sureties, payment bonds, performance
bonds, insurance policies and claims thereunder, maintenance, repair or replacement agreements, and other
contractual obligations of any contractor, subcontractor, surety, guarantor, manufacturer, dealer, laborer, supplier or
materialmen, with respect to the Facilities, (viii) all causes of action, corporate or business records, inventions,
designs, patents, patent applications, trademarks, trademark registrations and applications therefor, goodwill, trade
names, trade secrets, trade processes, copyrights, copyright registrations and applications therefor, franchises,
patient, lessee and customer lists, computer programs, tax refund claims, rights and claims against carriers and
shippers, leases, all rights to indemnification, of the Borrower, (ix) all bank and other accounts, deposits and credit
balances of the Borrower, (x) all monies, securities, instruments and other property now or at any time hereafter held
in any fund or account under the Indenture, (xi) all other moneys, securities and instruments of the Borrower,
(xii) all plans and specifications and all drawings relating to the Facilities, (xiii) all insurance and eminent domain
and condemnation awards and claims for insurance and eminent domain and condemnation awards relating to the
Facilities, and (xiv) all claims, rights, powers or privileges and remedies relating to the foregoing or arising in
connection therewith including, without limitation, all rights to make determinations, to exercise any election
(including, but not limited to, election of remedies) or option or to give or receive any notice, consent, waiver or
approval, together with full power and authority to demand, receive, enforce or execute any checks, or other
instruments or orders, to file any claims and to take any action which may be necessary or advisable in connection
with any of the foregoing, and (h) all property from time to time described in any financing statement (UCC-1)
naming the Trustee or any of its successors or assigns as secured party.
All of the property described in clauses (a) through (h) of the first paragraph under this heading shall
constitute and is defined to be “Personal Property.” All references in the Mortgage to Mortgaged Property shall be
deemed to include the Personal Property. Except as otherwise permitted under the Loan Agreement or under the
Mortgage, the Borrower represents and warrants in the Mortgage that all of such Personal Property is and will be
owned by the Borrower free from any prior conditional sales, chattel mortgages, security interests, liens or
encumbrances and is intended to be subject to the lien of and security interests created under the Mortgage. If any
such Personal Property is or shall be subject to a conditional bill of sale, chattel mortgage or security interest other
than that created by the Mortgage, then, in the event of any default under the Mortgage, all the right, title and
interest of the Borrower in and to any such instrument and all deposits made thereunder are assigned by the
Mortgage to the Trustee, together with the benefit of any payments now or hereafter made thereon.
The Borrower agrees to collect or cause to be collected with all due dispatch, all Gross Revenues.
Alterations, Additions, Removals
Except as provided in the Loan Agreement, the Borrower will not make any structural alterations or any
additions to the Mortgaged Property or cause or permit any building, structure or improvement or other property
now or hereafter covered by the lien of the Mortgage and comprising part of the Mortgaged Property to be removed,
or demolished in whole or in part, or any Personal Property comprising part of the Mortgaged Property to be
removed, severed or destroyed, without the prior written consent of the Trustee. All alterations and additions shall
become part of the Mortgaged Property subject to the lien of the Mortgage. The Borrower will not abandon or cause
or permit any waste to the Mortgaged Property.
Repairs and Maintenance
Throughout the term of the Mortgage, the Borrower, at its sole cost and expense, will take good care of the
Mortgaged Property and the sidewalks, curbs and vaults, if any, adjoining the Mortgaged Property and will keep the
same in good order and condition (ordinary wear and tear excepted), and make all necessary repairs thereto, interior
and exterior, structural and non-structural, ordinary and extraordinary, and unforeseen and foreseen. All repairs
made by the Borrower shall be at least equal in quality and class to the original work. The necessity for and
adequacy of repairs to the buildings and improvements pursuant to the Mortgage shall be measured by the standard
which is appropriate for structures of similar construction and class, provided that the Borrower shall in any event
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make all repairs necessary to avoid any structural damage or injury to the buildings and improvements to keep the
buildings and improvements in a proper condition for their intended uses.
Inspection and Repairs by Trustee
The Borrower will permit the Trustee and the Trustee’s representatives to enter the Mortgaged Property at
reasonable times and upon reasonable notice to inspect the same and conduct tests thereon. Such right of access
shall include, without limitation, the right to enter upon the Mortgaged Property to conduct such tests, analyses,
environmental audits, inspections and soil borings as the Trustee may deem necessary or advisable in its sole
discretion. In case of any breach or default by the Borrower in its maintenance and repair obligations, the Trustee
may, at its option enter the Mortgaged Property to protect, restore or repair any part thereof, but the Trustee shall be
under no obligation to do so. In case of any breach or default by the Borrower in its maintenance and repair
obligations, the Borrower will repay to the Trustee on demand any sums paid by the Trustee to protect, restore or
repair any part of the Mortgaged Property, with interest thereon at the rate set forth in the Mortgage, and the same
shall be secured by the Mortgage.
No Transfer of Property
The Borrower shall not by deed, mortgage, pledge, lease, easement or other instrument, grant, mortgage,
pledge, lease, convey, assign, devise or otherwise transfer all or any part of the Mortgaged Property or any interest
therein, directly or indirectly, other than a lease, conveyance, assignment or transfer permitted under the terms of the
Loan Agreement or the Mortgage, nor shall the Borrower suffer or permit the same by execution sale or operation of
law or otherwise.
No Security Interests in Personal Property or Gross Revenues
Except for Permitted Encumbrances (as defined in the Mortgage), the Borrower will not create or suffer to
be created any security interest under the Wisconsin Uniform Commercial Code or other encumbrance in favor of
any party other than the Trustee, or create or suffer any reservation of title by any such other party, with respect to
any of the Mortgaged Property nor shall any such property be the subject matter of any lease or other transaction
whereby the ownership or any beneficial interest in any of such property is held by any person or entity other than
the Borrower (or the Trustee as provided in the Mortgage). The Borrower will deliver to the Trustee on demand any
contracts, bills of sale, statements, receipted vouchers or agreements, under which the Borrower claims title to any
Personal Property incorporated in the improvements or subject to the lien of the Mortgage.
Protection of Mortgage Lien
The Borrower will promptly perform and observe, or cause to be performed and observed, all of the terms,
covenants and conditions of all instruments of record affecting the Mortgaged Property, non-compliance with which
may affect the security of the Mortgage, or which may impose any duty or obligation upon the Borrower or any
sublessee or other occupant of the Mortgaged Property or any part thereof, non-compliance with which may affect
the security of the Mortgage, and the Borrower shall do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve intact
and unimpaired any and all easements, appurtenances and other interests and rights in favor of or constituting any
portion of the Mortgaged Property.
Environmental Concerns
(a)
To the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, none of the Mortgaged Property has ever been used by
previous owners, lessees and/or operators to generate, manufacture, refine, produce, store, handle, transfer, process,
transport or dispose of Hazardous Substances (as defined by the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA)), 42 U.S.C.A. §9601(14), as now in effect or as hereafter from time to
time may be amended), Hazardous Wastes (as defined by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), 42
U.S.C.A. §6903(5), as now in effect or as hereafter from time to time may be amended), oils, radioactive materials,
asbestos in any form or condition, or any pollutant or contaminant or hazardous, dangerous or toxic chemicals,
materials or substances within the meaning of any other Environmental Laws, regulation, ordinance or requirements
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relating to or imposing liability or standards of conduct concerning any hazardous, toxic or dangerous waste,
substance or materials, all as now in effect or hereafter from time to time may be amended (all of which are
collectively referred to as “Hazardous Substances”). The Borrower has not in the past, and will not in the future, use
the Mortgaged Property for the purpose of generating, manufacturing, refining, producing, storing, handling,
transferring, processing, transporting or disposing of Hazardous Substances, except as is necessary in the ordinary
course of the Borrower’s business, provided that the Borrower shall handle, store, use and dispose of any such
Hazardous Substance in compliance with all Environmental Laws.
(b)
The Borrower has not received, and upon receipt shall immediately notify the Trustee of, a
summons, citation, directive, letter or other communication, written or oral, from any applicable governmental
agency concerning: (i) any intentional or unintentional action or omission on the Borrower’s part resulting in the
releasing, spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying or dumping of Hazardous Substances, into the
waters or onto the lands of the State of Wisconsin, or into the waters outside the jurisdiction of the State of
Wisconsin resulting in damage to the lands, waters, fish, shellfish, wildlife, biota, air and other resources owned,
managed, held in trust or otherwise controlled by the State of Wisconsin; (ii) any release to air or the environment of
Hazardous Substances; or (iii) any violation of any applicable Environmental Laws.
(c)
The Borrower shall operate the Mortgaged Property or cause it to be operated in compliance in all
material respects with all applicable Environmental Laws. The Borrower shall have the right in good faith to contest
or appeal from such laws, ordinances and regulations and any decision adverse to the Borrower based thereon, but
all costs, fees, and expenses incurred in connection with such proceedings shall be borne by the Borrower.
(d)
The Borrower shall not cause or permit to exist, as a result of an intentional or unintentional action
or omission on its part, a releasing, spilling, leaking, pumping, emitting, pouring, emptying or dumping of a
Hazardous Substance into waters of the State of Wisconsin or onto the lands from which it might flow or drain into
said waters, or into waters outside the jurisdiction of the State of Wisconsin where damage may result to the lands,
waters, fish, shellfish, wildlife, biota, air and other resources owned, managed, held in trust or otherwise controlled
by the State of Wisconsin, unless said release, spill, leak, pumping, emitting, pouring, emptying or dumping is
pursuant to and in compliance with the conditions of a permit issued by the appropriate Federal or state
governmental authorities. The Borrower shall not cause or permit the release of a Hazardous Substance to the air or
environment unless said release is pursuant to and in compliance with the conditions of a permit issued by the
appropriate Federal or state governmental authorities.
(e)
Should the Borrower cause or permit any intentional or unintentional action or omission resulting
in the releasing, spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying or dumping of Hazardous Substances, into
the waters or onto the lands of the State of Wisconsin or any other parties, or into the waters outside the jurisdiction
of the State of Wisconsin resulting in damage to the lands, waters, fish, shellfish, wildlife, biota, air or other
resources owned, managed or held in trust or otherwise controlled by the State of Wisconsin without having
obtained a permit issued by the appropriate governmental authorities, the Borrower shall promptly clean up the same
in accordance with the provisions of applicable Environmental Laws. Should the Borrower cause or permit the
release of a Hazardous Substance to the air or environment without having obtained a permit issued by the
appropriate governmental authorities, the Borrower shall promptly clean up the same in accordance with the
provisions of applicable Environmental Laws.
(f)
In all of its leases executed after the date of the Mortgage with tenants other than leases for
residential occupancy, if any, the Borrower shall include provisions similar to those summarized under this heading
imposing upon its tenants substantially the same obligations with respect to the environmental matters as set forth in
the Mortgage.
(g)
Upon request by the Trustee, the Borrower shall provide the Trustee with information regarding
the use and operation of the Mortgaged Property, including but not limited to (i) the location and description
(including identification by the applicable North American Industrial Classification System number) of all
operations conducted upon the Mortgaged Property; (ii) the location and type of all Hazardous Substances
generated, manufactured, refined, produced, stored, handled, transferred, processed, transported, disposed of or
otherwise located on the premises; and (iii) any other information which the Trustee may reasonably require.
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(h)
The Borrower shall and agrees in the Mortgage to indemnify, exonerate, defend (with counsel
acceptable to Trustee) and hold Trustee harmless from and against any claim, liability, loss, cost, damage or expense
(including, without limitation, environmental consultants’ and experts’ fees and expenses, attorneys’ fees and
expenses, court costs and all costs of assessment, monitoring, clean-up, containment, removal, remediation and
restoration) arising out of or in connection with (i) any breach of any of the representations, warranties, conditions
and covenants of the Mortgage or any of the other Bond Documents relating to Hazardous Substances or
Environmental Laws (whether any such matters arise before or after foreclosure proceedings are commenced or
entry for the purpose of foreclosure is made or foreclosure of the Mortgage is completed), (ii) the Trustee’s exercise
any of its rights and remedies under the Mortgage or (iii) the enforcement of the aforesaid indemnification
agreement.
(i)
The matters covered by the foregoing indemnity with respect to any property other than the
Mortgaged Property shall not include any costs incurred as a result of the clean-up, containment, remediation or
removal of Hazardous Substances on, under or from such other property or the restoration thereof if such Hazardous
Substances did not originate on, under or from the Mortgaged Property, unless the clean-up, containment,
remediation or removal thereof or the restoration of such other property is either required in connection with any
Environmental Enforcement Action or is necessary to prevent the migration of Hazardous Substances from such
other property to the Mortgaged Property. The Borrower acknowledges and agrees in the Mortgage that its
obligations pursuant to the provisions of the Mortgage are in addition to any and all other legal liabilities and
responsibilities (at law or in equity) that the Borrower may otherwise have as “owner” or “operator” of the
Mortgaged Property or a “responsible party” within the meaning of any of the Environmental Laws, as the case may
be. The indemnity provisions of this paragraph (i) shall survive the payment and performance of the obligations
under the Bonds and the Bond Documents, the discharge of the Mortgage and/or the foreclosure of the Mortgage (or
deed in lieu thereof).
Payment of Liens
The Borrower shall pay, when the same shall become due and payable, all lawful claims and demands of
mechanics, materialmen, laborers and others which, if unpaid, might result in or permit the creation of a lien on the
Mortgaged Property or any part thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower may, at its expense, in good
faith contest any mechanics’ or other liens filed or established against the Mortgaged Property, and in such event
may permit the items so contested to remain undischarged and unsatisfied during the period of such contest and any
appeal therefrom unless the Trustee shall notify the Borrower that, in the opinion of counsel for the Trustee, by
nonpayment of any such items, the Mortgaged Property or any part thereof will be subject to loss or forfeiture, in
which event the Borrower shall pay and cause to be discharged and satisfied all such unpaid items.
If the Borrower shall fail to make the payments required by the provisions summarized in the immediately
preceding paragraph, the Trustee may at its option, but shall be under no obligation to do so, pay such claims and
demands and the Borrower will repay to the Trustee on demand any amount so paid by the Trustee, with interest
therein set forth in the Mortgage, and the same shall be secured by the Trustee.
Partial Release of Mortgaged Property
The Borrower may dispose of vacant portions of the Land that constitutes Mortgaged Property in the
manner described under this heading. If no default exists under the Bond Documents and no Event of Default exists
under the Mortgage, the Borrower shall have the right, at any time and from time to time, to a release of unimproved
Land from the Mortgage as follows:
(a)
Land not containing any permanent structure necessary for the total operating unity and
efficiency of the Project may be released for the purpose of selling the same to a third person or to facilitate
the construction or financing of additions to the Project or additional structures not related to the Project on
the Land, and the Trustee shall, from time to time, release from the Mortgage such real property so sold,
pledged or disposed of, but only upon receipt by the Trustee of the following:
(1)
as follows:

Certificate of an Authorized Borrower Representative setting forth in substance
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(A)

The number of acres or square feet of the property to be released,

(B)
The calculation of the release price, which shall be (i) the sale price in
the case of sale to an unrelated third party, or (ii) in other cases, an amount equal to $6.68
per square foot,
(C)
The property to be released is not needed for the operation of the
Project and is not necessary for the total operating unity and efficiency of the Project,
(D)
The release will not impair the structural integrity of the Project or the
usefulness of the Project for these purposes and will not inhibit adequate means of ingress
to or egress from the Project, and
(E)
All conditions precedent provided for in the Mortgage relating to such
release have been compiled with;
(2)
A survey prepared by a registered land surveyor describing and showing the
Land, after giving effect to such release;
(3)
Approval by the Planning Commission of the released Land and the remaining
Land as separate parcels;
(4)
Cash equal to the release price as certified pursuant to the provisions
summarized in subparagraph (B) under this heading, which cash shall be deposited in the
Prepayment Account of the Bond Fund or Debt Service Reserve Fund, as directed by the
Authorized Borrower Representative;
(5)
A certificate of an Independent Engineer that the Land to be released does not
contain any permanent structure necessary for the total operating unity and efficiency of the
Project; and
(6)
An opinion of counsel stating that the certificates, opinions and other
instruments and cash which have been or are therewith delivered to and deposited with the Trustee
conform to the requirements of the Mortgage and that, upon the basis of such application, the
property may be released from the lien of the Mortgage, and that all conditions precedent provided
for in the Mortgage relating to such release have been complied with.
(b)
The Borrower may at any time or times grant to itself or others easements, licenses, rights
of way and other rights or privileges in the nature of easements with respect to the Land, free from the lien
of the Mortgage, or the Borrower may release existing easements, licenses, rights of way and other rights or
privileges with or without consideration, and the Trustee will execute and deliver any instrument necessary
or appropriate to confirm and grant or release any such easement, license, right of way or privilege;
provided, however, that prior to any such grant or release, there shall have been supplied to the Trustee a
Certificate of the Authorized Borrower Representative and, if requested by the Trustee, of an Independent
Engineer to the effect (i) that such grant or release is not detrimental to the proper operation of the Project
and (ii) such grant or release will not impair the operating unity or the efficiency of the Project on such
Land or materially and adversely affect the character thereof. The costs of complying with the
requirements summarized under this heading shall be borne by the Borrower.
For purposes of the provisions summarized under this heading and as otherwise used in the Mortgage, the
term “Independent Engineer” shall mean an engineer or firm of engineers selected by the Borrower which has no
specific interest, direct or indirect, in the Borrower and, in the case of an individual, is not a director, officer or
employee of the Borrower and, in the case of a firm, does not have a partner, director, officer or employee who is a
director, officer or employee of the Borrower.
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Damage or Destruction
The Borrower agrees in the Mortgage to notify the Trustee immediately in the case of damage exceeding
$500,000, or destruction of the Mortgaged Property resulting from fire or other casualty.
The Borrower agrees in the Mortgage that upon receipt, all Net Proceeds resulting from fire or other
casualty with respect to the Mortgaged Property will be paid to the Trustee. So long as no Default or Event of
Default under the Mortgage has occurred and is continuing, Net Proceeds relating to damage to the Mortgaged
Property of $500,000 or less will be paid over by the Trustee to the Borrower upon receipt of a written request of the
Borrower requesting that they do so. For purposes of the provisions summarized under this heading, “Net Proceeds”
means the gross proceeds from an insurance or condemnation award remaining after payment of all expenses
(including attorneys’ fees and any expenses of the Trustee) incurred in the collection of the gross proceeds.
In the event any damage to the Mortgaged Property exceeds $500,000 or any substantial portion of it is
destroyed by fire or other casualty, the Borrower agrees in the Mortgage that it will, within 180 days after the
damage or destruction, elect one of the following three options:
(a)
Option A—Repair and Improvements. The Borrower may elect to use the Net Proceeds
to repair, reconstruct, restore or replace the damaged Mortgaged Property or destroyed Mortgaged Property
and, if excess Net Proceeds remain after such repairs, reconstruction, restoration or replacement, may use
such excess Net Proceeds to make other capital improvements to the Mortgaged Property. So long as no
Default or Event of Default under the Mortgage has occurred and is continuing, any Net Proceeds of
insurance relating to such damage or destruction to the Mortgaged Property received by the Trustee will be
released from time to time to the Borrower as summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Project Fund”. In the event the Borrower elects this Option A, the
Borrower agrees in the Mortgage to complete the repair, reconstruction, restoration or replacement of or
improvements to the Mortgaged Property, whether or not the Net Proceeds received by the Borrower for
that purpose are sufficient to pay for them.
(b)
Option B—Prepayment of the Note; Release of Mortgaged Property from Mortgage. The
Borrower may elect to have the Net Proceeds payable as a result of the damage or destruction to any
Mortgaged Property applied to the prepayment of the Note. In that event the Borrower, in its notice of
election to the Trustee, will direct the Trustee to apply the Net Proceeds, when and as received, to the
prepayment of Note in the manner specified in the Loan Agreement. In the event the Borrower elects to
apply Net Proceeds to prepayment of the Note under this Option B, the payment of Outstanding Bonds
shall constitute an extraordinary optional redemption under the Indenture.
(c)
Option C—Partial Repair and Partial Prepayment. The Borrower may elect to use a
portion of the Net Proceeds to repair, reconstruct, restore or replace the Mortgaged Property or to make
other capital improvements to the Mortgaged Property and to apply the balance of the Net Proceeds to the
prepayment of the Note. In this event, the Net Proceeds to be used for repair, reconstruction, restoration,
replacement or improvements will be applied as summarized in subparagraph (a) under this heading and the
portion of the Net Proceeds to be used for prepayment of the Note will be applied as summarized in
subparagraph (b) under this heading.
The Indenture contains similar provisions with respect to condemnation.
Assignment of Leases and Rents
As further security for the payment of the indebtedness and performance of the obligations, covenants and
agreements secured by the Mortgage, pursuant to the Mortgage the Borrower assigns to the Trustee all leases
(including all lease agreements between the Borrower and any residents of the Facilities) already in existence and to
be created in the future, together with all rents to become due under existing or future leases. Pursuant to the
Mortgage the Borrower confers to the Trustee the exclusive power to act as the agent, or to appoint a third person to
act as agent for the Borrower, with power to take possession of, and collect all rents arising from, the Mortgaged
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Property and apply such rents to such purposes as set forth in the Indenture; but such collection of rents shall not
operate as an affirmance of any tenant or lease in the event the Borrower’s title to the Mortgaged Property is
acquired by the Trustee. In exercising any of the powers summarized in this paragraph, the Trustee may also take
possession of, and for these purposes use, any and all Personal Property used by the Borrower in the rental or leasing
of the Mortgaged Property. Notwithstanding the provisions summarized under this heading, so long as no Event of
Default shall exist, Borrower shall have the irrevocable right and irrevocable license to collect, use and enjoy the
rents and other sums payable under and by virtue of any lease (but only as the same become due under the
provisions of such lease) and to enforce the covenants of the leases.
Events of Default
Any one or more of the following events shall constitute an Event of Default under the Mortgage:
(a)
failure to pay when due and payable any installment of interest or principal on the
indebtedness evidenced by the Bonds or Note, or in the payment of any other sum which is payable under
the Bonds, Indenture, Note, Loan Agreement or the Mortgage, as and when the same shall become due and
payable as further described in the Bonds, Indenture, Note, Loan Agreement or the Mortgage; or
(b)
the occurrence of an “Event of Default” summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT – Events of Default” or “SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Events of Default;” or
(c)
if the Borrower defaults in the due observance or performance of or compliance with any
of the provisions, warranties, covenants, promises, agreements, terms or conditions to be observed,
performed, or complied with by the Borrower, as contained in the Mortgage, other than those referred to in
clauses (a) and (b) under this heading inclusive of the provisions summarized under this heading, and such
default shall continue uncured for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice thereof to the Borrower
except that in the case of a default pursuant to the provisions summarized in this clause (c) which cannot
with due diligence be cured within such period of thirty (30) days, the time within which Borrower may
cure the same shall be extended for such period as may be reasonably necessary in the Trustee’s discretion
to cure the same with due diligence (but in no event more than 90 days), provided the Borrower
commences within such thirty (30) days and proceeds diligently to cure the same; or
(d)
any representation or warranty made by Borrower in the Mortgage, or any other
statement or certificate furnished by it pursuant to the Mortgage shall prove to have been untrue in any
material respect as of the date of the issuance or making thereof; or
(e)
if the Borrower voluntarily violates the provisions of the Mortgage summarized under the
heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MORTGAGES – No Transfer of Property,”
“ – No Security Interests in Personal Property or Gross Revenues,” or “ – Payment of Liens.”
Acceleration - Remedies Upon Default
Upon the happening of any one or more Events of Default summarized under the heading “SUMMARY
OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MORTGAGES – Events of Default,” the Trustee may declare the entire
unpaid balance of the principal indebtedness, accrued interest and all other sums secured by the Mortgage to be
immediately due and payable without notice or demand. If an Event of Default shall occur, the Trustee may
forthwith, with or without accelerating the Bonds or the indebtedness evidenced by the Loan Agreement and all
other amounts due thereunder, exercise any and all rights available to it at law or equity, elect to apply any of the
following remedies or any remedy set forth in the Loan Agreement (which remedies shall be cumulative) and may
without further delay:
(a)
Foreclosure. Institute an action of mortgage foreclosure, or take such other action as the
law may allow, at law or in equity, or any combination thereof, for the enforcement thereof and realization
on the mortgage security or any other security which is provided for in the Mortgage or elsewhere, and

D-40

proceed thereon to final judgment and execution thereon for the entire unpaid balance of the principal
indebtedness which has been accelerated, with interest, at the rates and pursuant to the methods of
calculation specified in the applicable debt instrument, together with all other sums secured by the
Mortgage, all costs of suit, interest at the above rates on any judgment obtained by the Trustee from and
after the date of any sale of the Mortgaged Property until actual payment is made of the full amount due the
Trustee, and reasonable attorneys’ fees, without further stay.
(b)
Entry. Enter into possession of the Mortgaged Property; lease and operate the same;
collect all rents and profits therefrom and, after deducting all costs of collection and administration
expenses, apply the net rents and profits to the payment of taxes, water and sewer rents, charges (including
but not limited to agents’ compensation and fees and costs of counsel and receivers) and to the
maintenance, repair or restoration of the Mortgaged Property, or on account and in reduction of the
principal, interest, or principal and interest, secured by the Mortgage, in such order and amounts as the
Trustee, in the Trustee’s sole discretion, may elect. The Trustee shall be liable to account only for rents
and profits actually received by the Trustee.
(c)
Receivership. Have a receiver appointed to enter into possession of the Mortgaged
Property, collect the rents, issues and profits therefrom and apply the same as the court may direct. The
Trustee shall be entitled to the appointment of a receiver without the necessity of proving either the
inadequacy of the security or the insolvency of the Borrower or any other person who may be legally or
equitably liable to pay moneys secured by the Mortgage and the Borrower and each such person shall be
deemed to have waived such proof and to have consented to the appointment of such receiver. Should the
Trustee or any receiver collect rents, issues or profits from the Mortgaged Property, the moneys so
collected shall not be substituted for payment of the debt nor can they be used to cure the default, without
the prior written consent of the Trustee. The Trustee or any receiver shall be liable to account only for
rents, issues and profits actually received by the Trustee or any receiver.
(d)
Security Interests. Exercise any and all rights of a secured party with respect to the
Mortgaged Property under the Uniform Commercial Code. Take possession of any of the Mortgaged
Property and sell any portion of such property pursuant to the provisions of the Wisconsin Uniform
Commercial Code and generally exercise any of such other rights and remedies with respect to such
property as may be provided by said Code. Any requirement of such Uniform Commercial Code as to
reasonable notice shall be met by delivering written notice to the Borrower ten (10) days prior to any such
sale. In the event of any foreclosure under the Mortgage, the Mortgaged Property may be sold in whole or
in part as part of the realty or separately. The Trustee shall also be entitled to take possession of, assemble
and collect all or any portion of the Mortgaged Property and require the Borrower to assemble the
Mortgaged Property and make it available at any place the Trustee may designate so as to allow the Trustee
to take possession of or dispose of all or any portion of the Mortgaged Property.
(e)
Judicial Proceedings. Proceed by one or more suits, actions or proceedings at law or in
equity or otherwise or by any other approved means to enforce payment of the Bonds and all other amounts
due under the Indenture, the Loan Agreement or the Mortgage by the Borrower or protect and enforce any
of the Trustee’s rights or powers under the Loan Agreement or the Mortgage.
(f)
Gross Revenues. With respect to the Gross Revenues and any other rents, accounts
receivable, general intangibles and contract rights, to ask for, demand, collect, receive, compound and give
acquittance therefor or any part thereof, to extend the time of payment of, compromise or settle for cash,
credit or otherwise, and upon any terms and conditions, any thereof, to endorse the name of Borrower on
any checks, drafts or other orders or instruments for the payment of moneys payable to Borrower which
shall be issued in respect thereof, to exercise and enforce any rights and remedies in respect thereof, to file
any claims, commence, maintain or discontinue any actions, suits or other proceedings deemed by the
Trustee necessary or advisable for the purpose of collecting or enforcing payment and performance thereof,
to make test verifications thereof or any portion thereof, to notify any or all account debtors thereunder to
make payment thereof directly to the Trustee for the account of the Trustee and to require Borrower to
forthwith give similar notice to the account debtors, and to require Borrower forthwith to account for and
transmit to the Trustee in the same form as received all proceeds (other than physical property) or
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collection thereof received by Borrower and, until so transmitted, to hold the same in trust for the Trustee
and not commingle such proceeds with any other funds of Borrower.
Other Remedies
Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default the Trustee, pursuant to the foregoing rights and remedies or in
addition thereto, (a) shall be entitled to resort to its several securities for the payment of the sums secured by the
Mortgage in such order and manner as the Trustee may think fit without impairing the Trustee’s lien in or rights to
any of such securities and without affecting the liability of any person, firm or corporation for the sums secured by
the Mortgage, except to the extent that the indebtedness secured by the Mortgage shall have been reduced by the
actual monetary consideration, if any, received by the Trustee from the proceeds of such security; (b) may, in the
Trustee’s sole discretion, release for such consideration as the Trustee may require, any portion of the Mortgaged
Property without, as to the remainder of the security, in any way impairing or affecting the lien of the Mortgage or
the priority thereof or improving the position of any subordinate lienholder with respect thereto, except to the extent
that the indebtedness secured by the Mortgage shall have been reduced by the actual monetary consideration, if any,
received by the Trustee for such release; and/or (c) may accept the assignment or pledge of any other property in
place thereof as the Trustee may require without being accountable for so doing to any other lienor. In the event of
any breach or anticipatory breach by the Borrower of any of the covenants, agreements, terms or conditions
contained in the Mortgage, the Trustee shall be entitled to enjoin such breach or anticipatory breach and shall have
the right to invoke any right and remedy allowed at law or in equity or by statute or otherwise as though other
remedies were not provided for in the Mortgage.
Remedies Cumulative
Each right and remedy of the Trustee provided for in the Mortgage shall be cumulative and shall be in
addition to every other right or remedy provided for in the Mortgage, the Indenture or in the Loan Agreement or
now or hereafter existing at law, or in equity or by statute or otherwise, and the exercise or beginning of the exercise
by the Trustee of any one or more of the rights or remedies provided for in the Mortgage or now or hereafter
existing at law, or in equity or by statute or otherwise, shall not preclude the simultaneous or later exercise by the
Trustee of any or all other rights or remedies provided for in the Mortgage or now or hereafter existing at law, in
equity or by statute or otherwise.
No Waiver Implied
Any failure, forbearance or delay by the Trustee in insisting upon the strict performance by the Borrower of
any of the terms, covenants, agreements, conditions and provisions of the Mortgage shall not be deemed to be a
waiver of any of the terms, covenants, agreements, conditions and provisions thereof, and the Trustee
notwithstanding any such failure, forbearance or delay shall have the right thereafter to insist upon the strict
performance by the Borrower of any and all of the terms, covenants, agreements, conditions and provisions of the
Mortgage to be performed by the Borrower. Neither the Borrower, nor any other person now or hereafter obligated
for the payment of the whole or any part of the sums now or hereafter secured by the Mortgage shall be relieved of
such obligation by reason of the failure of the Trustee to comply with any request of the Borrower or of any other
person so obligated to take action to foreclose the Mortgage or otherwise enforce any of the provisions of the
Mortgage or of any obligations secured by the Mortgage, or by reason of the release, regardless of consideration, of
the whole or any part of the security held for the indebtedness secured by the Mortgage, or by reason of any
agreement or stipulation between any subsequent owner or owners of the Mortgaged Property and the Trustee
extending the time of payment or modifying the terms of the Bonds or the Mortgage without first having obtained
the consent of the Borrower or such other person, and in the latter event, the Borrower and all such other persons
shall continue to be liable to make such payments according to the terms of any such agreement of extension or
modification unless expressly released and discharged in writing by the Trustee. Regardless of consideration, and
without the necessity for any notice to or consent by the holder of any subordinate lien on the Mortgaged Property,
the Trustee may release the obligation of anyone at any time liable for any of the indebtedness secured by the
Mortgage or any part of the security held for the indebtedness and may extend the time for payment or otherwise
grant indulgences, modify the terms of the Note or the Mortgage, or both, without, as to the security or the
remainder thereof, in any way impairing or affecting the lien of the Mortgage or the priority of such lien, as security
for the payment of the indebtedness as it may be so extended or modified, over any subordinate lien. The holder of
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any subordinate lien shall have no right to terminate any lease affecting the Mortgaged Property whether or not such
lease be subordinate to the Mortgage. For the payment of the indebtedness secured by the Mortgage the Trustee
may resort to any other security therefor held by the Trustee in such order and manner as the Trustee may elect.
Satisfaction of Mortgage
If the Borrower complies with the provisions of the Mortgage and the Borrower pays to the Trustee all
sums, and performs all obligations, secured by the Mortgage in accordance with the terms of and at the times
provided in the Bonds, the Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Mortgage, without deduction, fraud or delay, then
the Mortgage and the estate and security interest granted and created by the Mortgage shall then cease, terminate and
become void, and the powers of attorney granted under the Mortgage to the Trustee by the Borrower shall be
deemed to be canceled or terminated, and the Trustee shall execute and deliver such mortgage satisfactions,
termination statements and other documents as the Borrower may reasonably request to evidence the same.
Amendments
All amendments and modifications of the Mortgage must be in writing, executed by the Mortgagor and
consented to by the Mortgagee.
The Mortgagor and the Mortgagee may from time to time and at any time enter into one or more
supplements and amendments to the Mortgage for one or more of the following purposes:
(i)
to evidence the succession of another corporation to the Mortgagor, or successive
successions, and the assumption by the successor corporation of the covenants, agreements and obligations
of the Mortgagor pursuant to the Mortgage if, but only if, similar amendments are concurrently being made
to the Loan Agreement as provided in the Loan Agreement,
(ii)
to cure any ambiguity or to correct or supplement any provision contained in the
Mortgage or in any other amendment or supplement to the Mortgage which may be defective or
inconsistent with any other provision contained in the Mortgage or in any other amendment or supplement
to the Mortgage,
(iii)
to modify or supplement the Mortgage as may be necessary to comply with any
applicable state securities laws which require the Mortgage to comport with any requirements of the Trust
Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (the “Act”), regardless of the applicability of the Act to the Mortgage,
including provisions whereby the Mortgagee accepts such powers, duties, conditions and restrictions
thereunder and the Mortgagor undertakes such covenants, conditions or restrictions additional to those
contained in the Mortgage as would be necessary or appropriate the Mortgage so to comply with such state
securities laws and
(iv)

to provide for the issuance of Additional Bonds pursuant to the Indenture.

Any amendment or supplement to the Mortgage authorized by the provisions summarized under this
heading may be executed by the Mortgagor and by the Mortgagee without the consent of the holders of the Bonds.
No other amendments or supplements may be made to the Mortgage without the consent of the Bondholders.
SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LIMITED GUARANTY
Guaranty Obligation
(a)
Subject to the limitations summarized in paragraph (b) under this heading, and under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LIMITED GUARANTY – Term,” the Guarantor absolutely
and unconditionally guarantees to the Trustee for the benefit of all persons who may become the owners from time
to time of the Series 2014 Bonds (i) the full and prompt payment of all principal of and premium, if any, on the
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Series 2014 Bonds when and as the same shall become due, whether at the stated maturity thereof, by acceleration,
call for redemption or otherwise, (ii) the full and prompt payment of all interest on the Series 2014 Bonds when and
as the same shall become due, and (iii) the performance of all other obligations of the Borrower under the Loan
Agreement, including, but not limited to, the obligation to provide for the full and prompt payment of all other
amounts owing by Borrower under the Loan Agreement, including, but not limited to, all payments due and payable
under the Loan Agreement which includes the payment of any rebate payments owing in respect of the Bonds to the
United States under Section 148(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, any advances or expenses of
the Trustee under the Indenture and all advances, fees and expenses owing to the Authority or the Trustee all as set
forth in the Loan Agreement.
(b)
Notwithstanding anything else set forth in the Limited Guaranty, but in all events subject to clause
(b) under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LIMITED GUARANTY – Default,”
the Guarantor’s total liability under the Limited Guaranty shall not exceed $4,000,000.
Term
(a)
General. The obligations of the Guarantor under the Limited Guaranty shall arise absolutely and
unconditionally upon the execution and delivery of the Loan Agreement by the Borrower and shall, subject to the
provisions summarized in paragraph (b) under this heading, remain in full force and effect until all obligations of the
Borrower under the Loan Agreement have been satisfied in full and payment has been made of all principal of,
premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2014 Bonds, when due.
(b)
Termination of Limited Guaranty. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Limited Guaranty shall
terminate and the Guarantor’s obligations under the Limited Guaranty shall be extinguished upon the delivery to the
Trustee of the following:
(i)
a Certificate of the Authorized Borrower Representative to the effect that occupancy of
the Project has attained an average rate of not less than 90% calculated over the most recently ended the
fiscal year of the Borrower (the “Measurement Period”), with such occupancy having been determined
solely by reference to occupants who have entered into lease or occupancy agreements with the Borrower
in good faith; and
(ii)
a Certificate of Qualified Accountants to the effect that, based upon the most recent
audited financial statements of the Borrower, (a) the Borrower’s Net Income Available for Debt Service
was equal to at least 130% of the Annual Debt Service Requirement for the fiscal year of the Borrower
most recently completed; and (b) the Borrower had at least 60 Days Cash on Hand for the fiscal year of the
Borrower most recently completed.
For purposes of meeting these requirements, compliance may be measured by reference to consolidated
financial statements of the Guarantor and its affiliates, including consolidating schedules of the Borrower and other
affiliates of the Guarantor, prepared in reasonable detail and in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles.
(c)

For all purposes of paragraph (b) summarized under this heading:

(i)
“Annual Debt Service Requirement” shall have the meaning set forth in the Loan
Agreement. See definition of “Annual Debt Service Requirement” under the heading “DEFINITIONS OF
CERTAIN TERMS” in this Appendix D.
(ii)
“Net Income Available for Debt Service” shall have the meaning set forth in the Loan
Agreement, except that in no event shall Net Income Available for Debt Service include contributions,
donations or transfers from any Affiliate. See definition of “Net Income Available for Debt Service” under
the heading “DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS” in this Appendix D.
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(iii)
“Days Cash on Hand” shall have the meaning set forth in the Loan Agreement, except
that in no event shall Days Cash on Hand include contributions, donations or transfers from any Affiliate.
See definition of “Days Case on Hand” under the heading “DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS” in this
Appendix D.
(d)
Notwithstanding anything else summarized in paragraph (b) under this heading, in no event shall
the obligations of the Guarantor under the Limited Guaranty terminate prior to September 30, 2018.
Obligations Unconditional
The Guarantor’s obligations under the Limited Guaranty shall not be affected, modified or impaired upon
the happening from time to time of any event, including without limitation any of the following:
(a)
the compromise, settlement, release or termination of any or all of the obligations,
covenants or agreements of the Borrower under the Loan Agreement or of the Authority under the
Indenture;
(b)
the failure to give notice to the Borrower or the Guarantor of the occurrence of any
default or event of default under the terms and provisions of the Limited Guaranty, the Loan Agreement,
the Mortgage or the Indenture;
(c)
the waiver of the payment, performance or observance by the Borrower or the Guarantor
of any of the obligations, covenants or agreements of any of them contained in the Indenture, the Loan
Agreement, the Mortgage, or the Limited Guaranty;
(d)
the extension of the time for payment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest on any
Series 2014 Bond or of the time for performance of any other obligations, covenants or agreements under
or arising out of the Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Mortgage or the Limited Guaranty or the extension
or the renewal of any thereof;
(e)
the modification or amendment (whether material or otherwise) of any obligation,
covenant or agreement set forth in the Indenture, the Mortgage or the Loan Agreement;
(f)
the taking or omission of any of the actions referred to in the Indenture, the Mortgage or
the Loan Agreement or any actions under the Limited Guaranty;
(g)
any failure, omission, delay or lack on the part of the Authority or Trustee to enforce,
assert or exercise any rights, power or remedy conferred on the Authority or Trustee in the Limited
Guaranty, the Indenture, the Loan Agreement or the Mortgage;
(h)
the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, sale or other disposition of all or
substantially all the assets, marshalling of assets and liabilities, receivership, insolvency, bankruptcy,
assignment for the benefit of creditors or readjustment of or other similar proceedings affecting the
Guarantor or the Borrower, or any of the assets of any of them, or any allegation or contest of the validity
of the Limited Guaranty in any such proceeding;
(i)
to the extent permitted by law, the release or discharge of the Borrower or of the
Authority from the performance or observance of any obligations, covenants or agreements contained in the
Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Mortgage or the Series 2014 Bonds by operation of law;
(j)
the default or failure of the Guarantor to perform any of its obligations set forth in the
Limited Guaranty;
(k)
the default or failure of the Borrower, the Trustee or the Authority to fully perform any of
its obligations to the Guarantor; or
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(l)

the invalidity or unenforceability of the Indenture, the Loan Agreement or the Mortgage.

Notwithstanding the provisions summarized under this heading, the Guarantor shall not be obligated to
make any payment summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LIMITED
GUARANTY – Obligation” if the obligation of the Borrower to make such payment has been effectively waived,
modified or amended by action of the Trustee or Series 2014 Bondholders under the applicable provisions of the
Indenture.
Set-Offs, Counterclaims
No set-off, counterclaim, reduction, or diminution of the obligation, or any defense of any kind or nature
which the Guarantor has or may have against the Authority, the Borrower, the Trustee or any Bondholder shall be
available under the Limited Guaranty to such Guarantor against the Trustee.
Default
In the event of a default in the payment of principal of any Series 2014 Bond when and as the same shall
become due, whether at the stated maturity thereof, by acceleration, call for redemption or otherwise, or of a default
in the payment of any interest on any Series 2014 Bond when and as the same shall become due, or in the event of a
failure to make any other payment due and owing under the Loan Agreement or the Indenture, the Trustee, in its
sole discretion, shall have the right to proceed first and directly against the Guarantor under the Limited Guaranty
without proceeding against the Borrower under the Loan Agreement or the Mortgage or exhausting any other
remedies which it may have and without resorting to any other security held by the Trustee.
The Trustee shall not be obligated to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur any financial liability
in the taking of any action under the Limited Guaranty, if it shall have reasonable grounds for believing that
repayment of such funds or adequate indemnity against such risk or liability is not reasonably assured to it, except
liability which is adjudicated to have resulted from its negligence or willful default by reason of any action so taken.
The Guarantor agrees in the Limited Guaranty to pay all the costs, expenses and fees, including all
reasonable attorney’s fees, which may be incurred by the Trustee in enforcing or attempting to enforce the Limited
Guaranty following any default on the part of either Borrower or the Guarantor, whether the same shall be enforced
by suit or otherwise.
Remedies
No remedy conferred upon or reserved to the Trustee in the Limited Guaranty is intended to be exclusive of
any other available remedy or remedies, but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition
to every other remedy given under the Limited Guaranty or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity. No delay
or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default, omission or failure of performance under the
Limited Guaranty shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any such
right and power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient. In order to entitle
the Trustee to exercise any remedy reserved to it in the Limited Guaranty, it shall not be necessary to give any
notice, other than such notice as may be expressly required in the Limited Guaranty. In the event any provision
contained in the Limited Guaranty should be breached by the Guarantor and thereafter duly waived by Trustee, such
waiver shall be limited to the particular breach so waived and shall not be deemed to waive any other breach
thereunder.
Waiver, Amendment
No waiver, amendment, release or modification of the Limited Guaranty shall be established by conduct,
custom or course of dealing, but solely by an instrument in writing duly executed by the Trustee. The Limited
Guaranty may be amended or supplemented only as provided in the Indenture.
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SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE DISBURSING AGREEMENT
Cost Statement; Contractors
The Borrower shall submit to the Title Company a copy of a “Sworn Construction Cost Statement,” and
shall advise the Title Company of the name of each person, corporation or other entity which has a contract or
subcontract under which payment may be required for any work done, material supplied or services furnished in
connection with acquiring, constructing and equipping the Project (the “Contractors”). The Borrower shall also
furnish to the Title Company a copy of each such contract with each of such Contractors. The Borrower shall keep
the Title Company advised at all times of the names of all such Contractors, and of the type of work, material or
services and of the dollar amount covered by each of their respective contracts with the Borrower. In addition, prior
to the first disbursement to make a payment to any Contractor, the Borrower shall submit to the Title Company
(a) evidence of builder’s risk insurance with respect to the Project and (b) payment and performance bonds in
accordance with the terms of the construction contract.
Disbursements for Contractors
The Borrower may obtain disbursements for payment to Contractors only to the extent of the amount of the
work satisfactorily completed or materials actually incorporated into the Project by each such Contractor in
accordance with his, her or its contract, less any required retainage, and the Borrower agrees in the Disbursing
Agreement that all sums requested under the Disbursing Agreement for payment to each Contractor shall not exceed
that amount. The Borrower may obtain disbursements for payment to the Contractors or suppliers for the cost of
materials acquired for the Project but not yet incorporated therein, if the Title Company has received (a) evidence
that the Borrower has acquired title to the same and that the same are located or shall be located in a place of storage
therefor on the Land or in a secure or bonded warehouse located in the county in which the Land is situated; and
(b) a schedule for the prompt incorporation thereof into the Project, and if the Authorized Borrower Representative
has verified and approved the cost and acquisition of said materials, their physical presence at the approved storage
site, and the security and protection provided therefor. The Trustee shall not be required to make the final
disbursement for the payment of the full amount of any Contractor’s contract until the Inspecting Architect has
satisfied the Title Company that the Project or that Contractor’s component of the Project has been completed in
accordance with the approved Plans and Specifications, and all requirements set forth in the Loan Agreement have
been fully complied with, including, to the extent applicable, the requirements to evidence the Completion Date of
the Project.
Requisitions
Whenever the Borrower desires to obtain a disbursement from the Project Fund, the Authorized Borrower
Representative shall submit a signed Requisition to the Trustee and the Title Company, at least three (3) business
days prior to the date on which the requested disbursement is to be made (the “Disbursement Date”). The Borrower
shall also simultaneously submit to the Title Company the following:
(a)

Updated Sworn Construction Cost Statement.

(b)

Certified Project Cost Statement.

(c)
A certificate, substantially in the form of an AIA DOC G702, relating to each Contractor who is to
receive a payment from the disbursement, signed by the Architect or the Authorized Borrower Representative,
stating that each such Contractor has satisfactorily completed the work for which payment (less any required
retainage) is requested in such Requisition.
(d)
Unconditional waivers of mechanic’s lien and/or materialman’s lien, executed by each of the
contractors in the amount of the lienable costs of the Project payable from the previously requested advance, in the
form required by the Title Company. Such waivers shall be submitted in each case only to the Title Company and
not to the Trustee, unless the Title Company determines that the Contractor’s claim would not give rise to such a
lien.
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(e)
Invoices and such other supporting evidence as may be requested by the Title Company or Trustee
to establish the cost or value of the improvements for which payment is to be and has been made, or as may be
required by the Loan Agreement.
(f)
A certificate from the Inspecting Architect that moneys remaining in the Project Fund (including
amounts in the Borrower’s Project Account) are sufficient to complete the Project or, if not, a deposit from the
Borrower of a specified amount of money necessary in the judgment of the Inspecting Architect to cause moneys in
the Project Fund (including amounts in the Borrower’s Project Account) to be sufficient to complete the Project.
The Title Company shall then give the Trustee immediate notice by telephone if any intervening liens are
disclosed (other than those expressly listed in the Title Company’s loan policy of title insurance or subsequent
amendments thereto previously given to the Trustee). If any such intervening liens or other matters are discovered
by the Title Company, the Title Company shall refrain from making further disbursements until the Title Company
determines that such intervening liens or other matters have been satisfied. Upon demand of the Trustee, the
Borrower shall cause any such liens or other matters to be satisfied of record or bonded, or shall make other
arrangements with respect to the discharge thereof satisfactory to the Title Company and Trustee.
On each Disbursement Date, if all the terms and conditions of the Loan Agreement and the Disbursing
Agreement have been complied with by the Borrower, if no default or event of default exists under the Loan
Agreement, the Trustee shall disburse to the Title Company, in a manner satisfactory to the Title Company and
Trustee, the principal amount of the requested disbursement (less any required retainage and less amounts payable to
and disbursed by the Trustee to itself). The Title Company shall, as promptly as possible thereafter, if all of the
conditions of the Disbursing Agreement have been complied with in a manner satisfactory to the Title Company,
and if the Title Company has not received notice from the Trustee that a default or an event of default exists under
the Loan Agreement, pay over the proceeds so received from the Trustee by delivering to the Contractor(s) its check
made out to the Contractor(s) for the amounts set forth in such Requisition.
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APPENDIX E
FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT
This CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT (the “Disclosure Agreement”) is entered into by
HUDSON SENIOR HOUSING, LLC, a Minnesota nonprofit limited liability company (the “Borrower”), and
WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national association with trust powers, as trustee under
the Indenture mentioned below (the “Trustee”), and as Dissemination Agent hereunder (the “Dissemination Agent”),
for the benefit of the registered owners from time to time (the “Bondholders”) of $44,485,000 Revenue Bonds,
Series 2014 (Woodland Hill Senior Housing Project) (the “Series 2014 Bonds” or the “Bonds”), issued by the
Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority (the “Issuer”). The Bonds are being issued pursuant to a
Trust Indenture dated as of November 1, 2014 (the “Indenture”), between the Issuer and the Trustee. The proceeds
of the Bonds are being loaned by the Issuer to the Borrower pursuant to a Loan Agreement dated as of November 1,
2014 (the “Loan Agreement”). The Borrower and the Dissemination Agent covenant and agree as follows:
SECTION 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Agreement. This Disclosure Agreement is being executed and
delivered by the Borrower and the Dissemination Agent for the benefit of the Bondholders and in order to assist
Piper Jaffray & Co. (the “Participating Underwriter”) in complying with Securities and Exchange Commission
Rule 15c2-12(b)(5).SECTION 2. Definitions. In addition to the definitions set forth in the Loan Agreement, which apply to
any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Agreement unless otherwise defined in this Section, the following
capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:
“Annual Borrower Report Date” initially shall mean February 1 in each year, commencing February 1,
2016; provided, that if the last day of the Borrower’s fiscal year is changed from September 30, the Annual
Borrower Report Date shall thereafter be that date in each year which is the first day of the fifth month after the last
day of the Borrower’s fiscal year.
“Annual Dissemination Date” shall mean the 15th day following each Annual Borrower Report Date.
“Annual Report” shall mean any Annual Report provided by the Borrower pursuant to, and as described in,
Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Agreement.
“Borrower Report” shall mean any Annual Report or Quarterly Report, as the case may be.
“Disclosure Representative” shall mean the Borrower’s Chief Financial Manager, or his or her designee, or
such other officer or employee as the Borrower shall designate in writing to the Trustee from time to time.
“Dissemination Agent” shall mean Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, acting in its capacity as
Dissemination Agent hereunder, or any successor Dissemination Agent designated in writing by the Borrower which
has filed with the Trustee a written acceptance of such designation.
“Dissemination Date” shall mean the 15th day following each Annual Borrower Report Date or Quarterly
Borrower Report Date, as the case may be.
“EMMA” shall mean the Electronic Municipal Market Access System operated by the MSRB.
“Guarantor” shall mean Presbyterian Homes and Services, a Minnesota nonprofit corporation, its
successors and assigns.
“Limited Guaranty” shall mean the Limited Guaranty Agreement of even date with the Indenture from the
Guarantor to the Trustee.
“Listed Events” shall mean any of the events listed in Section 5(a) of this Disclosure Statement.
“MSRB” shall mean the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.
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“Participating Underwriter” shall mean Piper Jaffray & Co., or any other original underwriter of the Bonds
required to comply with the Rule in connection with offering of the Bonds.
“Quarterly Dissemination Date” shall mean the 15th day following each Quarterly Borrower Report Date.
“Quarterly Report” shall mean any Quarterly Report provided by the Borrower pursuant to, and as
described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Agreement.
“Quarterly Borrower Report Date” initially shall mean each February 15, May 15, August 15 and
November 15, commencing February 15, 2016; provided, that if the last day of the Borrower’s fiscal year is changed
from September 30, the Quarterly Borrower Report Dates shall thereafter be the 15th day of the second month after
the close of each fiscal quarter of the Borrower.
“Report Date” shall mean any Annual Borrower Report Date or Quarterly Borrower Report Date, as the
case may be.
“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c2-12, adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time.
SECTION 3. Provision of Borrower Reports.
(a)
Not later than each Report Date, the Borrower shall provide the Annual Report or Quarterly
Report, as the case may be, to the Dissemination Agent and the Trustee, along with a written representation
addressed to the Dissemination Agent to the effect that such Report is the Borrower Report required by this Section
and that it complies with the applicable requirements of this Section and Section 4. Not later than each
Dissemination Date, the Dissemination Agent shall provide to EMMA the applicable Borrower Report required to
be furnished by the Report Date immediately prior to such Dissemination Date. In each case, the Borrower Report
may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising a package, and may cross-reference
other information as provided in Section 4 of this Disclosure Agreement; provided that any audited financial
statements may be submitted separately from the balance of the Annual Report.
(b)
If the Dissemination Agent has not received a copy of any Borrower Report by the applicable
Report Date, the Dissemination Agent shall contact the Borrower to determine if the Borrower is in compliance with
subsection (a).
(c)
If the Dissemination Agent is unable to verify that a Borrower Report has been provided to
EMMA by the date required in subsection (a), the Dissemination Agent shall within three Business Days
electronically notify EMMA at www.emma.msrb.org in substantially the form attached as Exhibit B.
(d)

The Dissemination Agent shall:
(i)
deliver to EMMA an electronic copy of each Borrower Report, which Borrower
Report shall be in a format and accompanied by such identifying information as is prescribed by
the MSRB; and
(ii)
file a report with the Borrower and the Trustee (if different from the
Dissemination Agent) certifying that the Borrower Report has been provided to EMMA pursuant
to this Disclosure Agreement, and stating the date it was provided.

SECTION 4. Content of Borrower Reports.
reference the following:
(a)

The Borrower Reports shall contain or incorporate by

With respect to each Annual Report:
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(i)
annual audited financial statements of the Borrower (and Guarantor as long as
the Limited Guaranty is in effect), prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”), as in effect from time to time, and reconciled to GAAP, as appropriate,
when non-GAAP principles are followed (alternatively, the Borrower may satisfy the requirements
of this paragraph (i) through delivery of audited consolidated financial statements of Presbyterian
Homes and Services and Affiliates, so long as, in the supplemental information included therein,
there is specific information with respect to the Borrower sufficient to measure compliance with
all relevant requirements set forth in the Indenture or in the Loan Agreement referred to in the
Indenture); and
(ii)
an annual update of material financial information and operating data contained
in Appendix A to the Official Statement dated November 4, 2014, prepared in connection with the
issuance and sale of the Bonds, to consist of a report, substantially in the form attached hereto as
Exhibit A, setting forth information for the immediately preceding fiscal year with respect to
occupancy of the Project, broken out as between independent units, assisted living units and
memory care units, and a report setting forth calculations of the financial ratios set forth therein
with respect to the immediately preceding fiscal year (with respect to fiscal years ending
September 30, 2018 and thereafter).
(b)

With respect to each Quarterly Report:
(i)
unaudited financial statements of the Borrower for the preceding fiscal quarter,
including balance sheets and statements of operations and changes in net assets, prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), as in effect from time to
time, and reconciled to GAAP, as appropriate, when non-GAAP principles are followed; and
(ii)
a report setting forth current information with respect to occupancy of the
Project, broken out as between independent units, assisted living units and memory care units.

(c)
Any or all of the items listed above may be incorporated by reference from other documents,
including official statements or prospectuses of debt issues of the Borrower or related entities, which are available to
the public on the MSRB’s web site or are filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. If the document
incorporated by reference is a final official statement, it must be available from the MSRB. The Borrower shall
clearly identify each document incorporated by reference.
SECTION 5. Additional Reports and Investor Call.
(a)
The Borrower shall submit electronically to EMMA its annual budget at least 30 days prior to the
commencement of each fiscal year, commencing with the fiscal year ending September 30, 2016.
(b)
The Borrower shall submit electronically to EMMA monthly marketing and occupancy updates
for the Project until the Limited Guaranty is terminated.
(c)
The Borrower will submit electronically to EMMA monthly construction reports until it receives a
certificate of occupancy for the Project.
(d)
The Borrower and Guarantor will conduct an annual investor call on or before December 15 of
each year, commencing December 15, 2015.
SECTION 6. Reporting of Significant Events.
(a)

This Section 6 shall govern the giving of notices of the occurrence of any of the following events:
1.

Principal and interest payment delinquencies.
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2.

Non-payment related defaults, if material.

3.

Unscheduled draws on the debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties.

4.

Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties.

5.

Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform.

6.
Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed
or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issued (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other
material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other material
events affecting the tax-exempt status of the Bonds.
7.

Modifications to rights of owners of the Bonds, if material.

8.
Any redemption of Bonds other than mandatory sinking fund redemption, if
material, and tender offers.
9.

Defeasance of the Bonds or any portion thereof.

10.

Any release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if

11.

Rating changes.

12.

Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or a similar event.

material.

13.
The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an
obligated person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the obligated person, other
than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an
action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant
to its terms, if material.
14.
Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a
trustee, if material.
(b)
The Dissemination Agent shall promptly (but in any event within five business days) advise the
Borrower whenever, in the course of performing its duties as Trustee under the Indenture, the Trustee identifies an
occurrence of a Listed Event, provided that the failure of the Trustee so to advise the Borrower of such occurrence,
shall not constitute a breach by the Trustee of its duties and responsibilities under the Indenture.
(c)
Whenever the Borrower obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Listed Event, the Borrower
shall as soon as possible notify the Dissemination Agent in writing. Such notice shall instruct the Dissemination
Agent to report the occurrence pursuant to subsection (c).
(d)
If the Dissemination Agent has been instructed by the Borrower to report the occurrence of a
Listed Event, the Dissemination Agent shall file a notice of such occurrence with EMMA.
SECTION 7. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The Borrower’s obligations under this Disclosure
Agreement shall terminate upon the defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds.
SECTION 8. Dissemination Agent. The Borrower may, from time to time, appoint or engage a successor
Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Agreement, and may discharge
any such Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent. If, at any time, there is no
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Dissemination Agent in place hereunder, all duties of the Dissemination Agent hereunder shall be performed
directly by the Borrower.
SECTION 9. Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure Agreement,
the Borrower and the Dissemination Agent may amend this Disclosure Agreement (and the Dissemination Agent
shall agree to any amendment so requested by the Borrower), and any provision of this Disclosure Agreement may
be waived, if such amendment or waiver is supported by an opinion of counsel expert in federal securities laws,
acceptable to both the Borrower and the Dissemination Agent, to the effect that such amendment or waiver would
not, in and of itself, cause the undertakings herein to violate the Rule if such amendment or waiver had been
effective on the date hereof but taking into account any subsequent change in or official interpretation of the Rule.
SECTION 10. Additional Information. Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed to prevent
the Borrower from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth in this
Disclosure Agreement or any other means of communication, or including any other information in any Borrower
Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Agreement.
If the Borrower chooses to include any information in any Borrower Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed
Event in addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Agreement, the Borrower shall have no
obligation under this Agreement to update such information or include it in any future Borrower Report or notice of
occurrence of a Listed Event.
SECTION 11. Default. In the event of a failure of the Borrower or the Dissemination Agent to comply
with any provision of this Disclosure Agreement, upon receipt by the Dissemination Agent of satisfactory
indemnifications from and at the request of the Participating Underwriter or the Holders of at least 25% aggregate
principal amount of Outstanding Bonds, the Dissemination Agent shall, or any Bondholder may take such actions as
may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order, to cause the
Borrower or Dissemination Agent, as the case may be, to comply with its obligations under this Disclosure
Agreement. A default under this Disclosure Agreement shall not be deemed an Event of Default under the Loan
Agreement or the Indenture, and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Agreement in the event of any failure of the
Borrower or the Dissemination Agent to comply with this Disclosure Agreement shall be an action to compel
performance.
SECTION 12. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Dissemination Agent. The Dissemination Agent shall
have only such duties as are specifically set forth in this Disclosure Agreement, and the Borrower agrees to
indemnify and save the Dissemination Agent, its officers, directors, employees, and agents, harmless against any
loss, expense and liabilities which it may incur arising out of or in the exercise or performance of its powers and
duties hereunder, including the costs and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) of defending against any claim of
liability, but excluding liabilities due to the Dissemination Agent’s negligence or willful misconduct. The
Dissemination Agent shall be under no obligation or duty to perform any act which would involve it in expense or
liability or to institute or defend any suit in respect of this Agreement or to risk or advance any of its own moneys
unless properly indemnified or secured to the reasonable satisfaction of the Dissemination Agent. The
Dissemination Agent shall not be liable in connection with the performance of its duties hereunder, except for its
own willful misconduct or gross negligence. The Dissemination Agent shall be permitted to consult with an
attorney before any action or non-action at the expense of the Borrower. The obligations of the Borrower under this
Section shall survive resignation or removal of the Dissemination Agent and payment of the Bonds.
SECTION 13. Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of the Borrower,
the Trustee, the Dissemination Agent, the Participating Underwriter and the Holders from time to time of the Bonds,
and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.
SECTION 14. Prior Continuing Disclosure Obligations. In connection with the issuance of the Series
2014 Bonds, the Borrower acknowledges and confirms that:
(a)
The Guarantor is an “obligated person,” within the meaning of the Rule, and, and financial
information with respect to the Guarantor has been included in the Official Statement; and
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(b)
The Guarantor has undertaken a thorough review of all material documents, which review was
sufficient to represent all material facts set forth in this Section, in connection with any issuance of municipal
securities that meets all three of the following conditions: (i) the Guarantor is an obligated person as to such
securities, and (ii) the securities are not exempt from the requirements of the Rule, and (iii) the Guarantor has signed
a continuing disclosure agreement with respect to such securities; and
(c)
The Guarantor has complied with all continuing disclosure obligations undertaken by it, except
that certain operating data required to be posted on EMMA in 2012, 2013 and 2014 were not timely filed in
connection with the City of Wayzata, Minnesota Senior Housing Revenue Bonds Series, 2012A (Folkestone Senior
Living Community), the City of Wayzata, Minnesota Senior Housing Entrance Deposit Revenue Bonds, Series,
2012B (Folkestone Senior Living Community), and the City of Wayzata, Minnesota Taxable Senior Housing
Revenue Bonds Series, 2012A-T (Folkestone Senior Living Community). All such delinquencies and any
deficiencies in such filings have been cured as of the date of this Agreement.
(d)
At no time in the previous five years has the Borrower failed to comply, in all material respects,
with any previous commitment to provide continuing disclosure.
SECTION 15. Counterparts. This Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of
which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.

[The remainder of this page left intentionally blank.]
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Dated: As of November 1, 2014.
HUDSON SENIOR HOUSING, LLC

By _________________________________
Its Chief Financial Manager

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Dissemination Agent
By _________________________________
Its Vice President
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EXHIBIT A
(FORM OF ANNUAL CERTIFICATE AS TO FINANCIAL INFORMATION)
Name of Issuer:

Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority

Name of Issue:

Revenue Bonds, Series 2014 (Woodland Hill Senior Housing Project)

Dissemination Agent:

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association

Date of Issuance:

November 13, 2014

Name of Obligated Party:

Hudson Senior Housing, LLC (the “Borrower”)

Date of Issuance:

November 13, 2014

Due Date of Report: February 1, ____
The Continuing Disclosure Agreement dated as of November 1, 2014 (the “Disclosure Agreement”),
between the Obligated Party and the Dissemination Agent requires that the Borrower provide the information set
forth in Section 4(a) thereof to the Dissemination Agent by not later than February 1 of each year. Defined terms
used in this Certificate and not defined herein shall have the meanings granted to such terms in (i) the Disclosure
Agreement; and (ii) the Loan Agreement dated as of November 1, 2014, between the Issuer and the Borrower. The
information set forth below has been derived from the consolidated audited financial statements of Presbyterian
Homes and Services and Affiliates for the fiscal year ending September 30, ____.
(1)
The occupancy of the Project for fiscal year ended September 30, ____ was equal to: ___ with
respect to independent living units; ___% with respect to assisted living units; ___% with respect to memory care
units and ___% total occupancy.
(2)
As required by Section 4(a)(ii) of the Disclosure Agreement: as of and at September 30, 20__, and
with respect to the Borrower’s fiscal year then ended:
a.
The Borrower’s Net Income Available for Debt Service was equal to ___% of its Annual Debt
Service Requirement;
b.

The Borrower had __ Days Cash on Hand; and

c.
The Borrower made no transfers of cash or property to an Affiliate, and made no payments to any
Affiliate for property or services at less than the fair market value thereof, unless: (i) the Borrower’s Net Income
Available for Debt Service was not less than 120% of its Annual Debt Service Requirement in the prior Fiscal Year,
(ii) as of the last day of such Fiscal Year the Borrower had in excess of 60 Days Cash on Hand, (iii) no Event of
Default has occurred under the Loan Agreement or will occur under the Loan Agreement as a result of such transfer,
and (iv) the Debt Service Reserve Fund contains an amount not less than the Debt Service Reserve Fund
Requirement; provided, however, that, notwithstanding anything else summarized under this heading, no such
payment or transfer to an Affiliate may be made under the Loan Agreement unless, following such transfer, the
Borrower retains not less than 60 Days Cash on Hand.
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Dated: ____________________________
HUDSON SENIOR HOUSING, LLC,
as Borrower
By:
Its:
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EXHIBIT B
NOTICE TO THE MSRB OF FAILURE TO FILE BORROWER REPORT
Name of Issuer:

Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority

Name of Issue:

Revenue Bonds, Series 2014 (Woodland Hill Senior Housing Project)

Name of Borrower:

Hudson Senior Housing, LLC

Date of Issuance:

November 13, 2014

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Borrower has not provided a Borrower Report with respect to the
above-named Bonds as required by the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2014, between
the undersigned and the Borrower, with respect to the Bonds. The Borrower anticipates that the Borrower Report
will be filed by _____________.
Dated: _______________
___________________________________
as Dissemination Agent
By: ________________________________
Authorized Signatory
cc:

Hudson Senior Housing, LLC
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APPENDIX F
FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL
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411 East Wisconsin Avenue
Suite 2350
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202-4426
414.277.5000
Fax 414.271.3552
www.quarles.com

Attorneys at Law in
Chicago
Indianapolis
Madison
Milwaukee
Naples
Phoenix
Tampa
Tucson
Washington, D.C.

November 13, 2014

We have acted as bond counsel in connection with the issuance by the Wisconsin Health and Educational
Facilities Authority (the “Authority”) of $44,485,000 of its Revenue Bonds, Series 2014 (Woodland Hill Senior
Housing Project) (the “Bonds”). The Bonds are being issued pursuant to Chapter 231 of the Wisconsin Statutes (the
“Act”) and a resolution adopted by the Authority on October 24, 2014 (the “Resolution”) and under a Trust
Indenture dated as of November 1, 2014 (the “Indenture”) between the Authority and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as bond trustee (the “Trustee”).
Under a Loan Agreement dated as of November 1, 2014 (the “Loan Agreement”) between the Authority
and Hudson Senior Housing, LLC (the “Borrower”), the Authority is loaning to the Borrower the proceeds from the
sale of the Bonds to (a) pay or reimburse the Borrower for costs related to the acquisition, construction and
equipping of a senior living facility campus (the “Project”) as more fully described in the Loan Agreement, (b)
establish a debt service reserve fund for the Bonds and (c) pay certain costs associated with the issuance of the
Bonds. The Borrower’s obligation to repay the loan is evidenced by its Promissory Note dated November 13, 2014
in the principal amount of $44,485,000 (the “Note”) issued pursuant to the Loan Agreement.
The Bonds are issuable as fully registered bonds in the denominations, bear interest at the rates and mature
on the dates and in the amounts provided in the Indenture. The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at
the times, in the manner and upon the terms set forth in the Bonds and the Indenture.
We have examined (a) copies of Bonds numbered R-1 through R-19, (b) the Loan Agreement, (c) the Note,
(d) the Indenture, (e) a Tax Exemption Certificate and Agreement between the Authority, the Borrower and the
Trustee (the “Tax Exemption Agreement”) dated the date hereof, (f) the Resolution, (g) a Mortgage, Security
Agreement and Assignment of Leases and Rents dated as of November 1, 2014 from the Borrower to the Trustee
and (h) a Limited Guaranty Agreement dated as of November 1, 2014 from Presbyterian Homes and Services to the
Trustee.
As to questions of fact material to our opinion, we have also examined and relied upon representations and
certifications of officials of the Authority, the Borrower and others delivered in connection with the issuance of the
Bonds (including without limitation, certifications as to the use of proceeds of the Bonds and the operation and use
of the property financed therewith) without undertaking to verify the same by independent investigation. We have
also relied upon a legal opinion dated the date hereof of Janna R. Severance, general counsel to Presbyterian Homes
and Services, an affiliate of the Borrower, and special counsel to the Borrower and Presbyterian Homes Housing and
Assisted Living, Inc., the sole member of the Borrower (the "Member"), in connection with the issuance of the
Bonds, with respect to various matters concerning the Borrower and the Member, including (i) the Member's status
as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”),
which is exempt from federal income taxation pursuant to Section 501(a) of the Code and is not a private foundation
as defined in Section 509(a) of the Code, (b) the corporate existence of the Borrower and the Member, (c) the
authorization, execution and delivery of the Loan Agreement, the Tax Exemption Agreement and the Note by the
Borrower and (d) the validity, binding effect and enforceability of the Loan Agreement, the Tax Exemption
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Agreement and the Note against the Borrower. We have also examined the other documents we deemed relevant
and necessary in rendering this opinion.
Based upon the examination described above, it is our opinion under existing law that:
1.
The Authority is a public body corporate and politic created and existing under the laws of the
State of Wisconsin and has authority under the Act to issue the Bonds and to enter into and perform its obligations
under the Loan Agreement, the Tax Exemption Agreement and the Indenture.
2.
The Bonds are in the form required by law and have been authorized, executed, issued and
delivered by the Authority in accordance with law, the Resolution and the Indenture. The Bonds are valid and
binding limited obligations of the Authority and are entitled to the protection given by the Indenture except that
enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, moratorium, fraudulent
transfer or other laws affecting creditors’ rights generally. Enforceability of the Authority’s obligations is also
subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity
or at law). The principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds are payable solely out of the revenues
derived from the Loan Agreement or, in the event of default of the Loan Agreement, as otherwise permitted by the
Indenture or the Resolution and by law. The Bonds do not constitute or give rise to a pecuniary liability of the
Authority or a charge against its general credit. The Authority has no taxing power.
3.
The Loan Agreement, the Note and the amounts payable under the Loan Agreement and the Note
by the Borrower have been pledged and assigned under the Indenture as security for payment of the principal of,
premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds.
4.
The Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Tax Exemption Agreement have each been duly
authorized, executed and delivered by the Authority, are each in full force and effect and, assuming the due
authorization, execution and delivery of them by the other parties to them, constitute valid and legally binding
agreements of the Authority except to the extent limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement,
moratorium, fraudulent transfer or other laws of general application relating to or affecting the enforcement of
creditors’ rights generally. Enforceability of the Authority’s obligations is also subject to general principles of
equity (regardless of whether enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).
5.
The interest on the Bonds is excludable for federal income tax purposes from the gross income of
the owners of the Bonds. The interest on the Bonds is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal
alternative minimum tax imposed by Section 55 of the Code on corporations (as that term is defined for federal
income tax purposes) and individuals. The interest on the Bonds is, however, included in adjusted current earnings
for purposes of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed on corporations. The Code contains requirements
that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds in order for interest on the Bonds to be or continue to
be excludable from the gross income of the owners of the Bonds for federal income tax purposes. Failure to comply
with certain of those requirements could cause the interest on the Bonds to be included in gross income retroactively
to the date of issuance of the Bonds. The Authority, the Trustee and the Borrower have agreed to comply with all of
those requirements and the opinion set forth in the first sentence of this paragraph is subject to the condition that the
Authority, the Trustee and the Borrower comply with those requirements. We express no opinion regarding other
federal tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds.
6.
Interest on the Bonds is exempt from present Wisconsin income tax on individuals, fiduciaries,
corporations and insurance companies pursuant to Section 71.05(1)(c)11, 71.26(1m)(L) and 71.45(1t)(L) of the
Wisconsin Statutes; except that interest on and income from the Bonds is includable in the measure of tax for
Wisconsin corporate franchise tax purposes.
This opinion letter deals only with the specific legal issues that it explicitly addresses and no opinions may
be inferred or implied beyond the matters expressly contained herein. The opinions expressed herein are specifically
limited to the laws of the United States and the present internal laws of the State of Wisconsin. The opinions
expressed herein are based upon those facts and circumstances in existence and laws in effect on the date hereof, and
we assume no obligation or responsibility to update or supplement this opinion letter to reflect any facts or
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circumstances which may hereafter come to our attention or any changes in laws which may hereafter occur, or to
inform any person of any change in circumstances occurring after the date hereof which would alter the opinions
rendered herein.
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